GENETIC VARIANTS AS TARGETS FOR IMMUNOTHERAPY OF HEMATOLOGICAL TUMORS

EDITED BY: Marieke Griffioen, Claude Perreault and Robbert Spaapen PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-236-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-236-4

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

GENETIC VARIANTS AS TARGETS FOR IMMUNOTHERAPY OF HEMATOLOGICAL TUMORS

Topic Editors: **Marieke Griffioen**, Leiden University Medical Center, Netherlands **Claude Perreault**, Université de Montréal, Canada **Robbert Spaapen**, AMC-Sanquin Landsteiner Laboratory, Netherlands

Citation: Griffioen, M., Perreault, C., Spaapen, R., eds. (2020). Genetic Variants as Targets for Immunotherapy of Hematological Tumors. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-236-4

Table of Contents

05 Neoantigens in Hematological Malignancies—Ultimate Targets for Immunotherapy?

Malte Roerden, Annika Nelde and Juliane S. Walz

14 The Genomic Landscape of Antigenic Targets for T Cell-Based Leukemia Immunotherapy

Marie-Pierre Hardy, Krystel Vincent and Claude Perreault

21 Apparent Lack of BRAF^{V600E} Derived HLA Class I Presented Neoantigens Hampers Neoplastic Cell Targeting by CD8⁺ T Cells in Langerhans Cell Histiocytosis

Paul G. Kemps, Timo C. Zondag, Eline C. Steenwijk, Quirine Andriessen, Jelske Borst, Sandra Vloemans, Dave L. Roelen, Lenard M. Voortman, Robert M. Verdijk, Carel J. M. van Noesel, Arjen H. G. Cleven, Cynthia Hawkins, Veronica Lang, Arnoud H. de Ru, George M. C. Janssen, Geert W. Haasnoot, Kees L. M. C. Franken, Ronald van Eijk, Nienke Solleveld-Westerink, Tom van Wezel, R. Maarten Egeler, Auke Beishuizen, Jan A. M. van Laar, Oussama Abla, Cor van den Bos, Peter A. van Veelen and Astrid G. S. van Halteren

- 35 Neoantigens in Hematologic Malignancies Melinda A. Biernacki and Marie Bleakley
- 49 T-Cell Immunotherapies Targeting Histocompatibility and Tumor Antigens in Hematological Malignancies
 Valérie Janelle, Caroline Rulleau, Simon Del Testa, Cédric Carli and Jean-Sébastien Delisle
- 64 TCR-Like CAR-T Cells Targeting MHC-Bound Minor Histocompatibility Antigens

Yoshiki Akatsuka

72 Discovery and Differential Processing of HLA Class II-Restricted Minor Histocompatibility Antigen LB-PIP4K2A-1S and Its Allelic Variant by Asparagine Endopeptidase

Anita N. Kremer, Judith Bausenwein, Ellie Lurvink, Andreas E. Kremer, Caroline E. Rutten, Cornelis A. M. van Bergen, Sascha Kretschmann, Edith van der Meijden, Maria W. Honders, Daniela Mazzeo, Colin Watts, Andreas Mackensen, J. H. Frederik Falkenburg and Marieke Griffioen

83 Optimized Whole Genome Association Scanning for Discovery of HLA Class I-Restricted Minor Histocompatibility Antigens

Kyra J. Fuchs, M. Willy Honders, Edith D. van der Meijden, Alwin E. Adriaans, Dyantha I. van der Lee, Margot J. Pont, Ramin Monajemi, Szymon M. Kielbasa, Peter A. C. 't Hoen, Cornelis A. M. van Bergen, J. H. Frederik Falkenburg and Marieke Griffioen

98 Can Graft vs. Leukemia Effect Be Uncoupled From Graft vs. Host Disease? An Examination of Proportions

Elizabeth Krieger and Amir Ahmed Toor

H60: A Unique Murine Hematopoietic Cell-Restricted Minor
Histocompatibility Antigen for Graft-versus-Leukemia Effect
Eun Young Choi, Kyungho Choi, Giri Nam, Woojin Kim and Minho Chung

115 The Connection Between Minor H Antigens and Neoantigens and the Missing Link in Their Prediction

Tuna Mutis, Anastasia Xagara and Robbert M. Spaapen

127 HA-1H T-Cell Receptor Gene Transfer to Redirect Virus-Specific T Cells for Treatment of Hematological Malignancies After Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation: A Phase 1 Clinical Study

Peter van Balen, Inge Jedema, Marleen M. van Loenen, Renate de Boer, H. M. van Egmond, Renate S. Hagedoorn, Conny Hoogstaten, Sabrina A. J. Veld, Lois Hageman, P. A. G. van Liempt, Jaap-Jan Zwaginga, Pauline Meij, H. Veelken, J. H. F. Falkenburg and Mirjam H. M. Heemskerk





Neoantigens in Hematological Malignancies—Ultimate Targets for Immunotherapy?

Malte Roerden^{1,2}, Annika Nelde^{2,3} and Juliane S. Walz^{1,2,3*}

¹ Department of Hematology, Oncology, Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology, University Hospital Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany, ² Department of Immunology, Institute for Cell Biology, University of Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany, ³ Clinical Collaboration Unit Translational Immunology, German Cancer Consortium (DKTK), University Hospital Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany

Neoantigens derive from non-synonymous somatic mutations in malignant cells. Recognition of neoantigens presented via human leukocyte antigen (HLA) molecules on the tumor cell surface by T cells holds promise to enable highly specific and effective anti-cancer immune responses and thus neoantigens provide an exceptionally attractive target for immunotherapy. While genome sequencing approaches already enable the reliable identification of somatic mutations in tumor samples, the identification of mutation-derived, naturally HLA-presented neoepitopes as targets for immunotherapy remains challenging, particularly in low mutational burden cancer entities, including hematological malignancies. Several approaches have been utilized to identify neoepitopes from primary tumor samples. Besides whole genome sequencing with subsequent in silico prediction of potential mutation-derived HLA ligands, mass spectrometry (MS) allows for the only unbiased identification of naturally presented mutation-derived HLA ligands. The feasibility of characterizing and targeting these novel antigens has recently been demonstrated in acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Several immunogenic, HLA-presented peptides derived from mutated Nucleophosmin 1 (NPM1) were identified, allowing for the generation of T-cell receptor-transduced NPM1^{mut}-specific T cells with anti-leukemic activity in a xenograft mouse model. Neoantigen-specific T-cell responses have also been identified for peptides derived from mutated isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH^{mut}), and specific T-cell responses could be induced by IDH^{mut} peptide vaccination. In this review, we give a comprehensive overview on known neoantigens in hematological malignancies, present possible prediction and discovery tools and discuss their role as targets for immunotherapy approaches.

Keywords: neoantigens, hematological malignancies, mass spectrometry, immunopeptidomics, HLA antigens, NPM1 mutations

INTRODUCTION

Recognition of tumor-associated antigens via human leukocyte antigen (HLA) molecules is pivotal for T cell-mediated tumor control and the induction of anti-tumor responses by immunotherapy (1). Neoantigens derive from non-synonymous somatic mutations and are of special interest, as they entail optimal tumor-specificity and lack central T-cell tolerance (2). These potentially highly

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marieke Griffioen, Leiden University Medical Center, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Per Thor Straten, Herlev Hospital, Denmark Loredana Ruggeri, University of Perugia, Italy

*Correspondence: Juliane S. Walz juliane.walz@med.uni-tuebingen.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 28 September 2019 Accepted: 06 December 2019 Published: 20 December 2019

Citation:

Roerden M, Nelde A and Walz JS (2019) Neoantigens in Hematological Malignancies—Ultimate Targets for Immunotherapy? Front. Immunol. 10:3004. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.03004

5

immunogenic antigens are therefore considered prime targets for immunotherapy, particularly since neoantigens were described as targets of immune checkpoint inhibitor-induced anti-tumor Tcell responses (3, 4, 4-6). Recent advances in mass spectrometry (MS) (7, 8) and HLA antigen prediction algorithms (9-14) as well as the broad availability of whole genome sequencing (WGS) portrayed milestones in the field of cancer immunotherapy and hold promise to enable a robust and personalized identification of neoantigens in the future. The identification of spontaneous, neoantigen-specific T-cell responses in patients with longlasting remissions suggests that neoantigen-specific targeting of tumor cells might enable durable anti-tumor responses (15-17). Long-lasting remissions could also be observed after personalized neoantigen-based peptide vaccination therapy in melanoma patients. Keeping the small sample size in these studies in consideration, these reports further indicate toward a therapeutic potential of neoantigens (18, 19). Following the success of checkpoint inhibitor therapy and the uncovering of the specificities of respective T-cell responses, a multitude of HLApresented neoantigens have been identified in high mutational burden diseases such as melanoma (1, 3, 20). Hematological malignancies (HM) on the other hand are characterized by a low mutational burden and the role of neoantigens for immunemediated tumor control and immunotherapeutic approaches in these entities remains to be elucidated. The immunogenicity of acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and other HM is demonstrated by the graft-vs.-leukemia/lymphoma effect and despite the typically low mutational burden, there has been steady progress in the identification of targetable neoantigens in these diseases in recent years. In this review we give an overview on known neoantigens in HM, their means of identification as well as the current state of efforts regarding the translation of these discoveries into the clinic.

IDENTIFICATION OF PATIENT-SPECIFIC NEOANTIGENS

While genome sequencing approaches already allow for the reliable identification of patient-individual, tumor-specific mutations (1, 21), the subsequent identification of mutationderived neoantigens remains challenging (1, 22). These novel targets can be present as mutated membrane proteins or, more frequently, as HLA-presented peptide fragments derived from intracellular proteins comprising the mutated sequence (1, 22). Frequently, identification of these HLA-presented neoepitopes is performed by in silico prediction of potential HLA binding motifs based on identified somatic mutations and subsequent confirmation of immunogenicity in in vitro T-cell assays by priming of naïve T cells or demonstration of pre-existing memory T-cell responses (1). However, as there is no direct correlation between genome, transcriptome, and immunopeptidome (23-25), this "reverse immunology approach" based on gene expression data and in vitro analyses can provide several "false positive" neoantigens lacking natural presentation on the tumor cell surface (18). This lack of correlation between gene expression and the immunopeptidome

can be explained by the complex process of HLA ligand formation, which is furthermore frequently altered in tumor cells (26-29). Thus, only a very small fraction of predicted neoantigens is actually naturally processed and presented via HLA molecules on the tumor cell, calling for direct identification methods of HLA-presented neoepitopes to identify suitable targets for immunotherapy. This can be achieved by MS-based immunopeptidomics, which enables the only unbiased, in-depth analysis of the naturally presented HLA immunopeptidome (8, 30). Recent reports estimate, that only approximately one mutation-derived HLA-presented neoepitope arises from about 1,000 non-synonymous mutations (18, 22, 31-34). In HM, which are typically low mutational burden diseases with only a handful to a few hundred mutations (20), this implicates a low abundance or even absence of HLA-presented neoepitopes. Considering further that these can derive from passenger mutations, which are sensitive to immune escape mechanisms (1, 22) and are mainly patient-specific, the presence of broadly targetable neoantigens cannot be taken for granted in these diseases. Nevertheless, identification and successful targeting of recurrent and mainly driver mutation-derived neoantigens has recently been demonstrated in various HM (35-49) (Table 1), thereby expanding the prospects for immunotherapy in these entities.

NEOANTIGENS IN ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA

In AML, the mutational landscape is well-characterized (64) and several novel antigens derived from recurrent genetic alterations have been identified recently. Neoantigens derived from Nucleophosmin 1 mutations (NPM1^{mut}), which occur in about 35% of AML patients (65), are arguably the most prominent targets in this regard. In most cases of NPM1^{mut} AML, a frameshift mutation in exon 12 leads to an altered cterminal protein sequence, which can specifically be recognized by cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells (66). It has been proposed, that the immunogenicity of NPM1^{mut} neoepitopes might add to the favorable prognosis of AML patients with NPM1 mutations (39). Several NPM1^{mut}-derived HLA class I neoepitopes were identified by MS analysis in two recent studies (46, 50) and specific T-cell responses could be demonstrated in respective patients. Furthermore, isolation and transfer of a T-cell receptor (TCR) gene with an NPM1^{mut} neoepitope specificity was performed in one of these studies. TCR-transduced T cells subsequently showed anti-tumor efficacy in an AML xenograft mouse model, thereby emphasizing the potential of NPM1^{mut}-specific T-cell-based immunotherapy approaches for the treatment of NPM1^{mut} AML (46). Missense mutations of isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH) 1 or 2 can be detected in about 20% of AML patients, resulting in an altered, leukemogenesis promoting function of the enzymes (67). A study in glioma patients, where IDH mutations occur particularly frequent, identified an IDH1^{mut}-derived HLA class II neoepitope and demonstrated its natural presentation and immunogenicity by detection of spontaneous CD4⁺ T-cell responses and

TABLE 1	Overview of	neoantigens ir	n hematological	malignancies.

Hematological malignancy	Source protein of mutated neoantigen	Identification method	References
AML	NPM1	MS, spontaneous CD8 ⁺ T-cell responses	(46, 50, 51)
	IDH 1	Spontaneous CD4 ⁺ T-cell responses	(44)
	IDH 2	MS	(51)
	FLT3	Spontaneous CD8 ⁺ T-cell responses	(38, 43)
	PML-RARα, DEK-CAN, ETV6-AML1	In vitro T-cell recognition	(52–54)
	Splice variants: NOTCH2, FLT3, CD44	Identification of transmembrane proteins	(35, 36)
CLL	ALMS1, C6ORF89, FNDC3B	Spontaneous CD8 ⁺ T-cell responses	(17)
CML	BCR-ABL	MS, spontaneous CD8 ⁺ T-cell responses	(41, 42, 55–59
MCL	lg heavy/light chain	MS, spontaneous CD4 ⁺ T-cell responses	(60)
MPN	JAK2	In vitro T-cell recognition	(48)
	CALR	In silico prediction, spontaneous CD4 ⁺ T-cell responses	(45, 47, 49, 61 62)
	MPL	In silico prediction	(63)
Various	FBXW7	Spontaneous CD8 ⁺ T-cell responses	(45)
	MYD88	In silico prediction, in vitro T-cell recognition, spontaneous CD8 ⁺ T-cell responses	(40)

AML, acute myeloid leukemia; ALMS1, Alstrom syndrome protein 1; CALR, calreticulin; CLL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia; CML, chronic myeloid leukemia; C6ORF89, chromosome 6 open reading frame 89; FBXW7, F-box/WD repeat-containing protein 7; FLT3, FMS like tyrosine kinase 3; FNDC3B, fibronectin type III domain containing 3B; IDH, isocitrate dehydrogenase; Ig, immunoglobulin; JAK2, janus like kinase 2; MCL, mantle cell lymphoma; MPL, myeloproliferative leukemia virus oncogene; MPN, myeloproliferative neoplasia; MS, mass spectrometry; MYD88, myeloid differentiation primary response protein 88.

mutation-specific antibodies in respective patients. CD4+ T-cell responses and mutation-specific antibody formation were subsequently induced by peptide vaccination in an HLA-humanized mouse model and led to IDH1^{mut}-specific immune responses (44). Our own data support NPM1^{mut}- and IDH^{mut}-derived neoepitopes as promising targets in AML. Using our MS-based immunopeptidomics approach (24, 68-70), we were able to identify naturally presented HLA class I and II neoepitopes derived from mutated NPM1 and IDH2 in primary AML samples. Further analysis revealed multifunctional T-cell responses, and peptide-specific target cell killing was proven for one naturally presented NPM1^{mut} neoepitope (51). Additionally, AML-specific neoantigens can arise from internal tandem duplications (ITD) of the FMS like tyrosine kinase 3 (FLT3) gene, which occur in up to 30% of AML patients (71). While these duplications vary in length, the same protein domain is affected in the majority of cases (72). These mutations can yield immunogenic peptides, as described for a FLT3-ITDderived HLA-A*01:01-restricted neoepitope showing specific T-cell responses in vitro as well as ex vivo (38, 43). A further source of HLA-presented neoepitopes are fusion proteins. In AML, in vitro T-cell recognition of fusion protein-derived HLA-presented peptides has been demonstrated for PML-RARa (52), DEK-CAN (53), and ETV6-AML1 (54). While these reports arouse interest in these potential targets, the clinical significance of these in vitro analyses remains to be elucidated as natural presentation and spontaneous immune responses against respective HLA-presented neoepitopes have not been demonstrated.

NEOANTIGENS IN CHRONIC MYELOID LEUKEMIA AND MYELOPROLIFERATIVE DISORDERS

In chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), peptides encompassing the BCR-ABL fusion site in theory represent optimal targets for immunotherapy, as this fusion protein is essential for the malignant transformation, is present in virtually all CML cells and patients, and potentially provides HLA binding motifs. One major throwback however is the occurrence of several different fusion sites resulting in diverse mutationderived peptides in distinct patients. The t(9;22) translocation mainly leads to the formation of an exon junction between exon 2 or 3 of BCR and exon 2 of ABL (b2a2 and b3a2, respectively) (73). Several groups have described specific Tcell responses against HLA-presented peptides derived from b3a2 (41, 42, 55, 56). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that BCR-ABL-specific T-cell responses can be induced with peptide vaccination in CML patients (57). One study reported the direct identification of a HLA-presented b3a2-derived neoepitope by MS on primary CML cells (58). However, in our recently performed extensive MS-based analysis of the primary CML immunopeptidome, we could not identify any naturally HLA-presented peptides encompassing BCR-ABLor ABL-BCR-derived neoepitopes (68), keeping in mind that especially for MS-based immunopeptidomics, absence of evidence does not equal evidence of absence. Notably, neoantigens can also arise under therapy with tyrosine kinase inhibitors. In patients with imatinib-resistant CML, drug

resistance-mediating mutations outside the BCR-ABL fusion site have been identified (59) and specific T-cell responses against neoepitopes derived from these mutations have been demonstrated and were linked with clinical response (59). Myeloproliferative disorders (MPN) are characterized by a homogenous mutational landscape with recurrent driver mutations, which in theory represent shared and therefore broadly applicable targets for immunotherapy. A single nucleotide mutation of the janus kinase 2 gene (JAK2 V416F) is the most frequent among MPN driver mutations, occurring in more than 90% of patients with Polycythemia vera (PV) and about 50% of patients with Essential thrombocytosis (ET) and Primary myelofibrosis (PMF), respectively (74). While experimental recognition of JAK2^{mut}-derived neoepitopes has been demonstrated after in vitro priming of healthy donor T cells, thereby indicating the immunogenic potential, no spontaneous T-cell responses have been identified in JAK2^{mut} MPN patients (48). Direct identification of naturally presented JAK2^{mut} neoepitopes has not been reported so far. In MPN with Calreticulin mutations (CALR^{mut})-the most common driver mutation in JAK2 wildtype (JAK2^{wt}) MPN, occurring in about 25% of ET and PMF patients (74)-a frameshift mutation leads to an altered c-terminus of the protein. Recent reports evaluated CALR^{mut}-derived HLA-presented neoepitopes as targets for immunotherapy (45, 47, 49, 61, 62) as these peptides were predicted to bind HLA-A*03:01 and HLA-B*07:02. While natural presentation of these HLA class I neoepitopes could not be demonstrated upon MS analysis (45), spontaneous, primarily CD4⁺ T-cell responses against several CALR^{mut}-derived neoepitopes could be identified in CALR^{mut} MPN patients (49). Further, CALR^{mut}-dependent killing of autologous CALR^{mut} cells was demonstrated in an HLA-DR-restricted manner (47). Of note, while the observed CALR^{mut}-specific T-cell responses in CALR^{mut} MPN patients were often weak (45, 49, 61), these could be restored by immune checkpoint blockade both in vitro and in vivo (61). These findings indicate that CALR^{mut} is naturally presented but respective T-cell responses are suppressed by immune checkpoint receptor signaling (61), illustrating the potential of combining distinct immunotherapeutic approaches for the treatment of HM. Taken together, the results revealed CALR^{mut}derived neoepitopes as shared MPN-specific neoantigens, prompting their further evaluation for therapeutic targeting (47, 49, 61, 62). Interestingly, CALR^{mut}-specific memory T-cell responses were frequently detectable in healthy individuals in a subsequent study, suggesting a previous clearance of CALR^{mut} cells by immunosurveillant T cells and thereby further highlighting the immunogenic potential of CALR^{mut} neoantigens (62). Mutations in the myeloproliferative leukemia virus oncogene (MPL) are further recurrent driver mutations in JAK2^{wt} MPN (75). A recent study performing an *in silico* analysis based on whole transcriptome sequencing of MPN patients predicted several MPL^{mut} HLA class I binding neoepitopes (63). However, demonstration of natural presentation of MPL^{mut} neoepitopes by MS has not been performed thus far.

NEOANTIGENS IN OTHER HEMATOLOGICAL MALIGNANCIES

FBXW7 is a tumor suppressor gene with mutations occurring in various HM, most frequently in T-ALL (76). Specific CD8⁺ T-cell responses against a recurrent FBXW7^{mut}-derived neoepitope have been demonstrated, suggesting that this recurrent mutation might represent another neoantigen applicable for immunotherapy in HM (45). Mutationderived neoantigens have also been identified in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). In a study, implementing a reverse immunology approach, immune responses were detected against HLA antigens derived from somatic mutations in ALMS1, C6ORF89, and FNDC3B (17). However, it should be kept in mind that these mutations are not considered driver mutations, thus theoretically making them suboptimal targets for immunotherapy. The identification of T-cell responses against these mutated neoantigens nevertheless demonstrated the applicability of neoantigen-specific targeting of CLL. Evaluation of neoantigens in mantle cell lymphoma patients applying a combined approach of whole exome sequencing and direct HLA ligand identification by MS revealed the presence of naturally presented HLA class II neoepitopes derived from the lymphoma immunoglobulin heavy- or light-chain variable regions (60). Spontaneous CD4⁺ T-cell responses could be identified against these neoepitopes and mediated tumor-specific killing of autologous lymphoma cells (60). MYD88 (L265P) is a recurrent driver mutation in Waldenstom's macroglobulinemia, CLL and other Non-Hodgkin lymphomas (77). We previously evaluated HLA class I neoepitopes derived from MYD88^{mut} as targets for immunotherapy in lymphoma patients (40). Based on in silico HLA motif prediction, further immunogenicity evaluation of possible MYD88^{mut}-derived HLA class I neoepitopes was performed. In vitro priming of naïve T cells from MYD88^{mut} CLL patients and healthy donors was successful for several HLA-B:07- and HLA-B:15-restricted neoepitopes. While further analysis revealed that spontaneous MYD88^{mut}-specific T-cell responses are infrequent in lymphoma patients, these de novo induced MYD88^{mut}-specific T cells were multifunctional and elicited mutation-restricted cytotoxicity (40), highlighting the potential of MYD88^{mut} neoepitopes as targets for immunotherapy.

NON-CANONICAL NEOEPITOPES AS ADDITIONAL TUMOR-SPECIFIC TARGETS

While the term *neoantigen* is mostly used referring to mutation-derived HLA-presented neoepitopes, the following section will discuss further sources of neoantigens that might also represent promising targets for immunotherapy. In distinction to mutations of the target's primary genome sequence, non-canonical neoantigens or cryptic peptides arise among others from tumor-specific alterations of the HLA antigen presentation machinery, DNA methylation, RNA editing or protein biosynthesis, proteasomal splicing, or non-canonical



translation products (Figure 1) (29, 78-83). Further, tumorspecific splice variant proteins can result from splice-site creating mutations or mutations of spliceosome proteins and can lead to the formation of tumor-specific HLA-presented neoepitopes (84). Mutations directly affecting the spliceosome, such as SF3B1 or SRSF2 mutations, have been shown to occur in up to 20% of de novo AML (64) and 15% of PMF (63). In AML, frequently occurring splice variants have been identified for NOTCH2 (35), FLT3 (35), and CD44 (36), each leading to the occurrence of an altered cell surface protein. Specific targeting of a CD44 splice variant has been demonstrated by a CD44v6 CAR T cell in a mouse model (36), thereby highlighting the potential of targeting this class of neoantigens with immunotherapeutic approaches. Post-translational protein modifications, which are preserved in HLA-presented peptides, can portray another source of neoantigens as these tumorspecific alterations can lead to the formation of novel epitopes (29). In this regard, neoantigens resulting from tumor-specific phosphorylation as well as glycosylation have been identified in AML and immunogenicity of this class of neoantigens has been demonstrated (28, 37, 85, 86).

DISCUSSION

Neoantigen targeting holds promise to enable highly specific and durable anti-tumor immune responses (1, 22). Although HM are typically low mutational burden diseases (20), there has recently been remarkable progress in the uncovering of

neoantigens in these entities. These discoveries were fueled by an immense progress in the field of WGS, steadily improved HLA motif prediction algorithms as well as technical advances in MS in recent years (1, 21, 31). While these advances already facilitate neoantigen identification from primary tumor samples, we are likely only seeing the beginning of personalized target evaluation. In this progress, a standard approach for target identification has yet to be defined (1, 22). As optimal target selection is a prerequisite for effective immunotherapy, we consider the direct identification of HLA-presented neoantigens by MS as the optimal approach. The direct identification of potential targets with MS harbors essential advantages when compared to the reverse immunology approach, which relies on neoantigen prediction, experimental HLA-binding and further immunogenicity confirmation in T-cell assays (1, 22). Here, "false targets" might be identified if HLA binding is demonstrated for predicted neoantigens in vitro, but these antigens are not naturally presented via HLA antigens in vivo. Furthermore, while the ex vivo identification of spontaneous Tcell responses against neoantigens can be regarded as evidence for natural HLA-presentation, potential targets without preexisting responses might be missed. This is concerning as antigen-specific immunotherapy, including antibody strategies and peptide vaccines in particular aim to induce de novo anti-tumor responses. HM have been the first entities where immunotherapy—in form of allogenic stem cell transplantation (87)—has been performed and the immunogenicity of HM is long known (88, 89). While targeting of mutated membrane

proteins by antibodies or CAR T cells has already been established for the treatment of HM, but is restricted to very few suitable surface antigens (90-94), HLA-presented neoantigens derived from intracellular proteins are of particular interest for immunotherapy. Hence, recent highly noted reports on the identification of neoantigens in HM have raised hopes that these novel targets might bring along new therapeutic options. In AML, NPM1^{mut}- and IDH^{mut}-derived neoantigens thus far represent the most promising targets, as these mutations occur frequently and successful as well as specific targeting has already been demonstrated in preclinical studies (44, 46, 51). Neoepitopes derived from fusion proteins are equally interesting targets, but natural presentation via HLA molecules has not been demonstrated so far (41, 42, 52-54, 56, 57, 95). While adoptive T-cell transfer and peptide vaccination approaches using nonmutated antigens are already under clinical evaluation in AML and other HM (96-98), the identification of these neoantigens will allow for an even more targeted approach in the future. However, it should be kept in mind that a personalized target selection remains challenging, as MS analysis is elaborate and not universally available. Furthermore, completely personalized immunotherapy approaches at the same time bring the difficulty of manufacturing an individualized product, e.g., a peptide vaccine, for each patient. A "warehouse" model, where a patientspecific selection of therapeutics targeting frequently occurring neoantigens can be made, might represent an elegant solution to this problem. This is particular true for malignancies with a well-characterized mutational landscape and a narrow spectrum of recurrent mutations, such as AML and MPN (20). At the same time and despite the recent progress in neoantigen identification in HM, the infrequency of individual mutations and HLA allotype restrictions still limit specific neoantigen targeting to a subset of patients. To overcome this issue, combined targeting of both mutated and non-mutated, tumor-exclusive

REFERENCES

- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science. (2015) 348:69–74. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa4971
- Gilboa E. The makings of a tumor rejection antigen. *Immunity*. (1999) 11:263-70. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80101-6
- McGranahan N, Furness AJ, Rosenthal R, Ramskov S, Lyngaa R, Saini SK, et al. Clonal neoantigens elicit T cell immunoreactivity and sensitivity to immune checkpoint blockade. *Science*. (2016) 351:1463–9. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf1490
- Anagnostou V, Smith KN, Forde PM, Niknafs N, Bhattacharya R, White J, et al. Evolution of neoantigen landscape during immune checkpoint blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Discov.* (2017) 7:264– 76. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-16-0828
- Goodman AM, Kato S, Bazhenova L, Patel SP, Frampton GM, Miller V, et al. Tumor mutational burden as an independent predictor of response to immunotherapy in diverse cancers. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2017) 16:2598– 608. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0386
- Hellmann MD, Ciuleanu T-E, Pluzanski A, Lee JS, Otterson GA, Audigier-Valette C, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in lung cancer with a high tumor mutational burden. N Eng J Med. (2018) 378:2093– 104. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1801946
- Marino F, Chong C, Michaux J, Bassani-Sternberg M. High-throughput, fast, and sensitive immunopeptidomics sample processing for mass spectrometry. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2019) 1913:67–79. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-8979-9_5

antigens might be a suitable approach. Tumor-exclusive nonmutated neoepitopes can arise as a consequence of differential gene expression or tumor-specific alterations of RNA- and protein-processing, as described for splice variant proteins in AML (35, 36, 64) and have been shown to possess equally immunogenic properties as mutated neoepitopes (99). With mutations of spliceosome proteins, transcription factors and DNA methylation related proteins occurring frequently in AML and other HM (20, 64), additional non-canonical neoantigens are likely awaiting uncovering (35, 36, 84). Recent neoantigen discoveries have created novel and promising prospects for immunotherapy in HM. With currently ongoing endeavors, additional neoantigens might be uncovered and personalized target evaluation will be taken another step further. Considering the paucity of targetable mutated neoantigens in the individual patient due to HLA allotype restrictions and patient-individual mutations, combined approaches targeting both mutated and non-mutated tumor-exclusive antigens are likely warranted in patients with HM. Harnessing "the best of both worlds" might then enable immunotherapy to unfold its full potential in hematological malignancies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MR wrote the first draft of the manuscript. AN and JW wrote further sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the final version.

FUNDING

We acknowledge support by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and Open Access Publishing Fund of University of Tübingen.

- Bassani-Sternberg M. Mass spectrometry based immunopeptidomics for the discovery of cancer neoantigens. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2018) 1719:209– 21. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7537-2_14
- Bulik-Sullivan B, Busby J, Palmer CD, Davis MJ, Murphy T, Clark A, et al. Deep learning using tumor HLA peptide mass spectrometry datasets improves neoantigen identification. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2019) 37:55. doi: 10.1038/nbt.4313
- Jurtz V, Paul S, Andreatta M, Marcatili P, Peters B, Nielsen M. NetMHCpan-4.0: improved peptide–MHC class I interaction predictions integrating eluted ligand and peptide binding affinity data. *J Immunol.* (2017) 199:3360– 8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700893
- Martins J, Magalhães C, Rocha M, Osório NS. Machine learning-enhanced T cell neoepitope discovery for immunotherapy design. *Cancer Inform.* (2019) 18:1176935119852081. doi: 10.1177/1176935119852081
- 12. Mellacheruvu D, Phillips N, Bartha G, Harris J, Power R, McClory R, et al. Applying Immunopeptidomics and Machine Learning to Improve Neoantigen Prediction for Therapeutic and Diagnostic Use. AACR (2019).
- O'Donnell TJ, Rubinsteyn A, Bonsack M, Riemer AB, Laserson U, Hammerbacher J. MHCflurry: open-source class I MHC binding affinity prediction. *Cell Syst.* (2018) 7:129–32.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.cels.2018. 05.014
- Phloyphisut P, Pornputtapong N, Sriswasdi S, Chuangsuwanich E. MHCSeqNet: a deep neural network model for universal MHC binding prediction. *BMC Bioinformatics*. (2019) 20:270. doi: 10.1186/s12859-019-2892-4

- Melero I, Navarro B, Teijeira A, Coukos G. Cancer immunotherapy full speed ahead. Ann Oncol. (2017) 28(Suppl. 12):xii1xii2. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx739
- Müller-Schmah C, Solari L, Weis R, Pfeifer D, Scheibenbogen C, Trepel M, et al. Immune response as a possible mechanism of long-lasting disease control in spontaneous remission of MLL/AF9-positive acute myeloid leukemia. *Ann Hematol.* (2012) 91:27–32. doi: 10.1007/s00277-011-1332-y
- Rajasagi M, Shukla SA, Fritsch EF, Keskin DB, DeLuca D, Carmona E, et al. Systematic identification of personal tumorspecific neoantigens in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood.* (2014) 124:453–62. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-04-567933
- Ott PA, Hu Z, Keskin DB, Shukla SA, Sun J, Bozym DJ, et al. An immunogenic personal neoantigen vaccine for patients with melanoma. *Nature*. (2017) 547:217. doi: 10.1038/nature22991
- Sahin U, Derhovanessian E, Miller M, Kloke B-P, Simon P, Löwer M, et al. Personalized RNA mutanome vaccines mobilize poly-specific therapeutic immunity against cancer. *Nature*. (2017) 547:222. doi: 10.1038/nature23003
- Chalmers ZR, Connelly CF, Fabrizio D, Gay L, Ali SM, Ennis R, et al. Analysis of 100,000 human cancer genomes reveals the landscape of tumor mutational burden. *Genome Med.* (2017) 9:34. doi: 10.1186/s13073-017-0424-2
- Metzker ML. Sequencing technologies—the next generation. Nat Rev Genet. (2010) 11:31. doi: 10.1038/nrg2626
- 22. Finn OJ, Rammensee H-G. Is it possible to develop cancer vaccines to neoantigens, what are the major challenges, and how can these be overcome? Neoantigens: nothing new in spite of the name. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2018) 10:a028829. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a028829
- Bassani-Sternberg M, Pletscher-Frankild S, Jensen LJ, Mann M. Mass spectrometry of human leukocyte antigen class I peptidomes reveals strong effects of protein abundance and turnover on antigen presentation. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2015) 14:658–73. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M114.042812
- 24. Berlin C, Kowalewski D, Schuster H, Mirza N, Walz S, Handel M, et al. Mapping the HLA ligandome landscape of acute myeloid leukemia: a targeted approach toward peptide-based immunotherapy. *Leukemia*. (2015) 29:647. doi: 10.1038/leu.2014.233
- Weinzierl AO, Lemmel C, Schoor O, Müller M, Krüger T, Wernet D, et al. Distorted relation between mRNA copy number and corresponding major histocompatibility complex ligand density on the cell surface. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2007) 6:102–13. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M600310-MCP200
- Hoyos LE, Abdel-Wahab O. Cancer-specific splicing changes and the potential for splicing-derived neoantigens. *Cancer Cell.* (2018) 34:181– 3. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.07.008
- Mani A, Gelmann EP. The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway and its role in cancer. J Clin Oncol. (2005) 23:4776–89. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005. 05.081
- Depontieu FR, Qian J, Zarling AL, McMiller TL, Salay TM, Norris A, et al. Identification of tumor-associated, MHC class II-restricted phosphopeptides as targets for immunotherapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:12073– 8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903852106
- Janeway CA, Travers P, Walport M, Shlomchik M. Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health and Disease. London: Current Biology (1996).
- Freudenmann LK, Marcu A, Stevanović S. Mapping the tumour human leukocyte antigen (HLA) ligandome by mass spectrometry. *Immunology*. (2018) 154:331–45. doi: 10.1111/imm.12936
- Yadav M, Jhunjhunwala S, Phung QT, Lupardus P, Tanguay J, Bumbaca S, et al. Predicting immunogenic tumour mutations by combining mass spectrometry and exome sequencing. *Nature*. (2014) 515:572. doi: 10.1038/nature14001
- Bassani-Sternberg M, Braunlein E, Klar R, Engleitner T, Sinitcyn P, Audehm S, et al. Direct identification of clinically relevant neoepitopes presented on native human melanoma tissue by mass spectrometry. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:13404. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13404
- Gubin MM, Zhang X, Schuster H, Caron E, Ward JP, Noguchi T, et al. Checkpoint blockade cancer immunotherapy targets tumourspecific mutant antigens. *Nature*. (2014) 515:577. doi: 10.1038/nature 13988
- Löffler MW, Chandran PA, Laske K, Schroeder C, Bonzheim I, Walzer M, et al. Personalized peptide vaccine-induced immune response associated with longterm survival of a metastatic cholangiocarcinoma patient. *J Hepatol.* (2016) 65:849–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2016.06.027

- Adamia S, Bar-Natan M, Haibe-Kains B, Pilarski PM, Bach C, Pevzner S, et al. NOTCH2 and FLT3 gene mis-splicings are common events in patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML): new potential targets in AML. *Blood.* (2014) 123:2816–25. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-02-481507
- Casucci M, di Robilant BN, Falcone L, Camisa B, Norelli M, Genovese P, et al. CD44v6-targeted T cells mediate potent antitumor effects against acute myeloid leukemia and multiple myeloma. *Blood.* (2013) 122:3461– 72. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-04-493361
- 37. Cobbold M, De La Peña H, Norris A, Polefrone JM, Qian J, English AM, et al. MHC class I–associated phosphopeptides are the targets of memory-like immunity in leukemia. *Sci Transl Med.* (2013) 5:203ra125. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3006061
- Graf C, Heidel F, Tenzer S, Radsak MP, Solem FK, Britten CM, et al. A neoepitope generated by an FLT3 internal tandem duplication (FLT3-ITD) is recognized by leukemia-reactive autologous CD8+ T cells. *Blood.* (2007) 109:2985–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-07-032839
- Greiner J, Ono Y, Hofmann S, Schmitt A, Mehring E, Götz M, et al. Mutated regions of nucleophosmin 1 elicit both CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell responses in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood.* (2012) 120:1282– 9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-11-394395
- Nelde A, Walz JS, Kowalewski DJ, Schuster H, Wolz O-O, Peper JK, et al. HLA class I-restricted MYD88 L265P-derived peptides as specific targets for lymphoma immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1219825. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1219825
- Norbury LC, Clark RE, Christmas SE. b3a2 BCR-ABL fusion peptides as targets for cytotoxic T cells in chronic myeloid leukaemia. *Br J Haematol.* (2000) 109:616–21. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2000.02090.x
- 42. Pawelec G, Max H, Halder T, Bruserud O, Merl A, da Silva P, et al. BCR/ABL leukemia oncogene fusion peptides selectively bind to certain HLA-DR alleles and can be recognized by T cells found at low frequency in the repertoire of normal donors. *Blood.* (1996) 88:2118– 24. doi: 10.1182/blood.V88.6.2118.bloodjournal8862118
- Scholl S, Salzmann S, Kaufmann AM, Höffken K. Flt3-ITD mutations can generate leukaemia specific neoepitopes: potential role for immunotherapeutic approaches. *Leukemia Lymph.* (2006) 47:307–12. doi: 10.1080/10428190500301306
- Schumacher T, Bunse L, Pusch S, Sahm F, Wiestler B, Quandt J, et al. A vaccine targeting mutant IDH1 induces antitumour immunity. *Nature*. (2014) 512:324. doi: 10.1038/nature13387
- Tubb VM, Schrikkema DS, Croft NP, Purcell AW, Linnemann C, Freriks MR, et al. Isolation of T cell receptors targeting recurrent neoantigens in hematological malignancies. *J Immunother Cancer*. (2018) 6:70. doi: 10.1186/s40425-018-0386-y
- van der Lee DI, Reijmers RM, Honders MW, Hagedoorn RS, de Jong RC, Kester MG, et al. Mutated nucleophosmin 1 as immunotherapy target in acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Investig. (2019) 129:774–78. doi: 10.1172/JCI97482
- Holmström M, Martinenaite E, Ahmad S, Met Ö, Friese C, Kjaer L, et al. The calreticulin (CALR) exon 9 mutations are promising targets for cancer immune therapy. *Leukemia*. (2018) 32:429. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.214
- Holmström MO, Hjortsø M, Ahmad S, Met Ö, Martinenaite E, Riley C, et al. The JAK2 V617F mutation is a target for specific T cells in the JAK2 V617F-positive myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Leukemia*. (2017) 31:495–8. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.290
- Holmström MO, Riley CH, Svane IM, Hasselbalch HC, Andersen MH. The CALR exon 9 mutations are shared neoantigens in patients with CALR mutant chronic myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Leukemia*. (2016) 30:2413. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.233
- Narayan R, Olsson N, Wagar LE, Medeiros BC, Meyer E, Czerwinski D, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia immunopeptidome reveals HLA presentation of mutated nucleophosmin. *PloS ONE*. (2019) 14:e0219547. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0219547
- Nelde A, Kowalewski DJ, Salih HR, Marcu A, Bilich T, Neidert MC, et al. Identification of naturally presented HLA ligands of CD34+CD38- acute myeloid leukemia (AML) progenitor cells for T cell-based immunotherapy – neoepitopes and self-peptides as novel targets for anti-cancer therapy. In: *Abstract CIMT 2019 Annual Meeting*, (Mainz) (2019).
- 52. Gambacorti-Passerini C, Grignani F, Arienti F, Pandolfi PP, Pelicci PG, Parmiani G. Human CD4 lymphocytes specifically recognize a peptide

representing the fusion region of the hybrid protein pml/RAR alpha present in acute promyelocytic leukemia cells. *Blood.* (1993) 81:1369–75. doi: 10.1182/blood.V81.5.1369.1369

- Makita M, Azuma T, Hamaguchi H, Niiya H, Kojima K, Fujita S, et al. Leukemia-associated fusion proteins, dek-can and bcr-abl, represent immunogenic HLA-DR-restricted epitopes recognized by fusion peptide-specific CD4+ T lymphocytes. *Leukemia*. (2002) 16:2400. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2402742
- Yotnda P, Garcia F, Peuchmaur M, Grandchamp B, Duval M, Lemonnier F, et al. Cytotoxic T cell response against the chimeric ETV6-AML1 protein in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *J Clin Investig.* (1998) 102:455– 62. doi: 10.1172/JCI3126
- Bocchia M, Korontsvit T, Xu Q, Mackinnon S, Yang S, Sette A, et al. Specific human cellular immunity to bcr-abl oncogene-derived peptides. *Blood.* (1996) 87:3587–92. doi: 10.1182/blood.V87.9.3587.bloodjournal87 93587
- 56. Yasukawa M, Ohminami H, Kaneko S, Yakushijin Y, Nishimura Y, Inokuchi K, et al. CD4+ Cytotoxic T-cell clones specific for bcr-abl b3a2 fusion peptide augment colony formation by chronic myelogenous leukemia cells in a b3a2-specific and HLA-DR-restricted manner. *Blood.* (1998) 92:3355–61.
- Pinilla-Ibarz J, Cathcart K, Korontsvit T, Soignet S, Bocchia M, Caggiano J, et al. Vaccination of patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia with bcr-abl oncogene breakpoint fusion peptides generates specific immune responses. *Blood*. (2000) 95:1781–7. doi: 10.1182/blood.V95.5.1781.005k46_1781_1787
- Clark RE, Dodi IA, Hill SC, Lill JR, Aubert G, Macintyre AR, et al. Direct evidence that leukemic cells present HLA-associated immunogenic peptides derived from the BCR-ABL b3a2 fusion protein. *Blood.* (2001) 98:2887– 93. doi: 10.1182/blood.V98.10.2887
- Cai A, Keskin DB, DeLuca DS, Alonso A, Zhang W, Zhang GL, et al. Mutated BCR-ABL generates immunogenic T-cell epitopes in CML patients. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2012) 18:5761–72. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1182
- Khodadoust MS, Olsson N, Wagar LE, Haabeth OA, Chen B, Swaminathan K, et al. Antigen presentation profiling reveals recognition of lymphoma immunoglobulin neoantigens. *Nature*. (2017) 543:723. doi: 10.1038/nature21433
- Bozkus CC, Roudko V, Finnigan JP, Mascarenhas J, Hoffman R, Iancu-Rubin C, et al. Immune checkpoint blockade enhances shared neoantigen-induced T cell immunity directed against mutated calreticulin in myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Cancer Discov.* (2019) 9:1192–207. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-1356
- Holmström MO, Ahmad SM, Klausen U, Bendtsen SK, Martinenaite E, Riley CH, et al. High frequencies of circulating memory T cells specific for calreticulin exon 9 mutations in healthy individuals. *Blood Cancer J.* (2019) 9:8. doi: 10.1038/s41408-018-0166-4
- Schischlik F, Jäger R, Rosebrock F, Hug E, Schuster M, Holly R, et al. Mutational landscape of the transcriptome offers a rich neoantigen resource for immunotherapy of myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Blood.* (2018) 132(Suppl. 1):3058. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-99-118049
- 64. Eisfeld A-K, Mrózek K, Kohlschmidt J, Nicolet D, Orwick S, Walker CJ, et al. The mutational oncoprint of recurrent cytogenetic abnormalities in adult patients with *de novo* acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia*. (2017) 31:2211. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.86
- Falini B, Mecucci C, Tiacci E, Alcalay M, Rosati R, Pasqualucci L, et al. Cytoplasmic nucleophosmin in acute myelogenous leukemia with a normal karyotype. N Eng J Med. (2005) 352:254–66. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa041974
- 66. Papaemmanuil E, Gerstung M, Bullinger L, Gaidzik VI, Paschka P, Roberts ND, et al. Genomic classification and prognosis in acute myeloid leukemia. N Eng J Med. (2016) 374:2209–21. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa15 16192
- 67. Paschka P, Schlenk RF, Gaidzik VI, Habdank M, Krönke J, Bullinger L, et al. IDH1 and IDH2 mutations are frequent genetic alterations in acute myeloid leukemia and confer adverse prognosis in cytogenetically normal acute myeloid leukemia with NPM1 mutation without FLT3 internal tandem duplication. J Clin Oncol. (2010) 28:3636–43. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.28.3762
- Bilich T, Nelde A, Bichmann L, Roerden M, Salih HR, Kowalewski DJ, et al. The HLA ligandome landscape of chronic myeloid leukemia delineates novel T-cell epitopes for immunotherapy. *Blood.* (2019) 133:550–65. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-07-866830

- 69. Kowalewski DJ, Schuster H, Backert L, Berlin C, Kahn S, Kanz L, et al. HLA ligandome analysis identifies the underlying specificities of spontaneous antileukemia immune responses in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:E166–75. doi: 10.1073/pnas.14163 89112
- Walz S, Stickel JS, Kowalewski DJ, Schuster H, Weisel K, Backert L, et al. The antigenic landscape of multiple myeloma: mass spectrometry (re) defines targets for T-cell-based immunotherapy. *Blood.* (2015) 126:1203– 13. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-04-640532
- Stirewalt DL, Radich JP. The role of FLT3 in haematopoietic malignancies. Nat Rev Cancer. (2003) 3:650. doi: 10.1038/nrc1169
- Kiyoi H, Ohno R, Ueda R, Saito H, Naoe T. Mechanism of constitutive activation of FLT3 with internal tandem duplication in the juxtamembrane domain. *Oncogene*. (2002) 21:2555. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1205332
- Ren R. Mechanisms of BCR–ABL in the pathogenesis of chronic myelogenous leukaemia. Nat Rev Cancer. (2005) 5:172. doi: 10.1038/nrc1567
- Nangalia J, Green TR. The evolving genomic landscape of myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program*. (2014) 2014:287– 96. doi: 10.1182/asheducation-2014.1.287
- Beer PA, Campbell PJ, Scott LM, Bench AJ, Erber WN, Bareford D, et al. MPL mutations in myeloproliferative disorders: analysis of the PT-1 cohort. *Blood*. (2008) 112:141–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-01-131664
- Akhoondi S, Sun D, von der Lehr N, Apostolidou S, Klotz K, Maljukova A, et al. FBXW7/hCDC4 is a general tumor suppressor in human cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2007) 67:9006–12. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1320
- Ngo VN, Young RM, Schmitz R, Jhavar S, Xiao W, Lim K-H, et al. Oncogenically active MYD88 mutations in human lymphoma. *Nature.* (2011) 470:115. doi: 10.1038/nature 09671
- Chong C, Müller M, Pak H, Harnett D, Huber F, Grun D, et al. Integrated proteogenomic deep sequencing and analytics accurately identify non-canonical peptides in tumor immunopeptidomes. *bioRxiv*. (2019). doi: 10.1101/758680
- Laumont CM, Daouda T, Laverdure J-P, Bonneil É, Caron-Lizotte O, Hardy M-P, et al. Global proteogenomic analysis of human MHC class I-associated peptides derived from non-canonical reading frames. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:10238. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10238
- Liepe J, Marino F, Sidney J, Jeko A, Bunting DE, Sette A, et al. A large fraction of HLA class I ligands are proteasome-generated spliced peptides. *Science*. (2016) 354:354–8. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf4384
- Liepe J, Sidney J, Lorenz FK, Sette A, Mishto M. Mapping the MHC Class I–Spliced Immunopeptidome of Cancer Cells. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:62–76. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0424
- Mishto M, Liepe J. Post-translational peptide splicing and T cell responses. Trends Immunol. (2017) 38:904–15. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2017.07.011
- Starck SR, Shastri N. Non-conventional sources of peptides presented by MHC class I. Cell Mol Life Sci. (2011) 68:1471– 9. doi: 10.1007/s00018-011-0655-0
- Jayasinghe RG, Cao S, Gao Q, Wendl MC, Vo NS, Reynolds SM, et al. Systematic analysis of splice-site-creating mutations in cancer. *Cell Rep.* (2018) 23:270–81. e3. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.03.052
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell*. (2011) 144:646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Malaker SA, Penny SA, Steadman LG, Myers PT, Loke JC, Raghavan M, et al. Identification of glycopeptides as posttranslationally modified neoantigens in leukemia. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2017) 5:376–84. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0280
- Thomas ED, Lochte HL Jr, Lu WC, Ferrebee JW. Intravenous infusion of bone marrow in patients receiving radiation and chemotherapy. *N Eng J Med.* (1957) 257:491–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJM1957091225 71102
- Greiner J, Ringhoffer M, Simikopinko O, Szmaragowska A, Huebsch S, Maurer U, et al. Simultaneous expression of different immunogenic antigens in acute myeloid leukemia. *Exp Hematol.* (2000) 28:1413– 22. doi: 10.1016/S0301-472X(00)00550-6
- Heslop HE, Stevenson FK, Molldrem JJ. Immunotherapy of hematologic malignancy. *Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program.* (2003) 2003:331– 49. doi: 10.1182/asheducation-2003.1.331

- DiNardo CD, Stein EM, de Botton S, Roboz GJ, Altman JK, Mims AS, et al. Durable remissions with ivosidenib in IDH1-mutated relapsed or refractory AML. N Eng J Med. (2018) 378:2386–98. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1716984
- Stone RM, Mandrekar SJ, Sanford BL, Laumann K, Geyer S, Bloomfield CD, et al. Midostaurin plus chemotherapy for acute myeloid leukemia with a FLT3 mutation. N Eng J Med. (2017) 377:454–64. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1614359
- Katz J, Janik JE, Younes A. Brentuximab vedotin (SGN-35). Clin Cancer Res. (2011) 17:6428–36. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0488
- Plosker GL, Figgitt DP. Rituximab. Drugs. (2003) 63:803– 43. doi: 10.2165/00003495-200363080-00005
- Kochenderfer JN, Rosenberg SA. Treating B-cell cancer with T cells expressing anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptors. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* (2013) 10:267. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2013.46
- Yang W, Lee K-W, Srivastava RM, Kuo F, Krishna C, Chowell D, et al. Immunogenic neoantigens derived from gene fusions stimulate T cell responses. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:767. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0434-2
- ClinicalTrials.gov. Identifier NCT02802943, iVAC-CLL01: Patient-Individualized Peptide Vaccination After First Line Therapy of CLL. Bethesda, MD: National Library of Medicine (2016). Available online at: https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02802943 (accessed September 22, 2019).
- 97. ClinicalTrials.gov. Identifier NCT00153582, WT1 Peptide Vaccination in Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML). Bethesda, MD: National Library of Medicine

(2005). Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT00153582 (accessed September 22, 2019).

- ClinicalTrials.gov. Identifier NCT02550535, A Phase I/II Study of Gene-Modified WT1 TCR Therapy in MDS & AML Patients. Bethesda, MD: National Library of Medicine (2015) Available online at: https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02550535 (accessed September 22, 2019).
- Hilf N, Kuttruff-Coqui S, Frenzel K, Bukur V, Stevanović S, Gouttefangeas C, et al. Actively personalized vaccination trial for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *Nature*. (2019) 565:240. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0810-y

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Roerden, Nelde and Walz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Genomic Landscape of Antigenic Targets for T Cell-Based Leukemia Immunotherapy

Marie-Pierre Hardy[†], Krystel Vincent[†] and Claude Perreault^{*}

Department of Immunobiology, Institute for Research in Immunology and Cancer, Montreal, QC, Canada

Intensive fundamental and clinical research in cancer immunotherapy has led to the emergence and evolution of two parallel universes with surprisingly little interactions: the realm of hematologic malignancies and that of solid tumors. Treatment of hematologic cancers using allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation (AHCT) serendipitously led to the discovery that T cells specific for minor histocompatibility antigens (MiHAs) could cure hematopoietic cancers. Besides, studies based on treatment of solid tumor with *ex vivo*-expanded tumor infiltrating lymphocytes or immune checkpoint therapy demonstrated that anti-tumor responses could be achieved by targeting tumor-specific antigens (TSAs). It is our contention that much insight can be gained by sharing the tremendous amount of data generated in the two-abovementioned universes. Our perspective article has two specific goals. First, to discuss the value of methods currently used for MiHA and TSA discovery and to explain the key role of mass spectrometry analyses in this process. Second, to demonstrate the importance of broadening the scope of TSA discovery efforts beyond classic annotated protein-coding genomic sequences.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Khashayarsha Khazaie, Mayo Clinic College of Medicine and Science, United States

Reviewed by:

Daniel Olive, Aix Marseille Université, France Volker Schirrmacher, German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Germany

*Correspondence:

Claude Perreault claude.perreault@umontreal.ca

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 28 August 2019 Accepted: 29 November 2019 Published: 20 December 2019

Citation:

Hardy M-P, Vincent K and Perreault C (2019) The Genomic Landscape of Antigenic Targets for T Cell-Based Leukemia Immunotherapy. Front. Immunol. 10:2934. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02934 Keywords: genomics, major histocompatibility complex, mass spectrometry, minor histocompatibility antigen, peptide, proteogenomics, RNA sequencing, tumor-specific antigen

INTRODUCTION-CLASSIFICATION OF ANTIGENIC TARGETS

MHC-associated peptides (MAPs) are by-products of protein degradation by proteasomes and other proteases (1). However, while all proteins ultimately undergo proteolytic degradation, only some of them generate MAPs (2, 3). Indeed, the biogenesis of MAPs is regulated by several mechanisms operating at the transcriptional, translational, and post-translational levels (4, 5). Notably, MAPs preferentially derive from proteins degraded during or in the minutes following translation, perhaps by specialized "immunoribosomes" (6).

Four groups of MAPs can be targeted for T-cell based immunotherapy of hematologic cancers: MiHAs, tumor-associated antigens (TAAs), mutated TSAs (mTSAs), and aberrantly expressed TSAs (aeTSAs). MiHAs are encoded by genomic regions with two cardinal features: they contain germline polymorphisms, and they are expressed in both normal and neoplastic cells (7, 8). TAAs derive from unmutated genes that are expressed in normal cells but are overexpressed in cancer cells. In several studies, TAAs have been defined according to the overexpression of the corresponding RNA or source protein. This criterion is not entirely satisfactory considering that (i) T cells see MAPs, not RNA or proteins, and (ii) there is no linear correlation between the abundance of MAPs and the abundance of their source RNA or protein (9–11). Ideally, TAAs should therefore be defined according to MAP abundance on normal vs. neoplastic cells. TSAs are MAPs present only on cancer cells. Identification of mTSAs is relatively straightforward: these MAPs are coded

14

by transcripts bearing somatic mutations such as single nucleotide variants, fusion transcripts, etc. (12, 13). Identification of aeTSAs is more challenging since they are unmutated MAPs that can arise from any genomic region *via* cancer-specific aberrations in gene expression (e.g., alterations in histone or DNA methylation) or splicing (14-17).

Identification of aeTSAs rests on the demonstration that these unmutated MAPs are present only on cancer cells. Two strategies have been used to achieve this goal. The first one hinges on comparison of the immunopeptidome (MAP repertoire) of cancer cells vs. that of normal cells (18-20). MAPs found only on cancer cells following mass spectrometry (MS) analyses are labeled as cancer-specific. The limitation of this approach is that some putative aeTSAs may not be entirely cancer-specific because it is currently impossible to obtain the entire MAP repertoire of all types of normal cells. This is particularly true for medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs) which have a unique ability to promiscuously express more genes than other types of somatic cells (21). For example, mTECs express several TAAs, that would otherwise qualify as aeTSAs, such as MAGE-A1, MAGE-A3, MAGE-A4, NY-ESO, and CEA (22). Since mTECs induce central immune tolerance, MAPs expressed in mTECs are expected to be poorly immunogenic. It has heretofore been impossible to analyze the immunopeptidome of mTECs because the number of mTECs that can be obtained from a human subject [$\approx 10^6$ cells (23)] is inferior to the number required for comprehensive MS analyses ($\approx 10^8$ cells) and mTECs cannot be expanded ex vivo. The second strategy is based on the simple principle that a MAP cannot be present if its source RNA is not expressed. Accordingly, MAPs identified in cancer cells by MS analyses are labeled as aeTSAs only when their source RNA is not expressed in any tissue or organ, including mTECs (14, 16). A caveat of this approach is that presence of a MAP-coding RNA is necessary but not sufficient for expression of this MAP at the peptide level. Hence, this strategy may be too stringent and discard some bona fide aeTSAs that would be cancer-specific at the peptide but not the RNA level.

IDENTIFICATION OF TUMOR-SPECIFIC ANTIGENS

Since the focus of this series is on genetic variants, we will concentrate on TSAs and MiHAs for the rest of this article. This does not mean that TAAs are not interesting targets. The main caveat of TAAs is that they are expected to be poorly immunogenic because they are seen as self-MAPs by T cells. However, transfection of CD8 T cells with a high-affinity WT1-specific TCR yielded promising results in a seminal trial on prevention of AML relapse after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation (24). Notably, no off-target toxicity was observed despite the fact that WT1 is expressed by hematopoietic stem cells, urogenital epithelia, and by mesothelial and fibroblastic cells of the peritoneum, the pleural cavity, and the pericardial cavity (24, 25). Moreover, a vaccine targeting the PR1 TAA also induced PR1-specific immune response in patients with myeloid malignancies (26). Nonetheless, the majority of clinical

trials involving TAAs have shown a limited therapeutic potential (27, 28). In contrast to TAAs, TSAs, and MiHAs represent nonself MAPs for autologous and allogeneic T cells, respectively (16, 29, 30). We will limit our review to TSAs and MiHAs presented by MHC class I molecules because the number of studies on MHC II MAPs is relatively limited.

Many studies have been performed in search of TSAs in various tumor types. In most cases, putative TSAs (aka neoantigens) have been identified based on exome sequencing and algorithms that predict MHC binding, without MS validation. This approach is fraught with two major caveats: limited scope and low accuracy.

Limited Scope

Exons represent only 2% of the genome, whereas 75% of the genome can be transcribed and potentially translated (31). Indeed, MS analyses identified MAPs derived from all sorts of allegedly non-protein-coding regions: introns, 5'UTRs, 3'UTRs, long non-coding RNAs, and intergenic regions (14). Accordingly, many allegedly non-coding regions are in fact protein coding, and translation of "non-coding regions" has been shown to generate numerous MAPs (32-34) some of which were retrospectively identified as targets of TILs and autoreactive T cells (35, 36). In addition, the vast majority of TSAs, and of aeTSAs in particular, derive from allegedly non-coding regions (14). We estimate that mTSAs encoded by canonical exonic open reading frames represent <10% of human TSAs (14). Furthermore, the number of exonic mTSAs should be exceedingly low in leukemias because their mutational load is orders of magnitude lower than that of solid tumors such as melanoma. In fact, to the best of our knowledge, only one mTSA has been unambiguously validated by MS in acute leukemias: this HLA-A*02:01-binding peptide results from mutations in the NPM1 gene that cause the translation of a C-terminal alternative reading frame (15). Another mTSA derived from a BCR-ABL fusion protein was identified via MS analyses in 2001 (37), but was not found in a larger cohort of subjects in 2019 (38), and its immunogenicity was called into question (39). The status of this putative TSA therefore remains unclear.

Low Accuracy

The story of the TEL-AML1 fusion peptide provided one of the first hints that, in the absence of MS validation, predictions based on reverse immunology could be misleading. The TEL-AML1 fusion protein results from a 12; 21 chromosomal translocation and is an important transforming factor in B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Based on MHC-binding predictions, a TEL-AML1 fusion peptide that could bind to HLA-A*02:01 was identified (40). Priming of T cells against this peptide generated cytotoxic T cells that recognized autologous leukemic cells (40). However, when tested experimentally, binding of this peptide to HLA-A*02:01 was very weak and its immunogenicity very low. Furthermore, the peptide was not endogenously processed by cells because it was cleaved by proteasomes (41). Hence, the TEL-AML1 fusion peptide was a false discovery, and killing of leukemic cells by T cells primed against the TEL-AML1 fusion peptide (40) was most likely due to the inherent cross-reactivity of T cells which is further amplified in T-cell lines (42). Indeed, positive selection in the thymus preferentially rescues cross-reactive T cells (43) and a single T-cell receptor may recognize more than a million different MAPs (44). Recently, a particularly eloquent demonstration of the low accuracy of mTSA predictions was provided by Löffler at al. who performed comprehensive multi-omic analyses of 16 primary human hepatocellular carcinomas (20). Based on exome and transcriptome sequencing data, MHC-binding algorithms predicted that individual tumors would present an average of 118 exonic mTSAs. Remarkably, none of the 1,888 predicted exonic mTSAs were detected by MS analyses (20). In view of this, the exciting claim that exonic mTSAs can be found in myeloproliferative neoplasms and childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia must be met with enthusiasm and skepticism since no MS validation was performed on the predicted TSAs (45, 46).

How should we design TSA discovery projects in hematopoietic cancers? We propose that two elements should be taken into consideration. First, we believe that searches limited to exonic TSAs considerably underestimate the diversity of the TSA repertoire (47). According to initial analyses of primary acute lymphoblastic leukemia samples, the vast majority of TSAs are aeTSAs derived from unmutated allegedly non-coding sequences. This analysis led to the discovery that endogenous retroelements (EREs), which are part of our non-coding genome, are a rich source of TSAs. EREs can be defined as remnants of the ancient exogenous retroviruses that infected germ line cells and represent around 43% of the human genome (48). Under physiological conditions, most ERE sequences are silenced, but can be re-expressed in cancer through epigenetic dysregulation of the cancer genome (49). The expression of such sequences can lead to MHC-I presentation of "viral-like" peptides and activate T cells (50). Accordingly, our team identified three ERE-derived TSAs in human ALL samples (14). Moreover, it was shown that the env gene of HERV-K was highly upregulated in AML (51), suggesting that this gene could contribute to AML TSA landscape. Notably, since they are unmutated, aeTSAs can be shared by many patients (52, 53). Second, we strongly suggest that MS analyses should be performed either at the discovery or at the validation stage for all TSAs that might be used as therapeutic targets. Indeed, most bioinformatically "predicted TSAs" not validated by MS analyses probably represent false discoveries. This being said, MS has its own limitations (54). Actually, in the discovery mode, "shotgun MS" is biased toward the most abundant peptides and misses low abundance MAPs (55). Alternatively, targeted MS analyses decreases the detection threshold by about 10-fold, but can be performed only on a limited number of peptides of known amino acid sequence (56). Given the rapid pace of improvements in MS technology it may soon be possible to combine the breadth of shotgun MS with the sensitivity of targeted MS (11, 54).

Once TSAs are discovered, the major remaining challenge is to evaluate their immunogenicity. A recent report suggests that about 80% of virus-derived MAPs validated by MS are immunogenic in mice (57). However, we have no evidence that the rules governing immunogenicity of viral MAPs in mice will apply to TSAs in humans. We reported that the strength of anti-TSA immune response in mice was regulated by two parameters: TSA expression level and the frequency of TSA-responsive T cells in the preimmune (naïve) repertoire (14). However, since only five TSAs were studied, these data should be considered preliminary. For the time being, TSA immunogenicity cannot be predicted, and has to be tested experimentally.

IDENTIFICATION OF ACTIONABLE MINOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY ANTIGENS

MiHAs are MAPs derived from polymorphic genomic regions. Since over 660 million single nucleotide variants (SNV) and indels have been identified in human populations (58), the potential human MiHA landscape is very broad. Even though MiHA can originate from non-synonymous SNVs in exons or in non-coding regions (32, 59, 60), we will focus herein on exonic MiHAs because they are easier to identify than those generated from atypical transcripts, and probably sufficient to enable immunotherapy of hematologic cancers. Discovery of the first MiHAs in mice (61-64) and humans (65-67) has been a major endeavor, if not a technical tour de force. However, the pace of MiHA discovery increased rapidly with progress in next generation sequencing and MS. For instance, proteogenomic studies led to the identification of over 6,000 MiHAs presented by the most common HLA haplotype in European Americans: HLA-A*02:01;B*44:03 (60). As for TSAs, MS analyses are instrumental in MiHA discovery/validation because only a small proportion of SNV generate MiHAs (59). Over 90% of MiHA loci are bi-allelic with a dominant allele (that generate MAPs) and a recessive allele (that generates no MAPs) (59, 60, 67). In a few cases, both MiHA alleles are co-dominant. Thus, if we consider MiHAs coded by dominant alleles as winners, it follows that in most cases a single SNV is sufficient to transform winners into losers (the recessive alleles). This is an eloquent reminder that we cannot predict the molecular composition of the immunopeptidome based on our limited understanding of the complexity of the MAP processing pathway (2, 59). More importantly, out of the thousands of MiHAs that we identified, only a minority represent attractive targets for immunotherapy of hematologic tumors with allogeneic T cells (60). Indeed, most MiHAs as non-actionable targets because of their low population frequency and/or their expression in normal epithelial cells.

Allelic Frequency

As long as it is expressed in tumor cells, a TSA may be considered a potential target. For MiHAs, things are more complicated: in order to be actionable, an MiHA must be present in the recipient and absent in the donor. We refer to this situation as a therapeutic mismatch. The probability to have a therapeutic mismatch is maximal when the allelic frequency of the target MiHA is 0.5 and decreases as the allele frequency approaches the two extremes of 0 and 1 (68). However, because of human population history, most bi-allelic loci have a very common and a very rare allele, with population frequencies of >0.99 and <0.01, respectively (58). MiHAs having an allele frequency of 0.01 or 0.99 would yield a low frequency of therapeutic mismatch: in the first case, MiHApositive recipients would be rare, whereas in the second case, MiHA-negative donors would be difficult to find. If we consider that actionable MiHA loci must have a minor allele frequency of \geq 0.05, then about 92.6% of MiHAs have to be discarded (60).

Tissue Expression Profile

CD8T cells targeted to a single MiHA can eradicate tumor cells without causing GVHD, even if expression of the target MiHA is not restricted to hematopoietic cells (69-71). Two elements provide a plausible explanation for the fact that hematopoietic cells are inherently more sensitive than epithelial cells to anti-MiHA T cells: (i) MHC molecules (and therefore MiHAs) are more abundant on hematopoietic cells than epithelial cells and (ii) in one experimental model, MiHA-specific T cells preferentially infiltrated tissues containing VCAM- 1^+ microvessels, that is, the bone marrow and tumor sites (30, 70). Notably, eradication of leukemia cells cannot be achieved by targeting any MiHA. Only MiHAs recognized by CD8T cells with high functional avidity are effective in mouse models (30, 71-74). As a corollary, we speculate that in clinical trials it may be preferable to target multiple MiHAs simultaneously. Since increasing the number of targeted MiHAs enhances the risk of GVHD (75), it would appear justified to target mainly hematopoietic MiHAs. One additional advantage of targeting non-ubiquitous MiHAs is that "antigen excess" (ubiquitous MiHAs) favor exhaustion of anti-MiHA T cells (76). As for TSAs, the question of MiHA expression by normal cells is not a trivial issue. In practice, we assessed the expression profile of MiHA-coding RNAs in normal tissues, then discarded MiHAs coded by ubiquitously expressed transcripts, and kept only MiHAs preferentially expressed in hematopoietic cells relative to epithelial cells (60). This led to the elimination of two-thirds of MiHAs. In fine, out of the 6,773 MiHAs presented by HLA-A*02:01 and HLA-B*44:03, only 39 had a minor allele frequency of ≥ 0.05 and an adequate tissue expression profile (60). This number was sufficient to yield at least one therapeutic mismatch in 90% of related and 98% of unrelated HLA*02:01/HLA-B*44:03-positive donor-recipient pairs (60). We conclude that the landscape of human exonic polymorphisms is vast enough for MiHAtargeted immunotherapy of practically all subjects suffering from hematologic cancers. In practice, this would require systems-level analyses of the MiHA repertoire presented by other common HLA allotypes.

TUMOR-SPECIFIC ANTIGENS AND MINOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY ANTIGENS—TRANSLATIONAL CHALLENGES

In addition to antigen discovery *per se*, scientists involved in the development of TSA- and MiHA-targeted immunotherapies have to address two main challenges: the complexity of precision medicine and the engineering of cost-effective delivery technologies. In the case of TSAs, vaccines appear to be a reasonable delivery strategy to begin with, but the level of precision needed is not inherently obvious. On one side, advocates of individualized vaccines who focus mainly on exonic mTSAs do believe that de novo TSA discovery should be performed for individual patients (77, 78). Others, prefer to target shared TSAs (mainly aeTSAs) and rather foresee the development of pre-assembled multi-epitope vaccines containing a series of TSAs presented by specific HLA allotypes (16, 79). In all cases, it is imperative to improve the immunogenicity of TSA vaccines. Accordingly, several different platforms using enhanced vaccine technologies and improved co-stimulatory agents (adjuvants, superantigens, mature dendritic cells) are currently being tested for multiple tumor types including leukemia and lymphoma (28, 77, 80, 81). In the case of MiHAs, whose complexity is more limited than that of TSAs, delivery is probably the major barrier. Almost all pre-clinical research on MiHA-targeted immunotherapy has involved adoptive transfer of allogeneic T cells. Translating this into clinical practice will only be possible when we can count on reliable methods for ex vivo generation of sufficient numbers of fit (not exhausted) MiHA-responsive T cells (82-84). Finally, for both TSAs and MiHAs, the strength of anti-leukemic immunotherapy could be further increased with more sophisticated TCR-based therapy using transfected TCRs or bispecific biologics (24, 39, 85).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. These data can be found here: MiHA sequences were deposited in the Immune Epitope Database (http://www.iedb.org/) under submission code 1000670. RNA-Seq and exome data were deposited in the NCBI Bioproject database (http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/bioproject/) under accession code PRJNA286122.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

M-PH and KV: analysis and interpretation of data, final revisions of the manuscript. CP: financial support and manuscript writing.

FUNDING

Studies in the authors' lab have been supported by grants from The Leukemia & Lymphoma Society of Canada and The Oncopole. The authors' lab was supported in part by The Katelyn Bedard Bone Marrow Association.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Céline Laumont, Gregory Ehx, Nandita Norohna, Catherine Thériault, and Pierre Thibault for insightful discussions. We are also grateful to Élise Piché and Thomas Piché for technical assistance.

REFERENCES

- Yewdell JW, Reits E, Neefjes J. Making sense of mass destruction: quantitating MHC class I antigen presentation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2003) 3:952–61. doi: 10.1038/nri1250
- Pearson H, Daouda T, Granados DP, Durette C, Bonneil E, Courcelles M, et al. MHC class I-associated peptides derive from selective regions of the human genome. J Clin Invest. (2016) 126:4690–701. doi: 10.1172/JCI88590
- Granados DP, Laumont CM, Thibault P, Perreault C. The nature of self for T cells-a systems-level perspective. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2015) 34:1– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2014.10.012
- Caron E, Vincent K, Fortier MH, Laverdure JP, Bramoulle A, Hardy MP, et al. The MHC I immunopeptidome conveys to the cell surface an integrative view of cellular regulation. *Mol Syst Biol.* (2011) 7:533. doi: 10.1038/msb.2011.68
- Granados DP, Yahyaoui W, Laumont CM, Daouda T, Muratore-Schroeder TL, Cote C, et al. MHC I-associated peptides preferentially derive from transcripts bearing miRNA response elements. *Blood.* (2012) 119:e181– 91. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-02-412593
- Wei J, Kishton RJ, Angel M, Conn CS, Dalla-Venezia N, Marcel V, et al. Ribosomal proteins regulate MHC class I peptide generation for immunosurveillance. *Mol Cell.* (2019) 73:1162–73 e5. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2018.12.020
- Griffioen M, van Bergen CA, Falkenburg JH. Autosomal minor histocompatibility antigens: how genetic variants create diversity in immune targets. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:100. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00100
- Oostvogels R, Lokhorst HM, Minnema MC, van Elk M, van den Oudenalder K, Spierings E, et al. Identification of minor histocompatibility antigens based on the 1000 Genomes Project. *Haematologica*. (2014) 99:1854– 9. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2014.109801
- Weinzierl AO, Lemmel C, Schoor O, Muller M, Kruger T, Wernet D, et al. Distorted relation between mRNA copy number and corresponding major histocompatibility complex ligand density on the cell surface. *Mol Cell Proteomics.* (2007) 6:102–13. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M600310-MCP200
- Fortier MH, Caron E, Hardy MP, Voisin G, Lemieux S, Perreault C, et al. The MHC class I peptide repertoire is molded by the transcriptome. J Exp Med. (2008) 205:595–610. doi: 10.1084/jem.20071985
- Murphy JP, Yu Q, Konda P, Paolo JA, Jedrychowski MP, Kowalewski DJ, et al. Multiplexed relative quantitation with isobaric tagging mass spectrometry reveals class I major histocompatibility complex ligand dynamics in response to doxorubicin. *Anal Chem.* (2019) 91:5106–15. doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.8b05616
- Gubin MM, Zhang X, Schuster H, Caron E, Ward JP, Noguchi T, et al. Checkpoint blockade cancer immunotherapy targets tumour-specific mutant antigens. *Nature*. (2014) 515:577–81. doi: 10.1038/nature13988
- Bassani-Sternberg M, Braunlein E, Klar R, Engleitner T, Sinitcyn P, Audehm S, et al. Direct identification of clinically relevant neoepitopes presented on native human melanoma tissue by mass spectrometry. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:13404. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13404
- Laumont CM, Vincent K, Hesnard L, Audemard E, Bonneil E, Laverdure JP, et al. Non-coding regions are the main source of targetable tumor-specific antigens. *Sci Transl Med.* (2018) 10:eaau5516. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aau5516
- van der Lee DI, Reijmers RM, Honders MW, Hagedoorn RS, de Jong RC, Kester MG, et al. Mutated nucleophosmin 1 as immunotherapy target in acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Invest. (2019) 129:774–85. doi: 10.1172/JCI97482
- Ehx GE, Perreault C. Discovery and characterization of actionable tumor antigens. *Genome Med.* (2019) 11:1–3. doi: 10.1186/s13073-019-0642-x
- Marijt KA, Blijleven L, Verdegaal EME, Kester MG, Kowalewski DJ, Rammensee HG, et al. Identification of non-mutated neoantigens presented by TAP-deficient tumors. J Exp Med. (2018) 215:2325–37. doi: 10.1084/jem.20180577
- Berlin C, Kowalewski DJ, Schuster H, Mirza N, Walz S, Handel M, et al. Mapping the HLA ligandome landscape of acute myeloid leukemia: a targeted approach toward peptide-based immunotherapy. *Leukemia*. (2015) 29:647– 59. doi: 10.1038/leu.2014.233
- Schuster H, Peper JK, Bosmuller HC, Rohle K, Backert L, Bilich T, et al. The immunopeptidomic landscape of ovarian carcinomas. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:E9942–E51. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1707658114

- Löffler MW, Mohr C, Bichmann L, Freudenmann LK, Walzer M, Schroeder CM, et al. Multi-omics discovery of exome-derived neoantigens in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Genome Med.* (2019) 11:1–16. doi: 10.1186/s13073-019-0636-8
- Gotter J, Brors B, Hergenhahn M, Kyewski B. Medullary epithelial cells of the human thymus express a highly diverse selection of tissue-specific genes colocalized in chromosomal clusters. J Exp Med. (2004) 199:155– 66. doi: 10.1084/jem.20031677
- Su MA, Anderson MS. Pulling RANK on cancer: blocking aire-mediated central tolerance to enhance immunotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:854–9. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0912
- Stoeckle C, Rota IA, Tolosa E, Haller C, Melms A, Adamopoulou E. Isolation of myeloid dendritic cells and epithelial cells from human thymus. J Vis Exp. (2013) 79:e50951. doi: 10.3791/50951
- Chapuis AG, Egan DN, Bar M, Schmitt TM, McAfee MS, Paulson KG, et al. T cell receptor gene therapy targeting WT1 prevents acute myeloid leukemia relapse post-transplant. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:1064–72. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0472-9
- Buechler MB, Kim KW, Onufer EJ, Williams JW, Little CC, Dominguez CX, et al. A stromal niche defined by expression of the transcription factor WT1 mediates programming and homeostasis of cavity-resident macrophages. *Immunity*. (2019) 51:119–30. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.05.010
- Qazilbash MH, Wieder E, Thall PF, Wang X, Rios R, Lu S, et al. PR1 peptide vaccine induces specific immunity with clinical responses in myeloid malignancies. *Leukemia*. (2017) 31:697–704. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.254
- Melero I, Gaudernack G, Gerritsen W, Huber C, Parmiani G, Scholl S, et al. Therapeutic vaccines for cancer: an overview of clinical trials. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* (2014) 11:509–24. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.111
- Hollingsworth RE, Jansen K. Turning the corner on therapeutic cancer vaccines. NPJ Vaccines. (2019) 4:7. doi: 10.1038/s41541-019-0103-y
- Schumacher TN, Scheper W, Kvistborg P. Cancer neoantigens. Annu Rev Immunol. (2019) 37:173–200. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-042617-053402
- Vincent K, Roy DC, Perreault C. Next-generation leukemia immunotherapy. Blood. (2011) 118:2951–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-04-350868
- Djebali S, Davis CA, Merkel A, Dobin A, Lassmann T, Mortazavi A, et al. Landscape of transcription in human cells. *Nature*. (2012) 489:101– 8. doi: 10.1038/nature11233
- Laumont CM, Daouda T, Laverdure JP, Bonneil E, Caron-Lizotte O, Hardy MP, et al. Global proteogenomic analysis of human MHC class I-associated peptides derived from non-canonical reading frames. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:10238. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10238
- Laumont CM, Perreault C. Exploiting non-canonical translation to identify new targets for T-cell based cancer immunotherapy. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2017) 75:607–21. doi: 10.1007/s00018-017-2628-4
- Erhard F, Halenius A, Zimmermann C, L'Hernault A, Kowalewski DJ, Weekes MP, et al. Improved Ribo-seq enables identification of cryptic translation events. *Nat Methods*. (2018) 15:363–6. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.4631
- 35. Rosenberg SA, Tong-On P, Li Y, Riley JP, El-Gamil M, Parkhurst MR, et al. Identification of BING-4 cancer antigen translated from an alternative open reading frame of a gene in the extended MHC class II region using lymphocytes from a patient with a durable complete regression following immunotherapy. *J Immunol.* (2002) 168:2402–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.5.2402
- Kracht MJ, van Lummel M, Nikolic T, Joosten AM, Laban S, van der Slik AR, et al. Autoimmunity against a defective ribosomal insulin gene product in type 1 diabetes. *Nat Med.* (2017) 23:501–7. doi: 10.1038/nm.4289
- Clark RE, Dodi IA, Hill SC, Lill JR, Aubert G, Macintyre AR, et al. Direct evidence that leukemic cells present HLA-associated immunogenic peptides derived from the BCR-ABL b3a2 fusion protein. *Blood.* (2001) 98:2887– 93. doi: 10.1182/blood.V98.10.2887
- Bilich T, Nelde A, Bichmann L, Roerden M, Salih HR, Kowalewski DJ, et al. The HLA ligandome landscape of chronic myeloid leukemia delineates novel T-cell epitopes for immunotherapy. *Blood.* (2019) 133:550–65. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-07-866830
- Bachireddy P, Burkhardt UE, Rajasagi M, Wu CJ. Haematological malignancies: at the forefront of immunotherapeutic innovation. *Nat Rev Cancer.* (2015) 15:201–15. doi: 10.1038/ nrc3907

- Yotnda P, Garcia F, Peuchmaur M, Grandchamp B, Duval M, Lemonnier F, et al. Cytotoxic T cell response against the chimeric ETV6-AML1 protein in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *J Clin Invest.* (1998) 102:455– 62. doi: 10.1172/JCI3126
- Popovic J, Li LP, Kloetzel PM, Leisegang M, Uckert W, Blankenstein T. The only proposed T-cell epitope derived from the TEL-AML1 translocation is not naturally processed. *Blood.* (2011) 118:946–54. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-12-325035
- Sewell AK. Why must T cells be cross-reactive? Nat Rev Immunol. (2012) 12:669–77. doi: 10.1038/nri3279
- Khosravi-Maharlooei M, Obradovic A, Misra A, Motwani K, Holzl M, Seay HR, et al. Crossreactive public TCR sequences undergo positive selection in the human thymic repertoire. *J Clin Invest.* (2019) 129:2446– 62. doi: 10.1172/JCI124358
- 44. Wooldridge L, Ekeruche-Makinde J, van den Berg HA, Skowera A, Miles JJ, Tan MP, et al. A single autoimmune T cell receptor recognizes more than a million different peptides. J Biol Chem. (2012) 287:1168–77. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.289488
- 45. Zamora AE, Crawford JC, Allen EK, Guo XJ, Bakke J, Carter RA, et al. Pediatric patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia generate abundant and functional neoantigen-specific CD8(+) T cell responses. *Sci Transl Med.* (2019) 11:eaat8549. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aat8549
- 46. Schischlik F, Jager R, Rosebrock F, Hug E, Schuster MK, Holly R, et al. Mutational landscape of the transcriptome offers putative targets for immunotherapy of myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Blood.* (2019) 134:199– 210. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019000519
- Smith CC, Selitsky SR, Chai S, Armistead PM, Vincent BG, Serody JS. Alternative tumour-specific antigens. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2019) 19:465– 78. doi: 10.1038/s41568-019-0162-4
- Kassiotis G, Stoye JP. Immune responses to endogenous retroelements: taking the bad with the good. Nat Rev Immunol. (2016) 16:207– 19. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.27
- Attig J, Young GR, Hosie L, Perkins D, Encheva-Yokoya V, Stoye JP, et al. LTR retroelement expansion of the human cancer transcriptome and immunopeptidome revealed by *de novo* transcript assembly. *Genome Res.* (2019) 29:1578–90. doi: 10.1101/gr.248922.119
- Attermann AS, Bjerregaard AM, Saini SK, Gronbaek K, Hadrup SR. Human endogenous retroviruses and their implication for immunotherapeutics of cancer. *Ann Oncol.* (2018) 29:2183–91. doi: 10.1093/annonc/ mdy413
- Januszkiewicz-Lewandowska D, Nowicka K, Rembowska J, Fichna M, Zurawek M, Derwich K, et al. Env gene expression of human endogenous retrovirus-k and human endogenous retrovirus-w in childhood acute leukemia cells. *Acta Haematol.* (2013) 129:232–7. doi: 10.1159/000 345407
- Gee MH, Han A, Lofgren SM, Beausang JF, Mendoza JL, Birnbaum ME, et al. Antigen identification for orphan T cell receptors expressed on tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. *Cell.* (2018) 172:549–63. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.11.043
- Probst P, Kopp J, Oxenius A, Colombo MP, Ritz D, Fugmann T, et al. Sarcoma eradication by doxorubicin and targeted TNF relies upon CD8+ T-cell recognition of a retroviral antigen. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:3644– 54. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-2946
- 54. Caron E, Kowalewski DJ, Chiek Koh C, Sturm T, Schuster H, Aebersold R. Analysis of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) immunopeptidomes using mass spectrometry. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2015) 14:3105–17. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M115.052431
- 55. Griss J, Perez-Riverol Y, Lewis S, Tabb DL, Dianes JA, Del-Toro N, et al. Recognizing millions of consistently unidentified spectra across hundreds of shotgun proteomics datasets. *Nat Methods*. (2016) 13:651– 6. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3902
- 56. Wu T, Guan J, Handel A, Tscharke DC, Sidney J, Sette A, et al. Quantification of epitope abundance reveals the effect of direct and cross-presentation on influenza CTL responses. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:2846. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-10661-8
- Croft NP, Smith SA, Pickering J, Sidney J, Peters B, Faridi P, et al. Most viral peptides displayed by class I MHC on infected cells are immunogenic. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2019) 116:3112–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1815239116

- Lappalainen T, Scott AJ, Brandt M, Hall IM. Genomic analysis in the age of human genome sequencing. *Cell.* (2019) 177:70– 84. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.02.032
- Granados DP, Sriranganadane D, Daouda T, Zieger A, Laumont CM, Caron-Lizotte O, et al. Impact of genomic polymorphisms on the repertoire of human MHC class I-associated peptides. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:3600. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4600
- Granados DP, Rodenbrock A, Laverdure JP, Cote C, Caron-Lizotte O, Carli C, et al. Proteogenomic-based discovery of minor histocompatibility antigens with suitable features for immunotherapy of hematologic cancers. *Leukemia*. (2016) 30:1344–54. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.22
- Wallny HJ, Rammensee HG. Identification of classical minor histocompatibility antigen as cell-derived peptide. *Nature*. (1990) 343:275–8. doi: 10.1038/343275a0
- Rotzschke O, Falk K, Wallny HJ, Faath S, Rammensee HG. Characterization of naturally occurring minor histocompatibility peptides including H-4 and H-Y. *Science*. (1990) 249:283–7. doi: 10.1126/science.16 95760
- Morse MC, Bleau G, Dabhi VM, Hetu F, Drobetsky EA, Lindahl KF, et al. The COI mitochondrial gene encodes a minor histocompatibility antigen presented by H2-M3. *J Immunol.* (1996) 156:3301–7.
- Eden PA, Christianson GJ, Fontaine P, Wettstein PJ, Perreault C, Roopenian DC. Biochemical and immunogenetic analysis of an immunodominant peptide (B6dom1) encoded by the classical H7 minor histocompatibility locus. *J Immunol.* (1999) 162:4502–10.
- 65. den Haan JM, Meadows LM, Wang W, Pool J, Blokland E, Bishop TL, et al. The minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1: a diallelic gene with a single amino acid polymorphism. *Science.* (1998) 279:1054–7. doi: 10.1126/science.279.5353.1054
- Pierce RA, Field ED, Mutis T, Golovina TN, Von Kap-Herr C, Wilke M, et al. The HA-2 minor histocompatibility antigen is derived from a diallelic gene encoding a novel human class I myosin protein. *J Immunol.* (2001) 167:3223–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.6.3223
- Spierings E, Hendriks M, Absi L, Canossi A, Chhaya S, Crowley J, et al. Phenotype frequencies of autosomal minor histocompatibility antigens display significant differences among populations. *PLoS Genet.* (2007) 3:e103. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.0030103
- Warren EH, Zhang XC, Li S, Fan W, Storer BE, Chien JW, et al. Effect of MHC and non-MHC donor/recipient genetic disparity on the outcome of allogeneic HCT. *Blood.* (2012) 120:2796–806. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-04-347286
- Fontaine P, Roy-Proulx G, Knafo L, Baron C, Roy DC, Perreault C. Adoptive transfer of minor histocompatibility antigen-specific T lymphocytes eradicates leukemia cells without causing graftversus-host disease. *Nat Med.* (2001) 7:789–94. doi: 10.1038/ 89907
- Meunier MC, Delisle JS, Bergeron J, Rineau V, Baron C, Perreault C. T cells targeted against a single minor histocompatibility antigen can cure solid tumors. *Nat Med.* (2005) 11:1222–9. doi: 10.1038/nm1311
- Vincent K, Hardy MP, Trofimov A, Laumont CM, Sriranganadane D, Hadj-Mimoune S, et al. Rejection of leukemic cells requires antigen-specific T cells with high functional avidity. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2014) 20:37–45. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2013. 10.020
- 72. Pion S, Fontaine P, Baron C, Gyger M, Perreault C. Immunodominant minor histocompatibility antigens expressed by mouse leukemic cells can serve as effective targets for T cell immunotherapy. J Clin Invest. (1995) 95:1561–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI 117829
- Baron C, Meunier MC, Caron E, Cote C, Cameron MJ, Kelvin DJ, et al. Asynchronous differentiation of CD8 T cells that recognize dominant and cryptic antigens. *J Immunol.* (2006) 177:8466–75. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177. 12.8466
- Perreault C, Roy DC, Fortin C. Immunodominant minor histocompatibility antigens: the major ones. *Immunol Today*. (1998) 19:69–74. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5699(97)01185-7
- 75. van Bergen CA, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, de Wreede LC, Eefting M, von dem Borne PA, van Balen P, et al. Selective graft-versusleukemia depends on magnitude and diversity of the alloreactive

T cell response. J Clin Invest. (2017) 127:517–29. doi: 10.1172/JCI 86175

- Meunier MC, Baron C, Perreault C. Two host factors regulate persistence of H7-specific T cells injected in tumor-bearing mice. *PLoS ONE*. (2009) 4:e4116. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004116
- 77. Sahin U, Derhovanessian E, Miller M, Kloke BP, Simon P, Lower M, et al. Personalized RNA mutanome vaccines mobilize polyspecific therapeutic immunity against cancer. *Nature*. (2017) 547: 222–6. doi: 10.1038/nature23003
- Ott PA, Hu Z, Keskin DB, Shukla SA, Sun J, Bozym DJ, et al. An immunogenic personal neoantigen vaccine for patients with melanoma. *Nature*. (2017) 547:217–21. doi: 10.1038/nature22991
- Kowalewski DJ, Stevanovic S, Rammensee HG, Stickel JS. Antileukemia T-cell responses in CLL - we don't need no aberration. *Oncoimmunology.* (2015) 4:e1011527. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015. 1011527
- Sagiv-Barfi I, Czerwinski DK, Levy S, Alam IS, Mayer AT, Gambhir SS, et al. Eradication of spontaneous malignancy by local immunotherapy. *Sci Transl Med.* (2018) 10:eaan4488. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aan4488
- Schirrmacher V. Complete remission of cancer in late-stage disease by radiation and transfer of allogeneic MHC-matched immune T cells: lessons from GvL studies in animals. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2014) 63:535–43. doi: 10.1007/s00262-014-1530-2
- Bleakley M, Riddell SR. Exploiting T cells specific for human minor histocompatibility antigens for therapy of leukemia. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2011) 89:396–407. doi: 10.1038/icb.2010.124

- Meij P, Jedema I, van der Hoorn MA, Bongaerts R, Cox L, Wafelman AR, et al. Generation and administration of HA-1-specific T-cell lines for the treatment of patients with relapsed leukemia after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: a pilot study. *Haematologica*. (2012) 97:1205– 8. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2011.053371
- 84. Janelle V, Carli C, Taillefer J, Orio J, Delisle JS. Defining novel parameters for the optimal priming and expansion of minor histocompatibility antigen-specific T cells in culture. J Transl Med. (2015) 13:123. doi: 10.1186/s12967-015-0495-z
- Riley RS, June CH, Langer R, Mitchell MJ. Delivery technologies for cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* (2019) 18:175–96. doi: 10.1038/s41573-018-0006-z

Conflict of Interest: Université de Montréal holds patents and has filed patent applications on minor histocompatibility antigens and tumor-specific antigens.

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Hardy, Vincent and Perreault. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Apparent Lack of *BRAF^{V600E}* Derived HLA Class I Presented Neoantigens Hampers Neoplastic Cell Targeting by CD8⁺ T Cells in Langerhans Cell Histiocytosis

Paul G. Kemps¹, Timo C. Zondag^{2†}, Eline C. Steenwijk^{1†}, Quirine Andriessen¹, Jelske Borst¹, Sandra Vloemans³, Dave L. Roelen³, Lenard M. Voortman⁴, Robert M. Verdijk⁵, Carel J. M. van Noesel⁶, Arjen H. G. Cleven⁷, Cynthia Hawkins⁸, Veronica Lang⁸, Arnoud H. de Ru⁹, George M. C. Janssen⁹, Geert W. Haasnoot³, Kees L. M. C. Franken³, Ronald van Eijk⁷, Nienke Solleveld-Westerink⁷, Tom van Wezel⁷, R. Maarten Egeler^{1,8}, Auke Beishuizen^{10,11}, Jan A. M. van Laar², Oussama Abla⁸, Cor van den Bos^{11,12}, Peter A. van Veelen⁹ and Astrid G. S. van Halteren^{1,11*}

¹ Immunology Laboratory Willem-Alexander Children's Hospital, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ² Department of Immunology, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ³ Department of Immunohematology and Blood Transfusion, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ⁴ Department of Cell and Chemical Biology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ⁵ Department of Pathology, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ⁶ Department of Pathology, Amsterdam University Medical Centers, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ⁷ Department of Pathology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ⁸ Hospital for Sick Children, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁹ Center for Proteomics and Metabolomics, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ¹⁰ Department of Pediatric Oncology, Sophia Children's Hospital, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ¹¹ Princess Máxima Center for Pediatric Oncology, Utrecht, Netherlands, ¹² Department of Pediatric Oncology, Emma Children's Hospital, Amsterdam University Medical Centers, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ¹⁰ Pepartment of Pediatric Oncology, Sophia Children's Hospital, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ¹¹ Princess Máxima Center for Pediatric Oncology, Utrecht, Netherlands, ¹² Department of Pediatric Oncology, Emma Children's Hospital, Amsterdam University Medical Centers, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Langerhans Cell Histiocytosis (LCH) is a neoplastic disorder of hematopoietic origin characterized by inflammatory lesions containing clonal histiocytes (LCH-cells) intermixed with various immune cells, including T cells. In 50-60% of LCH-patients, the somatic BRAF^{V600E} driver mutation, which is common in many cancers, is detected in these LCH-cells in an otherwise quiet genomic landscape. Non-synonymous mutations like BRAF^{V600E} can be a source of neoantigens capable of eliciting effective antitumor CD8⁺ T cell responses. This requires neopeptides to be stably presented by Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA) class I molecules and sufficient numbers of CD8⁺ T cells at tumor sites. Here, we demonstrate substantial heterogeneity in CD8⁺ T cell density in n = 101 LCH-lesions, with BRAF^{V600E} mutated lesions displaying significantly lower $CD8^+$ T cell:CD1a⁺ LCH-cell ratios (p = 0.01) than BRAF wildtype lesions. Because LCH-lesional CD8⁺ T cell density had no significant impact on event-free survival, we investigated whether the intracellularly expressed BRAF^{V600E} protein is degraded into neopeptides that are naturally processed and presented by cell surface HLA class I molecules. Epitope prediction tools revealed a single HLA class I binding BRAF^{V600E} derived neopeptide (KIGDFGLATEK), which indeed displayed strong to intermediate binding capacity to HLA-A*03:01 and HLA-A*11:01 in an in vitro peptide-HLA binding

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Claude Perreault, Université de Montréal, Canada

Reviewed by:

Arie Admon, Technion Israel Institute of Technology, Israel Rikhia Chakraborty, Baylor College of Medicine, United States

*Correspondence:

Astrid G. S. van Halteren a.g.s.van_halteren@lumc.nl

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 23 October 2019 Accepted: 12 December 2019 Published: 10 January 2020

Citation:

Kemps PG, Zondag TC, Steenwijk EC, Andriessen Q, Borst J, Vloemans S, Roelen DL, Voortman LM, Verdijk RM, van Noesel C.IM. Cleven AHG. Hawkins C, Lang V, de Ru AH, Janssen GMC, Haasnoot GW, Franken KLMC, van Eijk R, Solleveld-Westerink N, van Wezel T, Egeler RM, Beishuizen A, van Laar JAM, Abla O, van den Bos C, van Veelen PA and van Halteren AGS (2020) Apparent Lack of BRAF^{V600E} Derived HLA Class I Presented Neoantigens Hampers Neoplastic Cell Targeting by CD8⁺ T Cells in Langerhans Cell Histiocytosis. Front. Immunol. 10:3045. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.03045

21

assay. Mass spectrometry-based targeted peptidomics was used to investigate the presence of this neopeptide in HLA class I presented peptides isolated from several *BRAF^{V600E}* expressing cell lines with various HLA genotypes. While the HLA-A*02:01 binding *BRAF* wildtype peptide KIGDFGLATV was traced in peptides isolated from all five cell lines expressing this HLA subtype, KIGDFGLATEK was not detected in the HLA class I peptidomes of two distinct *BRAF^{V600E}* transduced cell lines with confirmed expression of HLA-A*03:01 or HLA-A*11:01. These data indicate that the *in silico* predicted HLA class I binding and proteasome-generated neopeptides derived from the *BRAF^{V600E}* protein are not presented by HLA class I molecules. Given that the *BRAF^{V600E}* mutation is highly prevalent in chemotherapy refractory LCH-patients who may qualify for immunotherapy, this study therefore questions the efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy in LCH.

Keywords: Langerhans Cell Histiocytosis, BRAF, neoantigen, neopeptide, Human Leukocyte Antigen, T cell

INTRODUCTION

Langerhans Cell Histiocytosis (LCH) is a rare neoplastic disorder of hematopoietic origin that primarily affects children, but also involves adults (1). Its clinical manifestation varies from a single bone lesion or benign skin rash to a widely disseminated and lifethreatening condition, similar to acute myeloid leukemia (2). The histopathological hallmark of LCH are phenotypically aberrant $CD1a^+$ $CD207^+$ histiocytes (LCH-cells), although not all pathological CD1a⁺ histiocytes co-express CD207 (3). Typically, these LCH-cells are accompanied by a diverse inflammatory infiltrate, often including T cells (2). These T cells have been shown to frequently make intimate contact with LCH-cells (4, 5). While patients with high CD8⁺ T cell density in the tumor infiltrate have a more favorable prognosis across many other neoplastic diseases (6), little is still known about the presence and clinical impact of CD8⁺ T cells in LCH-lesions (7–9).

Naive (CD8⁺) T cells require antigen binding by their T cell receptor and co-stimulatory signals for (proper) activation. Previous studies have already demonstrated that LCH-cells express the co-stimulatory receptors CD40 (10-12), CD80 (3, 11-13), ICOS ligand (ICOSL) (14) and, although variably, CD86 (3, 11, 12) in situ. Moreover, transcriptome analyses revealed that LCH-cells express similar levels of CD40, CD80, and CD86 messenger RNA when compared to normal epidermal CD207⁺ Langerhans cells (15, 16), and that they confer high expression of genes relevant for antigen presentation (including CD1E) and genes encoding members of the HLA (class II) complex (17). Thus, LCH-cells do not appear to have an intrinsic defect in their capacity to elicit a T cell immune response (12). This may explain why a proportion of LCH-lesional T cells have been shown to express cell surface markers indicative of recent activation (2), including CD40L (10), ICOS (14), CXCR3 (7), CD25 (5, 14), PD-1 (18, 19), RANKL (20), and CD45RO (7). In addition, marked monoclonal expansion of LCH-lesion infiltrating CD3⁺ T cells has been observed (19), suggesting that T cell receptor activation occurred in situ. The antigen-specificity of activated LCH-lesional T cells is, however, unknown (2).

In 2010, universal activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathway in LCH-cells was demonstrated (21, 22). Since then, recurrent somatic mutations in genes of the MAPK signaling pathway have been identified in ~85% of LCH-patients (23, 24). Oncogenic driver mutations are essential for tumorigenesis and tend to be clonally conserved. This makes neoantigens derived from proteins encoded by oncogenes highly attractive targets for immunotherapy. In addition, the natural T cell pool should contain T cells expressing high affinity T cell receptors for these neoantigens (25), which may exert potent antitumor function (26-29). This requires, however, neoantigens to be stably presented by Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA) class I molecules and sufficient numbers of CD8⁺ T cells at tumor sites. Over the past years, several HLA class I presented "public" neoantigens resulting from recurrent hotspot mutations in driver oncogenes have been discovered (30-38). Approximately 50-60% of LCHpatients carry the somatic $BRAF^{V600E}$ driver mutation (1, 21). $CD8^+$ T cells specific for $BRAF^{V600E}$ derived neopeptides have already been reported in vitro and in murine models (39-42). Thus, activation of LCH-lesional BRAF^{V600E} neoantigenspecific CD8⁺ T cells could hypothetically lead to the eradication of $BRAF^{V600E}$ expressing LCH-cells. Moreover, the concurrent formation of long-lasting bone-marrow homing memory CD8⁺ T cells could control new outgrowth of residual $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutated histiocyte precursor cells (43). Immunotherapy specifically aimed at enhancing the number and effector function of these BRAF^{V600E}-specific CD8⁺ T cells could offer great promise in the treatment of highrisk LCH-patients, given that these patients often bear the $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation and fail first-line chemotherapy (44). Importantly, the *BRAF* gene is mutated in \sim 7% of human cancers, with the *BRAF*^{V600E} mutation accounting for >90% of all genetic variations (45, 46). Hence, the identification of HLA class I presented "public" neoantigens derived from the BRAF^{V600E} protein would offer great therapeutic opportunity for many patients with other $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutated neoplasms as well (47).

The aim of this study was therefore to (i) assess the presence and clinical impact of lesional $CD8^+$ T cells in (HLA and BRAF^{V600E}) genotyped LCH-patients, and (ii) to investigate whether $BRAF^{V600E}$ derived neopeptides are presented by HLA class I molecules and could be recognized by such $CD8^+$ T cells.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients and Samples

Patient accrual started after approval of the study protocol (CCMO NL33428.058.10) by each local Institutional Review Board. Only patients of whom formalin-fixed-paraffin-embedded (FFPE) first disease onset (FDO) LCH tissue biopsies were available were asked to participate in the study. Informed consent was provided by n = 135 patients and/or their parents/legal guardians. LCH diagnosis was confirmed by a combination of clinical findings and the presence of phenotypically aberrant CD1a⁺ histiocytes in the tissue biopsy. The tissue samples were handled according to the code of conduct for proper secondary use of human tissue of the Federation of Dutch Medical Scientific Societies (FEDERA). Clinical information was collected by each participating center separately using a standardized Case Report Form (CRF) and anonymized data were provided to the researchers of the LUMC. Events were defined as LCH disease progression or reactivation. Progression was defined as (i) progression of existing lesions requiring start or intensification of systemic chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy, or (ii) the development of new lesions when Non-Active Disease (NAD) state had not yet been attained. LCH reactivation was defined as the development of new lesions after NAD had been attained for LCH FDO.

Flow Cytometric Analysis of LCH Tissue Biopsies

Fresh LCH tissue was dissociated using a gentle MACS tissue dissociator (Miltenyi Biotec) and single cells were cryopreserved in DMSO and albumin containing Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) culture medium. Before flow cytometric analysis, cells were thawed in RPMI + 20% fetal calf serum (FCS) + Penicillin-Streptomycin (P/S) containing 1,600 IU/ml DNAase (Sigma-Aldrich). After washing, the cells were stained with a mixture of different antibodies: CD45 (2D1, 1:50, BD Biosciences), CD1a (HI149, 1:50, BD Biosciences), CD207 (DCGM4, 1:25, Beckman Coulter), CD14 (MØP9, 1:20, BD Biosciences), CD3 (UCHT1, 1:200, BD Biosciences), CD8 (SK1, 1:100, BD Biosciences), HLA-DR (G46-6, 1:200, BD Biosciences), and panHLA class I (G46-2.6, 1:40, BD Biosciences). The cells were then re-washed and immediately analyzed on a FACS ARIA3 or FACS Fusion cell sorter (BD Biosciences).

HLA Genotyping and Analysis

High-resolution HLA genotyping was performed by DKMS Life Sciences Lab on DNA extracted from buccal swabs obtained from n = 104 LCH-patients using an ampliqon sequencingbased approach, as previously described (48, 49). For n = 14additional patients, low-resolution HLA genotype data were acquired using a sequence specific oligoprimer-based approach (50). Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium testing and HLA association analyses were performed using the HLA genotype data of Dutch LCH-patients. To evaluate statistical significance, twosided Fisher's exact tests were carried out. The *p*-values were corrected for multiple comparisons conform the Šidák method (51). Odds ratios and corresponding 95% confidence intervals were calculated according to the method of Woolf with the Haldane correction (52, 53). Since a large control group could lead to significant differences that are clinically irrelevant, *p*values were standardized to a smaller control sample size following the method of Good (54). The smaller control sample size was obtained using the following calculation: the total number of LCH-patients plus 3 times the number of patients as maximum allowed size for the control group.

Immunohistochemical Staining of LCH Tissue Sections

FFPE tissue sections (4–10 μ m) were deposited on SuperfrostTM (Thermo Fisher Scientific) glass slides, dried overnight at 37°C and stored at 4°C. Prior to immunohistochemical (IHC) staining, selected 4 µm slides were preheated at 66°C for 1 h and deparaffinized in xylol. For enzymatic CD1a IHC staining, endogenous peroxidase was blocked using Methanol/0.3% H₂O₂ for 20 min, before slides were rehydrated in ethanol and demineralized in water baths. Antigen retrieval was performed in boiling citrate buffer (pH 6.0) for 10 min and sections were incubated overnight with mouse IgG1-anti-human CD1a antibody (Clone 010, 1:800, DAKO) diluted in phosphate buffered saline (PBS)/0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA). The next day, Envision+ System-HRP labeled polymer anti-mouse (DAKO) was applied for 30 min and color development was attained using commercial DAB+ (DAKO) for 10 min in the dark. This reaction was stopped using demineralized water and slides were counterstained with Mayer's hematoxylin (Klinipath) for 5 s prior to mounting with Pertex (Leica Microsystems).

An earlier published protocol was used for triple CD1a/CD3/CD8 fluorescent IHC staining (14). In brief, antigen retrieval was performed in boiling EDTA buffer (pH 8.0) for 10 min followed by a blocking step using 10% Normal Goat Serum in PBS/0.5% BSA for 15 min at room temperature. Slides were incubated overnight with the following primary antibody mix: rabbit IgG-anti-human CD3 (polyclonal, 1:300, DAKO), mouse IgG2b-anti-human CD8 (clone 4B11, 1:100, Novocastra, via Leica Microsystems), and mouse IgG1-anti-human CD1a (Clone 010, 1:400, DAKO). The next day, tissue slides were incubated for 30 min in the dark with 1:300 diluted goat-anti-mouse IgG1 Alexa Fluor 488, goat-anti-mouse IgG2b Alexa Fluor 546 and goat-anti-mouse IgG2a Alexa Fluor 647 antibodies (all from Invitrogen, via Thermofisher Life Technologies Europe). After washing in PBS, the sections were mounted with Mowiol (homemade) or Prolong Gold (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and stored in the dark at 4°C.

BRAF^{V600E} Mutation Analysis

CD1a⁺ enriched tissue parts were marked by a blinded pathologist on enzymatically CD1a stained LCH tissue slides.

Exploring BRAF^{V600E} Derived Neoantigens

Based on these reference slides, CD1a⁺ enriched tissue parts were manually microdissected from multiple consecutively cut 10 µm tissue sections prepared from the remainder of the LCH tissue blocks. Total nucleic acid was automatically isolated from microdissected tissue using the Siemens Tissue Preparation System (Siemens Healthcare) robot (55). Presence of the *BRAF*^{V600E} mutation was assessed by allele-specific real-time qPCR, as previously described (56). Of the $n = 54 BRAF^{V600E}$ negative samples, absence of the *BRAF*^{V600E} mutation was confirmed in 46 samples (85%) by next-generation sequencing (n = 39), whole exome sequencing (n = 1) (57) or *BRAF*^{V600E} droplet digital PCR (n = 6).

Quantification of T Cell Density in LCH-Lesions

For the manual cell counting method, multiple representative images were taken of each tissue slide at 400× magnification using a conventional Leica DM5500 fluorescent microscope equipped with LAS AF software (Leica Microsystems). Images were solely taken of representative areas containing phenotypically aberrant CD1a⁺ LCH-cells. Using Image J software (version 1.47v) with the public Cell Counter plugin, fluorescently stained CD1a⁺, CD3⁺CD8⁻ and CD3⁺CD8⁺ cells were manually counted in all images by two independent researchers (PGK and ECS) who were unaware of patient identity and outcome data. The cell counts of the individual images were added to form total CD1a⁺, CD3⁺CD8⁻ and CD3⁺CD8⁺ cell counts. When total cell counts differed more than 10% between the two researchers, a third researcher (AGSH) reviewed the cell counting results and selected the most appropriate scoring (19/101 cases). Total CD3⁺ cell counts were obtained by adding total CD3⁺CD8⁻ and CD3⁺CD8⁺ cell counts. To adjust for substantial differences in biopsy size between different patients, which may lead to profound disparities in absolute numbers of counted cells, ratios between the final numbers of total CD3⁺ and CD3⁺CD8⁺ T cells and CD1a⁺ LCH-cells were calculated for each patient.

For the manual semi-quantitative eyeball estimation method, whole slide images were taken of the same immunostained tissue slides at 400× magnification using a Pannoramic 250 Flash II slidescanner (3DHISTECH). These images were scored semiquantitatively for LCH-lesional CD3⁺ and CD3⁺CD8⁺ T cell density as has been previously described (58, 59): 1+, no, or sporadic T cells; 2+, moderate number of T cells; 3+, abundant occurrence of T cells; and 4+, highly abundant occurrence of T cells. Scoring examples are shown in Figure S1. Unfortunately, n = 21/101 (21%) of the tissue slides could not be reanalyzed due to considerable photobleaching of the fluorophores, induced by the earlier collection of high-power images for the manual cell counting analysis. Slides were scored independently by three researchers (PGK, ECS and AGSH). When scorings between two or more researchers differed more than 1 value (15/80 cases), the scoring was reviewed by all three researchers collectively and a consensus score was attained. Otherwise, the average score of the three scorings determined the final result, rounded to the nearest whole value (1-4+).

Whole slide images of sufficient quality (without significant color casts and/or folded tissue parts that are highly autofluorescent and/or out of focus) from n = 48 LCHpatients were analyzed using a quantitative automated digital image analysis method (Figure S2). First, the LCH-lesion and its directly adjacent T cells were encircled in the whole slide image in CaseViewer software and exported. In this way, cells that clearly did not belong to the microenvironment of the CD1a⁺ LCH-cells were excluded. Using a custom in-house developed macro in ImageJ software, a white balance was then set for each individual exported image by designating background, foreground and autofluorescence. Next, uniform color thresholds for green (CD1a⁺), red (CD3⁺CD8⁻), and purple (CD3⁺CD8⁺) were applied to all images, so that only green, red, and purple areas with color intensities higher than the threshold remained. Since automated quantification of individual cells was not feasible, the cumulative area of the remaining green, red, and purple areas was measured for each image, representing the total quantity of CD1a⁺, CD3⁺CD8⁻, and CD3⁺CD8⁺ cells. Purple and Red (CD3⁺) area/Green (CD1a⁺) area and Purple (CD3⁺CD8⁺) area/Green (CD1a⁺) area ratios could then be calculated for each patient. Comparison of the results obtained using our three separate analysis methods showed substantial concordance (Figure S3), supporting the validity of the findings in this study.

In vitro Peptide-HLA Class I Binding Analysis

Competition-based peptide-HLA class I binding assays were performed as previously described (60). The HLA binding affinities of the target peptides and strong binding reference peptides are expressed as the concentration that inhibits 50% binding of a fluorescently-labeled standard peptide (IC₅₀). The standard peptides were FLPSDCFPSV for HLA-A*02:01 and KVFPCALINK for HLA-A*03:01 and HLA-A*11:01. Notably, the ratio between the IC₅₀ of a target peptide and the IC₅₀ of an established strong binding reference peptide (for example 260:250 vs. 100:5) provides superior information on the true HLA class I binding capacity of the target peptide than the absolute IC₅₀ of the target peptide.

Generation of *BRAF*^{V600E} Expressing EBV-LCLs

The full length *BRAF*^{V600E} sequence incorporated in a pBABE-Puro-BRAF-V600E plasmid was re-cloned into a LZRS-ires-Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP) retroviral vector by introducing the SwaI restriction site and a kozak sequence in front of the ATG start codon at the 5'end of the *BRAF*^{V600E} sequence using Phusio DNA polymerase. In addition, a stop codon and NotI restriction site was introduced at the 3'end of the *BRAF*^{V600E} sequence. The original pBABE-Puro-BRAF-V600E plasmid was kindly provided by William Hahn (Addgene plasmid #15269; http:// n2t.net/addgene:15269; RRID:Addgene_15269) (61). Ligation of the *BRAF* PCR product in the LZRS vector digested with SwaI and NotI was performed overnight at 16°C. Prior to spin inoculation of Phoenix packaging cells, the correct sequence of the re-cloned *BRAF*^{V600E} gene was confirmed by Sanger sequencing (data not shown). Retrovirus containing supernatant was subsequently used to transduce Epstein-Barr virus-immortalized B cell lines (EBV-LCLs) with either a control empty LZRS vector (mock transduced EBV-LCL) or with the new *BRAF^{V600E}* containing LZRS vector (*BRAF^{V600E}* transduced EBV-LCL). Stably transduced GFP^{high} cells were purified using an ARIA3 flow cytometer prior to bulk expansion in RPMI medium containing 10% bovine serum.

Mass Spectrometry-Based Targeted Peptidomics

Cells were lysed at a concentration of 100e6 cells/ml lysis buffer [50 mM Tris-Cl pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 0.5% Zwittergent 3-12 (N-dodecyl-N,N-dimethyl-3-ammonio-1-propanesulfonate) and protease inhibitor (Complete, Roche Applied Science)] for 2 h at 0°C (62). Lysates were successively centrifuged for 10 min at 2,500 \times g and for 45 min at 31,000 \times g to remove nuclei and other insoluble material, respectively. Next, lysates were cleared through a CL-4B Sepharose column (1 ml/1e9 cells) and passed through an anti-panHLA class I column containing 2.5 mg W6/32 IgG per ml protein A Sepharose (62). The W6/32 column was washed three times each with 1 ml of lysis buffer, 3 ml of low salt buffer (20 mM Tris-Cl pH 8.0, 120 mM NaCl), 1 ml of high salt buffer (20 mM Tris-Cl pH 8.0, 1 M NaCl), and finally with 3 ml of low salt buffer. Peptides were eluted with 5 ml of 10% acetic acid per ml column, diluted with 10 ml of 0.1% formic acid and purified by SPE (Oasis HLB, Waters) using 20 and 30% acetonitrile in 0.1% formic acid to elute the peptides.

For parallel reaction monitoring (PRM) analyses, the samples were lyophilized and resuspended in buffer A. HLA-eluates were injected together with a mix of 40 fmol of each heavy labeled peptide. The Orbitrap Fusion LUMOS mass spectrometer was operated in PRM-mode. Peptides KIGDFGLATE, KIGDFGLATEK, and KIGDFGLATVK KIGDFGLATV, were monitored. Selected peptides, the transitions and collision energies can be found in Table S1. The isolation width of Q1 was 1.2 Da. MS2 resolution was 35,000 at an AGC target value of 1 million at a maximum fill time of 100 ms. The gradient was run from 2 to 36% solvent B (20/80/0.1 water/acetonitrile/formic acid (FA) v/v) in 120 min. The nano-HPLC column was drawn to a tip of \sim 5 μ m and acted as the electrospray needle of the MS source. PRM data analysis and data integration were performed in Skyline 3.6.0.10493. Peptide abundances were calculated by comparing the peak area of the eluted (light) and the peak area of the spiked-in heavy peptides.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism version 8.0.1 and IBM SPSS Statistics version 25. Comparisons of (sub)groups were performed with the Mann-Whitney U test for continuous data and the Fisher exact test for categorical data. The Cox proportional hazards model was used for univariate analysis. Notably, log transformation of the widely differing CD8⁺ T cell:CD1a⁺ LCH-cell ratios was performed to increase the validity of the univariate analysis. Survival curves were estimated with the Kaplan-Meier method and compared with the Log-rank test. A *p*-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

LCH-Cells Express Normal Levels of HLA Class I and II Molecules at Their Cell Surface

Since loss or downregulation of HLA expression has been shown to be a major tumor escape mechanism from T lymphocytes in a wide variety of cancers (63), we first evaluated by flow cytometric analysis the levels of HLA class I and HLA-DR expression on the surface of CD1a⁺ (LCH-)cells present in n = 6 LCH-biopsies. The gating strategy applied is shown in **Figure S4**. The mean fluorescent intensity (MFI) of HLA class I and HLA-DR expression by CD1a⁺ (LCH-)cells was comparable to MFI levels of HLA class I and HLA-DR expression by CD1a⁻ CD14⁺ (monocytic) cells present in the same LCH-biopsies (**Figure 1**; HLA class I, p = 0.69; HLA-DR, p = 0.94).

The HLA Genotype of LCH-Patients Does Not Differ From Healthy Controls

Besides HLA expression, HLA subtype is a crucial factor influencing whether a (neo)antigen is actually presented at the surface of nucleated cells. Several earlier published studies have suggested associations between particular HLA subtypes and LCH disease (extension) (64-67). To investigate this, we compared HLA genotype data from n= 94 Dutch LCH-patients to the HLA genotypes of 5,604 healthy Dutch blood donors reflecting the HLA genotype of the Dutch population (50). To maintain sufficient statistical power, HLA genotype was compared at low resolution level. No significant differences between Dutch LCH-patients and the Dutch reference population were observed (Table S2). Thus, our data do not support previous reports describing excess frequency of HLA-Bw61 and HLA-Cw7 (64), HLA-B7 and HLA-DR2 (65), and HLA-DR4 and/or HLA-Cw7 (66) genotypes in LCH-patients (Tables S2, S3). Moreover, our results neither confirm that LCH-patients with unifocal bone disease have significantly more often HLA-DR4 and/or HLA-Cw7 (66) subtypes nor that patients with single-system LCH have an increased prevalence of HLA-DRB1*03 (67) when compared to patients with multisystem LCH (Table S4 and Figure S5, respectively).

BRAF^{V600E} Mutation Correlates With Decreased CD8⁺ T Cell Density in LCH-Lesions

Assured that LCH-cells express HLA class I (and II) molecules and that there is a normal HLA subtype distribution among LCH-patients, we next investigated the presence of CD8⁺ T cells in LCH-lesions. Various methods for the quantification of cell numbers in (specific areas of) tissue sections exist, including eyeball estimation, manual cell counting and automated digital image analysis. Although automated digital image analysis is increasingly being applied, manual cell counting is still considered the golden standard (68). Accordingly, we first determined the relative number of total CD3⁺ and CD3⁺CD8⁺



FIGURE 1 | Flow cytometric measurements of HLA class I and HLA-DR expression by LCH biopsy-derived hematopoietic cells. Mean Fluorescent Intensity (MFI) of (A) HLA class I (W6/32) and (B) HLA-DR expression by live CD1a⁺ (LCH-)cells, CD3⁺CD8⁻ (T) cells and CD3⁺CD8⁺ (T) cells are depicted relative to the MFI of HLA class I or HLA-DR expression by CD1a⁻ CD14⁺ (monocytic) cells. The gating strategy applied is shown in **Figure S4**. The box extends from the 25th to 75th percentiles. The line in the middle of the box is plotted at the median. The whiskers go down to the smallest value and up to the largest. Each individual value is plotted as a point superimposed on the graph.

T cells in LCH-lesions using this method. Fluorescently stained CD1a⁺, CD3⁺CD8⁻ and CD3⁺CD8⁺ cells (**Figure 2A**) were manually counted in LCH-biopsies from n = 101 patients collected at first disease onset using the public ImageJ Cell Counter plugin. A median of 1,810 cells (range: 188–9,301) were counted in a median of 16 representative images (range: 2–56) taken at 400× magnification of tissue areas containing phenotypically aberrant CD1a⁺ LCH-cells. Large inter- and intrapatient heterogeneity was seen in the relative number of LCH-lesional CD3⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes (**Figure S6** and **Figure 2B**, respectively). Calculated CD8⁺ T cell:CD1a⁺ LCH-cell ratios (CD8 ratios) ranged from 0.00 to 4.96. The median

CD8 ratio was 0.06, corresponding to 1 CD8⁺ T cell per 16 CD1a⁺ LCH-cells. No significant difference in LCH-lesional CD8 ratios was observed between bone and skin biopsies (p = 0.37) nor between patients with single- or multisystem LCH disease (p = 0.55). Yet, BRAF^{V600E} mutated patients displayed significantly lower LCH-lesional CD8 ratios when compared to *BRAF* wildtype (*BRAF*^{WT}) patients (p = 0.01; Figure 2C). BRAF^{V600E} mutated LCH-lesions had a median CD8 ratio of 0.0316, corresponding to 1 CD8⁺ T cell per 32 CD1a⁺ LCHcells. In contrast, BRAFWT lesions had a median CD8 ratio of 0.0775, corresponding to 1 CD8⁺ T cell per 13 CD1a⁺ LCH-cells. $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutated lesions also had significantly lower total CD3⁺ T cell:CD1a⁺ LCH-cell ratios than BRAF^{WT} lesions (p = 0.001; Figure S7). As manual selection of representative tissue areas may introduce bias, we also analyzed whole slide images taken from a subset of immunostained tissue sections using a previously described semi-quantitative eyeball estimation method (58, 59) (Figure S1) and a quantitative automated digital image analysis method (Figure S2). The correlation between the BRAF^{V600E} mutation and decreased LCH-lesional CD3⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell density was confirmed by these two additional analysis methods (Figure S8).

Lesional CD8⁺ T Cell Density Does Not Correlate With Event-Free Survival in LCH

We subsequently assessed whether lesional CD8⁺ T cell density is of prognostic value in LCH. Using univariate cox regression analysis, no significant association was observed between LCHlesional CD8 ratio and event-free survival (p = 0.46; Hazard Ratio= 0.89; 95% Confidence Interval = 0.66–1.21). In addition, no significant difference was present when patients were divided by a median split, grouped in patients with HIGH or LOW CD8 ratios (**Figure 2B** and **Table 1**) and compared with regard to event-free survival (p = 0.96, **Figure 2D**). Thus, LCH-lesional CD8⁺ T cell density did not correlate with disease outcome in this retrospective patient cohort.

The *BRAF^{V600E}* Derived Neopeptide KIGDFGLAT<u>E</u>K Binds to HLA-A*03:01 and HLA-A*11:01

To investigate the immunogenicity of the BRAF^{V600E} mutation, we used the online NetMHC 4.0 server (69) to explore putative HLA class I binding 8-12 amino acid long (8-12mer) neopeptides derived from the $BRAF^{V600E}$ protein. In addition, NetCHOP 3.1 software (70) was used to predict proteasomal cleavage motifs and thereby identify peptides that are presumably generated by the human proteasome. From all 8–12mer $BRAF^{V600E}$ derived neopeptides that are generated by the human proteasome according to NetCHOP, only a single neopeptide, the 11mer KIGDFGLATEK, is predicted to bind to one or more of the analyzed HLA class I molecules (Table S5). According to NetMHC, KIGDFGLATEK binds weakly to HLA-A*11:01 and HLA-A*03:01, expressed by respectively n = 11/104 (11%) and n = 25/104 (24%) LCH-patients from our cohort. The remainder of the 8-12mer $BRAF^{V600E}$ derived neopeptides are all considered not be



FIGURE 2 LCH-lesional CD8⁺ T cell densities in first disease onset tissue biopsies of LCH-patients. (A) Representative images of immunostained phenotypically aberrant CD1a⁺ LCH-cells (green), CD3⁺CD8⁻ T cells (red), and CD3⁺CD8⁺ T cells (purple) that were manually counted. (B) Distribution of LCH-lesional CD8⁺ T cell: CD1a⁺ LCH-cell ratios (CD8 ratios) in first-disease onset tissue biopsies of n = 101 LCH-patients. For Kaplan-Meier survival analysis (shown in **D**), patients were divided by a median split and grouped in patients with HIGH or LOW CD8 ratios. (C) Distribution of CD8 ratios in *BRAF^{VG00E}* mutated (n = 48) and *BRAF* wildtype (n = 45) LCH-lesions. (D) Kaplan-Meier survival analysis of patients with HIGH (n = 50) or LOW (n = 51) CD8 ratios. Event was defined as LCH disease progression or reactivation. N, number of patients at risk.

generated by the human proteasome and/or to be non-binders. Additional *in vitro* peptide-HLA binding studies however demonstrated that KIGDFGLAT<u>E</u>K binds with comparable affinity to HLA-A*11:01 as the strong binding reference peptide (QVPLRPMTYK) that was used in our competition-based peptide-HLA binding assay (60). In line with the predicted binding affinity, this neopeptide was shown to also bind, albeit less efficiently, to HLA-A*03:01 (**Table 2**), as evidenced by the small difference in nanomolar concentration that inhibited 50% binding (IC₅₀) of the fluorescently-labeled standard peptide (KVFPCALINK) between KIGDFGLAT<u>E</u>K and QVPLRPMTYK (672 vs. 297 nM, respectively). Notably, NetMHCstab 1.0 software (71) predicts that the KIGDFGLAT<u>E</u>K-HLA-A*11:01 complex is highly stable (predicted half-life: 8.87 h) and that the KIGDFGLAT<u>E</u>K-HLA-A*03:01 complex is weakly stable (predicted half-life: 3.29 h). We also assessed the *in vitro* HLA binding affinity of the 11mer KIGDFGLAT<u>V</u>K and 10mer KIGDFGLAT<u>V</u> *BRAF* wildtype peptides and of the 10mer KIGDFGLAT<u>E</u> neopeptide (**Table 2**). In accordance with the predictions made by NetMHC, KIGDFGLAT<u>V</u>K was shown to bind with comparable affinity to HLA-A*11:01 as the strong binding reference peptide QVPLRPMTYK, and to confer weaker binding to HLA-A*03:01, just like KIGDFGLAT<u>E</u>K. Moreover, the 10mer *BRAF* wildtype peptide KIGDFGLAT<u>V</u> was shown to bind with comparable affinity to HLA-A*02:01 as the strong binding reference peptide

	All patients	High LCH- lesional CD8 ratio	Low LCH- lesional CD8 ratio	P-value
Patients	101	50 (50%)	51 (50%)	
Gender				
Male	53 (52%)	29 (58%)	24 (47%)	0.32
Female	48 (48%)	21 (42%)	27 (53%)	
Age distribution				
Pediatric patients	85 (84%)	40 (80%)	45 (88%)	0.29
Adult patients	16 (16%)	10 (10%)	6 (12%)	
Disease extension				
SS	78 (77%)	39 (78%)	39 (76%)	1
MS RO-	12 (12%)	5 (10%)	7 (14%)	0.76
MS RO+	11 (11%)	6 (12%)	5 (10%)	0.76
Mutation				
status				
BRAF ^{V600E} positive	48 (48%)	18 (36%)	30 (59%)	0.02
<i>BRAF^{V600E}</i> negative	45 (45%)	28 (56%)	17 (33%)	
Unknown	8 (8%)	4 (8%)	4 (8%)	
Chemotherapy for FDO	34 (34%)	15 (30%)	19 (37%)	0.53
Follow-up (median)	10.1 years	8.5 years	11.3 years	0.36

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of LCH-patients from whom biopsies were analyzed for LCH-lesional CD8⁺ T cell density.

SS, single-system LCH disease; MS RO-, multisystem LCH disease without risk organ (bone marrow, liver and/or spleen) involvement; MS RO+, multisystem LCH disease with risk organ involvement; FDO, first disease onset; CD8 ratio, CD8⁺ T cell:CD1a⁺ LCH-cell ratio.

(FLPSDFFPSV) used in our assay. In contrast, its mutant counterpart KIGDFGLAT<u>E</u> does not bind at all to this particular HLA class I molecule.

HLA-A*11:01 and/or HLA-A*03:01 Genotype Is Not Associated With Increased Event-Free Survival in *BRAF^{V600E}* Mutated LCH-Patients

Having established that the $BRAF^{V600E}$ derived neopeptide KIGDFGLAT<u>E</u>K can bind to two HLA class I molecules that are relatively frequent in the Caucasian population, we evaluated whether $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutated LCH-patients expressing HLA-A*03:01 and/or HLA-A*11:01 had increased event-free survival as compared to LCH-patients without these HLA genotypes. High-resolution HLA genotype data was available for $n = 48 \ BRAF^{V600E}$ mutated LCH-patients. Patient characteristics are shown in **Table S6**. No significant difference in event-free survival was observed between $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutated LCH-patients with and without HLA-A*03:01 and/or HLA-A*11:01 (p = 0.32, **Figure S9**).

KIGDFGLAT<u>E</u>K Is Not Detected in the HLA Class I Peptidome of *BRAF^{V600E}* Expressing Cells

To assess whether KIGDFGLATEK is actually presented on the surface of cells that express BRAF^{V600E} and HLA-A*03:01 and/or HLA-A*11:01, we performed mass spectrometry-based targeted peptidomics of HLA class I presented peptides isolated from various EBV-LCL transduced with a LZRS-retroviral vector containing full length BRAF^{V600E} protein and reporter Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP) encoding DNA sequences. Based on the results of the in silico analysis and in vitro peptide-HLA binding assays, three different EBV-LCL were selected for the transduction experiments with HLA-A*03:01/HLA-A*02:01 (SB), HLA-A*11:01/HLA-A*02:01 (MLA), and HLA-A*02:01/HLA-A*02:01 (JY) genotypes. Extended HLA genotypes are shown in Table S7. After retroviral transduction, GFP^{high} cells were sorted and expanded in bulk. JY and MLA cell lines that were mock transduced with a control (empty-)GFP retroviral vector were analyzed in parallel. Flow cytometric analysis demonstrated that neither retroviral transduction with the BRAF^{V600E} containing vector (Figure S10) nor transduction with the control empty vector (data not shown) altered HLA class I (W6/32) and HLA-DR expression at the cell surface. Moreover, HLA subtype-specific antibodies (kindly provided by Dr. D.L. Roelen, HLA genotyping laboratory LUMC, Leiden) confirmed normal HLA subtype expression by BRAF^{V600E} transduced SB, MLA (Figure S10) and JY cells (data not shown). We also included an HLA-A*01/HLA-A*24 bearing $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutated colon carcinoma cell line (HT29) with earlier confirmed HLA (72-74) and BRAF^{V600E} protein (75, 76) expression in our analysis. Using parallel reaction monitoring (PRM)-based targeted peptidomics (77), the 11mer neopeptide KIGDFGLATEK was not detected in the HLA class I peptidomes of both $BRAF^{V600E}$ expressing cell lines expressing HLA-A*03:01 or HLA-A*11:01 (Table 3). Notably, neither the 11mer BRAF wildtype peptide KIGDFGLATVK was detected in HLA class I peptides isolated from the mock or BRAF^{V600E} transduced SB and MLA EBV-LCL. In contrast, the 10mer BRAF wildtype peptide KIGDFGLATV was detected in the HLA class I peptidomes of 3/3 BRAF^{V600E} transduced and 2/2 mock transduced cell lines expressing HLA-A*02:01 (Table 3).

DISCUSSION

A large number of studies have demonstrated a positive association between overall $CD8^+$ T cell density in the tumor infiltrate and a favorable clinical prognosis in many different types of cancers (6). In this study, we did not observe such an association in a substantial cohort of LCH-patients with well-documented clinical outcome. This dissimilarity between LCH and other neoplastic disorders may be due to their vast differences in mutational load and, correspondingly, the number of T cell activating neoantigens that can arise from this mutational burden. Furthermore, the immune suppressive microenvironment in LCH-lesions (5, 14, 15, 18, 78–81) may hamper CD8⁺ T cell infiltration (non-mutated), antigen recognition and cytolytic function .

TABLE 2 | In silico and in vitro HLA class I binding affinities of BRAFV600E and BRAF wildtype protein-derived peptides and two strong binding reference peptides.

Peptide	Predicted proteasomal cleavage	Predicted HLA binding affinity (IC ₅₀ , nM)						In vitro HLA	500 nM		
			NetMHC 3.4			NetMHC 4.0)	Peptide	-HLA binding	g assay	
	NetCHOP 3.1	A*02:01	A*03:01	A*11:01	A*02:01	A*03:01	A*11:01	A*02:01	A*03:01	A*11:01	
KIGDFGLATV	YES	38	17,310	23,823	107	13,515	19,725	40	NT	NT	50 nM
KIGDFGLAT	NO	15,997	20,112	23,609	19,485	22,113	23,743	86918	NT	NT	
KIGDFGLAT <u>V</u> K	YES	25,719	448	163	3,347	191	363	NT	415	32	
KIGDFGLAT <mark>E</mark> K	YES	23,298	622	98	29,947	278	345	NT	672	45	
QVPLRPMTYK	NR	31,545	77	62	32,523	21	37	NT	297	36	
FLPSDFFPSV	NR	4	24,267	27,281	4	19,261	22,553	8	NT	NT	0 nM

IC₅₀, the concentration that inhibits 50% binding of a fluorescently-labeled standard peptide; nM, nanomolar; NR, not relevant, because these are the strong binding reference peptides; NT, not tested. The color values correspond to the IC₅₀ values 0–500 nM (0 dark red, 500 white).

TABLE 3 | Peptides detected using mass-spectrometry based targeted peptidomics of HLA class I peptides isolated from multiple BRAF wildtype or BRAF^{V600E} expressing cell lines.

Peptide	Cell line											
	JY mock 1,900 × 10e6*		JY BRAF ^{V600E} 51 × 10e6		MLA mock 158 × 10e6		MLA BRAF ^{V600E} 170 × 10e6		SB BRAF ^{V600E} 28 × 10e6		HT29 1,800 × 10e6	
	KIGDFGLAT <u>V</u>		+	+		+		+		+		-
KIGDFGLAT <mark>E</mark>		-	-		-		-		-		-	
KIGDFGLAT <u>V</u> K		-		-		-		-		-		-
KIGDFGLATEK		-		_		-		-		_		_

Mock, transduced with a control (empty-) GFP retroviral vector; BRAF^{V600E}, transduced with a BRAF^{V600E}-GFP retroviral vector; HT29, colon carcinoma cell line harboring the heterozygous BRAF^{V600E} mutation; +, peptide detected; -, peptide not detected; *, number of cells analyzed.

In line with an earlier undetailed observation (7), the relative number of LCH-lesional CD8⁺ T cells appears low in this study. Moreover, we demonstrate with three separate analysis methods that $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutated LCH-patients display lower lesional CD3⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell densities than BRAF wildtype patients. Although the clinical significance of this latter observation is not immediately apparent, it does point out that the different MAPK pathway mutations expressed by neoplastic LCH-cells seem to have a distinct impact on their immune microenvironment. A number of studies on BRAF^{V600E} positive melanoma have already suggested that the $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation promotes immune evasion by upregulating the transcription of many immunomodulatory chemokine and cytokine genes as well as the internalization of cell surface HLA class I molecules (82, 83). The presence of many of these immunomodulatory chemokines and cytokines in LCH-lesions has been extensively demonstrated (2). Notably, we did however observe normal HLA class I expression by CD1a⁺ (LCH-)cells in two BRAF^{V600E} positive LCH-biopsies analyzed by flow cytometry (Figure 1A), and showed that transduction of EBV-immortalized B cells with a BRAF^{V600E} encoding retroviral vector does not impair HLA class I expression. Zeng and colleagues recently described that $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutated LCH-patients have significantly higher numbers of lesional Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells and increased

PD-L1 expression by LCH-cells when compared to BRAF^{WT} patients (80). In accordance with this study, a preliminary report by Chakraborty and others also describes that BRAF^{V600E} expressing LCH-cells display higher expression levels of ligands for inhibitory receptors, including PD-L1/L2 and Galectin-9, when compared to $BRAF^{WT}$ patients (19). Notably, the presence of PD-1 expressing T cells in LCH-lesions has been reported as well (18, 19), and was confirmed in (BRAF^{V600E} positive) patients from our cohort (Figure S11). PD-L1 blockade has been shown to induce expansion of tumor-infiltrating CD8⁺ T cells (84). Thus, the reported increased PD-L1 expression by $BRAF^{V600E}$ positive LCH-cells (19, 80) could explain the decreased LCH-lesional CD8⁺ T cell density in BRAF^{V600E} mutated patients from our study. In addition, the immune suppressive microenvironment in LCH-lesions (5, 14, 15, 18, 78-81) may clarify why the rare CD8⁺ T cells that did make it into these lesions had no significant clinical impact. This is supported by our own observation of low numbers of HLA-DR^{pos} LCH-lesional CD8⁺ T cells (Figure 1), low numbers of "licensed-to-kill" CD8⁺ T cells co-expressing the cytolytic enzymes Perforin and Granzyme B (85) (Figure S12), and rare presence of Caspase 3 expressing LCH-cells (data not shown). HLA-DR is widely recognized as a marker of T cell activation (86), and Caspase 3 is the hallmark marker of efficient target cell apoptosis induced by activated $CD8^+$ T cells (87). In line with the recently reported defective response of LCH-lesion infiltrating T cells to allogeneic stimulation (19), these observations collectively suggest that $CD8^+$ T cells in LCH-lesions are often dysfunctional. Future studies using (imaging) mass cytometry, which allows the simultaneous detection of a multitude of cellular markers (with spatial context), are needed to study the phenotypic characteristics of LCH-lesional (CD8⁺) T cells in more detail. Moreover, the alleged distinct impact of the different MAPK pathway mutations on the immune microenvironment of neoplastic LCH-cells should ideally be investigated in a LCH mouse model.

Encouraged by published results suggesting that BRAF^{V600E} protein-derived neopeptides can trigger antitumor immunity (41, 82), we used the most recent version of publicly accessible NetMHC software to explore putatively HLA class I binding neoantigens derived from the BRAF^{V600E} protein. Surprisingly, from all 8-12mer BRAF^{V600E} derived neopeptides that are predicted to be generated by the human proteasome by NetCHOP 3.1 software, only a single neopeptide (KIGDFGLATEK) was predicted to bind to one or more of the analyzed HLA class I molecules. In vitro peptide-HLA binding assays confirmed the predicted binding capacity of KIGDFGLATEK to HLA-A*03:01 and HLA-11*01. In contrast to the results generated with an earlier version of Syphpeiti software (41), the NetMHC 4.0 server did not qualify the two (putatively HLA-A*02:01 binding) neopeptides LATEKSRWSG and LATEKSRWS to be HLA-binders. Using PRM-based targeted peptidomics, KIGDFGLATEK was not detected in the HLA class I peptidomes of 2/2 BRAF^{V600E} expressing EBV-LCL (MLA $BRAF^{V600E}$ and SB $BRAF^{V600E}$) that expressed normal levels of HLA-A*03:01 or HLA-A*11:01. In contrast, the HLA-A*02:01 binding BRAF wildtype peptide KIGDFGLATV was traceable in HLA class I peptides isolated from 5/5 cell lines expressing this HLA subtype, verifying normal antigen processing in these cells and adequate sensitivity of our peptidomics approach. Since the 11mer BRAF wildtype peptide KIGDFGLATVK was not detected in mock (empty-GFP) nor BRAF^{V600E} transduced EBV-LCL as well, the apparent lack of KIGDFGLATEK presentation at the cell surface seems not due to a competitive HLA binding disadvantage relative to its wildtype counterpart (88). Instead, both KIGDFGLATEK and KIGDFGLATVK peptides may not be generated by the human proteasome. This could be explained by the fact that both HLA-A*03:01 and HLA-A*11:01 molecules exclusively bind peptides with lysine as the C-terminal anchor residue (89). NetCHOP software only produces neural network predictions for proteosomal cleavage. Protein cleavage vielding C-terminal lysine residues is, however, not readily accomplished by the human proteasomes alone. Instead, this process requires the cytosolic endopeptidases nardilysin and thimet oligopeptidase as well (89, 90). Another possibility is that the 11mer KIGDFGLATVK and KIGDFGLATEK peptides are expressed at the cell surface, but that they are underrepresented among the large pool of naturally presented ligands eluted from peptide-HLA class I complexes, because of a common peptide length distribution including mostly 9mer peptides and far less 8mer, 10mer, and longer peptides (91). This is also demonstrated by the list of peptides that were detected using data-dependent acquisition-based peptidomics in the HLA class I peptide pools isolated from the mock transduced JY and MLA EBV-LCL (**Table S8**). The high sensitivity of targeted peptidomics makes this option however less probable, although it must be noted that lower numbers (28–170 × 10e6) of $BRAF^{V600E}$ transduced SB, MLA, and JY B cells were subjected to analysis as compared to mock transduced B cells (158–1,900 × 10e6). This was because GFP^{high} $BRAF^{V600E}$ transduced cells displayed intrinsically higher apoptosis rates leading to substantially lower yields (data not shown).

In addition to the importance of CD8⁺ T cells, multiple studies have highlighted the importance of CD4⁺ T cells in tumor rejection (34, 92-96). Notably, one study identified BRAF^{V600E}specific CD4⁺ T cells after repetitive peptide stimulation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells from three melanoma patients whose metastatic tumors harbored the BRAF^{V600E} mutation (40). Moreover, Veatch and colleagues recently identified HLA-DQB1*03-restricted BRAFV600E-specific CD4+ T cells in an acral melanoma patient, who nonetheless developed metastases under ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4) immunotherapy (97). Unfortunately, the precise amino acid sequence of the recognized neoantigen was not reported. Available software tools to predict HLA class II binding peptides are known to be significantly less accurate than available algorithms for predicting HLA class I binding peptides. Moreover, the yield of BRAF^{V600Ē} transduced B cells expressing HLA-DQB1*03:02 (SB EBV-LCL) was far too small to elute sufficient quantities of peptide-HLA class II complexes needed for successful data-dependent acquisition-based peptidomics. We could, therefore, not confirm that this recently identified BRAF^{V600E} protein-derived HLA-DQB1*03 binding neopeptide is naturally processed and presented at the cell surface of our $BRAF^{V600E}$ transduced HLA-DQB1*03 expressing EBV-LCL. We did however investigate whether BRAF^{V600E} mutated LCH-patients expressing HLA-DQB1*03 in general, or HLA-DQB1*03:02 and/or HLA-DQB1*03:03 in particular [due to their putative strongest binding and/or peptide-HLA complex stability (97)], had increased event-free survival when compared to BRAF^{V600E} mutated patients without these HLA genotypes. Notably, HLA class I subtype has already been demonstrated to influence response to checkpoint blockade immunotherapy in patients with diverse cancers (98). Neither BRAF^{V600E} mutated LCH-patients with HLA-DQB1*03 (n = 30, 62.5%) nor with HLA-DQB1*03:02 and/or HLA-DQB1*03:03 (n = 18, 37.5%) displayed increased event-free survival when compared to patients without these HLA alleles (p = 0.78 and p = 0.57, respectively; data not shown). Thus, although we agree that adoptive cell therapy with T cell receptor-engineered $BRAF^{V600E}$ -specific CD4⁺ T cells may offer great therapeutic potential, the clinical impact of potentially present BRAF^{V600E}-specific CD4⁺ T cells in HLA-DQB1*03 bearing, BRAF^{V600E} mutated LCH-patients is questionable. Of note, the rare CD4⁺ BRAF^{V600E}-specific T cells reported in the acral melanoma patient by Veatch et al. were not paralleled by BRAF^{V600E}-specific CD8⁺ T cells, but by diverse CD8⁺ T cells reactive to multiple melanoma-associated self-antigens. Whether such non-mutated tumor-associated antigens are also expressed by LCH-cells is of great interest and remains to be determined. This will however be challenging given the (relatively) low numbers of neoplastic LCH-cells that can be obtained for peptidome analysis from fresh or frozen LCH tissue samples, which are in addition very scarce due to the rarity of the disease.

Since the generation of neoantigens is a probabilistic process (47), we can of course not rule out that other somatic mutations in LCH-cells are a source of neoantigens that are naturally processed and presented in (stable) peptide-HLA class I complexes. Based on recent insights, this probability is however very low. With the development of deep-sequencing technologies, comprehensive analyses of neoantigen-specific T cell responses have been carried out for a substantial number of cancer patients since 2013 (25, 26, 29). The striking conclusion that can now be drawn from these studies is that only a very small fraction of non-synonymous mutations leads to the formation of a neoantigen for which CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cell reactivity can be detected (25). Most melanomas and a sizable fraction of other high-prevalence cancers in adults have a mutational load above 10 somatic mutations per Mb, corresponding to \sim 150 non-synonymous mutations within expressed genes (25, 99, 100). Even in melanoma patients, neoantigen-specific T cell reactivity is however not always observed (95). Thus, there is a growing awareness that tumor types with a mutational load below 10, and especially below 1 mutation(s) per Mb, are less likely to express neoantigens that can be recognized by autologous T cells (25). Although the total number of LCH samples analyzed by whole-exome sequencing (WES) is still small (101), a remarkably low frequency of somatic mutations in LCHcells was found in the largest WES analysis to date (n = 41), with a median of 1 somatic mutation per patient (0.03 mutations per Mb) (22). Thus, the likelihood of neoantigen formation and concurrent induction of protective neoantigen-specific T cell responses in LCH-patients seems very low (25). Notably, Goyal and others recently demonstrated a low mutational burden in other histiocytic neoplasms as well (102). We therefore question the usefulness of classical immune checkpoint inhibitors for the treatment of relapsed or refractory LCH (or other histiocytic neoplasms), especially given that these LCH-patients often bear the $BRAF^{V600E}$ mutation (44), and that pretherapy intratumoral CD8⁺ T cell density has been shown to positively correlate with mutational burden, neoantigen load and response to immune checkpoint inhibition in many other neoplastic diseases (103, 104).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

REFERENCES

 Haroche J, Cohen-Aubart F, Rollins BJ, Donadieu J, Charlotte F, Idbaih A, et al. Histiocytoses: emerging neoplasia behind inflammation. *Lancet Oncol.* (2017) 18:e113–25. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30031-1

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Medical Ethical Committee of the LUMC. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants or by the participants' legal guardian.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PK, ES, AH, QA, JB, SV, AR, GJ, PV, GH, KF, RE, NS-W, and TW performed experiments and/or analyzed data. DR performed low-resolution HLA genotyping and provided HLA subtypespecific antibodies. LV helped with the automated digital image analysis. RV, CN, AC, and CH provided LCH tissue biopsies and marked CD1a⁺ enriched tissue parts on CD1a stained slides that served as reference slides for the manual microdissection procedure. AB, JL, OA, and CB included patients and supervised the clinical data collection by PK, TZ, VL, and RME. AH, CB, and OA designed the study. PK and AH drafted the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was financially supported by grants awarded by the Histiocytosis Association of America, Stichting 1000 Kaarsjes voor Juultje, Stichting Kiwanis Run-for-LCH and structural research funding from Histiocytose Nederland (AH). In addition, the peptidomics experiments were financially supported by a research programme Investment Grant NWO Medium with project number 91116004, which is (partly) financed by ZonMw. PK received a Van Walree Travel Grant from the Royal Netherlands Academy of Arts and Sciences.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to all patients and the parents of pediatric patients for their contribution. We also thank Dr. D. Bresters, Dr. M. B. Bierings, M. van der Waal, M. Wouters, E. Berends, Dr. V. van Unen, L. Blijleven, and Dr. N. van Geloven for their help in data collection and/or analysis. Dr. Karin Pike-Overzet is acknowledged for her expert advice on retroviral vector construction.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.03045/full#supplementary-material

 Maarten Egeler R, van Halteren AGS, Hogendoorn PCW, Laman JD, Leenen PJM. Langerhans cell histiocytosis: fascinating dynamics of the dendritic cell-macrophage lineage. *Immunol Rev.* (2010) 234:213–32. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2009. 00883.x

- Sahm F, Capper D, Preusser M, Meyer J, Stenzinger A, Lasitschka F, et al. BRAF^{V600E} mutant protein is expressed in cells of variable maturation in Langerhans cell histiocytosis. Blood. (2012) 120:e28–34. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-06-429597
- Egeler RM, Favara BE, van Meurs M, Laman JD, Claassen E. Differential in situ cytokine profiles of Langerhans-like cells and T cells in Langerhans cell histiocytosis: abundant expression of cytokines relevant to disease and treatment. Blood. (1999) 94:4195–201.
- Senechal B, Elain G, Jeziorski E, Grondin V, De Serre NPM, Jaubert F, et al. Expansion of regulatory T cells in patients with Langerhans cell histiocytosis. *PLoS Med.* (2007) 4:1374–84. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0040253
- Fridman WH, Zitvogel L, Sautès-Fridman C, Kroemer G. The immune contexture in cancer prognosis and treatment. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* (2017) 14:717–34. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2017.101
- Annels NE, da Costa CET, Prins FA, Willemze A, Hogendoorn PCW, Egeler RM. Aberrant chemokine receptor expression and chemokine production by Langerhans cells underlies the pathogenesis of Langerhans cell histiocytosis. *J Exp Med.* (2003) 197:1385–90. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030137
- Grois N, Prayer D, Prosch H, Lassmann H, CNS LCH Co-operative Group. Neuropathology of CNS disease in Langerhans cell histiocytosis. *Brain.* (2005) 128:829–38. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh403
- Alexandrescu S, Tatevian N, Czerniak BA, Covinsky MH, Burns NK, Brown RE. Morphoproteomics provides support for TGF-β pathway signaling in the osteoclastogenesis and immune dysregulation of osteolytic Langerhans cell histiocytosis. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol.* (2012) 5:503–11.
- Egeler RM, Favara BE, Laman JD, Claassen E. Abundant expression of CD40 and CD40-ligand (CD154) in paediatric Langerhans cell histiocytosis lesions. *Eur J Cancer.* (2000) 36:2105–10. doi: 10.1016/S0959-8049(00) 00296-3
- Tazi A, Moreau J, Bergeron A, Dominique S, Hance AJ, Soler P. Evidence that Langerhans cells in adult pulmonary Langerhans cell histiocytosis are mature dendritic cells: importance of the cytokine microenvironment. *J Immunol.* (1999) 163:3511–5.
- Geissmann F, Lepelletier Y, Fraitag S, Valladeau J, Bodemer C, Debré M, et al. Differentiation of Langerhans cells in Langerhans cell histiocytosis. *Blood.* (2001) 97:1241–8. doi: 10.1182/blood.V97.5.1241
- Emile J-F, Fraitag S, Leborgne M, de Prost Y, Brousse N. Langerhans' cell histiocytosis cells are activated Langerhans' cells. J Pathol. (1994) 174:71–6. doi: 10.1002/path.1711740202
- Quispel WT, Stegehuis-Kamp JA, Santos SJ, Egeler RM, van Halteren AGS. Activated conventional T-cells are present in Langerhans cell histiocytosis lesions despite the presence of immune suppressive cytokines. J Interf Cytokine Res. (2015) 35:831–9. doi: 10.1089/jir.2014.0190
- Allen CE, Li L, Peters TL, Leung HE, Yu A, Man T-K, et al. Cell-specific gene expression in Langerhans cell histiocytosis lesions reveals a distinct profile compared with epidermal Langerhans cells. *J Immunol.* (2010) 184:4557–67. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902336
- Hutter C, Kauer M, Simonitsch-Klupp I, Jug G, Schwentner R, Leitner J, et al. Notch is active in Langerhans cell histiocytosis and confers pathognomonic features on dendritic cells. *Blood.* (2012) 120:5199–208. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-02-410241
- Halbritter F, Farlik M, Schwentner R, Jug G, Fortelny N, Schnöller T, et al. Epigenomics and single-cell sequencing define a developmental hierarchy in Langerhans cell histiocytosis. *Cancer Discov.* (2019) 9:1406–21. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-19-0138
- Gatalica Z, Bilalovic N, Palazzo JP, Bender RP, Swensen J, Millis SZ, et al. Disseminated histiocytoses biomarkers beyond BRAFV600E: frequent expression of PD-L1. Oncotarget. (2015) 6:19819–25. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4378
- Chakraborty R, Allen CE, Sengal A, Gaikwad AS, Abhyankar H, Scull B, et al. Immune checkpoint inhibitors restore function of lesion infiltrating T lymphocytes in Langerhans cell histiocytosis. *Blood.* (2017) 130:2280.
- da Costa CET, Annels NE, Faaij CMJM, Forsyth RG, Hogendoorn PCW, Egeler RM. Presence of osteoclast-like multinucleated giant cells in the bone and nonostotic lesions of Langerhans cell histiocytosis. *J Exp Med.* (2005) 201:687–93. doi: 10.1084/jem.20041785
- 21. Badalian-Very G, Vergilio J. Recurrent BRAF mutations in Langerhans cell histiocytosis. *Blood.* (2010) 116:6–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-04-279083

- Chakraborty R, Hampton OA, Shen X, Simko SJ, Shih A, Abhyankar H, et al. Mutually exclusive recurrent somatic mutations in MAP2K1 and BRAF support a central role for ERK activation in LCH pathogenesis. *Blood.* (2014) 124:3007–15. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-05-577825
- Chakraborty R, Burke TM, Hampton OA, Zinn DJ, Lim KPH, Abhyankar H, et al. Alternative genetic mechanisms of BRAF activation in Langerhans cell histiocytosis. *Blood.* (2016) 128:2533–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-08-733790
- Durham BH. Molecular characterization of the histiocytoses: neoplasia of dendritic cells and macrophages. *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* (2019) 86:62–76. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2018.03.002
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science. (2015) 348:69–74. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa4971
- van Rooij N, van Buuren MM, Philips D, Velds A, Toebes M, Heemskerk B, et al. Tumor exome analysis reveals neoantigen-specific T-cell reactivity in an ipilimumab-responsive melanoma. *J Clin Oncol.* (2013) 31:e439–42. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.47.7521
- Robbins PF, Lu Y-C, El-Gamil M, Li YF, Gross C, Gartner J, et al. Mining exomic sequencing data to identify mutated antigens recognized by adoptively transferred tumor-reactive T cells. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:747–52. doi: 10.1038/nm.3161
- Wick DA, Webb JR, Nielsen JS, Martin SD, Kroeger DR, Milne K, et al. Surveillance of the tumor mutanome by T cells during progression from primary to recurrent ovarian cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:1125–34. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-2147
- Yarchoan M, Johnson BA, Lutz ER, Laheru DA, Jaffee EM. Targeting neoantigens to augment antitumour immunity. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2017) 17:209–22. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2016.154
- Wolfel T, Hauer M, Schneider J, Serrano M, Wolfel C, Klehmann-Hieb E, et al. A p16INK4a-insensitive CDK4 mutant targeted by cytolytic T lymphocytes in a human melanoma. *Science.* (1995) 269:1281–4. doi: 10.1126/science.7652577
- Kvistborg P, Shu CJ, Heemskerk B, Fankhauser M, Thrue CA, Toebes M, et al. TIL therapy broadens the tumor-reactive CD8⁺ T cell compartment in melanoma patients. *Oncoimmunology*. (2012) 1:409–18. doi: 10.4161/onci.18851
- Leisegang M, Kammertoens T, Uckert W, Blankenstein T. Targeting human melanoma neoantigens by T cell receptor gene therapy. J Clin Invest. (2016) 126:854–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI83465
- 33. Chheda ZS, Kohanbash G, Okada K, Jahan N, Sidney J, Pecoraro M, et al. Novel and shared neoantigen derived from histone 3 variant H3.3K27M mutation for glioma T cell therapy. *J Exp Med.* (2018) 215:141–57. doi: 10.1084/jem.20171046
- Tran E, Ahmadzadeh M, Lu Y-C, Gros A, Turcotte S, Robbins PF, et al. Immunogenicity of somatic mutations in human gastrointestinal cancers. *Science*. (2015) 350:1387–90. doi: 10.1126/science.aad1253
- Wang QJ, Yu Z, Griffith K, Hanada K, Restifo NP, Yang JC. Identification of T-cell receptors targeting KRAS-mutated human tumors. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2016) 4:204–14. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0188
- Tran E, Robbins PF, Lu Y-C, Prickett TD, Gartner JJ, Jia L, et al. T-cell transfer therapy targeting mutant KRAS in cancer. *N Engl J Med.* (2016) 375:2255–62. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1609279
- Inderberg EM, Wälchli S, Myhre MR, Trachsel S, Almåsbak H, Kvalheim G, et al. T cell therapy targeting a public neoantigen in microsatellite instable colon cancer reduces *in vivo* tumor growth. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1302631. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1302631
- van der Lee DI, Reijmers RM, Honders MW, Hagedoorn RS, de Jong RCM, Kester MGD, et al. Mutated nucleophosmin 1 as immunotherapy target in acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Invest. (2019) 129:774–85. doi: 10.1172/JCI97482
- Andersen MH, Fensterle J, Ugurel S, Reker S, Houben R, Guldberg P, et al. Immunogenicity of constitutively active V599E BRaf. *Cancer Res.* (2004) 64:5456–60. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-0937
- 40. Sharkey MS, Lizée G, Gonzales MI, Patel S, Topalian SL. CD4⁺ T-cell recognition of mutated B-RAF in melanoma patients harboring the V599E mutation. *Cancer Res.* (2004) 64:1595–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-3231
- 41. Somasundaram R, Swoboda R, Caputo L, Otvos L, Weber B, Volpe P, et al. Human leukocyte antigen-A2-restricted CTL responses to mutated

BRAF peptides in melanoma patients. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:3287–93. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1932

- Cintolo JA, Datta J, Xu S, Gupta M, Somasundaram R, Czerniecki BJ. Type I-polarized BRAF-pulsed dendritic cells induce antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells that impact BRAF-mutant murine melanoma. *Melanoma Res.* (2016) 26:1–11. doi: 10.1097/CMR.0000000000203
- Berres M-L, Lim KPH, Peters T, Price J, Takizawa H, Salmon H, et al. BRAF-V600E expression in precursor versus differentiated dendritic cells defines clinically distinct LCH risk groups. J Exp Med. (2014) 211:669–83. doi: 10.1084/jem.20130977
- 44. Héritier S, Emile J-F, Barkaoui M-A, Thomas C, Fraitag S, Boudjemaa S, et al. BRAF mutation correlates with high-risk Langerhans cell histiocytosis and increased resistance to first-line therapy. J Clin Oncol. (2016) 34:3023–30. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.65.9508
- Davies H, Bignell GR, Cox C, Stephens P, Edkins S, Clegg S, et al. Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. *Nature*. (2002) 417:949–54. doi: 10.1038/nature00766
- Dhomen N, Marais R. New insight into BRAF mutations in cancer. Curr Opin Genet Dev. (2007) 17:31–9. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2006.12.005
- Klebanoff CA, Wolchok JD. Shared cancer neoantigens: making private matters public. J Exp Med. (2018) 215:5–7. doi: 10.1084/jem.20172188
- Schöfl G, Lang K, Quenzel P, Böhme I, Sauter J, Hofmann JA, et al. 2.7 million samples genotyped for HLA by next generation sequencing: lessons learned. *BMC Genomics*. (2017) 18:161. doi: 10.1186/s12864-017-3575-z
- Lange V, Böhme I, Hofmann J, Lang K, Sauter J, Schöne B, et al. Costefficient high-throughput HLA typing by MiSeq amplicon sequencing. *BMC Genomics*. (2014) 15:63. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-15-63
- van Sonderen A, Roelen DL, Stoop JA, Verdijk RM, Haasnoot GW, Thijs RD, et al. Anti-LGI1 encephalitis is strongly associated with HLA-DR7 and HLA-DRB4. Ann Neurol. (2017) 81:193–8. doi: 10.1002/ana.24858
- Šidák Z. Rectangular confidence regions for the means of multivariate normal distributions. J Am Stat Assoc. (1967) 62:626–33. doi: 10.1080/01621459.1967.10482935
- Woolf B. On estimating the relation between blood group and disease. *Ann Hum Genet.* (1955) 19:251–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-1809.1955.tb01348.x
- Haldane JB. The estimation and significance of the logarithm of a ratio of frequencies. Ann Hum Genet. (1956) 20:309–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-1809.1955.tb01285.x
- 54. Good IJ. C140. Standardized tail-area prosabilities. J Stat Comput Simul. (1982) 16:65-6. doi: 10.1080/00949658208810607
- 55. van Eijk R, Stevens L, Morreau H, van Wezel T. Assessment of a fully automated high-throughput DNA extraction method from formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue for KRAS, and BRAF somatic mutation analysis. *Exp Mol Pathol.* (2013) 94:121–5. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2012.06.004
- da Costa CET, Szuhai K, van Eijk R, Hoogeboom M, Sciot R, Mertens F, et al. No genomic aberrations in Langerhans cell histiocytosis as assessed by diverse molecular technologies. *Genes Chromosom Cancer*. (2009) 48:239– 49. doi: 10.1002/gcc.20634
- Nelson DS, Quispel W, Badalian-Very G, van Halteren AGS, van den Bos C, Bovee JVMG, et al. Somatic activating ARAF mutations in Langerhans cell histiocytosis. *Blood.* (2014) 123:3152–5. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-06-511139
- De Meulenaere A, Vermassen T, Aspeslagh S, Deron P, Duprez F, Laukens D, et al. Tumor PD-L1 status and CD8⁺ tumor-infiltrating T cells: markers of improved prognosis in oropharyngeal cancer. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:80443– 52. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.19045
- De Meulenaere A, Vermassen T, Aspeslagh S, Zwaenepoel K, Deron P, Duprez F, et al. Prognostic markers in oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma: focus on CD70 and tumour infiltrating lymphocytes. *Pathology*. (2017) 49:397–404. doi: 10.1016/j.pathol.2017.02.002
- 60. Tan TL, Geluk A, Toebes M, Ottenhoff TH, Drijfhout JW. A novel, highly efficient peptide-HLA class I binding assay using unfolded heavy chain molecules: identification of HIV-1 derived peptides that bind to HLA-A*0201 and HLA-A*0301. *J Immunol Methods*. (1997) 205:201–9. doi: 10.1016/S0022-1759(97)00086-0
- Boehm JS, Zhao JJ, Yao J, Kim SY, Firestein R, Dunn IF, et al. Integrative genomic approaches identify IKBKE as a breast cancer oncogene. *Cell.* (2007) 129:1065–79. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.03.052

- Hassan C, Kester MGD, de Ru AH, Hombrink P, Drijfhout JW, Nijveen H, et al. The human leukocyte antigen–presented ligandome of B lymphocytes. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2013) 12:1829–43. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M112. 024810
- Garrido F, Aptsiauri N, Doorduijn EM, Garcia Lora AM, van Hall T. The urgent need to recover MHC class I in cancers for effective immunotherapy. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2016) 39:44–51. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2015.12.007
- Tomooka Y, Torisu M, Miyazaki S, Goya N. Immunological studies on histiocytosis X. I. Special reference to the chemotactic defect and the HLA antigen. J Clin Immunol. (1986) 6:355–62. doi: 10.1007/BF00915374
- YU RC, CHU AC. Langerhans cell histiocytosis clinicopathological reappraisal and human leucocyte antigen association. Br J Dermatol. (1996) 135:36–41. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.1996.d01-929.x
- 66. McClain KL, Laud P, Wu W-S, Pollack MS. Langerhans cell histiocytosis patients have HLA Cw7 and DR4 types associated with specific clinical presentations and no increased frequency in polymorphisms of the tumor necrosis factor alpha promoter. *Med Pediatr Oncol.* (2003) 41:502–7. doi: 10.1002/mpo.10366
- Bernstrand C, Carstensen H, Jakobsen B, Svejgaard A, Henter J-I, Olerup O. Immunogenetic heterogeneity in single-system and multisystem Langerhans cell histiocytosis. *Pediatr Res.* (2003) 54:30–6. doi: 10.1203/01.PDR.0000069844.50684.7D
- Miksch RC, Hao J, Schoenberg MB, Dötzer K, Schlüter F, Weniger M, et al. Development of a reliable and accurate algorithm to quantify the tumor immune stroma (QTiS) across tumor types. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:114935–44. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.22932
- Andreatta M, Nielsen M. Gapped sequence alignment using artificial neural networks: application to the MHC class I system. *Bioinformatics*. (2016) 32:511–7. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btv639
- Nielsen M, Lundegaard C, Lund O, Keşmir C. The role of the proteasome in generating cytotoxic T-cell epitopes: insights obtained from improved predictions of proteasomal cleavage. *Immunogenetics*. (2005) 57:33–41. doi: 10.1007/s00251-005-0781-7
- Jørgensen KW, Rasmussen M, Buus S, Nielsen M. Net MHC stab predicting stability of peptide-MHC-I complexes; impacts for cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitope discovery. *Immunology*. (2014) 141:18–26. doi: 10.1111/imm.12160
- Sers C, Kuner R, Falk CS, Lund P, Sueltmann H, Braun M, et al. Downregulation of HLA Class I and NKG2D ligands through a concerted action of MAPK and DNA methyltransferases in colorectal cancer cells. *Int J Cancer*. (2009) 125:1626–39. doi: 10.1002/ijc.24557
- Sconocchia G, Eppenberger-Castori S, Zlobec I, Karamitopoulou E, Arriga R, Coppola A, et al. HLA class II antigen expression in colorectal carcinoma tumors as a favorable prognostic marker. *Neoplasia*. (2014) 16:31–42. doi: 10.1593/neo.131568
- 74. Holloway G, Fleming FE, Coulson BS. MHC class I expression in intestinal cells is reduced by rotavirus infection and increased in bystander cells lacking rotavirus antigen. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:67. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-18464-x
- Fukuyo Y, Inoue M, Nakajima T, Higashikubo R, Horikoshi NT, Hunt C, et al. Oxidative stress plays a critical role in inactivating mutant BRAF by geldanamycin derivatives. *Cancer Res.* (2008) 68:6324–30. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6602
- Wang L, Cunningham JM, Winters JL, Guenther JC, French AJ, Boardman LA, et al. BRAF mutations in colon cancer are not likely attributable to defective DNA mismatch repair. *Cancer Res.* (2003) 63:5209–12.
- Lill JR, van Veelen PA, Tenzer S, Admon A, Caron E, Elias JE, et al. Minimal information about an immuno-peptidomics experiment (MIAIPE). *Proteomics*. (2018) 18:1800110. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201800110
- Battistella M, Fraitag S, Teillac DH, Brousse N, de Prost Y, Bodemer C. Neonatal and early infantile cutaneous Langerhans cell histiocytosis. *Arch Dermatol.* (2010) 146:149–56. doi: 10.1001/archdermatol.2009.360
- Tong C, Jia X, Jia Y, He Y. Langerhans cell histiocytosis in Chinese adults: absence of BRAF mutations and increased FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol.* (2014) 7:3166–73.
- Zeng K, Wang Z, Ohshima K, Liu Y, Zhang W, Wang L, et al. BRAF^{V600E} mutation correlates with suppressive tumor immune microenvironment and reduced disease-free survival in Langerhans cell histiocytosis. Oncoimmunology. (2016) 5:e1185582. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1185582

- Mitchell JM, Berzins SP, Kannourakis G. A potentially important role for T cells and regulatory T cells in Langerhans cell histiocytosis. *Clin Immunol.* (2018) 194:19–25. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2018.06.004
- Ilieva KM, Correa I, Josephs DH, Karagiannis P, Egbuniwe IU, Cafferkey MJ, et al. Effects of BRAF mutations and BRAF inhibition on immune responses to melanoma. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2014) 13:2769–83. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-14-0290
- Bradley SD, Chen Z, Melendez B, Talukder A, Khalili JS, Rodriguez-Cruz T, et al. BRAF^{V600E} co-opts a conserved MHC class I internalization pathway to diminish antigen presentation and CD8⁺ T-cell recognition of melanoma. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2015) 3:602–9. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0030
- Beyrend G, van der Gracht E, Yilmaz A, van Duikeren S, Camps M, Höllt T, et al. PD-L1 blockade engages tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes to co-express targetable activating and inhibitory receptors. *J Immunother Cancer*. (2019) 7:217. doi: 10.1186/s40425-019-0700-3
- Melief CJM. "License to Kill" reflects joint action of CD4 and CD8 T cells. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2013) 19:4295–6. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-1432
- Saraiva DP, Jacinto A, Borralho P, Braga S, Cabral MG. HLA-DR in cytotoxic T lymphocytes predicts breast cancer patients' response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2605. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02605
- Kitamura T, Doughty-Shenton D, Pollard JW, Carragher NO. Real time detection of *in vitro* tumor cell apoptosis induced by CD8⁺ T cells to study immune suppressive functions of tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells. *J Vis Exp.* (2019) e58841. doi: 10.3791/58841
- Ghorani E, Rosenthal R, Mcgranahan N, Reading JL, Lynch M, Peggs KS, et al. Differential binding affinity of mutated peptides for MHC class I is a predictor of survival in advanced lung cancer and melanoma. *Ann Oncol.* (2018) 29:271–9. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx687
- Kessler JH, Khan S, Seifert U, Le Gall S, Chow KM, Paschen A, et al. Antigen processing by nardilysin and thimet oligopeptidase generates cytotoxic T cell epitopes. *Nat Immunol.* (2011) 12:45–53. doi: 10.1038/ni.1974
- Tenzer S, Peters B, Bulik S, Schoor O, Lemmel C, Schatz MM, et al. Modeling the MHC class I pathway by combining predictions of proteasomal cleavage,TAP transport and MHC class I binding. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2005) 62:1025–37. doi: 10.1007/s00018-005-4528-2
- Trolle T, McMurtrey CP, Sidney J, Bardet W, Osborn SC, Kaever T, et al. The length distribution of class I-restricted t cell epitopes is determined by both peptide supply and MHC allele-specific binding preference. *J Immunol.* (2016) 196:1480–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1501721
- Kreiter S, Vormehr M, van de Roemer N, Diken M, Löwer M, Diekmann J, et al. Mutant MHC class II epitopes drive therapeutic immune responses to cancer. *Nature*. (2015) 520:692–6. doi: 10.1038/nature14426
- Spitzer MH, Carmi Y, Reticker-Flynn NE, Kwek SS, Madhireddy D, Martins MM, et al. Systemic immunity is required for effective cancer immunotherapy. *Cell.* (2017) 168:487–502.e15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.12.022
- 94. Tran E, Turcotte S, Gros A, Robbins PF, Lu Y-C, Dudley ME, et al. Cancer immunotherapy based on mutation-specific CD4⁺ T cells in a patient with epithelial cancer. *Science*. (2014) 344:641–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1251102

- Linnemann C, van Buuren MM, Bies L, Verdegaal EME, Schotte R, Calis JJA, et al. High-throughput epitope discovery reveals frequent recognition of neoantigens by CD4⁺ T cells in human melanoma. *Nat Med.* (2014) 21:81–5. doi: 10.1038/nm.3773
- 96. Verdegaal EME, de Miranda NFCC, Visser M, Harryvan T, van Buuren MM, Andersen RS, et al. Neoantigen landscape dynamics during human melanoma-T cell interactions. *Nature*. (2016) 536:91–5. doi: 10.1038/nature18945
- Veatch JR, Lee SM, Fitzgibbon M, Chow I-T, Jesernig B, Schmitt T, et al. Tumor-infiltrating BRAFV600E-specific CD4⁺ T cells correlated with complete clinical response in melanoma. *J Clin Invest.* (2018) 128:1563–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI98689
- Chowell D, Morris LGT, Grigg CM, Weber JK, Samstein RM, Makarov V, et al. Patient HLA class I genotype influences cancer response to checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. *Science.* (2018) 359:582–7. doi: 10.1126/science.aao4572
- Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SAJR, Behjati S, Biankin AV, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. *Nature*. (2013) 500:415–21. doi: 10.1038/nature12477
- 100. Chalmers ZR, Connelly CF, Fabrizio D, Gay L, Ali SM, Ennis R, et al. Analysis of 100,000 human cancer genomes reveals the landscape of tumor mutational burden. *Genome Med.* (2017) 9:34. doi: 10.1186/s13073-017-0424-2
- Rollins BJ. Genomic alterations in Langerhans cell histiocytosis. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. (2015) 29:839–51. doi: 10.1016/j.hoc.2015.06.004
- 102. Goyal G, Lau D, Nagle AM, Vassallo R, Rech KL, Ryu JH, et al. Tumor mutational burden and other predictive immunotherapy markers in histiocytic neoplasms. *Blood.* (2019) 133:1607–10. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-12-893917
- 103. Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJM, Robert L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. *Nature*. (2014) 515:568–71. doi: 10.1038/nature13954
- 104. van Gool IC, Eggink FA, Freeman-Mills L, Stelloo E, Marchi E, de Bruyn M, et al. POLE proofreading mutations elicit an antitumor immune response in endometrial cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:3347–55. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0057

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Kemps, Zondag, Steenwijk, Andriessen, Borst, Vloemans, Roelen, Voortman, Verdijk, van Noesel, Cleven, Hawkins, Lang, de Ru, Janssen, Haasnoot, Franken, van Eijk, Solleveld-Westerink, van Wezel, Egeler, Beishuizen, van Laar, Abla, van den Bos, van Veelen and van Halteren. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Neoantigens in Hematologic Malignancies

Melinda A. Biernacki^{1,2*} and Marie Bleakley^{1,3}

¹ Clinical Research Division, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, Seattle, WA, United States, ² Department of Medicine, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States, ³ Department of Pediatrics, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

T cell cancer neoantigens are created from peptides derived from cancer-specific aberrant proteins, such as mutated and fusion proteins, presented in complex with human leukocyte antigens on the cancer cell surface. Because expression of the aberrant target protein is exclusive to malignant cells, immunotherapy directed against neoantigens should avoid "on-target, off-tumor" toxicity. The efficacy of neoantigen vaccines in melanoma and glioblastoma and of adoptive transfer of neoantigen-specific T cells in epithelial tumors indicates that neoantigens are valid therapeutic targets. Improvements in sequencing technology and innovations in antigen discovery approaches have facilitated the identification of neoantigens. In comparison to many solid tumors, hematologic malignancies have few mutations and thus fewer potential neoantigens. Despite this, neoantigens have been identified in a wide variety of hematologic malignancies. These include mutated nucleophosmin1 and PML-RARA in acute myeloid leukemia, ETV6-RUNX1 fusions and other mutated proteins in acute lymphoblastic leukemia, BCR-ABL1 fusions in chronic myeloid leukemia, driver mutations in myeloproliferative neoplasms, immunoglobulins in lymphomas, and proteins derived from patient-specific mutations in chronic lymphoid leukemias. We will review advances in the field of neoantigen discovery, describe the spectrum of identified neoantigens in hematologic malignancies, and discuss the potential of these neoantigens for clinical translation.

Keywords: neoantigen, hematologic malignancies, human leukocyte antigen, T cell receptor, immunotherapy, mutations, fusion proteins

INTRODUCTION

Neoantigens are composed of peptides derived from full-length aberrant cancer-specific proteins through a multi-step intracellular process that has been extensively reviewed (1–3) and presented in complex with human leukocyte antigen (HLA) molecules. This peptide-HLA complex is recognized by T cell receptors (TCRs). Non-viral neoantigens can be potentially be generated from any protein-coding mutations, fusion proteins, and cancer-specific splice isoforms (**Figure 1**), although not every aberrant protein will yield neoantigens. In the treatment of solid tumors, clinical successes have been seen with adoptive transfer of neoantigen-specific tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) (4–7) and neoantigen vaccines (8–10), highlighting the importance of this class of antigens in effective anti-tumor immunity. T cell responses against neoantigens also appear to contribute to the efficacy of immune checkpoint blockade therapy (11, 12) and allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT) (13). Therapies targeting a neoantigen derived from an oncogenic driver

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Robbert Spaapen, AMC-Sanquin Landsteiner Laboratory, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Yangqiu Li, Jinan University, China Zwi Berneman, University of Antwerp, Belgium

> *Correspondence: Melinda A. Biernacki mbiernac@fredhutch.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 23 October 2019 Accepted: 16 January 2020 Published: 14 February 2020

Citation:

Biernacki MA and Bleakley M (2020) Neoantigens in Hematologic Malignancies. Front. Immunol. 11:121. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00121

35


in the founding clone could be curative, and tumor escape through loss of the target protein is unlikely when the neoantigen is from a protein critical for maintaining the malignant phenotype. As neoantigens are presented solely on malignant cells and not on healthy equivalents, the risk of "on-target, off-tumor" toxicity is minimized.

There are three major limitations to therapeutically targeting neoantigens in hematologic malignancies. First, most hematologic malignancies have relatively few proteincoding mutations and/or gene fusions, and thus fewer potential neoantigens than solid tumors, which may carry hundreds or even thousands of mutations in an individual patient (14). Second, therapies directed against any one neoantigen will apply only to the subset of patients who have both the mutation or fusion and restricting HLA allele, making neoantigens a less broadly applicable target than antigens from overexpressed

wild-type proteins. However, in contrast to most solid tumors, many hematologic malignancies have recurrent mutations and/or fusions that are common within subgroups of patients and represent shared neoantigens. Finally, though targeting driver-derived neoantigens may prevent escape through loss of the target protein, other mechanism of escape from neoantigendirected immunotherapy are possible, including downregulation or loss of HLA expression (15-24) or altered proteasomal processing of the epitope (25) by the malignant cell. However, the potential limitations of neoantigens as therapeutic targets are outweighed by their benefits: the high specificity for tumor and absent expression on normal cells; the ability to target intracellular as well as cell surface proteins; and, in some cases, the indispensable role of the aberrant protein in the malignant phenotype (26). Targeting a single high-quality neoantigen can be sufficient for disease control or even cure (4, 6, 7).

NEOANTIGEN DISCOVERY

Innovations in high-throughput genomic and transcriptomic sequencing techniques have greatly facilitated the identification of protein-coding mutations and fusions that produce potential neoantigens. However, there is still no reliable comprehensive in silico method for identifying immunogenic neoantigen epitopes from protein-coding mutations, splice variants, or other amino acid sequence-altering abnormalities. One challenge is determining which peptides will be presented on HLA molecules (27). In silico HLA-binding prediction algorithms [including but not limited to (28-36)] can predict binding of peptides to HLA molecules with reasonable accuracy and thereby identify candidate neoantigen epitopes. HLA-binding prediction algorithms are quite robust for prevalent HLA class I molecules, and active research by multiple groups has led to a greater understanding of and an improved ability to reliably predict peptide binding to uncommon class I molecules and most class II molecules (37-44). However, HLA-binding predictions do not specify whether the peptides are processed and presented on cell surfaces, although separate predictive tools for antigen processing have been developed (45-53). HLA-binding prediction from the parent amino acid sequence will additionally miss non-canonical epitopes (54), such as post-translationally modified or spliced peptides (55), and will also miss epitopes that are not predicted to bind HLA but actually do (56). An alternative approach is to directly determine the peptidome of malignant cells by immunoprecipitating HLA complexes and then to elute and identify peptides by tandem liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (57-59). This unbiased approach can identify peptides as they are naturally presented on cells of interest but has significant technical hurdles (60-63). Modifications, such as the use of monoallelic cells (43, 60) should help to overcome some of these technical issues. Since predictive algorithms rely on datasets of peptides that are naturally processed and HLAbinding, improvements to direct identification of HLA ligands will in turn increase the reliability of predictive tools (64).

Determining which epitopes are immunogenic is also a challenge. Presentation of a peptide epitope on an HLA molecule is necessary but not sufficient for T cell recognition. Currently there are no reliable in silico tools to assess the immunogenicity of a neoantigen peptide, although this is an active area of research (65-70). There are three starting pools of cells in which one can assess the immunogenicity of a putative neoantigen: patient TIL or marrow-infiltrating lymphocytes (MIL), patient peripheral blood T cells, and healthy donor peripheral blood T cells after primary in vitro stimulation. The T cell repertoire of patients may be enriched for neoantigen-specific T cells (71, 72) due to antigen-induced expansion, but immunosuppressive tumor environments can render such T cells dysfunctional (73) or even absent (74). Finally, while neoantigen-specific T cells may exist in the repertoires of patients, unbiased methods to determine the cognate antigens of TCRs from their sequence are still in their infancy (23, 75). Stimulating healthy donor T cells with neoantigen-bearing antigen-presenting cells in vitro can be used to isolate reactive T cells without confounding T cell dysfunction (76, 77).

SHARED VS. PERSONAL NEOANTIGENS

Shared or public neoantigens derive from aberrant proteins that are present in all or a sizeable subset of patients with a given disease. In contrast, private or personal neoantigens are those that result from mutations, fusions, or other abnormal amino acid sequences that occur rarely in a disease or are idiosyncratic to an individual's malignancy.

Whole genome and whole exome sequencing of hematologic malignancies (78-85) has revealed the spectrum of fusions and mutations (also referred to as the mutanome) of these diseases, including events that range from rare to highly recurrent. Many of these genetic abnormalities may give rise to neoantigens. Mutanomes provide a rich source of cancerspecific aberrant amino acid sequences that can be interrogated with HLA-binding prediction algorithms to identify candidate neoantigens (70). However, with the exception of one study in the myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPNs) (85), the mutanomes of hematologic malignancies have not yet been thoroughly explored as sources of neoantigens. Another source of both public and personal candidate neoantigens is the HLA peptidome, which is the comprehensive library of peptides eluted from HLA molecules isolated from malignant primary cells and/or cell lines and characterized by mass spectrometry. HLA peptidomes have been defined in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) (57), chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) (59, 86), multiple myeloma (87), and chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) (58). However, mutationderived candidate neoantigen epitopes have only been identified in more focused HLA peptidome studies [for example, in a subset of AML (74, 88)], reflecting both the heterogeneity of these diseases and the currently limited sensitivity of this approach.

Personal neoantigens can arise from truly patient-specific gene mutations and fusions. In addition, some recurrently affected single genes and gene fusions are highly heterogenous across individuals and would be expected to yield semipersonal rather than shared neoantigens. For example, fusions involving the mixed lineage leukemia (MLL)/ histone-lysine Nmethyltransferase 2A (KMT2A) gene in acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and AML produce diverse amino acid sequences among patients because the fusions may occur at multiple breakpoints in the MLL/KMT2A genes and with multiple (>100) partner genes (89, 90). Recurrently mutated gene in hematologic malignancies that are likely to produce semi-personal rather than shared neoantigens include Wilms tumor 1 (WT1) in AML (91-94) and T cell ALL (95), Notch1 and FBXW7 in T cell ALL (96-98), and TP53 in multiple malignancies (99-101). In these examples, mutations occur at a variety of sites in the gene and involve multiple different nucleotide substitutions, insertions, and/or deletions, such that few, if any, of the resulting amino acid sequences and resulting potential neoantigens would be shared among patients even with the same disease.

At the other end of the spectrum are highly recurrent fusions and mutations, exemplified by the RUNX1-RUNX1T1 fusion (89) and exon 12 mutations in nucleophosmin1 (NPM1) (102, 103) in AML. Virtually all patients with such fusions or mutations will have identical aberrant amino acid sequences. Neoantigens created from these abnormalities are shared among patients who have the mutations or fusions and are potential therapeutic targets for these individuals as a group.

Whether optimal therapies should target shared neoantigens, personal neoantigens, or both is currently unknown. Some key features of neoantigen quality have been postulated [reviewed in (104)], including: clonality, dissimilarity to selfantigens, similarity to microbial antigens (105), high protein expression, binding to HLA, and low likelihood that genetic abnormality yielding the neoantigen will be lost (for example, driver mutations or genes involved in cell survival where loss would harm cancer fitness) through deletion or transcriptional repression. Neoantigens with high-quality features are likely to be suitable therapeutic targets whether they are personal or shared. One note of caution with personal neoantigens is that unless autologous tumor is available, there may be no way to validate that a given putative neoantigen is in fact presented on primary tumor, and thus no way to confidently predict therapeutic efficacy.

The feasibility of targeting personal neoantigens is currently under investigation. As the accessibility of whole genome and whole exome sequencing increases, defining an individual patient's mutanome is becoming increasingly practical, although the ability to reliably predict personal neoantigens remains imperfect (27). Personalized neoantigen vaccines based on patient mutanomes have shown efficacy in solid tumors (8-10), and as of December 2019, 14 clinical trials of personalized neoantigen vaccines were recruiting in the United States, although only one of these studies includes patients with a hematologic malignancy (NCT03631043, multiple myeloma). In addition, increasingly sophisticated T cell engineering technologies have made the production of personalized neoantigen-specific engineered T cell therapies more practical; currently three trials of such therapies for patients with advanced solid tumors (NCT03412877, NCT04102436, NCT03970382) are enrolling.

Although both personal and shared neoantigens have therapeutic promise, in this review we will focus primarily on shared neoantigens (summarized in **Table 1**), which make up the bulk of the data to date.

NEOANTIGENS IN SPECIFIC HEMATOLOGIC MALIGNANCIES

Acute Myeloid Leukemia

AML is the most common acute leukemia in adults, and mutations in nucleophosmin1 (NPM1) occur in 30–35% of adult patients (102, 103). The majority of NPM1 mutations are insertions of four nucleotides in exon 12, resulting in a frameshift that produces a novel C-terminal 11 amino acid sequence (123). NPM1 mutations are stable across the disease course and considered to be driver events, thus an optimal immunotherapy target. Eighty-five percent of patients with NPM1-mutated (NPM1^{mut}) AML share the type A/D mutations that produce an identical abnormal amino acid sequence. Epitopes from the mutated region were independently identified as HLA ligands by two groups that used mass spectrometry to determine the

amino acid sequences of peptides eluted off HLA molecules from primary leukemic blasts (74, 88) or AML cell lines (88).

Van der Lee et al. subsequently identified CD8⁺ T cell clones from healthy donors that were specific for the NPM1^{mut} HLA-A*02:01-restricted epitopes CLAVEEVSL and C*LAVEEVSL (74). These clones specifically recognized HLA-A*02:01⁺ peptide-pulsed targets and NPM1^{mut} AML blasts. One C*LAVEEVSL-specific TCR was sequenced and transferred into CD8⁺ T cells using a viral vector. T cells with transferred NPM1^{mut} TCRs could lyse NPM1^{mut} but not NPM1 wild-type AML in vitro and partially controlled leukemia in vivo in an NPM1^{mut} OCI-AML3 cell-line-derived xenograft murine model. These results convincingly demonstrate that CLAVEEVSL and C*LAVEEVSL are naturally presented on HLA-A*02:01 on leukemic blasts, are immunogenic, and are thus bona fide AML neoantigens. Curiously, although the peptide was immunogenic, the authors were unable to identify naturally occurring epitopespecific T cell responses in HLA-A*02:01⁺ patients with NPM1^{mut} AML. While a subsequent publication (123) suggested that NPM1^{mut} -specific responses could be elicited ex vivo in patients, these studies were less stringently controlled.

Earlier studies identified candidate NPM1^{mut}-derived epitopes predicted to bind HLA-A*02:01 (106–108), against which the authors elicited CD8⁺ T cells responses in patients and healthy donors after *ex vivo* stimulation. CD8⁺ T cells specific for two epitopes (AIQDLCLAV and AIQDLCVAV) identified in these publications lysed an NPM1^{mut} AML sample (106), suggesting that these epitopes were naturally processed and presented. However, these peptides were not identified among HLA-A*02:01 ligands in either of two subsequent studies that directly examined peptide epitopes eluted from HLA-A*02:01 on NPM1^{mut} primary blasts (74, 88) or cell lines (88), and identification of AIQDLCL/VAV-specific CD8⁺ T cells has not been reproduced by other groups.

In around 13% of AML cases (124, 125), a fusion of the retinoic acid receptor (RARA) gene on chromosome 17 and the promyelocytic leukemia (PML) gene on chromosome 15 occurs as a result of the chromosomal translocation, t(15; 17)(q24.1;q21.1), the classic translocation that produces the distinct entity of acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL). The resulting PML-RARA fusion protein not only serves as a driver of the leukemic phenotype but also represents a potential shared neoantigen at the fusion junction. Gambacorti-Passerini et al. investigated the immunogenicity of the PML-RARA fusion region by stimulating peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from healthy volunteer donors with a 25mer peptide spanning the fusion (110, 126). CD4⁺ T cell clones from one donor proliferated specifically in response to exogenous PML-RARA peptide presented on HLA-DR*11 in autologous target cells. One T cell clone could lyse peptide-pulsed autologous target cells and recognize autologous target cells transduced to express the PML-RARA fusion protein. However, in a subsequent study, no PML-RARA-specific CD4⁺ T cell responses could be elicited from any of four HLA-DR*11⁺ individuals in remission after treatment for APL (111). Since neither study evaluated whether PML-RARA-specific T cells could recognize primary APL cells, the PML-RARA/HLA-DR*11 epitope would still currently be

Disease	Parent protein	Epitope	HLA restriction	Level of evidence for neoantigen status	Reference(s)
AML	NPM1 fs (type	C*LAVEESL	A*02:01	Definite	(74, 88)
	A/D)	CLAVEEVSL			
		AIQDLCLAV		Possible	(106–109)
	NPM1 fs (type C)	AIQDLCVAV		Possible	
	PML-RARA	NSNHVASGAGEAAIETQSSSSEEIV	DR*11	Possible	(110, 111)
ALL	ETV6-RUNX1	RIAECILGM	A*02:01	Conflicting	(112–114)
MPN	CALR fs	KMRMRRMRR	A*03:01	Possible	(85, 109, 115)
		RMRRTRRKM	B*07:02	Possible	
		Multiple	B*08:01	Candidate	(85)
		RMMRTKMRM	C*03:03	Possible	(109)
	JAK2 V617F	VLNYGVCFC	A*02:01	Possible	(116)
	MPL	Multiple	A*03:01	Candidate	(85, 116)
CML	BCR-ABL1	KQSSKALQR	A*03:01	Possible	(117)
	BCR-ABL1 E255K	KVYEGVWKK	A*03:01	Possible	(118)
B cell lymphomas	D393-CD20	(P)LFRRMSSLEVIA	DRB1*04	Possible	(119)
Multiple tumors	KRAS G12D	GADGVGKSA(L)	C*08:02	Definite	(6)
		VVVGADGVGK	A*11:01	Possible	(120)
	KRAS G12V	(V)VVGAVGVGK		Possible	
	BRAF V600E	GDFGLATEKSRWSGS	DQA1*03/ DQB1*03	Possible	(71)
	TP53 R175H	HMTEVVRHC	A*02:01	Possible	(121, 122)
		YKQSQHMTEVVRHCPHHERCSDSDG	Class II	Possible	(121)
	TP53 R248Q	YMCNSSCMGGMNQRPILTIITLEDS	Class I & II	Possible	
	TP53 R248W	SSCMGGMNWR	A*68:01	Possible	
		SSCMGGMNWRPILTII	DPB1*02:01	Possible	
	TP53 R282W	FEVRVCACPGRDWRTEEENLRKKGE	Classs II	Possible	

TABLE 1 | Shared or potentially shared neoantigens relevant in hematologic malignancies (fs, frameshift).

For levels of evidence:

"Definite" indicates that the epitope is immunogenic and that epitope-specific T cells clearly and consistently recognize primary malignant cells in a mutation/fusion- and HLA-specific manner.

"Possible" indicates epitopes that have demonstrated immunogenicity but either lack direct evidence of specific recognition of primary malignant cells (i.e., cell lines only) or data is inconsistent.

"Candidate" indicates that the peptide epitope has been demonstrated to bind the restricting HLA in vitro.

"Controversial" indicates conflicting data between groups.

considered a possible, rather than definite, AML neoantigen pending confirmation that the epitope is naturally presented on APL cells.

Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia

ALL is the most common childhood cancer. Like other hematologic and pediatric malignancies, there are few nonsynonymous mutations (14, 127) and thus few potential neoantigens. However, in recent studies, Zamora et al. found surprisingly abundant neoantigen-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses in MIL from pediatric patients with ALL (112). To identify putative patient-specific neoantigens, cancer-specific mutations were identified from genomic sequencing of diagnostic biopsies and matched germline tissues from six patients. HLA typing was extrapolated from sample mRNA sequencing data, and the amino acid sequences of protein-coding mutations were interrogated using HLA-binding prediction algorithms. Mutation- or fusionderived 15mer synthetic peptides were used to evaluate patient T cell specificity *ex vivo*. Functional $CD8^+$ T cell responses against at least one neoantigen were detected in all patients and encompassed 31 of 36 putative neoantigens mostly originating from patient-specific single gene mutations.

The Zamora study also identified T cells responsive to several epitopes from the recurrent ETV6-RUNX1 fusion in five patients. The ETV6-RUNX1 fusion results from the t(12; 21)(p13.2;q22.1) chromosomal translocation and is the most common genetic event in childhood B-lineage ALL, occurring in 15–20% of patients (128–131). ETV6-RUNX1 epitopes eliciting T cell responses in this study were predicted to bind to HLA-A*02:01, HLA-A*11:01, and HLA-B*15:01, and ETV6-RUNX1-specific T cells were identified by positive staining with HLA-A*02:01 or HLA-A*11:01 peptide/HLA tetramers. In earlier

studies, the same HLA-A*02:01 epitope (RIAECILGM) was identified as binding stably to HLA-A2 in *in vitro* competitivebinding assays by a group that also isolated CD8⁺ T cell lines specific for the epitope (113). The two RIAECILGM-specific lines that were isolated from healthy donors lysed fusion-expressing cell lines, and one T cell line from a patient with ETV6-RUNX1⁺ ALL lysed autologous leukemic blasts at low levels. However, a subsequent study disputed whether the ETV6-RUNX1 epitope is in fact naturally processed and presented, as it showed that the native RIAECILGM peptide had virtually no binding to HLA-A*02:01 *in vitro*, was not processed by cells transduced to express the ETV6-RUNX1 epitope, and was not cleaved at the relevant position by human proteasomes *in vitro* (114). Given the conflicting data, it remains unclear whether the RIAECILGM epitope is truly an ALL neoantigen.

Myeloproliferative Neoplasms

Philadelphia (Ph) chromosome-negative myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPNs) comprise a group of disorders, including essential thrombocytosis (ET), polycythemia vera (PV), and primary myelofibrosis (PMF). MPNs arise from an abnormal hematopoietic progenitor cell, in most cases consequent to the acquisition of one of three driver mutations in JAK2 (Janus kinase 2), CALR (calreticulin), or MPL (c-mpl protooncogene; thrombopoietin receptor), along with a variety of passenger mutations (132) that can all produce neoantigens. Recently, Schischlik et al. comprehensively evaluated potential neoantigens in 113 patients with MPNs (85). Using wholetranscriptome sequencing to define the MPN mutanome, they identified 13 fusions, 221 non-synonymous single nucleotide variants, 31 insertion or deletion mutations, and 20 frameshiftproducing splicing abnormalities. HLA-binding predictions for the 12 most prevalent HLA-A, -B, and -C alleles in their patient cohort yielded 541 patient-specific peptides predicted to bind to at least one of the HLA alleles. Subsequent in vitro HLA binding studies of 35 peptides derived from aberrantly spliced proteins associated with SF3B1 mutations and from mutated CALR (CALR^{mut}) and MPL validated binding of 23 peptides to HLA-A*03:01, -A*11:01, -B*07:02, and -B*08:01.

Although Schischlik et al. did not evaluate processing or immunogenicity of their putative neoantigens, others have identified T cell responses to CALR^{mut} and JAK2 V617F. Cimen Bozkus et al. used in vitro stimulation to elicit T cell responses to CALR^{mut} peptides that were primarily CD4⁺ T cells in patients with MPNs and both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ in healthy donors. Inhibition of the PD-1 and CTLA-4 immune checkpoint molecules in vitro, and PD-1 in vivo (in a patient treated with pembrolizumab), enhanced T cell responses. An immunogenic HLA-C*03:03-restricted 10mer epitope was identified, and T cells specific for this epitope produced cytokine in response to antigen-presenting cells pulsed with a 15mer peptide, indicating that the epitope was processed from the longer peptide (109). While this finding is encouraging, data conclusively demonstrating that the CALR^{mut} epitope is processed from the full-length protein and presented on HLA-C*03:03 on primary MPN cells is currently lacking. Another group described

cytokine production, primarily by CD4⁺ T cells, in response to ex vivo stimulation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells from patients with MPNs with long (31mer) CALR^{mut} peptides (133). CD8⁺ T cells specific for CALR^{mut} peptides presented on HLA-A*03:01 and -B*07:02 were identified by another group, but the low avidity of the T cells prevented them from assessing whether the epitopes were naturally processed and presented on CALR^{mut} cells (115). Additionally, a 9mer peptide spanning the JAK2 V617F mutation (VLNYGVCFC) was identified as a ligand of HLA-A*02:01 by HLA-binding prediction; epitope-specific CD8⁺ T cells lysed target cells either pulsed with the mutant peptide or naturally expressing JAK2 V617F, but also recognized targets pulsed with wildtype JAK2 peptide with lower efficiency (116). While this is a promising possible neoantigen with broad applicability for patients with MPNs, especially PV, further study is needed to definitively show that VLNYGVCFC is presented on primary malignant cells.

Philadelphia Chromosome-Positive Malignancies

The BCR-ABL1 fusion derives from translocation t(9; 22)(q34;q11), also called the Ph chromosome, which is highly recurrent in chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) and Ph-positive ALL (Ph⁺-ALL). Most patients have one of two fusions resulting from different breakpoints, namely p210 BCR-ABL1 and p190 BCR-ABL1. ^{p210}BCR-ABL1 is found in both CML and Ph⁺-ALL, while p190 BCR-ABL1 is primarily associated with Ph+-ALL (134). As an oncogenic driver, the BCR-ABL1 fusion is essential to the malignant phenotype and an ideal therapeutic target. Small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) are now key components of therapy for Ph⁺ malignancies, but resistance does occur. Because the fusion is highly recurrent and disease-specific, it is a potential source for shared neoantigens. BCR-ABL1 was first described as a neoantigen in 1992 (135), and additional BCR-ABL1 epitopes were subsequently investigated by multiple groups [reviewed in (136)]. However, evidence for the natural CML presentation of BCR-ABL1 fusion peptides is conflicting: one group eluted an immunogenic fusion peptide from HLA-A*03:01 in primary CML (117), but a recent comprehensive evaluation of the HLA-ligandome in CML found no BCR-ABL1 epitopes presented on class I or class II molecules (58). Because the biology and specific fusions differ in the two diseases, the CML and Ph+-ALL peptidomes may differ. Interestingly, adoptive transfer of ex vivo-expanded p190 BCR-ABL1-specific CD8⁺ T cells showed encouraging anti-leukemic activity in three patients with Ph⁺-ALL (137). Specific BCR-ABL1 mutations that confer TKI resistance might also serve as neoantigens; one group identified donor-derived CD8⁺ T cell responses to an HLA-A*03:01-restricted epitope from BCR-ABL1 E255K in a patient with the mutation who had achieved remission after HCT (118). While the BCR-ABL1 E255K-specific T cell clones could recognize minigene-transduced target cells, recognition of primary CML was not tested and thus it remains unclear whether the epitope represents a *bona fide* CML neoantigen.

Lymphomas and Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia

In B cell malignancies, such as lymphomas and myelomas, neoplastic B cell-produced clonal immunoglobulin (Ig) was first described as a tumor-specific antigen in 1972 (138). Ig idiotypes have been extensively investigated as neoantigens with varying degrees of success, including in clinical trials (139). More recently, Khodadoust et al. recovered peptides representing somatic mutations in Ig heavy and light chain genes from the peptidomes of both class I and class II molecules in 17 primary mantle cell lymphomas (MCL) and two MCL cell lines, and detected circulating functional CD4⁺ T cells specific for one Ig neoantigen that could kill autologous lymphoma (140). Subsequent studies by this group identified primarily class IIrestricted Ig-derived neoantigens in other B cell malignancies, including follicular lymphoma, diffuse large B cell lymphoma, and chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) (141). A cytoplasmic variant of CD20 (D393-CD20), produced by alternative splicing of the CD20 transcript, is detectable in malignant primary B cells and B cell lines, but not normal resting B cells (142). CD4⁺ T cell responses to an epitope of D393-CD20 could be elicited from both healthy donors and patients with B cell lymphomas after in vitro peptide stimulation and blocked with anti-HLA-DR monoclonal antibody, but the exact HLA restriction could not be determined (119). MYD88 is recurrently mutated in a variety of B cell malignancies and has been proposed as a potential neoantigen (143). Separately, in a small cohort of CLL patients evaluated after HCT, CD8⁺ responses to neoantigens created from patient-specific non-Ig somatic mutations were identified; one well-studied patient-derived T cell clone could lyse autologous primary CLL cells, indicating that the epitope the clone recognized was a true personal neoantigen (13).

Neoantigens With General Applicability in Hematologic Malignancies

While some genetic abnormalities are specific to or even defining of particular cancer types, others, especially mutations in oncogenes or tumor suppressor genes, can be found in numerous cancers with a wide variety of cellular origins, including hematopoietic tissues. For example, somatic mutations affecting members of the Ras-MAPK pathway are among the most common in human cancers and are found across diverse cancer types (144–147). Similarly, TP53 is the most commonly mutated gene in human cancer, with TP53 mutations estimated to occur in \sim 25% of all cancers (99). Neoantigens derived from these mutations may thus be shared not just among patients with a single disease but across patients with many different cancers, including hematologic cancers (Table 2).

Mutations in KRAS or NRAS are found in \sim 5–26% of hematologic malignancies (146, 148) (**Table 2**). The most recurrent oncogenic mutations that occur in the RAS genes (NRAS, KRAS, HRAS) across cancers occur at codons 12, 13, and 61. As such, neoantigens derived from these recurrent mutations in RAS genes are attractive therapeutic targets with applicability in multiple diseases, including blood cancers. Moreover, the amino acid sequences of RAS family members are highly similar, such that identical epitopes may be derived from different proteins. Although there are no publications specifically investigating RAS-derived neoantigens in hematologic malignancies, findings from studies in solid tumors have potential applicability. For example, Tran et al. studied tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) from a patient with metastatic KRAS G12D-mutated colorectal cancer and identified CD8⁺ T cell clones specific for a KRAS G12D epitope presented on HLA-C*08:02 (6). KRAS G12D specific T cells expanded in the patient's peripheral blood after re-infusion of TIL, were persistently detectable \sim 9 months after TIL infusion, and mediated at least a transient regression of metastatic lung lesions. Subsequently, Cafri et al. performed in vitro stimulation of memory T cells isolated from two patients with KRAS-mutated solid tumors (one with endometrial cancer, one with rectal cancer) and identified CD8⁺ T cells specific for an HLA-A*11:01-restricted epitope from KRAS G12V and CD4⁺ T cells specific for an HLA-DRB1*08:01 restricted epitope from KRAS G12D (156). Earlier studies also identified murine TCRs with specificity for HLA-A*11:01-restricted epitopes from KRAS G12D and G12V in HLA-A*11:01⁺ transgenic mice immunized with KRAS peptides (120). Retroviral transfer of the KRAS-specific TCRs into human T cells conferred KRAS neoantigen-specific anti-tumor activity in vitro and in vivo. These findings have been translated into clinical trials of transgenic TCR T cell immunotherapy for HLA-A*11:01+ patients with certain KRAS G12D- or G12V-mutated solid tumors (NCT03190941 and NCT03745326). Although this clinical trial is directed toward patients with solid tumors, such therapies also have applicability to those with hematologic malignancies; for example, alterations at codon G12 of NRAS occur in a subset of patients with AML and produce identical amino acid sequences to the equivalent KRAS mutations, and so should yield the same epitope that could be targeted with KRAS G12D or G12V-directed T cells.

Mutations in BRAF, another component of the Ras-MAPK pathway, are present in about 8% of all human cancers (150). While the majority of BRAF-mutated malignancies are solid tumors, BRAF mutations do occur in a subset of hematologic malignancies. The BRAF V600E mutation is highly prevalent in hairy cell leukemia (151-153) and systemic histiocytoses (Erdheim-Chester disease and Langerhans cell histiocytosis) (154) and have also been identified in CLL (148) (Table 2). BRAF-derived neoantigens, particularly those originating from the V600E mutation, thus have applicability in a subset of hematologic malignancies. By examining peripheral blood lymphocytes from a patient with BRAF V600E⁺ melanoma who had a clinical response after TIL therapy, Veatch et al. identified a CD4⁺ T cell clone specific for an HLA-DQB1*03-restricted epitope of BRAF V600E (71). Lentiviral transfer of the BRAF V600E-specific TCR to donor CD4⁺ conferred recognition of BRAF V600E-expressing target cells. An earlier study also detected CD4⁺ T cell responses to HLA class II-restricted epitopes from BRAF V600E in patients with BRAF V600E melanoma, although not in the context of clinical response after immunotherapy (157).

TP53 mutations occur in malignancies of all origins (99), including all types of hematologic malignancies (100, 101, 158) (**Table 2**). While TP53 mutations can be quite heterogeneous,

Gene/gene family	Overall prevalence of any mutation in the gene/gene family in human cancers	Prevalence of any mutation in the gene/gene family in hematologic malignancies	Mutation hotspots (all cancers including hematologic)	Mutations yielding possible/definite neoantigens*	References
KRAS/	~25%	~26% multiple myeloma	G12, G13, Q61	G12D, G12V	(146, 148, 149)
NRAS/HRAS	(all RAS genes)	~16% AML			
		~14% ALL			
		~10% CLL			
		~5% MDS (~30% CMML)			
BRAF	~8%	${\sim}100\%$ hairy cell leukemia	V600	V600E	(148, 150–154)
		\sim 40–60% systemic histiocytoses			
		~5% CLL			
TP53	~25%	14% AL	R175, R245, R248,	R175H, R248Q,	(99–101, 155)
		12% AML	R273, R282	R248W, R282W	
		7–10% CLL			
		6% MDS			
		6–24% B cell lymphoma			
		7–40% non-B cell lymphoma			
		6% myeloma and other plasma cell			
		dyscrasias			

TABLE 2 Recurrently mutated genes in cancers, including hematologic malignancies, for which possible or definite public neoantigens have been identified.

*See Table 1 for specific details about neoantigens.

there are mutation hotspots at R175, R245, R248, R273, and R282 that are shared across multiple kinds of cancers, including hematologic cancers (99, 101). Neoantigens created from TP53 mutations thus have broad potential applicability in blood cancers as well as solid tumors. Malekzadeh et al. isolated T cells specific for HLA class I- and class II-restricted epitopes from five different recurrent TP53 mutations from TIL generated from patients with a variety of epithelial tumors (colorectal, ovarian, and pancreatic) (121). Both this publication and a subsequent report from the same group (122) identified an HLA-A*02:01-restricted epitope from TP53 R175H that appears to be naturally presented on a number of tumor cell lines. CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ responses to epitopes from patient-specific TP53 mutations have also been identified (122, 159, 160). Because the codon distribution of TP53 mutations is not specific to the tissue origin of a cancer, therapy targeting the TP53 R175H epitope, for example, should be equally applicable in a TP53 R175H⁺ hematologic cancer as in a TP53 R175H⁺ solid tumor, assuming the epitope is processed and presented appropriately. Similarly, specific mutations that are identical in many different malignancies, like the ones described in this section, are sources for neoantigens that are shared across cancers.

THERAPEUTIC APPLICATIONS OF NEOANTIGENS

While neoantigens are attractive targets for therapy because of their high specificity for malignant cells, there are challenges in translating neoantigen-directed immunotherapies to the clinic and the best approach to neoantigen-directed therapy

is currently unknown. One strategy is to adoptively transfer neoantigen-specific T cells. T cells can be isolated from patient peripheral blood, TIL, or MIL (in hematologic malignancies), then expanded ex vivo non-specifically or against a defined antigen and re-infused (4, 6, 7, 161). Alternatively, T cells can be engineered to express a transgenic neoantigen-specific TCR (TCR-T), allowing infusion of a rapidly generated product with defined specificity and composition. Preclinical studies have shown that transfer of neoantigen-specific TCR-Ts is feasible (71, 74, 122), and two clinical trials of autologous TCR-T targeting HLA-A*11:01-restricted epitopes derived from point mutations in KRAS are enrolling (NCT03190941 and NCT03745326). Although TCR-T targeting epitopes from wild-type WT1 have shown safety (162-164) and efficacy (165), no clinical trials of neoantigen-specific TCR-T immunotherapy for hematologic malignancies have opened to date. TCR constructs can be modified to include other features to improve TCR-T safety and function: a CD8 co-stimulatory receptor enables CD4⁺ T cells to function with a class I-restricted TCR and provide targeted help to neoantigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells (166–168), a safety switch (167, 169) enables rapid removal of transgenic TCR-T cells in the event of toxicity, and other elements have been advanced [reviewed in (170)]. Lastly, vaccines do not require adoptive cell transfer, have shown clinical efficacy in solid tumors (8-10), and are particularly attractive for targeting highly immunogenic but less prevalent neoantigens.

Many factors influence which immunotherapy strategy is optimal for a given antigen. For neoantigens, the relatively low prevalence of each neoantigen among individuals with a given hematologic malignancy is a significant consideration, as immunotherapy for one neoantigen will apply only to a subset of patients. For example, the NPM1^{mut} epitope

described above (74) is only presented by the \sim 15% of AML patients with NPM1^{mut} (30-35%) and HLA-A*02:01 (~50% in the U.S.A.) and this represents one of the most broadly applicable recurrent neoantigens in hematologic malignancies. Producing neoantigen-directed TCR-T therapies using currently standard viral transfer methods is probably not cost-effective for less common neoantigens given their narrow applicability, but vaccines could be. Moreover, the growing use of nonviral techniques for TCR gene transfer, such as transposonbased technologies (159, 171, 172), nanoparticles (173), and RNA electroporation (174) should facilitate the development of TCR-T immunotherapy for all neoantigens, as illustrated by a recently opened clinical trial of gene-edited TCR-T immunotherapy for personal neoantigens (NCT03970382). The use of "universal donor cells" that have been engineered to be HLA-negative and express natural killer (NK) cell inhibitory molecules (175), in combination with silencing or editing the endogenous TCR (163), could also facilitate neoantigen-directed TCR-T immunotherapy.

Another consideration is the natural immunologic landscape of a particular malignancy. *Ex vivo* expansion and vaccination rely largely on the presence of existing anti-tumor responses that can be boosted *in vivo* or *ex vivo* and would be challenging in an immunosuppressive environment. Because hematologic malignancies have multiple mechanisms for blocking effective naturally occurring anti-leukemic immune responses (11, 176– 183), TCR-T immunotherapy may be preferable for these diseases. For example, transgenic TCRs can used to modify selected virus-specific memory T cells for therapeutic transfer (165). Immune checkpoint blockade has been used alone in MPNs (109); combining them with neoantigen-specific immunotherapies could potentiate their effect in these and other hematological malignancies.

DISCUSSION

Much progress has been made in the field of neoantigens generally and in hematologic malignancies specifically. A number of promising *bona fide* and potential shared neoantigens have been identified for hematologic malignancies, most of which are derived from well-established mutations and fusions. However,

REFERENCES

- Cresswell P. Antigen processing and presentation. *Immunol Rev.* (2005) 207:5–7. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2005.00320.x
- Vyas JM, Van der Veen AG, Ploegh HL. The known unknowns of antigen processing and presentation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2008) 8:607–18. doi: 10.1038/nri2368
- Blum JS, Wearsch PA, Cresswell P. Pathways of antigen processing. Annu Rev Immunol. (2013) 31:443–73. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095910
- Tran E, Turcotte S, Gros A, Robbins PF, Lu YC, Dudley ME, et al. Cancer immunotherapy based on mutation-specific CD4+ T cells in a patient with epithelial cancer. *Science*. (2014) 344:641–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1251102
- Robbins PF, Lu YC, El-Gamil M, Li YF, Gross C, Gartner J, et al. Mining exomic sequencing data to identify mutated antigens recognized by

growing access to comprehensive sequencing technologies has greatly enhanced the ability to define disease- and patientspecific mutanomes, which are valuable sources of potential neoantigens. Combined with improvements in T cell antigen discovery approaches, sequencing advances will facilitate the discovery of additional shared and personal neoantigens derived from known as well as new genetic abnormalities, expanding the repertoire of potential targets and moving the field forward. While there are a number of challenges in translating neoantigendirected immunotherapies to the clinic, the rapid evolution of neoantigen discovery methods and the immunotherapy field is making barriers to clinical translation surmountable. Experience gained from T cell immunotherapy and vaccine studies in solid tumors and from cell therapy engineering for non-neoantigen targets will provide a critical foundation for building potent neoantigen-directed immunotherapies that are viable treatment strategies for hematologic malignancies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MAB and MB reviewed the literature and wrote and edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Hyundai Hope on Wheels (TE 6705) and by a Stand Up To Cancer Innovative Research Grant, Grant Number SU2C-AACR-IRG 14-17. Stand Up To Cancer is a division of the Entertainment Industry Foundation. Research grants are administered by the American Association for Cancer Research, the scientific partner of SU2C. MAB received additional support from a National Cancer Institute Paul Calabresi Career Development Award for Clinical Oncology (5 K12 CA076930-18) and from Alex's Lemonade Stand-Foundation for Childhood Cancer.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Drs. Deborah Banker and Michelle Brault for the editorial assistance.

adoptively transferred tumor-reactive T cells. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:747–52. doi: 10.1038/nm.3161

- Tran E, Robbins PF, Lu YC, Prickett TD, Gartner JJ, Jia L, et al. T-Cell Transfer Therapy Targeting Mutant KRAS in Cancer. N Engl J Med. (2016) 375:2255–62. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1609279
- Zacharakis N, Chinnasamy H, Black M, Xu H, Lu YC, Zheng Z, et al. Immune recognition of somatic mutations leading to complete durable regression in metastatic breast cancer. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:724–30. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0040-8
- Ott PA, Hu Z, Keskin DB, Shukla SA, Sun J, Bozym DJ, et al. An immunogenic personal neoantigen vaccine for patients with melanoma. *Nature*. (2017) 547:217–21. doi: 10.1038/nature22991
- 9. Sahin U, Derhovanessian E, Miller M, Kloke BP, Simon P, Lower M, et al. Personalized RNA mutanome vaccines mobilize poly-specific

therapeutic immunity against cancer. *Nature.* (2017) 547:222-6. doi: 10.1038/nature23003

- Keskin DB, Anandappa AJ, Sun J, Tirosh I, Mathewson ND, Li S, et al. Neoantigen vaccine generates intratumoral T cell responses in phase Ib glioblastoma trial. *Nature*. (2019) 565:234–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0792-9
- Yarchoan M, Johnson BA III, Lutz ER, Laheru DA, Jaffee EM. Targeting neoantigens to augment antitumour immunity. *Nat Rev Cancer.* (2017) 17:209–22. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2016.154
- Yang W, Lee KW, Srivastava RM, Kuo F, Krishna C, Chowell D, et al. Immunogenic neoantigens derived from gene fusions stimulate T cell responses. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:767–75. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0434-2
- Rajasagi M, Shukla SA, Fritsch EF, Keskin DB, DeLuca D, Carmona E, et al. Systematic identification of personal tumor-specific neoantigens in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood.* (2014) 124:453–62. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-04-567933
- Lawrence MS, Stojanov P, Polak P, Kryukov GV, Cibulskis K, Sivachenko A, et al. Mutational heterogeneity in cancer and the search for new cancerassociated genes. *Nature*. (2013) 499:214–8. doi: 10.1038/nature12213
- Koopman LA, Corver WE, van der Slik AR, Giphart MJ, Fleuren GJ. Multiple genetic alterations cause frequent and heterogeneous human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen class I loss in cervical cancer. J Exp Med. (2000) 191:961–76. doi: 10.1084/jem.191.6.961
- Campoli M, Chang CC, Ferrone S. HLA class I antigen loss, tumor immune escape and immune selection. *Vaccine*. (2002) 20 (Suppl. 4):A40–5. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(02)00386-9
- Garrido F, Ruiz-Cabello F, Aptsiauri N. Rejection versus escape: the tumor MHC dilemma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2017) 66:259–71. doi: 10.1007/s00262-016-1947-x
- Shukla SA, Rooney MS, Rajasagi M, Tiao G, Dixon PM, Lawrence MS, et al. Comprehensive analysis of cancer-associated somatic mutations in class I HLA genes. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2015) 33:1152–8. doi: 10.1038/nbt.3344
- Benitez R, Godelaine D, Lopez-Nevot MA, Brasseur F, Jimenez P, Marchand M, et al. Mutations of the β2-microglobulin gene result in a lack of HLA class I molecules on melanoma cells of two patients immunized with MAGE peptides. *Tissue Antigens*. (1998) 52:520–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.1998.tb03082.x
- Sade-Feldman M, Jiao YJ, Chen JH, Rooney MS, Barzily-Rokni M, Eliane JP, et al. Resistance to checkpoint blockade therapy through inactivation of antigen presentation. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:1136. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01062-w
- Gettinger S, Choi J, Hastings K, Truini A, Datar I, Sowell R, et al. Impaired HLA class I antigen processing and presentation as a mechanism of acquired resistance to immune checkpoint inhibitors in lung cancer. *Cancer Discov.* (2017) 7:1420–35. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-17-0593
- 22. McGranahan N, Rosenthal R, Hiley CT, Rowan AJ, Watkins TBK, Wilson GA, et al. Allele-specific HLA loss and immune escape in lung cancer evolution. *Cell.* (2017) 171:1259–71.e11. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.10.001
- Paulson KG, Voillet V, McAfee MS, Hunter DS, Wagener FD, Perdicchio M, et al. Acquired cancer resistance to combination immunotherapy from transcriptional loss of class I HLA. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:3868. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06300-3
- 24. Christopher MJ, Petti AA, Rettig MP, Miller CA, Chendamarai E, Duncavage EJ, et al. Immune escape of relapsed AML cells after allogeneic transplantation. *N Engl J Med.* (2018) 379:2330–41. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1808777
- Ebstein F, Keller M, Paschen A, Walden P, Seeger M, Burger E, et al. Exposure to Melan-A/MART-126–35 tumor epitope specific CD8(+)T cells reveals immune escape by affecting the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS). *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:25208. doi: 10.1038/srep25208
- Yamamoto TN, Kishton RJ, Restifo NP. Developing neoantigen-targeted T cell-based treatments for solid tumors. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:1488–99. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0596-y
- 27. The problem with neoantigen prediction. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2017) 35:97. doi: 10.1038/nbt.3800
- Bocchia M, Wentworth PA, Southwood S, Sidney J, McGraw K, Scheinberg DA, et al. Specific binding of leukemia oncogene fusion

protein peptides to HLA class I molecules. *Blood.* (1995) 85:2680–4. doi: 10.1182/blood.V85.10.2680.bloodjournal85102680

- Sturniolo T, Bono E, Ding J, Raddrizzani L, Tuereci O, Sahin U, et al. Generation of tissue-specific and promiscuous HLA ligand databases using DNA microarrays and virtual HLA class II matrices. *Nat Biotechnol.* (1999) 17:555–61. doi: 10.1038/9858
- Singh H, Raghava GP. ProPred: prediction of HLA-DR binding sites. Bioinformatics. (2001) 17:1236–7. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/17.12.1236
- Peters B, Sette A. Generating quantitative models describing the sequence specificity of biological processes with the stabilized matrix method. *BMC Bioinformatics.* (2005) 6:132. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-6-132
- Guan P, Hattotuwagama CK, Doytchinova IA, Flower DR. MHCPred 2.0: an updated quantitative T-cell epitope prediction server. *Appl Bioinformatics*. (2006) 5:55–61. doi: 10.2165/00822942-200605010-00008
- 33. Sidney J, Assarsson E, Moore C, Ngo S, Pinilla C, Sette A, et al. Quantitative peptide binding motifs for 19 human and mouse MHC class I molecules derived using positional scanning combinatorial peptide libraries. *Immunome Res.* (2008) 4:2. doi: 10.1186/1745-7580-4-2
- 34. Wang P, Sidney J, Dow C, Mothe B, Sette A, Peters B. A systematic assessment of MHC class II peptide binding predictions and evaluation of a consensus approach. *PLoS Comput Biol.* (2008) 4:e1000048. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000048
- Hoof I, Peters B, Sidney J, Pedersen LE, Sette A, Lund O, et al. NetMHCpan, a method for MHC class I binding prediction beyond humans. *Immunogenetics*. (2009) 61:1–13. doi: 10.1007/s00251-008-0341-z
- Kim Y, Ponomarenko J, Zhu Z, Tamang D, Wang P, Greenbaum J, et al. Immune epitope database analysis resource. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2012) 40:W525–30. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks438
- Jurtz V, Paul S, Andreatta M, Marcatili P, Peters B, Nielsen M. NetMHCpan-4.0: Improved peptide-MHC class I interaction predictions integrating eluted ligand and peptide binding affinity data. *J Immunol.* (2017) 199:3360–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700893
- Jensen KK, Andreatta M, Marcatili P, Buus S, Greenbaum JA, Yan Z, et al. Improved methods for predicting peptide binding affinity to MHC class II molecules. *Immunology*. (2018) 154:394–406. doi: 10.1111/imm.12889
- Barra C, Alvarez B, Paul S, Sette A, Peters B, Andreatta M, et al. Footprints of antigen processing boost MHC class II natural ligand predictions. *Genome Med.* (2018) 10:84. doi: 10.1186/s13073-018-0594-6
- Bulik-Sullivan B, Busby J, Palmer CD, Davis MJ, Murphy T, Clark A, et al. Deep learning using tumor HLA peptide mass spectrometry datasets improves neoantigen identification. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2018) 37, 55–63. doi: 10.1038/nbt.4313
- Chen B, Khodadoust MS, Olsson N, Wagar LE, Fast E, Liu CL, et al. Predicting HLA class II antigen presentation through integrated deep learning. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2019) 37, 1332–43. doi: 10.1038/s41587-019-0280-2
- Racle J, Michaux J, Rockinger GA, Arnaud M, Bobisse S, Chong C, et al. Robust prediction of HLA class II epitopes by deep motif deconvolution of immunopeptidomes. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2019) 37, 1283–6. doi: 10.1038/s41587-019-0289-6
- Abelin JG, Harjanto D, Malloy M, Suri P, Colson T, Goulding SP, et al. Defining HLA-II ligand processing and binding rules with mass spectrometry enhances cancer epitope prediction. *Immunity*. (2019) 51:766– 79.e17. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.08.012
- 44. Garde C, Ramarathinam SH, Jappe EC, Nielsen M, Kringelum JV, Trolle T, et al. Improved peptide-MHC class II interaction prediction through integration of eluted ligand and peptide affinity data. *Immunogenetics*. (2019) 71:445–54. doi: 10.1007/s00251-019-01122-z
- Besser H, Louzoun Y. Cross-modality deep learning-based prediction of TAP binding and naturally processed peptide. *Immunogenetics*. (2018) 70:419–28. doi: 10.1007/s00251-018-1054-6
- 46. Tenzer S, Peters B, Bulik S, Schoor O, Lemmel C, Schatz MM, et al. Modeling the MHC class I pathway by combining predictions of proteasomal cleavage, TAP transport and MHC class I binding. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2005) 62:1025–37. doi: 10.1007/s00018-005-4528-2
- 47. Calis JJ, Reinink P, Keller C, Kloetzel PM, Kesmir C. Role of peptide processing predictions in T cell epitope identification: contribution

of different prediction programs. Immunogenetics. (2015) 67:85-93. doi: 10.1007/s00251-014-0815-0

- Diez-Rivero CM, Lafuente EM, Reche PA. Computational analysis and modeling of cleavage by the immunoproteasome and the constitutive proteasome. *BMC Bioinformatics*. (2010) 11:479. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-11-479
- Paul S, Karosiene E, Dhanda SK, Jurtz V, Edwards L, Nielsen M, et al. Determination of a predictive cleavage motif for eluted major histocompatibility complex class II ligands. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1795. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01795
- Zhang GL, Petrovsky N, Kwoh CK, August JT, Brusic V. PRED(TAP): a system for prediction of peptide binding to the human transporter associated with antigen processing. *Immunome Res.* (2006) 2:3. doi: 10.1186/1745-7580-2-3
- Boehm KM, Bhinder B, Raja VJ, Dephoure N, Elemento O. Predicting peptide presentation by major histocompatibility complex class I: an improved machine learning approach to the immunopeptidome. *BMC Bioinformatics*. (2019) 20:7. doi: 10.1186/s12859-018-2561-z
- Larsen MV, Lundegaard C, Lamberth K, Buus S, Lund O, Nielsen M. Largescale validation of methods for cytotoxic T-lymphocyte epitope prediction. *BMC Bioinformatics*. (2007) 8:424. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-8-424
- Nielsen M, Lundegaard C, Lund O, Kesmir C. The role of the proteasome in generating cytotoxic T-cell epitopes: insights obtained from improved predictions of proteasomal cleavage. *Immunogenetics*. (2005) 57:33–41. doi: 10.1007/s00251-005-0781-7
- Liepe J, Ovaa H, Mishto M. Why do proteases mess up with antigen presentation by re-shuffling antigen sequences? *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2018) 52:81–6. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2018.04.016
- Liepe J, Marino F, Sidney J, Jeko A, Bunting DE, Sette A, et al. A large fraction of HLA class I ligands are proteasome-generated spliced peptides. *Science*. (2016) 354:354–8. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf4384
- Fritsch EF, Rajasagi M, Ott PA, Brusic V, Hacohen N, Wu CJ. HLA-binding properties of tumor neoepitopes in humans. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2014) 2:522–9. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0227
- Berlin C, Kowalewski DJ, Schuster H, Mirza N, Walz S, Handel M, et al. Mapping the HLA ligandome landscape of acute myeloid leukemia: a targeted approach toward peptide-based immunotherapy. *Leukemia*. (2015) 29:647–59. doi: 10.1038/leu.2014.233
- Bilich T, Nelde A, Bichmann L, Roerden M, Salih HR, Kowalewski DJ, et al. The HLA ligandome landscape of chronic myeloid leukemia delineates novel T-cell epitopes for immunotherapy. *Blood.* (2019) 133:550–65. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-07-866830
- Nelde A, Kowalewski DJ, Backert L, Schuster H, Werner JO, Klein R, et al. HLA ligandome analysis of primary chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) cells under lenalidomide treatment confirms the suitability of lenalidomide for combination with T-cell-based immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology*. (2018) 7:e1316438. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1316438
- Abelin JG, Keskin DB, Sarkizova S, Hartigan CR, Zhang W, Sidney J, et al. Mass Spectrometry profiling of HLA-associated peptidomes in mono-allelic cells enables more accurate epitope prediction. *Immunity*. (2017) 46:315–26. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.02.007
- Hawkins OE, Vangundy RS, Eckerd AM, Bardet W, Buchli R, Weidanz JA, et al. Identification of breast cancer peptide epitopes presented by HLA-A*0201. J Proteome Res. (2008) 7:1445–57. doi: 10.1021/pr700761w
- Trolle T, McMurtrey CP, Sidney J, Bardet W, Osborn SC, Kaever T, et al. The length distribution of class I-restricted T cell epitopes is determined by both peptide supply and MHC allele-specific binding preference. *J Immunol.* (2016) 196:1480–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1501721
- Bassani-Sternberg M, Pletscher-Frankild S, Jensen LJ, Mann M. Mass spectrometry of human leukocyte antigen class I peptidomes reveals strong effects of protein abundance and turnover on antigen presentation. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2015) 14:658–73. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M114.0 42812
- Gfeller D, Bassani-Sternberg M. Predicting antigen presentation-what could we learn from a million peptides? *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1716. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01716
- 65. Luksza M, Riaz N, Makarov V, Balachandran VP, Hellmann MD, Solovyov A, et al. A neoantigen fitness model predicts tumour response

to checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. Nature. (2017) 551:517-20. doi: 10.1038/nature24473

- 66. Smith CC, Chai S, Washington AR, Lee SJ, Landoni E, Field K, et al. Machine-learning prediction of tumor antigen immunogenicity in the selection of therapeutic epitopes. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:1591–604. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-19-0155
- Riley TP, Keller GLJ, Smith AR, Davancaze LM, Arbuiso AG, Devlin JR, et al. Structure based prediction of neoantigen immunogenicity. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:2047. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02047
- Richman LP, Vonderheide RH, Rech AJ. Neoantigen dissimilarity to the self-proteome predicts immunogenicity and response to immune checkpoint blockade. *Cell Syst.* (2019) 9:375–82.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.cels.2019.08.009
- Kosaloglu-Yalcin Z, Lanka M, Frentzen A, Logandha Ramamoorthy Premlal A, Sidney J, Vaughan K, et al. Predicting T cell recognition of MHC class I restricted neoepitopes. *Oncoimmunology*. (2018) 7:e1492508. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1492508
- Yadav M, Jhunjhunwala S, Phung QT, Lupardus P, Tanguay J, Bumbaca S, et al. Predicting immunogenic tumour mutations by combining mass spectrometry and exome sequencing. *Nature*. (2014) 515:572–6. doi: 10.1038/nature14001
- Veatch JR, Lee SM, Fitzgibbon M, Chow IT, Jesernig B, Schmitt T, et al. Tumor-infiltrating BRAFV600E-specific CD4+ T cells correlated with complete clinical response in melanoma. J Clin Invest. (2018) 128:1563–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI98689
- 72. Gros A, Parkhurst MR, Tran E, Pasetto A, Robbins PF, Ilyas S, et al. Prospective identification of neoantigen-specific lymphocytes in the peripheral blood of melanoma patients. *Nat Med.* (2016) 22:433–8. doi: 10.1038/nm.4051
- Sakuishi K, Apetoh L, Sullivan JM, Blazar BR, Kuchroo VK, Anderson AC. Targeting Tim-3 and PD-1 pathways to reverse T cell exhaustion and restore anti-tumor immunity. *J Exp Med.* (2010) 207:2187–94. doi: 10.1084/jem.20100643
- 74. van der Lee DI, Reijmers RM, Honders MW, Hagedoorn RS, de Jong RC, Kester MG, et al. Mutated nucleophosmin 1 as immunotherapy target in acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Invest. (2019) 129:774–85. doi: 10.1172/JCI97482
- Kula T, Dezfulian MH, Wang CI, Abdelfattah NS, Hartman ZC, Wucherpfennig KW, et al. T-Scan: a genome-wide method for the systematic discovery of T cell epitopes. *Cell.* (2019) 178:1016–28.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.07.009
- Bleakley M, Otterud BE, Richardt JL, Mollerup AD, Hudecek M, Nishida T, et al. Leukemia-associated minor histocompatibility antigen discovery using T-cell clones isolated by *in vitro* stimulation of naive CD8+ T cells. *Blood*. (2010) 115:4923–33. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-12-260539
- Stronen E, Toebes M, Kelderman S, van Buuren MM, Yang W, van Rooij N, et al. Targeting of cancer neoantigens with donor-derived T cell receptor repertoires. *Science*. (2016) 352:1337–41. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf2288
- Ding LW, Sun QY, Tan KT, Chien W, Mayakonda A, Yeoh AEJ, et al. Mutational landscape of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:390–400. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1303
- Iacobucci I, Mullighan CG. Genetic basis of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. (2017) 35:975–83. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.70.7836
- Bolouri H, Farrar JE, Triche T Jr, Ries RE, Lim EL, Alonzo TA, et al. The molecular landscape of pediatric acute myeloid leukemia reveals recurrent structural alterations and age-specific mutational interactions. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:103–12. doi: 10.1038/nm.4439
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research N. Genomic and epigenomic landscapes of adult de novo acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. (2013) 368:2059–74. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1301689
- Landau DA, Tausch E, Taylor-Weiner AN, Stewart C, Reiter JG, Bahlo J, et al. Mutations driving CLL and their evolution in progression and relapse. *Nature*. (2015) 526:525–30. doi: 10.1038/nature15395
- Puente XS, Bea S, Valdes-Mas R, Villamor N, Gutierrez-Abril J, Martin-Subero JI, et al. Non-coding recurrent mutations in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Nature*. (2015) 526:519–24. doi: 10.1038/nature14666
- Bose P, Nazha A, Komrokji RS, Patel KP, Pierce SA, Al-Ali N, et al. Mutational landscape of myelodysplastic/myeloproliferative neoplasm-unclassifiable. *Blood.* (2018) 132:2100–3. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-05-848473

- Schischlik F, Jager R, Rosebrock F, Hug E, Schuster M, Holly R, et al. Mutational landscape of the transcriptome offers putative targets for immunotherapy of myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Blood.* (2019) 134:199– 210. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019000519
- Kowalewski DJ, Schuster H, Backert L, Berlin C, Kahn S, Kanz L, et al. HLA ligandome analysis identifies the underlying specificities of spontaneous antileukemia immune responses in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:E166–75. doi: 10.1073/pnas.14163 89112
- Walz S, Stickel JS, Kowalewski DJ, Schuster H, Weisel K, Backert L, et al. The antigenic landscape of multiple myeloma: mass spectrometry (re)defines targets for T-cell-based immunotherapy. *Blood.* (2015) 126:1203– 13. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-04-640532
- Narayan R, Olsson N, Wagar LE, Medeiros BC, Meyer E, Czerwinski D, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia immunopeptidome reveals HLA presentation of mutated nucleophosmin. *PLoS ONE.* (2019) 14:e0219547. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0219547
- van Dongen JJ, Macintyre EA, Gabert JA, Delabesse E, Rossi V, Saglio G, et al. Standardized RT-PCR analysis of fusion gene transcripts from chromosome aberrations in acute leukemia for detection of minimal residual disease. Report of the BIOMED-1 Concerted Action: investigation of minimal residual disease in acute leukemia. *Leukemia*. (1999) 13:1901–28. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2401592
- Meyer C, Burmeister T, Groger D, Tsaur G, Fechina L, Renneville A, et al. The MLL recombinome of acute leukemias in 2017. *Leukemia*. (2018) 32:273–84. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.213
- King-Underwood L, Renshaw J, Pritchard-Jones K. Mutations in the Wilms' tumor gene WT1 in leukemias. *Blood.* (1996) 87:2171–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.V87.6.2171.bloodjournal8762171
- Pronier E, Bowman RL, Ahn J, Glass J, Kandoth C, Merlinsky TR, et al. Genetic and epigenetic evolution as a contributor to WT1-mutant leukemogenesis. *Blood.* (2018) 132:1265–78. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-03-837468
- Niktoreh N, Walter C, Zimmermann M, von Neuhoff C, von Neuhoff N, Rasche M, et al. Mutated WT1, FLT3-ITD, and NUP98-NSD1 fusion in various combinations define a poor prognostic group in pediatric acute myeloid leukemia. J Oncol. (2019) 2019:1609128. doi: 10.1155/2019/1609128
- 94. Potter N, Miraki-Moud F, Ermini L, Titley I, Vijayaraghavan G, Papaemmanuil E, et al. Single cell analysis of clonal architecture in acute myeloid leukaemia. *Leukemia*. (2019) 33:1113–23. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0319-2
- Tosello V, Mansour MR, Barnes K, Paganin M, Sulis ML, Jenkinson S, et al. WT1 mutations in T-ALL. *Blood.* (2009) 114:1038–45. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-12-192039
- 96. Weng AP, Ferrando AA, Lee W, Morris JPt, Silverman LB, Sanchez-Irizarry C, et al. Activating mutations of NOTCH1 in human T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Science*. (2004) 306:269–71. doi: 10.1126/science.1102160
- Grabher C, von Boehmer H, Look AT. Notch 1 activation in the molecular pathogenesis of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2006) 6:347–59. doi: 10.1038/nrc1880
- Girardi T, Vicente C, Cools J, De Keersmaecker K. The genetics and molecular biology of T-ALL. *Blood.* (2017) 129:1113–23. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-10-706465
- Bykov VJN, Eriksson SE, Bianchi J, Wiman KG. Targeting mutant p53 for efficient cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer.* (2018) 18:89–102. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2017.109
- 100. Stengel A, Kern W, Haferlach T, Meggendorfer M, Fasan A, Haferlach C. The impact of TP53 mutations and TP53 deletions on survival varies between AML, ALL, MDS and CLL: an analysis of 3307 cases. *Leukemia*. (2017) 31:705–11. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.263
- 101. Xu-Monette ZY, Medeiros LJ, Li Y, Orlowski RZ, Andreeff M, Bueso-Ramos CE, et al. Dysfunction of the TP53 tumor suppressor gene in lymphoid malignancies. *Blood.* (2012) 119:3668–83. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-11-366062
- 102. Falini B, Martelli MP, Bolli N, Sportoletti P, Liso A, Tiacci E, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia with mutated nucleophosmin (NPM1): is it a distinct entity? *Blood.* (2011) 117:1109–20. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-08-299990

- Falini B, Mecucci C, Tiacci E, Alcalay M, Rosati R, Pasqualucci L, et al. Cytoplasmic nucleophosmin in acute myelogenous leukemia with a normal karyotype. N Engl J Med. (2005) 352:254–66. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa041974
- 104. McGranahan N, Swanton C. Neoantigen quality, not quantity. Sci Transl Med. (2019) 11:eaax7918. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aax7918
- 105. Balachandran VP, Luksza M, Zhao JN, Makarov V, Moral JA, Remark R, et al. Identification of unique neoantigen qualities in long-term survivors of pancreatic cancer. *Nature*. (2017) 551:512–6. doi: 10.1038/nature24462
- 106. Greiner J, Schneider V, Schmitt M, Gotz M, Dohner K, Wiesneth M, et al. Immune responses against the mutated region of cytoplasmatic NPM1 might contribute to the favorable clinical outcome of AML patients with NPM1 mutations (NPM1mut). *Blood.* (2013) 122:1087–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-04-496844
- 107. Hofmann S, Gotz M, Schneider V, Guillaume P, Bunjes D, Dohner H, et al. Donor lymphocyte infusion induces polyspecific CD8⁺ T-cell responses with concurrent molecular remission in acute myeloid leukemia with NPM1 mutation. J Clin Oncol. (2013) 31:e44–7. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.41.1116
- Schneider V, Zhang L, Bullinger L, Rojewski M, Hofmann S, Wiesneth M, et al. Leukemic stem cells of acute myeloid leukemia patients carrying NPM1 mutation are candidates for targeted immunotherapy. *Leukemia*. (2014) 28:1759–62. doi: 10.1038/leu.2014.116
- 109. Cimen Bozkus C, Roudko V, Finnigan JP, Mascarenhas J, Hoffman R, Iancu-Rubin C, et al. Immune checkpoint blockade enhances shared neoantigen-induced T-cell immunity directed against mutated calreticulin in myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Cancer Discov.* (2019) 9:1192–207. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-1356
- 110. Gambacorti-Passerini C, Grignani F, Arienti F, Pandolfi PP, Pelicci PG, Parmiani G. Human CD4 lymphocytes specifically recognize a peptide representing the fusion region of the hybrid protein pml/RAR alpha present in acute promyelocytic leukemia cells. *Blood.* (1993) 81:1369–75. doi: 10.1182/blood.V81.5.1369.1369
- 111. Dermime S, Bertazzoli C, Marchesi E, Ravagnani F, Blaser K, Corneo GM, et al. Lack of T-cell-mediated recognition of the fusion region of the pml/RAR-alpha hybrid protein by lymphocytes of acute promyelocytic leukemia patients. *Clin Cancer Res.* (1996) 2:593–600.
- 112. Zamora AE, Crawford JC, Allen EK, Guo XJ, Bakke J, Carter RA, et al. Pediatric patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia generate abundant and functional neoantigen-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses. *Sci Transl Med.* (2019) 11:eaat8549. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aat8549
- 113. Yotnda P, Garcia F, Peuchmaur M, Grandchamp B, Duval M, Lemonnier F, et al. Cytotoxic T cell response against the chimeric ETV6-AML1 protein in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Invest. (1998) 102:455–62. doi: 10.1172/JCI3126
- 114. Popovic J, Li LP, Kloetzel PM, Leisegang M, Uckert W, Blankenstein T. The only proposed T-cell epitope derived from the TEL-AML1 translocation is not naturally processed. *Blood.* (2011) 118:946–54. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-12-325035
- 115. Tubb VM, Schrikkema DS, Croft NP, Purcell AW, Linnemann C, Freriks MR, et al. Isolation of T cell receptors targeting recurrent neoantigens in hematological malignancies. J Immunother Cancer. (2018) 6:70. doi: 10.1186/s40425-018-0386-y
- 116. Holmstrom MO, Hjortso MD, Ahmad SM, Met O, Martinenaite E, Riley C, et al. The JAK2V617F mutation is a target for specific T cells in the JAK2V617F-positive myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Leukemia*. (2017) 31:495–8. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.290
- 117. Clark RE, Dodi IA, Hill SC, Lill JR, Aubert G, Macintyre AR, et al. Direct evidence that leukemic cells present HLA-associated immunogenic peptides derived from the BCR-ABL b3a2 fusion protein. *Blood.* (2001) 98:2887–93. doi: 10.1182/blood.V98.10.2887
- 118. Cai A, Keskin DB, DeLuca DS, Alonso A, Zhang W, Zhang GL, et al. Mutated BCR-ABL generates immunogenic T-cell epitopes in CML patients. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2012) 18:5761–72. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1182
- Vauchy C, Gamonet C, Ferrand C, Daguindau E, Galaine J, Beziaud L, et al. CD20 alternative splicing isoform generates immunogenic CD4 helper T epitopes. *Int J Cancer.* (2015) 137:116–26. doi: 10.1002/ijc.29366
- 120. Wang QJ, Yu Z, Griffith K, Hanada K, Restifo NP, Yang JC. Identification of T-cell receptors targeting KRAS-mutated human tumors. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2016) 4:204–14. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0188

- 121. Malekzadeh P, Pasetto A, Robbins PF, Parkhurst MR, Paria BC, Jia L, et al. Neoantigen screening identifies broad TP53 mutant immunogenicity in patients with epithelial cancers. J Clin Invest. (2019) 129:1109–14. doi: 10.1172/JCI123791
- 122. Lo W, Parkhurst M, Robbins PF, Tran E, Lu YC, Jia L, et al. Immunologic recognition of a shared p53 mutated neoantigen in a patient with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:534–43. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0686
- 123. Forghieri F, Riva G, Lagreca I, Barozzi P, Vallerini D, Morselli M, et al. Characterization and dynamics of specific T cells against nucleophosmin-1 (NPM1)-mutated peptides in patients with NPM1-mutated acute myeloid leukemia. Oncotarget. (2019) 10:869–82. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.26617
- 124. Grimwade D, Hills RK, Moorman AV, Walker H, Chatters S, Goldstone AH, et al. Refinement of cytogenetic classification in acute myeloid leukemia: determination of prognostic significance of rare recurring chromosomal abnormalities among 5876 younger adult patients treated in the United Kingdom Medical Research Council trials. *Blood.* (2010) 116:354–65. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-11-254441
- Grimwade D, Ivey A, Huntly BJ. Molecular landscape of acute myeloid leukemia in younger adults and its clinical relevance. *Blood.* (2016) 127:29– 41. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-07-604496
- 126. Papaemmanuil E, Gerstung M, Malcovati L, Tauro S, Gundem G, Van Loo P, et al. Clinical and biological implications of driver mutations in myelodysplastic syndromes. *Blood.* (2013) 122:3616–27; quiz 99. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-08-518886
- 127. Chalmers ZR, Connelly CF, Fabrizio D, Gay L, Ali SM, Ennis R, et al. Analysis of 100,000 human cancer genomes reveals the landscape of tumor mutational burden. *Genome Med.* (2017) 9:34. doi: 10.1186/s13073-017-0424-2
- 128. Shurtleff SA, Buijs A, Behm FG, Rubnitz JE, Raimondi SC, Hancock ML, et al. TEL/AML1 fusion resulting from a cryptic t(12;21) is the most common genetic lesion in pediatric ALL and defines a subgroup of patients with an excellent prognosis. *Leukemia.* (1995) 9:1985–9.
- 129. Romana SP, Mauchauffe M, Le Coniat M, Chumakov I, Le Paslier D, Berger R, et al. The t(12;21) of acute lymphoblastic leukemia results in a tel-AML1 gene fusion. *Blood.* (1995) 85:3662–70. doi: 10.1182/blood.V85.12.3662.bloodjournal85123662
- 130. Romana SP, Poirel H, Leconiat M, Flexor MA, Mauchauffe M, Jonveaux P, et al. High frequency of t(12;21) in childhood Blineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood.* (1995) 86:4263–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.V86.11.4263.bloodjournal86114263
- 131. Rubnitz JE, Downing JR, Pui CH, Shurtleff SA, Raimondi SC, Evans WE, et al. TEL gene rearrangement in acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a new genetic marker with prognostic significance. J Clin Oncol. (1997) 15:1150–7. doi: 10.1200/JCO.1997.15.3.1150
- Vainchenker W, Kralovics R. Genetic basis and molecular pathophysiology of classical myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Blood.* (2017) 129:667–79. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-10-695940
- 133. Holmstrom MO, Riley CH, Svane IM, Hasselbalch HC, Andersen MH. The CALR exon 9 mutations are shared neoantigens in patients with CALR mutant chronic myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Leukemia*. (2016) 30:2413–6. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.233
- 134. Voncken JW, Kaartinen V, Pattengale PK, Germeraad WT, Groffen J, Heisterkamp N. BCR/ABL P210 and P190 cause distinct leukemia in transgenic mice. *Blood.* (1995) 86:4603–11. doi: 10.1182/blood.V86.12.4603.bloodjournal86124603
- Chen W, Peace DJ, Rovira DK, You SG, Cheever MA. T-cell immunity to the joining region of p210BCR-ABL protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1992) 89:1468–72. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89.4.1468
- 136. Riley CL, Mathieu MG, Clark RE, McArdle SE, Rees RC. Tumour antigen-targeted immunotherapy for chronic myeloid leukaemia: is it still viable? *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2009) 58:1489–99. doi: 10.1007/s00262-009-0675-x
- 137. Comoli P, Basso S, Riva G, Barozzi P, Guido I, Gurrado A, et al. BCR-ABL-specific T-cell therapy in Ph+ ALL patients on tyrosine-kinase inhibitors. Blood. (2017) 129:582–6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-07-731091
- Lynch RG, Graff RJ, Sirisinha S, Simms ES, Eisen HN. Myeloma proteins as tumor-specific transplantation antigens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1972) 69:1540–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.69.6.1540

- 139. Bendandi M. Idiotype vaccines for lymphoma: proof-of-principles and clinical trial failures. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2009) 9:675–81. doi: 10.1038/nrc2717
- 140. Khodadoust MS, Olsson N, Wagar LE, Haabeth OA, Chen B, Swaminathan K, et al. Antigen presentation profiling reveals recognition of lymphoma immunoglobulin neoantigens. *Nature*. (2017) 543:723–7. doi: 10.1038/nature21433
- Khodadoust MS, Olsson N, Chen B, Sworder B, Shree T, Liu CL, et al. B-cell lymphomas present immunoglobulin neoantigens. *Blood.* (2019) 133:878– 81. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-06-845156
- 142. Henry C, Deschamps M, Rohrlich PS, Pallandre JR, Remy-Martin JP, Callanan M, et al. Identification of an alternative CD20 transcript variant in B-cell malignancies coding for a novel protein associated to rituximab resistance. *Blood.* (2010) 115:2420–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-06-2 29112
- 143. Nelde A, Walz JS, Kowalewski DJ, Schuster H, Wolz OO, Peper JK, et al. HLA class I-restricted MYD88 L265P-derived peptides as specific targets for lymphoma immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology.* (2017) 6:e1219825. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1219825
- 144. Malumbres M, Barbacid M. RAS oncogenes: the first 30 years. Nat Rev Cancer. (2003) 3:459–65. doi: 10.1038/nrc1097
- 145. Schubbert S, Shannon K, Bollag G. Hyperactive Ras in developmental disorders and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. (2007) 7:295–308. doi: 10.1038/nrc2109
- 146. Ward AF, Braun BS, Shannon KM. Targeting oncogenic Ras signaling in hematologic malignancies. *Blood.* (2012) 120:3397–406. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-05-378596
- 147. Prior IA, Lewis PD, Mattos C. A comprehensive survey of Ras mutations in cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:2457–67. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2612
- 148. Vendramini E, Bomben R, Pozzo F, Benedetti D, Bittolo T, Rossi FM, et al. KRAS, NRAS, and BRAF mutations are highly enriched in trisomy 12 chronic lymphocytic leukemia and are associated with shorter treatmentfree survival. *Leukemia*. (2019) 33:2111–5. doi: 10.1038/s41375-019-0444-6
- Hobbs GA, Der CJ, Rossman KL. RAS isoforms and mutations in cancer at a glance. J Cell Sci. (2016) 129:1287–92. doi: 10.1242/jcs.182873
- Holderfield M, Deuker MM, McCormick F, McMahon M. Targeting RAF kinases for cancer therapy: BRAF-mutated melanoma and beyond. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2014) 14:455–67. doi: 10.1038/nrc3760
- 151. Tiacci E, Trifonov V, Schiavoni G, Holmes A, Kern W, Martelli MP, et al. BRAF mutations in hairy-cell leukemia. N Engl J Med. (2011) 364:2305–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1014209
- 152. Arcaini L, Zibellini S, Boveri E, Riboni R, Rattotti S, Varettoni M, et al. The BRAF V600E mutation in hairy cell leukemia and other mature Bcell neoplasms. *Blood.* (2012) 119:188–91. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-08-3 68209
- 153. Chung SS, Kim E, Park JH, Chung YR, Lito P, Teruya-Feldstein J, et al. Hematopoietic stem cell origin of BRAFV600E mutations in hairy cell leukemia. *Sci Transl Med.* (2014) 6:238ra71. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3008004
- 154. Berres ML, Lim KP, Peters T, Price J, Takizawa H, Salmon H, et al. BRAF-V600E expression in precursor versus differentiated dendritic cells defines clinically distinct LCH risk groups. J Exp Med. (2014) 211:669–83. doi: 10.1084/jem.20130977
- 155. Bouaoun L, Sonkin D, Ardin M, Hollstein M, Byrnes G, Zavadil J, et al. TP53 Variations in human cancers: new lessons from the IARC TP53 database and genomics data. *Hum Mutat.* (2016) 37:865–76. doi: 10.1002/humu.23035
- 156. Cafri G, Yossef R, Pasetto A, Deniger DC, Lu YC, Parkhurst M, et al. Memory T cells targeting oncogenic mutations detected in peripheral blood of epithelial cancer patients. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:449. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-08304-z
- 157. Sharkey MS, Lizee G, Gonzales MI, Patel S, Topalian SL. CD4⁺ T-cell recognition of mutated B-RAF in melanoma patients harboring the V599E mutation. *Cancer Res.* (2004) 64:1595–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-3231
- Kandoth C, McLellan MD, Vandin F, Ye K, Niu B, Lu C, et al. Mutational landscape and significance across 12 major cancer types. *Nature*. (2013) 502:333–9. doi: 10.1038/nature12634

- 159. Deniger DC, Pasetto A, Tran E, Parkhurst MR, Cohen CJ, Robbins PF, et al. Stable, nonviral expression of mutated tumor neoantigen-specific t-cell receptors using the sleeping beauty transposon/transposase system. *Mol Ther.* (2016) 24:1078–89. doi: 10.1038/mt.2016.51
- 160. Yossef R, Tran E, Deniger DC, Gros A, Pasetto A, Parkhurst MR, et al. Enhanced detection of neoantigen-reactive T cells targeting unique and shared oncogenes for personalized cancer immunotherapy. *JCI Insight*. (2018) 3:e122467. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.122467
- 161. Noonan KA, Huff CA, Davis J, Lemas MV, Fiorino S, Bitzan J, et al. Adoptive transfer of activated marrow-infiltrating lymphocytes induces measurable antitumor immunity in the bone marrow in multiple myeloma. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:288ra78. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa7014
- 162. Chapuis AG, Ragnarsson GB, Nguyen HN, Chaney CN, Pufnock JS, Schmitt TM, et al. Transferred WT1-reactive CD8+ T cells can mediate antileukemic activity and persist in post-transplant patients. *Sci Transl Med.* (2013) 5:174ra27. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3004916
- 163. Ochi T, Fujiwara H, Okamoto S, An J, Nagai K, Shirakata T, et al. Novel adoptive T-cell immunotherapy using a WT1-specific TCR vector encoding silencers for endogenous TCRs shows marked antileukemia reactivity and safety. *Blood.* (2011) 118:1495–503. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-02-337089
- Ohminami H, Yasukawa M, Fujita S. HLA class I-restricted lysis of leukemia cells by a CD8⁺ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte clone specific for WT1 peptide. *Blood.* (2000) 95:286–93. doi: 10.1182/blood.V95.1.286
- 165. Chapuis AG, Egan DN, Bar M, Schmitt TM, McAfee MS, Paulson KG, et al. T cell receptor gene therapy targeting WT1 prevents acute myeloid leukemia relapse post-transplant. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:1064–72. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0472-9
- 166. Hung K, Hayashi R, Lafond-Walker A, Lowenstein C, Pardoll D, Levitsky H. The central role of CD4⁺ T cells in the antitumor immune response. *J Exp Med.* (1998) 188:2357–68. doi: 10.1084/jem.188.12.2357
- 167. Dossa RG, Cunningham T, Sommermeyer D, Medina-Rodriguez I, Biernacki MA, Foster K, et al. Development of T-cell immunotherapy for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation recipients at risk of leukemia relapse. *Blood.* (2018) 131:108–20. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-07-791608
- 168. Sommermeyer D, Hudecek M, Kosasih PL, Gogishvili T, Maloney DG, Turtle CJ, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells derived from defined CD8+ and CD4+ subsets confer superior antitumor reactivity *in vivo*. *Leukemia*. (2016) 30:492–500. doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.247
- 169. Di Stasi A, Tey SK, Dotti G, Fujita Y, Kennedy-Nasser A, Martinez C, et al. Inducible apoptosis as a safety switch for adoptive cell therapy. N Engl J Med. (2011) 365:1673–83. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1106152
- Biernacki MA, Brault M, Bleakley M. T-cell receptor-based immunotherapy for hematologic malignancies. *Cancer J.* (2019) 25:179–90. doi: 10.1097/PPO.00000000000378
- 171. Kebriaei P, Singh H, Huls MH, Figliola MJ, Bassett R, Olivares S, et al. Phase I trials using Sleeping Beauty to generate CD19-specific CAR T cells. J Clin Invest. (2016) 126:3363–76. doi: 10.1172/JCI86721
- 172. Bishop DC, Xu N, Tse B, O'Brien TA, Gottlieb DJ, Dolnikov A, et al. PiggyBac-engineered T cells expressing CD19-specific CARs that Lack IgG1 Fc spacers have potent activity against B-ALL xenografts. *Mol Ther.* (2018) 26:1883–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.05.007
- 173. Wang J, Ma Z, Carr SA, Mertins P, Zhang H, Zhang Z, et al. Proteome profiling outperforms transcriptome profiling for coexpression based gene function prediction. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2017) 16:121–34. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M116.060301

- 174. Campillo-Davo D, Fujiki F, Van den Bergh JMJ, De Reu H, Smits E, Goossens H, et al. Efficient and non-genotoxic RNA-based engineering of human T cells using tumor-specific T cell receptors with minimal TCR mispairing. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2503. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02503
- 175. Torikai H, Reik A, Soldner F, Warren EH, Yuen C, Zhou Y, et al. Toward eliminating HLA class I expression to generate universal cells from allogeneic donors. *Blood.* (2013) 122:1341–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-03-478255
- Lemos H, Huang L, Prendergast GC, Mellor AL. Immune control by amino acid catabolism during tumorigenesis and therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2019) 19:162–75. doi: 10.1038/s41568-019-0106-z
- 177. van der Burg SH, Arens R, Ossendorp F, van Hall T, Melief CJ. Vaccines for established cancer: overcoming the challenges posed by immune evasion. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2016) 16:219–33. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2016.16
- 178. Fukuno K, Hara T, Tsurumi H, Shibata Y, Mabuchi R, Nakamura N, et al. Expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in leukemic cells indicates an unfavorable prognosis in acute myeloid leukemia patients with intermediate-risk cytogenetics. *Leuk Lymphoma.* (2015) 56:1398–405. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2014.953150
- 179. Mussai F, De Santo C, Abu-Dayyeh I, Booth S, Quek L, McEwen-Smith RM, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia creates an arginase-dependent immunosuppressive microenvironment. *Blood.* (2013) 122:749–58. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-01-480129
- Zhang L, Gajewski TF, Kline J. PD-1/PD-L1 interactions inhibit antitumor immune responses in a murine acute myeloid leukemia model. *Blood.* (2009) 114:1545–52. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-03-206672
- 181. Buggins AG, Milojkovic D, Arno MJ, Lea NC, Mufti GJ, Thomas NS, et al. Microenvironment produced by acute myeloid leukemia cells prevents T cell activation and proliferation by inhibition of NF-kappaB, c-Myc, and pRb pathways. *J Immunol.* (2001) 167:6021–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.10.6021
- 182. Bruck O, Blom S, Dufva O, Turkki R, Chheda H, Ribeiro A, et al. Immune cell contexture in the bone marrow tumor microenvironment impacts therapy response in CML. *Leukemia*. (2018) 32:1643–56. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0175-0
- 183. Burger JA, Gribben JG. The microenvironment in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and other B cell malignancies: insight into disease biology and new targeted therapies. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2014) 24:71–81. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2013.08.011

Conflict of Interest: MB has received compensation from Miltenyi Biotec for presentations at conferences and corporate symposia pertaining to research unrelated to that presented in the current manuscript. MB is a Founder and Scientific Advisory Board member of HighPassBio and Scientific Advisory Board member of Orca Bio.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Biernacki and Bleakley. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





T-Cell Immunotherapies Targeting Histocompatibility and Tumor Antigens in Hematological Malignancies

Valérie Janelle^{1*†}, Caroline Rulleau^{1†}, Simon Del Testa¹, Cédric Carli¹ and Jean-Sébastien Delisle^{1,2,3*}

¹ Centre de Recherche de l'Hôpital Maisonneuve-Rosemont, Montréal, QC, Canada, ² Département de Médecine, Université de Montréal, Montréal, QC, Canada, ³ Division Hématologie et Oncologie, Hôpital Maisonneuve-Rosemont, Montréal, QC, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marieke Griffioen, Leiden University Medical Center, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Anna Mondino, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy Willemijn Hobo, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre. Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Valérie Janelle valerie.janelle@umontreal.ca Jean-Sébastien Delisle js.delisle@umontreal.ca

[†]These authors share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 24 October 2019 Accepted: 03 February 2020 Published: 21 February 2020

Citation:

Janelle V, Rulleau C, Del Testa S, Carli C and Delisle J-S (2020) T-Cell Immunotherapies Targeting Histocompatibility and Tumor Antigens in Hematological Malignancies. Front. Immunol. 11:276. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00276

Over the last decades, T-cell immunotherapy has revealed itself as a powerful, and often curative, strategy to treat blood cancers. In hematopoietic cell transplantation, most of the so-called graft-vs.-leukemia (GVL) effect hinges on the recognition of histocompatibility antigens that reflect immunologically relevant genetic variants between donors and recipients. Whether other variants acquired during the neoplastic transformation, or the aberrant expression of gene products can yield antigenic targets of similar relevance as the minor histocompatibility antigens is actively being pursued. Modern genomics and proteomics have enabled the high throughput identification of candidate antigens for immunotherapy in both autologous and allogeneic settings. As such, these major histocompatibility complex-associated tumor-specific (TSA) and tumor-associated antigens (TAA) can allow for the targeting of multiple blood neoplasms, which is a limitation for other immunotherapeutic approaches, such as chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-modified T cells. We review the current strategies taken to translate these discoveries into T-cell therapies and propose how these could be introduced in clinical practice. Specifically, we discuss the criteria that are used to select the antigens with the greatest therapeutic value and we review the various T-cell manufacturing approaches in place to either expand antigen-specific T cells from the native repertoire or genetically engineer T cells with minor histocompatibility antigen or TSA/TAA-specific recombinant T-cell receptors. Finally, we elaborate on the current and future incorporation of these therapeutic T-cell products into the treatment of hematological malignancies.

Keywords: histocompatibility antigens, tumor-specific antigens (TSA), tumor-associated antigens (TAA), transgenic T-cell receptors, T-cell immunotherapy, viral antigens, allogeneic stem cell transplant, chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)

INTRODUCTION

Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation (AHCT) remains to this day the most widely used form of cancer cellular immunotherapy. Several studies in both humans and animals have conclusively shown that the recognition of alloantigens by T cells is central to the so-called "graft-vs.-tumor" (GVT) that occurs following AHCT (1–3). However, the recognition by donor

49

T cells of major and minor histocompatibility antigens (MiHA), encoded by germline polymorphisms and expressed on malignant and normal host hematological cells as well as on non-hematological cells, can also result in graft-vs.-host disease (GVHD) (4). Despite several decades of research, the potentially lethal GVHD reactions are still the major limitation to the use of alloreactivity to treat blood cancers with AHCT. Recent antigen identification and characterization methods, coupled with refined cell manipulations and cell transfer procedures, may allow for an effective separation of the GVT and GVHD effects when targeting alloantigens. Moreover, other antigens are inspiring immunotherapeutic strategies that can be implemented in AHCT and non-transplant settings (5). The tumor-specific antigens (TSA) refer to major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I or II-associated peptides that are found solely at the surface of tumor cells. Often resulting from acquired genetic variants, these antigens can stimulate vigorous T-cell responses and will be extensively described below. T-cell immunotherapies targeting unmutated MHC-associated antigens, including viral antigens and tumor-associated antigens (TAA) will also be described in the context of blood cancers. This review will focus on the current status of immunotherapeutic approaches, particularly those exploiting genetic variants, native and acquired, for the treatment of hematological malignancies. These antigens are almost exclusively relevant to the context of immune therapies using conventional T cells, CD8⁺ and CD4⁺, that recognize their MHC-bound peptide antigen through a T-cell receptor (TCR) composed of an alpha and beta chain (Figure 1). T-cell therapies targeting non-polymorphic antigens and the use of other immune cell types will also be briefly discussed and put in context of the current status of cellular immunotherapies for blood neoplasms. The implementation of T-cell therapies targeting relevant antigens for hematological cancers hinges on a detailed knowledge of the targets, T-cell biology, gene engineering, ex vivo cell processing methods and clinical expertise. As such, these therapies represent a formidable challenge but also an opportunity to make paradigmatic advances in blood cancer treatment and oncology in general.

TARGET ANTIGENS IN HEMATOLOGICAL CANCERS

Histocompatibility Antigens, Majors, and Minors

AHCT's curative potential relies substantially on the GVT effect, which is largely based on the recognition of histocompatibility antigens by allogeneic T cells. These antigens result from the translation of germline-encoded genetic variants (6–10). However, standard AHCT is a personalized but markedly unspecific form of immunotherapy. The broad repertoire of allogeneic T cells transferred with the graft react against a multitude of host derived antigens. These can be expressed on several cell and tissue types, inducing GVHD in most recipients despite prophylactic immunosuppression (11, 12). Thus, the curative potential of AHCT relies on the transfer of histo-incompatible T cells recognizing germline genetic variants on neoplastic cells (13-17). Histocompatibility antigens are prime targets for T cells because they stimulate a high avidity T-cell repertoire. Histocompatibility antigens are not expressed in donor thymus, therefore T cells recognizing histocompatibility antigens with high functional avidity do not undergo negative selection prior their adoptive transfer in patients (18, 19). Moreover, the high frequency of GVHD occurrence in recipient of multiparous female donors hints at the possibility of sensitization to host recipient antigens and the mobilization of a memory T-cell repertoire against these antigens (20). Thus, AHCT patients receive a treatment which is targeted to a mostly unknown set of antigens by an equally elusive T-cell repertoire leading to frequent toxic "on-target/offtumor" immune responses. The discovery and characterization of relevant transplantation antigens nonetheless hold great promise for the design of immunotherapies that could enhance the GVT effect and limit the occurrence of GVHD. The development of such immunotherapies depends on the identification of antigens that are specifically, or at least preferentially, expressed on hematopoietic and/or malignant cells (6, 21). As such, Human leukocyte antigen (HLA) (the major histocompatibility antigens) and MiHA mismatches can be harnessed to treat hematological cancer patients.

The frequency of T cells capable to target mismatched HLA molecules is very high (1-10%) (22-24). Given the likelihood of severe GVHD occurrence when AHCT is performed across HLA barriers, refinements in HLA typing in the last years have improved outcomes due to better matching (25, 26). To this day, HLA compatibility remains a key variable in AHCT and most centers consider that a related or unrelated HLA identical donor is the best donor. However, recent advances in cell handling and GVHD prophylaxis now enable the use of partially HLA mismatched cord blood and related haploidentical donors, with results that are comparable to those obtained with HLA matched donors (27, 28). In both cases, the risk of GVHD (especially chronic GVHD) is surprising low. Although the reasons for this are incompletely understood, several factors, such as the intensity of the immunosuppression in haplo-identical AHCT, or the intrinsic features of the graft in terms of cell composition and functionality in cord blood transplants, may contribute to this observation (29, 30). Moreover, in certain circumstances, the risk of relapse appears to be lower following these mismatched transplants, arguing in favor of enhanced GVT in these settings (31-33). Based on the presumption that anti-HLA T-cell reactivity is an effective antineoplastic mechanism, the infusion of intentionally mismatched peripheral blood mononuclear cells following chemotherapy is being investigated as a form of immunological consolidation after chemotherapy (34). Such "microtransplantations" resulted in improved leukemia outcomes relative to the usually reported survival and leukemia-free survival rates, despite the absence of prolonged and significant engraftment (35, 36). These results need nonetheless to be confirmed and the underlying mechanisms better defined. Several questions remain about the relative contribution of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ HLA-specific T cells and other cell types, such as natural killer (NK) cells in the recognition of HLA-mismatched cellular targets



[reviewed in Paul and Lal (37)]. The infusion of HLA mismatched NK cells has led to promising clinical results, confirming a direct anti-neoplastic effect (38, 39). Hence, the respective impacts of T-cell and NK-cell reactivity in HLA mismatched transplants and other cell therapy approaches are still unknown but may account for the effects on GVT and GVHD observed in haplo-identical and cord blood transplants. To this date, no clinical studies using *ex vivo* expanded anti-HLA reactive T cells have been reported. Although this may be fraught with the risk of inducing severe GVHD, the design of anti-HLA T-cell therapy targeting the class II antigens which have a more restricted tissue expression (with high expression in blood cancer subtypes) may be considered (40, 41).

In the context of HLA-matched AHCT, alloreactive donor T cells (CD4⁺ and CD8⁺) recognize MHC-bound polymorphic peptides derived from the host proteome and known as the MiHA. Both MHC class I and class II molecules have been shown to present MiHA (2, 6, 42–47). Most of the molecularly characterized MiHA are encoded by autosomal genes that differ between patient and donor secondary to germline encoded non-synonymous single nucleotide polymorphisms (ns-SNP). However, the true contribution of ns-SNP to MiHA disparities is unknown. Several non-SNP events, such as alternative proteasome degradation, non-presentation of allelic variants, Y-chromosome derived peptides, polymorphic proteins created by frameshift insertions or deletions [reviewed in Griffioen et al. (48)] can also generate MiHA. However, these are more difficult to characterize using currently available methods (45,

49). Recent evidence suggest that the genetic origin of the MiHA presented by MHC class I is not random, with specific exomic regions coding for proteins being overrepresented among the repertoire of MHC-peptides directly assessed by proteomic methods (45, 50). This indicates that relying on ns-SNP detection to predict MiHA's sequences is fraught with limitations as only 0.5% of ns-SNP generate MHC-associated peptides (6, 51). More comprehensive proteogenomic analyses, including the direct identification of MHC-associated peptides by mass spectrometry appears to be required to permit the robust, and high-throughput, identification of candidate MiHA that derive from ns-SNP (6, 51). One shortcoming of current methods to define MHC-associated peptides as candidate antigens, is that our current proteomics and bioinformatics tools are better at identifying MHC class I than class IIassociated peptides (52, 53). In addition to the confirmation of presentation by the MHC, candidate MiHA for immunotherapy should fulfill several other criteria (Figure 2). Perhaps the most important is tissue restriction. In the context of AHCT, the expression of the source protein of a given MiHA should be restricted to the hematopoietic system and the malignant cells. Determining tissue distribution can be achieved through several methods including bioinformatics mining of tissue gene expression atlases to standard biochemical and histological methods (6). Moreover, a practical consideration is that the minor allele frequency (MAF) of a MiHA sequence should be well-balanced in the population to enhance the odds that there will be a mismatch between the donor and recipient. Pre-clinical studies in mice demonstrated the curative potential



(without causing GVHD) of injected T cells primed against a single MiHA (54–56) offering solid proof of principle for the development of MiHA-based immunotherapeutics in humans.

Tumor-Specific Antigens (TSA)

The genetic mutations that characterize the neoplastic process can result in acquired ns-SNP with altered reading frames and the translation of proteins with different amino acid sequences (57). Once degraded and presented by MHC molecules at the cell surface, these altered sequences can be recognized by the host T cells. Since the mutations giving rise to these socalled neoepitopes are present only in cancer cells, the resulting antigens are deemed specific for the tumor. TSA are therefore thought to be most prevalent in highly mutated cancers, such as melanoma and lung cancer. The correlation (albeit very imperfect) between mutation load and responses rates to immune checkpoint (CTLA-4 and PD-1) blockade reinforces the notion that the mutanome is immunologically relevant (6, 58-60). The discovery of TSA has provided new hopes for the field of cancer vaccines with several trials launched in the last decade (61-66). It has also provided a rationale to explain the success of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) infusions in certain cancers (67). The identification of putative patient-specific tumor antigens generated by somatic mutation is unfortunately insufficient as most mutations identified in tumor-expressed genes do not generate neoepitopes capable of stimulating T-cell responses. It has been estimated that only 10% of the non-synonymous mutations in tumor cells can generate mutant peptides with high MHC affinity (68), while only 1% of peptides with

high MHC affinity can be recognized by T cells in patients (69). Moreover, a large fraction of these mutations are not shared between patients and often not by all cells comprised in the tumor or metastases (70, 71). Such heterogeneity forces the development of highly personalized approaches for immunotherapy. Unlike many solid tumors, hematologic cancers usually carry a low mutation burden and consequently, TSA are predicted to be much less frequent in these neoplasms (72). However, specific B-cell receptor sequence in B-cell malignancies (idiotype) offer an opportunity to specifically target mature B-cell cancers (73). Likewise, the presence of well-characterized fusion proteins in leukemia, notably the BCR-ABL fusion in chronic myelogenous leukemia and acute lymphoid leukemia, enabled the demonstration that circulating T cells could recognize neoepitopes created by the fusion (74). The infusion of T cells targeting BCR-ABL fusion epitopes in three acute lymphoid leukemia patients bearing the fusion has been associated with molecular remission and trafficking of the antigen-specific T cells to the bone marrow, hence providing a rationale to pursue the development of TSA-based immunotherapy in blood cancers (75).

It is now increasingly recognized that the acquired genetic variants only represent a fraction of the aberrancies leading to an altered MHC-ligandome on cancer cells. Recent evidence shows that transcription and translation of presumed non-coding genetic regions may significantly alter the immunogenicity of malignant cells. These antigens are different from the wellknown TAA which originate from canonical reading frames that are either overexpressed and/or abnormally expressed in neoplastic cells (see below). Therefore, a subclassification for TSA has recently been proposed; mutated TSA (mTSA) and aberrantly expressed TSA (aeTSA) (76). The mTSA derive from mutated DNA sequences in canonical genes that can be either exonic or non-exonic (77, 78) and the aeTSA arise from aberrant and cancer-specific expression of unmutated non-canonical transcripts that are not expressed in normal tissues, including thymic medullary cells (mTECs), which has crucial importance for central tolerance. The aeTSA combine the immunological characteristics of MiHA and mTSA, despite being non-polymorphic and shared between individuals and cancer cells like TAA (76, 79). Importantly, aeTSA that derive from unmutated non-exonic sequences (introns, intergenic regions, etc.) may be very abundant, as revealed by proteogenomic methods in human acute lymphoblastic leukemias and lung cancer samples (76, 80).

Tumor-Associated Antigens (TAA)

Neoplastic cells can overexpress, or aberrantly express, unmutated proteins that are recognized by the immune system (46, 81-83). At present, several TAA have been identified across many cancer types. They are categorized traditionally into four groups: antigens encoded by cancer-gonads genes, embryonic/differentiation genes, overexpressed antigens, and viral antigens. The inclusion of viral antigens as TAA is problematic for several reasons, the most important being that virus-derived antigens are non-self and do not contribute to central tolerance in the thymus like the other TAA. Virus-specific T cells have high functional avidity and have repeatedly been shown to be highly effective for the treatment of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-associated lymphoma, particularly in the posttransplant setting (84). Despite issues related to central tolerance, TAA can elicit T-cell responses and TAA-specific T cells can be found at high frequency in the circulating T-cell repertoire of normal individuals (79, 85). Several immunotherapies have been devised to target TAA derived from proteins, such as WT1, NY-ESO-1, PRAME, Proteinase 3, MAGE-A3 in blood cancers and despite inherent limitations, TAA have practical advantages for the design of immunotherapies. The most evident being that being non-polymorphic, they are applicable to a large number of patients and can be prepared using standardized reagents.

MiHA, TSA, TAA, Which Targets to Choose for Blood Cancer Immunotherapy?

The ideal antigenic targets should be highly cancer-specific, be universally applicable to all patients and cancer types and enable treatment without the requirement for AHCT. This last decade has seen the rise of anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-modified T cells which fulfill some of these characteristics (86). Despite excellent clinical results in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) and myeloma, current CAR-based approaches are limited to a subset of B-cell antigens [CD19, CD22 (87), B-cell maturation antigen—BCMA (88)]. This is partly because the on-target/off-tumor reactivity leading to normal B-cell depletion is easy to palliate with exogenous gammaglobulins. Targeting other cells, notably those of the myeloid lineage with CAR therapy may prove to be more difficult as the most promising antigens are also expressed by normal progenitor cells. Finally, toxicities related to this therapy are substantial (89). In fact, the cytokine release syndrome (CRS) and neurological toxicities that follow CAR T-cell infusions require careful patient follow up. The CRS involves fever, hypotension and hypoxia that can rapidly degenerate into organ dysfunction if not treated with anti-cytokine therapy. Likewise, seemingly mild cognitive deficits can rapidly degenerate into encephalopathy and seizure if left untreated. Hence, it is likely that pursuing MHC-associated antigens originating from genetic variations, or variations in the expression of unmutated genetic sequences will offer the promise of immunotherapy for the effective and safe treatment of the full spectrum of blood cancers.

Because they are encoded by germline polymorphisms instead of somatic mutations, MiHA possess features that make them attractive for immunotherapy (6). In contrast to TSA, suitable MiHA are more likely to be expressed by all neoplastic cells and applicable to a large number of patients (71, 90, 91). However, this limitation may not be as important if TSA are derived from shared driver mutations or fusion proteins. For both MiHA and TSA, the use of high avidity T-cell repertoires remains a most appealing element. However, devising and implementing immunotherapies targeting shared epitopes is more convenient. This is a major aspect driving TAA-specific strategies. Lastly, aeTSA may be shared by many tumors, while being non-polymorphic and not inducing central immune tolerance. These characteristics would make aeTSA ideal targets, but much more work is needed in order to evaluate the therapeutic potential of these antigens in humans. The next section will review current and future T-cell therapy strategies (both autologous, and donorderived in the context of AHCT) directed against these various antigen types.

T-CELL IMMUNOTHERAPY STRATEGIES

The development of methods to identify and characterize MHCassociated antigens resulting from genetic variants is motivated by a strong impetus to design T-cell therapies to treat neoplastic diseases. These T-cell therapies may be used alone or in combination with other approaches, such as vaccination and immune checkpoint blockade but this review focuses on the current status of T-cell therapies aimed at MHC-associated peptides to treat hematological cancers.

T-cell therapies can be antigen agnostic (administered without precise knowledge of the antigens targeted), such as in unmanipulated donor lymphocyte infusions (DLI) and TIL infusion, or targeted to known antigens. The administration of antigen-specific T cells requires prior *ex vivo* manipulations for enrichment and/or expansion of T cells bearing native TCR specific to the targeted antigens. Alternatively, genetic engineering can enable the production of large numbers of TCR transgenic T cells directed against a given antigen.

Antigen Agnostic Approaches

The use of DLI has been one of the most conclusive proof of the GVT effect in AHCT (i.e., objective responses following

the infusion of donor cells without other treatment). However, the efficacy of donor T cells, collected after AHCT and infused in graded doses, has yielded variable results and has a risk of triggering GVHD in 60-70% of patients (92). There is substantial variability in the response rates to DLI based on the underlying disease [from close to 100% in chronic phase chronic myelogenous leukemia to 15-40% in acute leukemia (93)], the disease burden, the timing of administration (preemptive vs. advanced disease) and the use of concomitant treatments. Most of the experience in DLI was gained in HLAmatched transplant settings, where MiHA mismatches are the drivers of the alloresponses. With no prior knowledge of the number of antigen mismatches, the tissues in which these MiHA source proteins are expressed and the number of MiHA-specific T cells present in the DLI, this form of immunotherapy does not fully harness the potential of MiHA based immunotherapy in AHCT patients. However, it has the advantage of requiring minimal manipulation and thus be rapidly accessible to a large number of AHCT patients. Other antigen agnostic Tcell therapies have been explored as treatment for solid tumors and blood cancers. An interesting approach is to attempt to exploit T cells harvested from the disease site and reinfuse them after ex vivo expansion. TIL therapy was pioneered in solid tumors, in melanoma particularly, where it has yielded high response rates and durable complete remissions (94). This approach is based on the assumption that T-cell populations contained in tumor beds may comprise a high frequency of tumor-reactive cells (95). This principle may also apply for several hematological malignancies. The bone marrow is a natural reservoir of antigen-experienced memory T cells and the site of disease of many blood cancers (96). As such, it may contain a large repertoire of T cells capable of recognizing the malignant hematopoietic cells. Moreover, a practical advantage is that the bone marrow is easily accessible for collection of T cells that can later be expanded ex vivo. Expanded autologous "MIL" (marrow infiltrating lymphocytes) from multiple myeloma patients using anti-CD3/CD28 stimulation and IL-2 revealed that the bone marrow contained a high number of myeloma reactive T cells (relative to blood derived T cells from the same patients) capable of targeting both mature and precursor myeloma cells *in vitro* (97). A clinical trial performed in 25 patients confirmed the feasibility of performing "MIL" therapy following autologous stem cell transplant in myeloma patients. The absence of a control group precludes a rigorous assessment of disease response against the standard treatment of this disease, but the authors were able to correlate the presence of anti-myeloma activity in the expanded MILs product, as well as the persistence of anti-myeloma reactivity 1 year after infusion, with favorable outcome (98).

The transfer of a large T-cell repertoire has advantages, such as broad applicability as well as the likelihood of targeting several antigens at the same time. However, antigen agnostic methods can miss the relevant targets by expanding/transferring T cells that are not specific for cancer associated/specific antigens (99). In the setting of AHCT and DLI, this can also lead to toxicity in the form of GVHD. The molecular characterization of MiHA, viral antigens, TAA and TSA now permits the development of more precise and possibly more potent T-cell therapies. This, coupled with more widely accessible T-cell manufacturing methods, allows for the use of manipulated T cells targeting MHC-associated targets in blood cancers.

MHC-Associated Antigen-Specific Approaches in T-Cell Therapy

The current experience using T-cell therapies against MiHA, viral antigens, TSA and TAA demonstrates the possibility to expand antigen-reactive T cells in high numbers to treat patients. However, T-cell manufacturing continues to be challenging and the optimal approach to integrate these therapies in the patients' treatment trajectory remains to be determined. This section reviews the current approaches aiming to treat hematological malignancies through the specific targeting of MHC-associated antigens. A summary of the molecularly defined HLA-associated antigens that have been targeted in adoptive T-cell immunotherapy clinical studies is included in **Table 1** (75, 100–107).

MiHA

As described above, the MiHA have several conceptual advantages for immunotherapy. Vaccination against MiHA

arget antigen	Unique or multiple antigen(s)	Antigen type	Natural vs. transgenic TCR	Cancer type	HLA restriction	References
IA-1	Unique antigen	MiHA	Natural	AML, CML, ALL	A0201	(100)
2RX7 ₂₆₅₋₂₇₃	Unique antigen	MiHA	Natural	ALL	A2902	(101)
)PH1 ₃₃₄₋₃₄₃	Unique antigen	MiHA	Natural	MDS	B5701	(101)
DX37	Unique antigen	MiHA	Natural	ALL	B2705	(101)
CR-ABL fusion	Antigen library	TSA	Natural	ALL	ND	(75)
/T-1 ₁₂₆₋₁₃₄	Unique antigen	TAA	Natural/Transgenic	AML, ALL, MDS	A0201	(102, 103)
/T-1 ₂₃₅₋₂₄₃	Unique antigen	TAA	Transgenic	AML, MDS	A2402	(104)
IAGE-A3	Unique antigen	TAA	Transgenic	MM	A01	(105)
Y-ESO-1/LAGE-1	Unique antigen	TAA	Transgenic	MM	A0201	(106)
MP1, LMP2	Antigen library	Viral Ag	Natural	Lymphoma	ND	(107)

ALL, Acute lymphoblastic leukemia; AML, Acute myeloid leukemia; CML, Chronic myelogenous leukemia; MDS, myelodysplastic syndrome; MM, Multiple myeloma. ND, not defined.

in the context of post-AHCT DLI has been reported to induce detectable MiHA-specific responses in myeloma patients. Although clinical responses were modest (transient regression or stable disease), the vaccination protocol was well-tolerated (108, 109). An alternative approach could be to vaccinate the donors prior to graft collection in order to generate a robust anti-MiHA memory T-cell repertoire in these healthy individuals, as previously done in animal models (55, 110). Unfortunately, this is difficult to envisage for several reasons, including the consequences of allosensitization in donors who may eventually require tissue, cell or organ transplantations themselves.

Cell therapy is the other approach to selectively or preferentially target MiHA. The first trial reporting on a MiHA-specific T-cell therapy strategy used MiHA-specific CD8⁺ clones obtained by co-culturing donor T cells with hostderived lymphoblastoid cells (EBV-transformed B-cells) (101). After ruling out reactivity to EBV antigens and host fibroblasts (surrogate for non-hematopoietic tissues), reactive T cells were infused. Thus, although highly specific, this approach did not rely on a priori knowledge of the targeted MiHA and their tissue distribution. The administration of these T-cell clones led to objective responses in 5/7 refractory relapsing leukemia patients post-AHCT. These responses were short-lived, with evidence of gradual decrease in antigen expression at disease recurrence in at least one patient, hinting at a plausible immune escape mechanism. A surprising complication was the occurrence of pulmonary toxicity, which is not seen following regular DLI. Although, the MiHA source protein could be detected in the lung tissue in one case, the patients had also received a conditioning regimen and post-infusion IL-2, which can be associated with pulmonary complications (111). Nonetheless, these findings are an additional argument to select MiHA with restricted expression to the hematopoietic system. Another trial used donor-derived T-cell lines stimulated ex vivo with dendritic cells loaded with the blood lineage and HLA-A0201 restricted MiHA HA-1 (100). Following up to 5 rounds of weekly stimulation with antigen loaded dendritic cells in the presence of IL-2, donor derived T-cell lines containing from 11 to 243×10^{6} HA-1 specific CD8⁺ T cells were infused to 3 relapsing patients post-AHCT. Although clearly demonstrating the feasibility of the approach and its innocuity (no notable GVHD), the procedure was not associated with clinical responses.

In both cases, the advanced disease status of the patients and the prolonged period of T cells in culture can be suspected as limiting factors. It was shown that repeated stimulation with antigen-loaded dendritic cells has a detrimental effect, especially for the targeted MiHA-specific T cells relative to the other T cells present in the culture (112). Upon repeated antigen exposure, the MiHA-specific T cells acquired the expression of PD-1 as well as the terminal differentiation marker KLRG-1, which correlated with their relative failure to expand relative to other T cells in the culture. Other research published in the last decade similarly demonstrated that the acquisition of terminal effector T-cell differentiation and exhaustion features *ex vivo*, compromises the further expansion and persistence of the T cells after adoptive transfer. Less-differentiated T cells bearing early memory T-cell features (central memory—Tcm, or stem cell memory—Tscm) have been shown to be superior compared to more differentiated T cells in several animal and human pre-clinical models (113–115). It was also shown in humans that exposure to T-cell memory differentiating factors early in the culture can program long term persistence *in vivo* despite the expression of effector or effector memory T-cell differentiation markers at the end of the culture (102). The issue of T-cell differentiation is relevant to the whole field of T-cell immunotherapy and the quest for culture conditions that will preserve or promote early memory expression is an active area of research. Candidate pathways and molecules shown to influence memory differentiation include cytokines [IL-21 (102, 116), TGF- β (117)] and metabolic/developmental pathways [AKT (118), WNT (119)].

Gene engineering is a way to avoid the drawbacks of using elaborate and long cultures to expand antigen-specific T cells. The transfer of a transgenic TCR in T cells can be achieved using brief manufacturing protocols that maintain early T-cell memory differentiation and that generate a high number of T cells with the desired antigenic specificity. The efficacy and safety of T cells expressing a transgenic HA-1 specific TCR has been established in vitro (120). In this study, an elaborate transgene was used for optimal reactivity and safety. The transgene comprised four elements: a TCR specific to HA-1, a CD8 co-receptor to promote the function of the MHC class I restricted TCR in CD4⁺ T cells, an inducible caspase 9 safety switch for rapid induction of apoptosis in case of toxicity and a CD34⁻CD20 tag to facilitate the selection of the cells and to track the cells once transferred (121). This design enabled the expression of the TCR in both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells which may contribute to CD4⁺ T-cell help after transfer. The cells were responsive against different types of primary leukemia cells and cell lines, supporting the further evaluation of HA-1 specific transgenic T cells in clinical trials (NCT03326921). Although the TCR transgenic approach can solve the conundrum of late T-cell differentiation arising in the context of antigen-driven T-cell expansion, it has its own limitations. The production of clinical grade gene therapy vectors is costly and current reports investigating transgenic TCR therapy target only one antigen at a time. TCR transgenic therapies are also limited by the possible mispairing of alpha and beta chain with the endogenous TCR potentially giving rise to unwanted reactivity and toxic allo- or autoimmunity (122, 123). This can be mitigated by the use of murine constant domains, the addition of cysteine residues for preferential pairing of the transgenic chains, α/β chain domain-swapping or the knockdown/out of the endogenous TCR (124-127). However, there is an argument to be made that keeping the endogenous TCR could be beneficial. Chapuis et al. transduced a robust memory EBV-specific T-cell repertoire (which will not cause GVHD) with a TAA-specific TCR transgene in order to leverage the properties of these long term persisting memory cells and use viral reactivations as an adjuvant (103).

Given the possibility for immune escape variants selection following single antigen targeting, the future of MiHAbased therapy may involve multivalent T-cell products (NCT03091933). This emphasizes the importance of discovering and characterizing a large number of MiHA derived from proteins expressed in the hematopoietic system, as well as MiHA presented by enough HLA alleles to treat most, if not all, AHCT patients.

TSA

The development of T-cell therapies, or vaccines, against TSA or so-called neoantigens is complicated. Identification and validation of neoantigens is time-consuming as well as expensive. The process of preparing vaccines from tissue samples usually takes several months (62, 63). Finally, the development of TSA-specific T-cell immunotherapy may seem unthinkable given the added complexity of T-cell manufacturing. This being said, several approaches can be taken to leverage TSA identification/prediction and design T-cell immunotherapy. Candidate TSA predicted from mutation analysis have been identified using in vitro antigen expression system and coculture with responder autologous TIL (128). Selection and enrichment of these T-cell populations followed by re-expansion represent an attractive strategy to enhance TIL-based, TSAspecific targeting. Interestingly, circulating T cells recognizing neoantigens detected in cancer patients can be found in the peripheral blood of healthy donors (129). In some cases, the cancer naïve repertoire comprises TSA-specific T cells that are not found in the patient TIL which may indicate the loss of certain T-cell clones in cancer patients. Of particular relevance to the development of T-cell therapies, certain mutations within oncogenes occur at the same genetic location, leading to "public" (or shared) T-cell epitopes (130). An example is the G12D KRAS gene mutation in digestive cancers, leading to a mutant peptide presented by HLA-C0802 (131). Such "hot-spot" mutations also exist in blood cancers. A recently published study showed that a frequent nucleophosmin 1 mutation in acute myeloid leukemia resulted in the presentation of a neoepitope by HLA-A0201 (132). Finally, given their "public" nature and restricted expression by cancer cells, the aeTSA may represent excellent targets to investigate for the development of T-cell based immunotherapies of hematological malignancies. However, no human studies have been performed to date with aeTSA.

TAA and Viral Antigens

Adoptive T-cell immunotherapy against viral reactivations occurring after AHCT is highly effective, with response rates globally above 70% in otherwise refractory patients (133, 134). In the case of EBV, which is associated with the development of post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD), as well as several lymphoma subtypes outside the context of transplantation, adoptive immunotherapy has a remarkable track record of safety and efficacy (135). Arguably, the prevention or treatment of EBV-associated PTLD after AHCT occurs in the best conditions for T-cell adoptive immunotherapy. The target antigens are foreign, the T cells are expanded (or selected) using multiple antigens from memory T-cell repertoires circulating in immunocompetent healthy donors, who are the original AHCT donors or even partially HLA-matched thirdparty donors. The resulting T-cell products are polyclonal, can display reactivity against antigens bound by several HLA alleles, usually contain both EBV reactive CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and, depending on the manufacturing protocol, express early memory T-cell markers. The use of peptide libraries containing multiple epitopes derived from several antigenic EBV proteins (such as LMP2, EBNA1, and BZLF1) allow the generation of multivalent T-cell products (136). Virus-specific Tcell lines are effective after AHCT or even solid organ transplant and can be used as prophylaxis in patients at high risk of PTLD with excellent result and no significant GVHD or organ rejection (137-139). The mobilization of the autologous EBV T-cell repertoire in previously treated lymphopenic lymphoma patients outside the context of transplantation requires more elaborate ex vivo culture protocols, but is nonetheless feasible and well-tolerated (107). Bollard et al. reported on 29 patients with EBV-associated lymphoma who received the T-cell lines as consolidation following the achievement of remission (one relapse after a median follow up of 3.1 years) and 21 patients who had active disease at the time of infusion. Among these, 13 had clinical responses (11 complete responses) with evidence of T-cell reactivity against the targeted EBV antigens (LMP1, LMP2) and TAA, evoking the possibility of epitope spreading.

Expanding on the success of anti-viral therapy, it was shown that T-cell lines can be generated by stimulating with overlapping peptide libraries of multiple TAA (140). These Tcell lines products were reactive to multiple TAA simultaneously, were polyclonal, displayed early memory T-cell markers and could be generated from both healthy donors and lymphoma patients. Trials are currently testing the clinical effects of such multivalent TAA-targeting T-cell lines in several blood cancer types (NCT02203903, NCT02494167, NCT02475707, NCT02291848, NCT01333046). Because TAA are molecularly defined and non-polymorphic, they are more easily amendable to transgenic TCR therapy. The isolation and cloning of TAA specific TCR restricted by common HLA alleles can yield TCR sequences that can be used in a large population of patients. For the same reasons, TAA have been used in vaccine trials in the setting of various blood cancers including multiple myeloma, lymphoma, and acute myeloid leukemia [reviewed in Avigan and Rosenblatt (141)]. Transgenic TCR therapy against TAA expressed by hematopoietic cancers was also tested in several clinical trials. Transgenic MHC class I restricted TCR against NY-ESO-1/LAGE-1 and MAGE-A3 have been used to treat myeloma patients. In both cases, the TCR were engineered for increased affinity for the MHC-peptide complex as a way to circumvent a limitation of TAA-based immunotherapy as described above. The use of autologous engineered NY-ESO-1 specific T cells administered in the context of autologous transplantation resulted in clinical responses in 16/20 patients (106). The adoptively transferred T cells showed expansion as well as trafficking to the bone marrow, and did not cause significant toxicity. Expectedly, loss of antigen or lack of persistence of the transferred T cells were associated with relapse. In the case of MAGE-A3, enhanced affinity TCR transgenic T cells caused unexpected and rapid cardiotoxicity in the first 2 patients recruited on the trial (105). Cross-reactivity with a peptide derived from the heart muscle protein TITIN was the causative mechanism. These trials showed both the

promise and perils of using affinity enhanced TCR in cancer adoptive immunotherapy. Native and unaltered TAA-specific TCR gene transfer has also been performed. The transcription factor WT1 is overexpressed in several blood cancers and contributes to several known MHC class I associated epitopes. A first trial involving transgenic WT1 specific TCR has been reported in 2017. The study was performed in patients suffering from refractory acute myelogenous leukemia and high risk myelodysplastic syndromes (104). The treatment involved the administration of two T-cell infusions and post-transfer WT1 vaccination. Eight patients were treated in two dose groups. Two objective, but transient, responses were noted and among the five patients who had persisting circulating engineered T cells, four survived more than 12 months. No significant toxicity was observed. More recently, another study was reported using a different transgenic native (but selected for high affinity) TCR against an HLA-A0201 restricted WT1 peptide and transduced in EBV-specific memory T cells (103). The cells were administered to prevent acute myeloid leukemia relapse after AHCT, when the disease burden is low. With a relapse free survival of 100% at a median of 44 months of follow up (compared to 54% in a concurrent control group), an argument can be made about the importance of administering T-cell therapy early in the treatment trajectory of patients.

PERSPECTIVES AND CLINICAL INTEGRATION OF T-CELL THERAPIES

The opportunities for antigen-specific T-cell immunotherapies are rapidly expanding. The MHC-associated antigens arising from genetic variants, both germline and acquired through the neoplastic process, are prime targets for the treatment of hematological cancers. The genuinely personalized approaches required to translate the complexity and multiplicity of MiHA, TSA, and TAA into therapy is certainly a challenge, but also a great promise. The discovery and characterization of an increasing number of antigens will enable the design of multivalent therapies capable to target all blood cancers and limit the emergence of immune escape variants associated with single antigen targeting. However, for such promise to materialize, manufacturing processes for these highly personalized therapies will have to be refined and made cost-effective. Nonetheless, T-cell therapies aimed at MHC-associated peptides have the potential to significantly expand existing paradigms in AHCT, autologous cell transfer and other T-cell therapies, such as CAR T cells. Indeed, the development of peptide-MHC specific antibodies may further increase the relevance of characterizing immunogenic MiHA, TAA or shared TSA for CAR-based immunotherapy (142, 143). Along the same lines, genetic variants may also create non-MHC associated cell surface epitopes targetable through recognition by antibodies. Finally, existing CAR may be transduced and expressed in antigen-specific T cells recognizing viral, TAA, MiHA, or TSA through their natural TCR and thus enable dual targeting of malignant cells. The development of multivalent T-cell products, either

as a combination of T cells specific for a single antigen or T cells with multiple specificities, will be essential to avoid the emergence of immune escape variants following therapy. In addition, approaches aimed at targeting multiple antigens may prove to be synergistic. For example, pre-clinical studies have shown that only a combination of T cells targeting Ychromosome derived MiHA and TAA could lead to tumor regression. A threshold effect may be required to generate enough inflammation to support effective anti-cancer immunity (144, 145). Similarly, this is likely achieved in AHCT settings by Ychromosome antigen-specific T cells given the increased GVT and GVHD effects noted after female into male transplants (146). Another possible benefit of inducing strong immune responses is the development of epitope spreading as evoked by the appearance of detectable anti-TAA responses following microtransplantation, AHCT or anti-viral T-cell therapy (147, 148). Along the same lines, the combination of T-cell therapy with other immunotherapeutic interventions is also likely to unveil important synergies. To this end, the administration of vaccines to consolidate the response after adoptive transfer, or immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy following adoptive T-cell infusion, are actively investigated.

The timing of administration of T-cell therapies will need to be better studied (**Figure 3**). Cell therapies remain largely offered to refractory patients. However, the promising results following prophylactic DLI (149, 150), anti-viral Tcell lines (137) and more recently transgenic TCR therapy (103), suggest that T-cell therapies should not be confined to the treatment of relapsing patients. In fact, these treatments are probably more potent in the context of low burden disease. The reassuring safety profile of several of the approaches targeting MHC-associated peptides should facilitate the introduction of T-cell therapies earlier on during the patient's course.



FIGURE 3 | Clinical integration of T-cell therapies targeting MHC-associated antigens. Representation of T-cell therapy timing relative to disease history. While early treatment or treatment following a reduction in disease burden may be associated with prolonged remission (dotted red lines), late-stage blood cancers treatment with MHC-associated antigen-specific T cells may only delay disease progression.

Several scientific and methodological issues remain to be addressed to improve T-cell therapies directed against MHCassociated peptides or the MHC molecule itself. A significant contributor to the response against genetic variants is $CD4^+$ T-cell mediated, but most identified MiHA, TAA and TSA are MHC class I associated peptides (151). Although challenging, the identification of MHC class II restricted responses will likely be essential to optimize T-cell therapies. This should be a major area of research in the upcoming years.

The downregulation or loss of MHC expression, the genetic loss or silencing of antigen source protein are well-known immune escape mechanisms in cancer. This can be fairly extensive as described in haplo-identical transplants, where the loss of the entire mismatched haplotype can be observed (152). Elaborate strategies targeting MHC-associated peptides presented by different alleles and belonging to different haplotypes may be necessary to harness the therapeutic potential of T-cell immunotherapy against genetic variants translated into MHC-associated peptides. Moreover, an attractive combination approach is to maximize antigen presentation though epigenetic modulation. Demethylating agents, histone deacetylase inhibitors and methyltransferase inhibitors are established or investigational drugs for the treatment of blood cancers. It is increasingly recognized that these also promote gene expression that increases the immunogenicity of malignant cells and also affect immune cell physiology [reviewed in Lindblad et al. (153)]. These effects have been reported to occur through multiple mechanisms like cytokine expression, as well as upregulation of the MHC and associated antigens (154, 155). This last aspect is particularly intriguing as both TAA and cryptic aeTSA antigens have been shown to be promoted by epigenetic modulation (156-159). Notably, extra-exomic endogenous retroviral elements which are attractive as a source of specific and robust cancer antigens can be expressed through

REFERENCES

- Dickinson AM, Norden J, Li S, Hromadnikova I, Schmid C, Schmetzer H, et al. Graft-versus-leukemia effect following hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for leukemia. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:496. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00496
- 2. Bleakley M, Riddell SR. Molecules and mechanisms of the graft-versusleukaemia effect. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2004) 4:371–80. doi: 10.1038/nrc1365
- Falkenburg JHF, Warren EH. Graft versus leukemia reactivity after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. (2011) 17:S33–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2010.11.009
- 4. Ferrara JLM, Levine JE, Reddy P, Holler E. Graft-versus-host disease. *Lancet*. (2009) 373:1550–61. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60237-3
- 5. Vigneron N. Human tumor antigens and cancer immunotherapy. *Biomed Res Int.* (2015) 2015:948501. doi: 10.1155/2015/948501
- Granados DP, Rodenbrock A, Laverdure JP, Cote C, Caron-Lizotte O, Carli C, et al. Proteogenomic-based discovery of minor histocompatibility antigens with suitable features for immunotherapy of hematologic cancers. *Leukemia*. (2016) 30:1344–54. doi: 10.1038/leu.2 016.22
- Reddy P, Maeda Y, Liu C, Krijanovski OI, Korngold R, Ferrara JL. A crucial role for antigen-presenting cells and alloantigen expression in graft-versus-leukemia responses. *Nat Med.* (2005) 11:1244–9. doi: 10.1038/ nm1309

modulation of methylation. However, as a note of caution, there is conflicting reports on the outcome of epigenetic modifiers on the physiology of immune cells. Among others, regulatory T cells and the expression of immune checkpoints can be promoted by these agents, perhaps inviting for further combinations with immune modulators.

To conclude, the field is increasingly confronted with multiple antigens and approaches to target them. Careful selection of the best targets will need more research and rational combinations therapies are likely to be required for these antigens to reveal their full potential.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication. Specifically, VJ, CR, and J-SD contributed to the manuscript design. VJ, CR, SD, CC, and J-SD performed the literature search and contributed to the writing of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Fonds de Recherche du Québec–Santé (FRQS)–Oncopole, through a team grant (Équipes multiinstitutionnelles contre le cancer) # ONCO-01. The funder was not involved in the preparation of this manuscript. J-SD and VJ respectively hold FRQS clinician-researcher senior career award and post-doctoral fellowship.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the funder (FRQS-Oncopole) as well as the colleagues at the Hôpital Maisonneuve-Rosemont for stimulating discussions.

- Vincent K, Roy DC, Perreault C. Next-generation leukemia immunotherapy. Blood. (2011) 118:2951–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-04-350868
- Mutis T, Brand R, Gallardo D, van Biezen A, Niederwieser D, Goulmy E. Graft-versus-host driven graft-versus-leukemia effect of minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1 in chronic myeloid leukemia patients. *Leukemia*. (2010) 24:1388. doi: 10.1038/leu.2010.115
- Jenq RR, van den Brink MR. Allogeneic haematopoietic stem cell transplantation: individualized stem cell and immune therapy of cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer.* (2010) 10:213–21. doi: 10.1038/nrc2804
- Warren EH, Zhang XC, Li S, Fan W, Storer BE, Chien JW, et al. Effect of MHC and non-MHC donor/recipient genetic disparity on the outcome of allogeneic HCT. *Blood.* (2012) 120:2796–806. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-04-347286
- Blazar BR, Murphy WJ, Abedi M. Advances in graft-versus-host disease biology and therapy. Nat Rev Immunol. (2012) 12:443–58. doi: 10.1038/nri3212
- Hombrink P, Hadrup SR, Bakker A, Kester MG, Falkenburg JH, von dem Borne PA, et al. High-throughput identification of potential minor histocompatibility antigens by MHC tetramer-based screening: feasibility and limitations. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e22523. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0022523
- Marijt WA, Heemskerk MH, Kloosterboer FM, Goulmy E, Kester MG, van der Hoorn MA, et al. Hematopoiesis-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens HA-1- or HA-2-specific T cells can induce complete remissions

of relapsed leukemia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:2742–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0530192100

- de Rijke B, van Horssen-Zoetbrood A, Beekman JM, Otterud B, Maas F, Woestenenk R, et al. A frameshift polymorphism in P2X5 elicits an allogeneic cytotoxic T lymphocyte response associated with remission of chronic myeloid leukemia. J Clin Invest. (2005) 115:3506–16. doi: 10.1172/JCI24832
- 16. Slager EH, Honders MW, van der Meijden ED, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, Kloosterboer FM, Kester MG, et al. Identification of the angiogenic endothelial-cell growth factor-1/thymidine phosphorylase as a potential target for immunotherapy of cancer. *Blood.* (2006) 107:4954–60. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-09-3883
- van Bergen CAM, Kester MGD, Jedema I, Heemskerk MHM, van Luxemburg-Heijs SAP, Kloosterboer FM, et al. Multiple myeloma-reactive T cells recognize an activation-induced minor histocompatibility antigen encoded by the ATP-dependent interferon-responsive (ADIR) gene. *Blood.* (2007) 109:4089. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-08-043935
- Inglesfield S, Cosway EJ, Jenkinson WE, Anderson G. Rethinking thymic tolerance: lessons from mice. *Trends Immunol.* (2019) 40:279–91. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2019.01.011
- Passos GA, Speck-Hernandez CA, Assis AF, Mendes-da-Cruz DA. Update on aire and thymic negative selection. *Immunology*. (2018) 153:10–20. doi: 10.1111/imm.12831
- Loren AW, Bunin GR, Boudreau C, Champlin RE, Cnaan A, Horowitz MM, et al. Impact of donor and recipient sex and parity on outcomes of HLA-identical sibling allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2006) 12:758–69. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2006.03.015
- Bauer J, Nelde A, Bilich T, Walz JS. Antigen targets for the development of immunotherapies in leukemia. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:1397. doi: 10.3390/ijms20061397
- Marino J, Paster J, Benichou G. Allorecognition by T lymphocytes and allograft rejection. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:582. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00582
- 23. DeWolf S, Sykes M. Alloimmune T cells in transplantation. J Clin Invest. (2017) 127:2473–81. doi: 10.1172/JCI90595
- D'Orsogna LJ, Roelen DL, Doxiadis IIN, Claas FHJ. TCR cross-reactivity and allorecognition: new insights into the immunogenetics of allorecognition. *Immunogenetics*. (2012) 64:77–85. doi: 10.1007/s00251-011-0590-0
- 25. Mayor NP, Hayhurst JD, Turner TR, Szydlo RM, Shaw BE, Bultitude WP, et al. Recipients receiving better HLA-matched hematopoietic cell transplantation grafts, uncovered by a novel HLA typing method, have superior survival: a retrospective study. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2019) 25:443–50. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2018.12.768
- Allen ES, Yang B, Garrett J, Ball ED, Maiers M, Morris GP. Improved accuracy of clinical HLA genotyping by next-generation DNA sequencing affects unrelated donor search results for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Hum Immunol.* (2018) 79:848–54. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2018.10.008
- Barker JN, Kurtzberg J, Ballen K, Boo M, Brunstein C, Cutler C, et al. Optimal practices in unrelated donor cord blood transplantation for hematologic malignancies. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2017) 23:882–96. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2017.03.006
- Fabricius WA, Ramanathan M. Review on haploidentical hematopoietic cell transplantation in patients with hematologic malignancies. *Adv Hematol.* (2016) 2016:5726132. doi: 10.1155/2016/5726132
- Yun DH, Varma A, Hussain JM, Nathan S, Brunstein C. Clinical relevance of immunobiology in umbilical cord blood transplantation. J Clin Med. (2019) 8:E1968. doi: 10.3390/jcm8111968
- Rashidi A, Hamadani M, Zhang M-J, Wang H-L, Abdel-Azim H, Aljurf M, et al. Outcomes of haploidentical vs matched sibling transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia in first complete remission. *Blood Adv.* (2019) 3:1826–36. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019000050
- Milano F, Boelens JJ. Stem cell comparison: what can we learn clinically from unrelated cord blood transplantation as an alternative stem cell source? *Cytotherapy.* (2015) 17:695–701. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2015.03.003
- 32. Verneris MR, Brunstein CG, Barker J, MacMillan ML, DeFor T, McKenna DH, et al. Relapse risk after umbilical cord blood transplantation: enhanced

graft-versus-leukemia effect in recipients of 2 units. *Blood.* (2009) 114:4293– 9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-05-220525

- 33. Ahmed S, Kanakry JA, Ahn KW, Litovich C, Abdel-Azim H, Aljurf M, et al. Lower Graft-versus-host disease and relapse risk in post-transplant cyclophosphamide-based haploidentical versus matched sibling donor reduced-intensity conditioning transplant for hodgkin lymphoma. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2019) 25:1859–68. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2019.05.025
- 34. Krakow EF, Bergeron J, Lachance S, Roy D-C, Delisle J-S. Harnessing the power of alloreactivity without triggering graft-versus-host disease: how non-engrafting alloreactive cellular therapy might change the landscape of acute myeloid leukemia treatment. *Blood Rev.* (2014) 28:249–61. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2014.08.002
- Guo M, Chao NJ, Li J-Y, Rizzieri DA, Sun Q-Y, Mohrbacher A, et al. HLA-mismatched microtransplant in older patients newly diagnosed with acute myeloid leukemia: results from the Microtransplantation Interest Group. *JAMA Oncol.* (2018) 4:54–62. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.201 7.2656
- Guo M, Hu K-X, Yu C-L, Sun Q-Y, Qiao J-H, Wang D-H, et al. Infusion of HLA-mismatched peripheral blood stem cells improves the outcome of chemotherapy for acute myeloid leukemia in elderly patients. *Blood.* (2011) 117:936–41. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-06-288506
- Paul S, Lal G. The molecular mechanism of natural killer cells function and its importance in cancer immunotherapy. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1124. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01124
- Fehniger TA, Miller JS, Stuart RK, Cooley S, Salhotra A, Curtsinger J, et al. A phase 1 trial of CNDO-109-activated natural killer cells in patients with high-risk acute myeloid leukemia. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. (2018) 24:1581–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2018.03.019
- Bachanova V, Sarhan D, DeFor TE, Cooley S, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, Blazar BR, et al. Haploidentical natural killer cells induce remissions in non-Hodgkin lymphoma patients with low levels of immunesuppressor cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2018) 67:483–94. doi: 10.1007/s00262-017-2100-1
- Lamers CHJ, Wijers R, van Bergen CAM, Somers JAE, Braakman E, Gratama JW, et al. CD4⁺ T-cell alloreactivity toward mismatched HLA class II alleles early after double umbilical cord blood transplantation. *Blood.* (2016) 128:2165–74. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-06-7 18619
- 41. Stevanović S, Nijmeijer BA, van Schie MLJ, Salvatori DCF, Maas S, Griffioen M, et al. Donor T cells administered over HLA class II barriers mediate antitumor immunity without broad off-target toxicity in a NOD/scid mouse model of acute leukemia. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2013) 19:867–75. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2013.03.003
- Roopenian D, Choi EY, Brown A. The immunogenomics of minor histocompatibility antigens. *Immunol Rev.* (2002) 190:86–94. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-065X.2002.19007.x
- Mullally A, Ritz J. Beyond HLA: the significance of genomic variation for allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Blood.* (2007) 109:1355. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-06-030858
- Granados DP, Laumont CM, Thibault P, Perreault C. The nature of self for T cells-a systems-level perspective. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2015) 34:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2014.10.012
- Roy DC, Perreault C. Major vs minor histocompatibility antigens. Blood. (2017) 129:664–6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-12-754515
- 46. Zilberberg J, Feinman R, Korngold R. Strategies for the identification of T cell-recognized tumor antigens in hematological malignancies for improved graft-versus-tumor responses after allogeneic blood and marrow transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2015) 21:1000–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2014.11.001
- Sherwood RA, Brent L, Rayfield LS. Presentation of alloantigens by host cells. Eur J Immunol. (1986) 16:569–74. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830160519
- Griffioen M, van Bergen CAM, Falkenburg JHF. Autosomal minor histocompatibility antigens: how genetic variants create diversity in immune targets. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:100. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00100
- McCarroll SA, Bradner JE, Turpeinen H, Volin L, Martin PJ, Chilewski SD, et al. Donor-recipient mismatch for common gene deletion

polymorphisms in graft-versus-host disease. Nat Genet. (2009) 41:1341-4. doi: 10.1038/ng.490

- Pearson H, Daouda T, Granados DP, Durette C, Bonneil E, Courcelles M, et al. MHC class I-associated peptides derive from selective regions of the human genome. J Clin Invest. (2016) 126:4690–701. doi: 10.1172/JCI88590
- Granados DP, Sriranganadane D, Daouda T, Zieger A, Laumont CM, Caron-Lizotte O, et al. Impact of genomic polymorphisms on the repertoire of human MHC class I-associated peptides. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:3600. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4600
- Abelin JG, Keskin DB, Sarkizova S, Hartigan CR, Zhang W, Sidney J, et al. Mass spectrometry profiling of HLA-associated peptidomes in mono-allelic cells enables more accurate epitope prediction. *Immunity*. (2017) 46:315–26. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.02.007
- Gfeller D, Bassani-Sternberg M. Predicting antigen presentation-what could we learn from a million peptides? *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1716. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01716
- Fontaine P, Roy-Proulx G, Knafo L, Baron C, Roy DC, Perreault C. Adoptive transfer of minor histocompatibility antigen-specific T lymphocytes eradicates leukemia cells without causing graft-versus-host disease. *Nat Med.* (2001) 7:789–94. doi: 10.1038/89907
- Meunier M-C, Delisle J-S, Bergeron J, Rineau V, Baron C, Perreault C. T cells targeted against a single minor histocompatibility antigen can cure solid tumors. *Nat Med.* (2005) 11:1222–9. doi: 10.1038/nm1311
- Li N, Matte-Martone C, Zheng H, Cui W, Venkatesan S, Tan HS, et al. Memory T cells from minor histocompatibility antigen–vaccinated and virus-immune donors improve GVL and immune reconstitution. *Blood.* (2011) 118:5965. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-07-367011
- Srivastava PK. Neoepitopes of cancers: looking back, looking ahead. Cancer Immunol Res. (2015) 3:969–77. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0134
- Sharma P, Allison JP. The future of immune checkpoint therapy. Science. (2015) 348:56. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa8172
- Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, et al. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. (2014) 371:2189–99. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa14 06498
- Hellmann MD, Ciuleanu T-E, Pluzanski A, Lee JS, Otterson GA, Audigier-Valette C, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in lung cancer with a high tumor mutational burden. N Engl J Med. (2018) 378:2093–104. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1801946
- Carreno BM, Magrini V, Becker-Hapak M, Kaabinejadian S, Hundal J, Petti AA, et al. Cancer immunotherapy. A dendritic cell vaccine increases the breadth and diversity of melanoma neoantigen-specific T cells. *Science*. (2015) 348:803–8. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa3828
- Ott PA, Hu Z, Keskin DB, Shukla SA, Sun J, Bozym DJ, et al. An immunogenic personal neoantigen vaccine for patients with melanoma. *Nature*. (2017) 547:217–21. doi: 10.1038/nature22991
- Sahin U, Derhovanessian E, Miller M, Kloke BP, Simon P, Lower M, et al. Personalized RNA mutanome vaccines mobilize poly-specific therapeutic immunity against cancer. *Nature*. (2017) 547:222–6. doi: 10.1038/nature23003
- 64. Keskin DB, Anandappa AJ, Sun J, Tirosh I, Mathewson ND, Li S, et al. Neoantigen vaccine generates intratumoral T cell responses in phase Ib glioblastoma trial. *Nature*. (2019) 565:234–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0792-9
- Hilf N, Kuttruff-Coqui S, Frenzel K, Bukur V, Stevanovic S, Gouttefangeas C, et al. Actively personalized vaccination trial for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *Nature*. (2019) 565:240–5. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0810-y
- Matsushita H, Vesely MD, Koboldt DC, Rickert CG, Uppaluri R, Magrini VJ, et al. Cancer exome analysis reveals a T-cell-dependent mechanism of cancer immunoediting. *Nature*. (2012) 482:400–4. doi: 10.1038/nature 10755
- 67. Lu Y-C, Yao X, Crystal JS, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Gross C, et al. Efficient identification of mutated cancer antigens recognized by T cells associated with durable tumor regressions. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:3401–10. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0433
- Chen DS, Mellman I. Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point. *Nature*. (2017) 541:321. doi: 10.1038/nature21349

- Kristensen VN. The antigenicity of the tumor cell—context matters. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:491–3. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcibr1613793
- Durgeau A, Virk Y, Corgnac S, Mami-Chouaib F. Recent advances in targeting CD8 T-cell immunity for more effective cancer immunotherapy. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:14. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00014
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science. (2015) 348:69–74. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa4971
- Galanina N, Bejar R, Choi M, Goodman A, Wieduwilt M, Mulroney C, et al. Comprehensive genomic profiling reveals diverse but actionable molecular portfolios across hematologic malignancies: implications for next generation clinical trials. *Cancers (Basel).* (2018) 11:11. doi: 10.3390/cancers110 10011
- Jacobsen J, Haabeth O-AW, Tveita AA, Schjetne KW, Munthe LA, Bogen B. Naive idiotope-specific B and T cells collaborate efficiently in the absence of dendritic cells. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:4174. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302359
- 74. Rezvani K, Grube M, Brenchley JM, Sconocchia G, Fujiwara H, Price DA, et al. Functional leukemia-associated antigen-specific memory CD8⁺ T cells exist in healthy individuals and in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia before and after stem cell transplantation. *Blood.* (2003) 102:2892–900. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-01-0150
- Comoli P, Basso S, Riva G, Barozzi P, Guido I, Gurrado A, et al. BCR-ABL-specific T-cell therapy in Ph⁺ ALL patients on tyrosinekinase inhibitors. *Blood.* (2017) 129:582–6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-07-7 31091
- Laumont CM, Vincent K, Hesnard L, Audemard É, Bonneil É, Laverdure J-P, et al. Noncoding regions are the main source of targetable tumor-specific antigens. *Sci Transl Med.* (2018) 10:eaau5516. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aau5516
- 77. Guilloux Y, Lucas S, Brichard VG, Van Pel A, Viret C, De Plaen E, et al. A peptide recognized by human cytolytic T lymphocytes on HLA-A2 melanomas is encoded by an intron sequence of the N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase V gene. J Exp Med. (1996) 183:1173. doi: 10.1084/jem.183.3.1173
- Khurana E, Fu Y, Chakravarty D, Demichelis F, Rubin MA, Gerstein M. Role of non-coding sequence variants in cancer. *Nat Rev Genet.* (2016) 17:93. doi: 10.1038/nrg.2015.17
- 79. Schuster H, Peper JK, Bosmuller HC, Rohle K, Backert L, Bilich T, et al. The immunopeptidomic landscape of ovarian carcinomas. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:E9942–51. doi: 10.1073/pnas.17076 58114
- Ehx G, Perreault C. Discovery and characterization of actionable tumor antigens. *Genome Med.* (2019) 11:29. doi: 10.1186/s13073-019-0642-x
- Spaapen R, Mutis T. Targeting haematopoietic-specific minor histocompatibility antigens to distinguish graft-versus-tumour effects from graft-versus-host disease. *Best Pract Res Clin Haematol.* (2008) 21:543–57. doi: 10.1016/j.beha.2008.06.001
- Parmiani G, De Filippo A, Novellino L, Castelli C. Unique human tumor antigens: immunobiology and use in clinical trials. J Immunol. (2007) 178:1975. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.4.1975
- Kessler JH, Melief CJM. Identification of T-cell epitopes for cancer immunotherapy. *Leukemia*. (2007) 21:1859–74. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2404787
- Toner K, Bollard CM, Dave H. T-cell therapies for T-cell lymphoma. Cytotherapy. (2019) 21:935–42. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2019.04.058
- Pittet MJ, Valmori D, Dunbar PR, Speiser DE, Liénard D, Lejeune F, et al. High frequencies of naive Melan-A/MART-1-specific CD8(+) T cells in a large proportion of human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen (HLA)-A2 individuals. J Exp Med. (1999) 190:705–15. doi: 10.1084/jem.19 0.5.705
- Jacoby E, Shahani SA, Shah NN. Updates on CAR T-cell therapy in B-cell malignancies. *Immunol Rev.* (2019) 290:39–59. doi: 10.1111/imr. 12774
- Fry TJ, Shah NN, Orentas RJ, Stetler-Stevenson M, Yuan CM, Ramakrishna S, et al. CD22-targeted CAR T cells induce remission in B-ALL that is naive or resistant to CD19-targeted CAR immunotherapy. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:20–8. doi: 10.1038/nm.4441
- Brudno JN, Maric I, Hartman SD, Rose JJ, Wang M, Lam N, et al. T cells genetically modified to express an anti-B-cell maturation antigen chimeric

antigen receptor cause remissions of poor-prognosis relapsed multiple myeloma. J Clin Oncol. (2018) 36:2267-80. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.77.8084

- Cummins KD, Gill S. Will CAR T cell therapy have a role in AML? Promises and pitfalls. Semin Hematol. (2019) 56:155–63. doi: 10.1053/j.seminhematol.2018.08.008
- Yadav M, Jhunjhunwala S, Phung QT, Lupardus P, Tanguay J, Bumbaca S, et al. Predicting immunogenic tumour mutations by combining mass spectrometry and exome sequencing. *Nature*. (2014) 515:572–6. doi: 10.1038/nature14001
- 91. Spierings E, Hendriks M, Absi L, Canossi A, Chhaya S, Crowley J, et al. Phenotype frequencies of autosomal minor histocompatibility antigens display significant differences among populations. *PLoS Genet.* (2007) 3:e103. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.00 30103
- Scarisbrick JJ, Dignan FL, Tulpule S, Gupta ED, Kolade S, Shaw B, et al. A multicentre UK study of GVHD following DLI: rates of GVHD are high but mortality from GVHD is infrequent. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2015) 50:62–7. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2014.227
- Deol A, Lum LG. Role of donor lymphocyte infusions in relapsed hematological malignancies after stem cell transplantation revisited. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2010) 36:528–38. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2010. 03.004
- Yang JC, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive T-cell therapy for cancer. Adv Immunol. (2016) 130:279–94. doi: 10.1016/bs.ai.2015.12.006
- Rosenberg SA, Spiess P, Lafreniere R. A new approach to the adoptive immunotherapy of cancer with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. *Science*. (1986) 233:1318. doi: 10.1126/science.3489291
- Di Rosa F, Gebhardt T. Bone marrow T cells and the integrated functions of recirculating and tissue-resident memory T cells. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:51. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00051
- Noonan K, Matsui W, Serafini P, Carbley R, Tan G, Khalili J, et al. Activated marrow-infiltrating lymphocytes effectively target plasma cells and their clonogenic precursors. *Cancer Res.* (2005) 65:2026. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3337
- Noonan KA, Huff CA, Davis J, Lemas MV, Fiorino S, Bitzan J, et al. Adoptive transfer of activated marrow-infiltrating lymphocytes induces measurable antitumor immunity in the bone marrow in multiple myeloma. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:288ra78. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed. aaa7014
- Gros A, Robbins PF, Yao X, Li YF, Turcotte S, Tran E, et al. PD-1 identifies the patient-specific CD8⁺ tumor-reactive repertoire infiltrating human tumors. *J Clin Invest.* (2014) 124:2246–59. doi: 10.1172/JCI73639
- 100. Meij P, Jedema I, van der Hoorn MAWG, Bongaerts R, Cox L, Wafelman AR, et al. Generation and administration of HA-1-specific T-cell lines for the treatment of patients with relapsed leukemia after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: a pilot study. *Haematologica*. (2012) 97:1205–8. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2011.053371
- 101. Warren EH, Fujii N, Akatsuka Y, Chaney CN, Mito JK, Loeb KR, et al. Therapy of relapsed leukemia after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation with T cells specific for minor histocompatibility antigens. *Blood.* (2010) 115:3869–78. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-10-248997
- 102. Chapuis AG, Ragnarsson GB, Nguyen HN, Chaney CN, Pufnock JS, Schmitt TM, et al. Transferred WT1-reactive CD8⁺ T cells can mediate antileukemic activity and persist in post-transplant patients. *Sci Transl Med.* (2013) 5:174ra27. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3004916
- 103. Chapuis AG, Egan DN, Bar M, Schmitt TM, McAfee MS, Paulson KG, et al. T cell receptor gene therapy targeting WT1 prevents acute myeloid leukemia relapse post-transplant. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:1064–72. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0472-9
- 104. Tawara I, Kageyama S, Miyahara Y, Fujiwara H, Nishida T, Akatsuka Y, et al. Safety and persistence of WT1-specific T-cell receptor gene– transduced lymphocytes in patients with AML and MDS. *Blood.* (2017) 130:1985–94. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-06-791202
- 105. Linette GP, Stadtmauer EA, Maus MV, Rapoport AP, Levine BL, Emery L, et al. Cardiovascular toxicity and titin cross-reactivity of affinityenhanced T cells in myeloma and melanoma. *Blood.* (2013) 122:863–71. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-03-490565

- 106. Rapoport AP, Stadtmauer EA, Binder-Scholl GK, Goloubeva O, Vogl DT, Lacey SF, et al. NY-ESO-1-specific TCR-engineered T cells mediate sustained antigen-specific antitumor effects in myeloma. *Nat Med.* (2015) 21:914–21. doi: 10.1038/nm.3910
- 107. Bollard CM, Gottschalk S, Torrano V, Diouf O, Ku S, Hazrat Y, et al. Sustained complete responses in patients with lymphoma receiving autologous cytotoxic T lymphocytes targeting Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane proteins. *J Clin Oncol.* (2014) 32:798–808. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.51.5304
- 108. Oostvogels R, Kneppers E, Minnema MC, Doorn RC, Franssen LE, Aarts T, et al. Efficacy of host-dendritic cell vaccinations with or without minor histocompatibility antigen loading, combined with donor lymphocyte infusion in multiple myeloma patients. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2017) 52:228–37. doi: 10.1038/bmt.20 16.250
- 109. Franssen LE, Roeven MWH, Hobo W, Doorn R, Oostvogels R, Falkenburg JHF, et al. A phase I/II minor histocompatibility antigen-loaded dendritic cell vaccination trial to safely improve the efficacy of donor lymphocyte infusions in myeloma. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2017) 52:1378–83. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2017.118
- 110. Delisle J-S, Gaboury L, Bélanger M-P, Tassé É, Yagita H, Perreault C. Graft-versus-host disease causes failure of donor hematopoiesis and lymphopoiesis in interferon-γ receptor-deficient hosts. *Blood.* (2008) 112:2111–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-12-130534
- 111. Dutcher JP, Schwartzentruber DJ, Kaufman HL, Agarwala SS, Tarhini AA, Lowder JN, et al. High dose interleukin-2 (aldesleukin)–expert consensus on best management practices-2014. *J Immunother Cancer.* (2014) 2:26. doi: 10.1186/s40425-014-0026-0
- 112. Janelle V, Carli C, Taillefer J, Orio J, Delisle J-S. Defining novel parameters for the optimal priming and expansion of minor histocompatibility antigen-specific T cells in culture. *J Transl Med.* (2015) 13:123. doi: 10.1186/s12967-015-0495-z
- Crompton JG, Sukumar M, Restifo NP. Uncoupling T-cell expansion from effector differentiation in cell-based immunotherapy. *Immunol Rev.* (2014) 257:264–76. doi: 10.1111/imr.12135
- Gattinoni L, Lugli E, Ji Y, Pos Z, Paulos CM, Quigley MF, et al. A human memory T cell subset with stem cell-like properties. *Nat Med.* (2011) 17:1290. doi: 10.1038/nm.2446
- 115. Klebanoff CA, Gattinoni L, Torabi-Parizi P, Kerstann K, Cardones AR, Finkelstein SE, et al. Central memory self/tumor-reactive CD8⁺ T cells confer superior antitumor immunity compared with effector memory T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:9571. doi: 10.1073/pnas.05037 26102
- 116. Orio J, Carli C, Janelle V, Giroux M, Taillefer J, Goupil M, et al. Early exposure to interleukin-21 limits rapidly generated anti-Epstein-Barr virus T-cell line differentiation. *Cytotherapy.* (2015) 17:496–508. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2014.12.009
- 117. Dahmani A, Janelle V, Carli C, Richaud M, Lamarche C, Khalili M, et al. TGFβ Programs central memory differentiation in *ex vivo*-stimulated human T cells. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:1426–39. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0691
- 118. van der Waart AB, van de Weem NMP, Maas F, Kramer CSM, Kester MGD, Falkenburg JHF, et al. Inhibition of Akt signaling promotes the generation of superior tumor-reactive T cells for adoptive immunotherapy. *Blood.* (2014) 124:3490–500. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-05-578583
- 119. Gattinoni L, Zhong X-S, Palmer DC, Ji Y, Hinrichs CS, Yu Z, et al. Wnt signaling arrests effector T cell differentiation and generates CD8⁺ memory stem cells. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:808–13. doi: 10.1038/nm.1982
- 120. Dossa RG, Cunningham T, Sommermeyer D, Medina-Rodriguez I, Biernacki MA, Foster K, et al. Development of T-cell immunotherapy for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation recipients at risk of leukemia relapse. *Blood.* (2018) 131:108–20. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-07-791608
- 121. Di Stasi A, Tey S-K, Dotti G, Fujita Y, Kennedy-Nasser A, Martinez C, et al. Inducible apoptosis as a safety switch for adoptive cell therapy. *N Engl J Med.* (2011) 365:1673–83. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1106152
- 122. van Loenen MM, de Boer R, Amir AL, Hagedoorn RS, Volbeda GL, Willemze R, et al. Mixed T cell receptor dimers harbor potentially

harmful neoreactivity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:10972-7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1005802107

- Bendle GM, Linnemann C, Hooijkaas AI, Bies L, de Witte MA, Jorritsma A, et al. Lethal graft-versus-host disease in mouse models of T cell receptor gene therapy. *Nat Med.* (2010) 16:565–70. doi: 10.1038/nm.2128
- 124. Cohen CJ, Zhao Y, Zheng Z, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. Enhanced antitumor activity of murine-human hybrid T-cell receptor (TCR) in human lymphocytes is associated with improved pairing and TCR/CD3 stability. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:8878–86. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1450
- 125. Kuball J, Dossett ML, Wolfl M, Ho WY, Voss R-H, Fowler C, et al. Facilitating matched pairing and expression of TCR chains introduced into human T cells. *Blood.* (2007) 109:2331–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-05-0 23069
- Legut M, Dolton G, Mian AA, Ottmann OG, Sewell AK. CRISPR-mediated TCR replacement generates superior anticancer transgenic T cells. *Blood.* (2018) 131:311–22. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-05-787598
- 127. Bethune MT, Gee MH, Bunse M, Lee MS, Gschweng EH, Pagadala MS, et al. Domain-swapped T cell receptors improve the safety of TCR gene therapy. *Elife.* (2016) 5:e19095. doi: 10.7554/eLife.190 95.020
- 128. Parkhurst M, Gros A, Pasetto A, Prickett T, Crystal JS, Robbins P, et al. Isolation of T-cell receptors specifically reactive with mutated tumor-associated antigens from tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes based on CD137 expression. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:2491–505. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-2680
- 129. Strønen E, Toebes M, Kelderman S, van Buuren MM, Yang W, van Rooij N, et al. Targeting of cancer neoantigens with donor-derived T cell receptor repertoires. *Science*. (2016) 352:1337. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf2288
- 130. Lo W, Parkhurst M, Robbins PF, Tran E, Lu Y-C, Jia L, et al. Immunologic recognition of a shared p53 mutated neoantigen in a patient with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:534–43. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0686
- Tran E, Robbins PF, Lu Y-C, Prickett TD, Gartner JJ, Jia L, et al. T-cell transfer therapy targeting mutant KRAS in cancer. N Engl J Med. (2016) 375:2255–62. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1609279
- 132. van der Lee DI, Reijmers RM, Honders MW, Hagedoorn RS, de Jong RC, Kester MG, et al. Mutated nucleophosmin 1 as immunotherapy target in acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Invest. (2019) 129:774–85. doi: 10.1172/JCI97482
- Baugh KA, Tzannou I, Leen AM. Infusion of cytotoxic T lymphocytes for the treatment of viral infections in hematopoetic stem cell transplant patients. *Curr Opin Infect Dis.* (2018) 31:292–300. doi: 10.1097/QCO.00000000000456
- 134. Doubrovina E, Oflaz-Sozmen B, Prockop SE, Kernan NA, Abramson S, Teruya-Feldstein J, et al. Adoptive immunotherapy with unselected or EBV-specific T cells for biopsy-proven EBV⁺ lymphomas after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. *Blood.* (2012) 119:2644–56. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-08-371971
- Bollard CM, Rooney CM, Heslop HE. T-cell therapy in the treatment of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* (2012) 9:510–9. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2012.111
- 136. Gerdemann U, Keirnan JM, Katari UL, Yanagisawa R, Christin AS, Huye LE, et al. Rapidly generated multivirus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes for the prophylaxis and treatment of viral infections. *Mol Ther.* (2012) 20:1622–32. doi: 10.1038/mt.2012.130
- 137. Heslop HE, Slobod KS, Pule MA, Hale GA, Rousseau A, Smith CA, et al. Long-term outcome of EBV-specific T-cell infusions to prevent or treat EBV-related lymphoproliferative disease in transplant recipients. *Blood.* (2010) 115:925–35. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-08-2 39186
- 138. Savoldo B, Goss JA, Hammer MM, Zhang L, Lopez T, Gee AP, et al. Treatment of solid organ transplant recipients with autologous Epstein Barr virus–specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs). *Blood.* (2006) 108:2942–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-05-021782
- 139. Haque T, McAulay KA, Kelly D, Crawford DH. Allogeneic T-cell therapy for Epstein-Barr virus-positive posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease: long-term follow-up. *Transplantation*. (2010) 90:93–4. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181d7c424

- 140. Gerdemann U, Katari U, Christin AS, Cruz CR, Tripic T, Rousseau A, et al. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes simultaneously targeting multiple tumorassociated antigens to treat EBV negative lymphoma. *Mol Ther.* (2011) 19:2258–68. doi: 10.1038/mt.2011.167
- 141. Avigan D, Rosenblatt J. Vaccine therapy in hematologic malignancies. Blood. (2018) 131:2640–50. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-11-7 85873
- 142. Inaguma Y, Akahori Y, Murayama Y, Shiraishi K, Tsuzuki-Iba S, Endoh A, et al. Construction and molecular characterization of a T-cell receptor-like antibody and CAR-T cells specific for minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1H. *Gene Ther.* (2014) 21:575–84. doi: 10.1038/gt. 2014.30
- 143. Oji Y, Hashimoto N, Tsuboi A, Murakami Y, Iwai M, Kagawa N, et al. Association of WT1 IgG antibody against WT1 peptide with prolonged survival in glioblastoma multiforme patients vaccinated with WT1 peptide. *Int J Cancer.* (2016) 139:1391–401. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30182
- 144. Hess Michelini R, Freschi M, Manzo T, Jachetti E, Degl, Innocenti E, et al. Concomitant tumor and minor histocompatibility antigen-specific immunity initiate rejection and maintain remission from established spontaneous solid tumors. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:3505. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4253
- 145. Manzo T, Sturmheit T, Basso V, Petrozziello E, Hess Michelini R, Riba M, et al. T cells redirected to a minor histocompatibility antigen instruct intratumoral TNF α expression and empower adoptive cell therapy for solid tumors. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:658–71. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-0725
- 146. Randolph SSB, Gooley TA, Warren EH, Appelbaum FR, Riddell SR. Female donors contribute to a selective graft-versus-leukemia effect in male recipients of HLA-matched, related hematopoietic stem cell transplants. *Blood.* (2004) 103:347–52. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-07-2603
- 147. Guo M, Hu K-X, Liu G-X, Yu C-L, Qiao J-H, Sun Q-Y, et al. HLAmismatched stem-cell microtransplantation as postremission therapy for acute myeloid leukemia: long-term follow-up. J Clin Oncol. (2012) 30:4084– 90. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.42.0281
- 148. Tyler EM, Koehne G. The emergence of WT1-specific T-cell responses following allogeneic T cell-depleted hematopoietic stem cell transplantation and low-dose donor lymphocyte infusions is associated with a graft-vs.-myeloma effect. *Oncoimmunology.* (2013) 2:e24963. doi: 10.4161/onci. 24963
- 149. Gröger M, Gagelmann N, Wolschke C, von Pein U-M, Klyuchnikov E, Christopeit M, et al. Long-term results of prophylactic donor lymphocyte infusions for patients with multiple myeloma after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2018) 24:1399–405. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2018. 04.018
- 150. Legrand F, Le Floch AC, Granata A, Fürst S, Faucher C, Lemarie C, et al. Prophylactic donor lymphocyte infusion after allogeneic stem cell transplantation for high-risk AML. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. (2017) 52:620– 1. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2016.326
- 151. Kreiter S, Vormehr M, van de Roemer N, Diken M, Lower M, Diekmann J, et al. Mutant MHC class II epitopes drive therapeutic immune responses to cancer. *Nature*. (2015) 520:692–6. doi: 10.1038/nature 14426
- 152. McCurdy SR, Iglehart BS, Batista DA, Gocke CD, Ning Y, Knaus HA, et al. Loss of the mismatched human leukocyte antigen haplotype in two acute myelogenous leukemia relapses after haploidentical bone marrow transplantation with post-transplantation cyclophosphamide. *Leukemia*. (2016) 30:2102–6. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.144
- 153. Lindblad KE, Goswami M, Hourigan CS, Oetjen KA. Immunological effects of hypomethylating agents. *Expert Rev Hematol.* (2017) 10:745–52. doi: 10.1080/17474086.2017.13 46470
- 154. Gang AO, Frøsig TM, Brimnes MK, Lyngaa R, Treppendahl MB, Grønbæk K, et al. 5-Azacytidine treatment sensitizes tumor cells to T-cell mediated cytotoxicity and modulates NK cells in patients with myeloid malignancies. *Blood Cancer J.* (2014) 4:e197-e. doi: 10.1038/bcj. 2014.14

- 155. Yu G, Wu Y, Wang W, Xu J, Lv X, Cao X, et al. Low-dose decitabine enhances the effect of PD-1 blockade in colorectal cancer with microsatellite stability by re-modulating the tumor microenvironment. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2019) 16:401–9. doi: 10.1038/s41423-018-0026-y
- 156. Dubovsky JA, McNeel DG, Powers JJ, Gordon J, Sotomayor EM, Pinilla-Ibarz JA. Treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia with a hypomethylating agent induces expression of NXF2, an immunogenic cancer testis antigen. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2009) 15:3406. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-2099
- 157. Chiappinelli KB, Strissel PL, Desrichard A, Li H, Henke C, Akman B, et al. Inhibiting DNA methylation causes an interferon response in cancer via dsRNA including endogenous retroviruses. *Cell.* (2015) 162:974–86. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015. 07.011
- Brocks D, Schmidt CR, Daskalakis M, Jang HS, Shah NM, Li D, et al. DNMT and HDAC inhibitors induce cryptic transcription start sites encoded in long terminal repeats. *Nat Genet.* (2017) 49:1052–60. doi: 10.1038/ ng.3889

159. Roulois D, Loo Yau H, Singhania R, Wang Y, Danesh A, Shen SY, et al. DNA-demethylating agents target colorectal cancer cells by inducing viral mimicry by endogenous transcripts. *Cell.* (2015) 162:961–73. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.07.056

Conflict of Interest: J-SD and CC are authors on patents pertaining to the therapeutic use of minor histocompatibility antigens.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Janelle, Rulleau, Del Testa, Carli and Delisle. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





TCR-Like CAR-T Cells Targeting MHC-Bound Minor Histocompatibility Antigens

Yoshiki Akatsuka*

Department of Immunology, Nagoya University Graduate School of Medicine, Nagoya, Japan

Minor histocompatibility antigens (mHAgs) in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation are highly immunogenic as they are foreign antigens and cause polymorphism between donors and recipients. Adoptive cell therapy with mHAg-specific T cells may be an effective option for therapy against recurring hematological malignancies following transplantation. Genetically modified T cells with T cell receptors (TCRs) specific to mHAgs have been developed, but formation of mispaired chimeric TCRs between endogenous and exogenous TCR chains may compromise their function. An alternative approach is the development of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)–T cells with TCR-like specificity whose CAR transmembrane and intracellular domains do not compete with endogenous TCR for CD3 complexes and transmit their own activation signals. However, it has been shown that the recognition of low-density antigens by high-affinity CAR-T cells has poor sensitivity and specificity. This mini review focuses on the potential for and limitations of TCR-like CAR-T cells in targeting human leukocyte antigen–bound peptide antigens, based on their recognition mechanisms and their application in targeting mHAgs.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Robbert Spaapen, AMC-Sanquin Landsteiner Laboratory, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Margot Jooske Pont, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, United States Bipulendu Jena, Independent Researcher, San Diego, United States

> ***Correspondence:** Yoshiki Akatsuka yos-akatsuk@umin.ac.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 23 October 2019 Accepted: 30 January 2020 Published: 28 February 2020

Citation:

Akatsuka Y (2020) TCR-Like CAR-T Cells Targeting MHC-Bound Minor Histocompatibility Antigens. Front. Immunol. 11:257. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00257 Keywords: minor histocompatibility antigen, TCR-like antibody, adoptive immunotherapy, allogeneic stem cell transplantation, chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) cell

INTRODUCTION

Minor histocompatibility antigens (mHAgs), which are generated from polymorphic genes between a donor and recipient, are presented in the groove of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) molecules. In recipients undergoing allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (allo-HSCT), mHAgs are recognized by donor T cells (1) and are highly immunogenic in the graft-vs.-host direction (2). Detection of T cell responses to molecularly defined and well-characterized mHAgs following allo-HSCT is possible through use of an HLA multimer reagent that incorporates the defined epitope peptide (3). In the context of hematologic malignancies, the therapeutic potential of T cells specific to mHAgs presented predominantly or exclusively on recipient target hematopoietic cells (including leukemia cells) but not on non-target non-hematopoietic cells has been shown via the graft-vs.-leukemia effect following donor lymphocyte infusion against recurring hematological malignancies (2–4). In addition, some mHAgs such as HA-1 and BCL2A1 have been found expressed in solid tumors, supporting the clinical applicability of immunotherapy in the allo-HSCT setting (5, 6). However, it is not always possible to selectively expand mHAg-specific T cells for their use in adoptive immunotherapy, primarily because of the cumbersome and time-consuming *in vitro* expansion procedure, which sometimes results in T cell exhaustion (7, 8). To overcome

this problem, viral vectors encoding T cell receptor (TCR) α and ß chain cDNAs cloned from high affinity mHAg-specific T cells have been used to genetically modify and redirect T cells toward the targeted mHAg (9, 10). Indeed, these socalled "TCR-T" cells have been shown to acquire the conferred antigen specificity, but mispairing between the introduced and endogenous TCR chains occasionally results in unwanted or unpredictable T cell specificities (11). Competition for CD3 complexes also leads to decreased signal transduction necessary for T cell function and proliferation. Various countermeasures have been devised to address these problems, including (1) the use of constant domains from other species such as mice (12), (2) introduction of disulfide or other bonds between the α and β TCR chains (13), (3) silencing of endogenous mRNA encoding TCR using siRNA (14), and (4) knockout of the TCR gene by means of gene editing technologies (15). An alternative approach was the development of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T cells with TCR-like specificity, whose transmembrane and intracellular domains do not compete with endogenous TCR for CD3 complexes. This mini review will focus on the potential and limitations of applying TCR-like CAR-T cell technology to target HLA-bound mHAgs.

BACKGROUND OF TCR-LIKE ANTIBODIES AND THEIR CAR-T FORM

Recently, CD19-specific CAR-T cell therapies have been introduced in clinical practice with great success. Although clinical trials of CAR-T cells targeting promising candidate antigens other than CD19 are underway, the number of ideal tumor-specific targets is limited by the number of tumor-specific "cell-surface" antigens that are targetable with conventional monoclonal antibodies. By contrast, most potential tumorspecific antigens, such as proteins involved in cell proliferation and survival, are located in the intracellular region; there, they are degraded by proteasomes and may be displayed as antigenic peptides on major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and MHC class II molecules. These MHC-bound antigens are recognized by T cells with specific TCRs under physiological conditions. The affinity of the relevant TCRs is generally moderate or low because most tumor antigens are shared with normal cells but are generally overexpressed. Thus, reactive T cells with high-affinity TCRs undergo negative selection in the thymus (16). To target MHC-bound antigens, enhancement of TCR affinity with amino acid substitutions or development of a new mode of antibodies specific for peptide/MHC (pMHC) complexes is necessary. The latter are called TCR-like or TCRmimic antibodies and can be used to redirect T cells to target antigens. The first TCR-like antibody was developed in 1982 to target the influenza PR8 antigen presented on murine H-2K^b (17), and the first attempt to construct CAR-T cells with a TCR-like antibody against MAGE-A1 presented on HLA-A1 was conducted in 2001 (18).

Initially, to generate TCR-like antibodies, a hybridomabased method was used in which animals (mostly mice) were immunized with cells expressing pMHC or recombinant pMHC proteins. Then, sensitized splenic B cells were isolated and fused with a non-secretory myeloma cell line, which resulted in the generation of hybridoma cells, each of which produced monoclonal antibodies. New technology able to synthesize recombinant pMHC monomers or multimers (19) contributed to the preparation of antigens required not only for immunization, but also for the screening of hybridoma libraries. Antibodies raised by hybridoma-based methods consist of naturally selected light and heavy chain pairs; they possess a high affinity but have a limited repertoire of diversity because the pool size is restricted by the number of initial splenic B cells in the immunized mice.

In contrast, new phage library-based methods (20) utilize phages carrying randomly combined variable regions from light and heavy chains that have been amplified from a B cell pool. Their diversity size is approximately 10^9-10^{10} . It is possible to screen phages by positive and negative selection with target antigens and non-target antigens under various stringency conditions, as the fused variable genes in the recombinant phage genome are displayed as single-chain antibodies on their phage surface. Because most procedures can be performed with biochemical assays, this approach is robust and cost-/timeeffective. However, the random recombination of variable regions from irrelevant light and heavy chains sometimes leads to antibodies with off-target binding capacity in addition to the desired pMHC specificity. Thus, careful and thorough screening in a wide array of normal tissues is necessary.

Nearly half of the reported TCR-like antibodies have been generated by the phage-based method (21). Among these, only 11 reports, including ours (22), described the application of TCR-like antibodies to CAR-T cell development (18, 23-32). As shown in Table 1, 10 of 12 such CAR-T cells targeted nonmutated antigens highly expressed in tumor cells, but none of them have been evaluated in clinical trials so far. All but one study that targeted the insulin-derived peptide presented on MHC class II used phage libraries whose clone size ranged from 2.85×10^8 to 9×10^{10} clones. The dissociation equilibrium constant (K_D) of their binding moiety ranged widely from 0.03 to 400 nM. This is in marked contrast to TCRs, the affinities of which generally range between 1 and $100 \,\mu M$ (33). Thus, natural TCR affinity is approximately 10³ to 10⁵ times weaker than those of the TCR-like antibodies. In addition, it has been shown that the use of the antibody's binding moiety as the antigen recognition domain of CARs can increase effector function, leading to the eradication of tumor cells with downregulated antigen expression at a level of 200 copies/cell (34). A similar density threshold of 300 copies/cell was reported for murine CAR-T cells targeting the glycoprotein OTS8 induced by cancer-specific mutation (35). As mentioned earlier, TCR gene-modified T (TCR-T) cells have also been developed since the first attempt by Heemskerk et al. (9). One phase I trial for TCR-T cells targeting HA-1 mHAg is currently underway (NCT03326921). The similarities and differences among TCRlike CAR-T cells, TCR-T cells, and conventional CAR-T cells are shown in Figure 1.

Antigen	MHC	Epitope	Target disease	Method	Library size	Library size Immunization Screening Clone	Screening	Clone	Affinity (K _D)	CAR signaling domains	References
MAGE-A1 HLA-A1	HLA-A1	EADPTGHSY	Cancer	Phage	3.7×10^{10}	I	pMHC	80	250 nM	CD4-FccRly	(18)
MAGE-A1	HLA-A1	EADPTGHSY	Cancer	Phage	3.7×10^{10}	I	pMHC	G8 Hyb3	250 nM 14 nM	CD28-Fc&RIy	(23)
Y-ESO-1	NY-ESO-1 HLA-A*02:01	SLLMWITQC	Cancer	Phage	1.45×10^{10}	I	pMHC	Ţ	2-4 nM	CD28-CD3t	(24)
WT1	HLA-A*02:01	RMFPNAPYL	Cancer	Phage	3.7×10^{10}	I	pMHC	F2 F3	400 nM 30 nM	CD28- FcyRly	(25)
HMHA1	HLA-A*02:01	VLHDDLLEA	Blood cancer	Phage	5×10^{8}	+	pMHC	#131	19.9 nM	CD28-CD3t	(22)
GP100	HLA-A*02:01	ITDQVPFSV	Melanoma	Phage	5.4×10^{8}	I	pMHC	GPA7	183 nM	CD3ţ	(26)
WT1	HLA-A*02:01	RMFPNAPYL	Cancer	Phage	2.85×10^{8}	I	pMHC	Q2L	3 nM	CD137-CD35	(27)
AFP	HLA-A*02:01	FMNKFIYEI	Hepatoma	Phage	9×10^{10}	I	pMHC	ET1402L1	0.03-0.2 nM	CD28-CD3ç	(29)
WT1	HLA-A*02:01	RMFPNAPYL	Cancer	Phage	7×10^{10}	I	pMHC	ESK1	0.1 nM	CD28-CD3t	(30)
WT1	HLA-A*24:02	CYTWNQMNL	Cancer	Phage	NA	I	pMHC	#213	741 nM	CD3t-CD357	(31)
Insulin	H-2 I-A ^{g7}	B:9-23 peptide	Autoimmune diabetes	Hybridoma	850	+	pMHC	mAb287	120 nM	CD28-CD3ţ, CD28-CD137-CD3r	(32)

AFFINITY OF TCR-LIKE ANTIBODY AND DENSITY OF TARGET pMHC

While the target antigen density per tumor cell in antibodytargetable tumors has not been measured in detail, the proteins CD19 and CD20 present on B cells targeted by therapeutic antibodies and CAR-T cells are relatively well studied; for example, the antigen density of CD19 has been reported to be 2 \times 10^4 to 3 \times 10⁴ molecules/cell in normal B cells and 0.5 \times 10⁴ to 3×10^4 molecules/cell in malignant B cells (36, 37). In contrast, despite the fact that the affinities of canonical native TCRs are 3 to 5 logs lower than those of the conventional antibodies used in CD19 CAR-T cells, it is interesting that T cells can recognize pMHCs presented on cell surfaces at much lower densities. Several studies have demonstrated that the minimum number of pMHC complexes required to activate T cells is <10 per cell, although this number depends on the presence of coreceptors and the status of the cell (38-40). Using comprehensive mass spectrometry analysis of a peptide pool stripped from MHC molecules, it has been shown that certain peptides are expressed at a frequency of 100 to 10,000 copies/cell, which corresponds to 0.1 to 10% of peptides presented by one kind of MHC allele, such as H-2 K^b or D^b in mice (38). Assuming the number of each MHC class I molecule per cell is 1×10^5 to 2×10^5 and the average copy number of a given peptide is 200, then 500-1,000 peptides with different sequences are expressed on one kind of MHC per cell (38). However, peptides with much lower densities must be expressed at a much wider variety and still be recognized by relevant T cells.

In terms of human mHAgs, it has been shown that HLA-A*02:01-restricted HA-1^H is present at 80 copies/cell, while its counterpart HA-1^R is <5 copies/cell because of its 27-fold lower affinity to the HLA-A2 molecule (41, 42). The other HLA-A*02:01-restricted HA-2^M mHAg was found to be present below the detection limit of 0.04 to 0.2 copy/cell (43). It is speculated that these cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) possess high-affinity TCRs because mHAgs are non-self-antigens similar to pathogens (44), and thus no thymic or peripheral tolerances affect T cells (16). Given that CTLs specific for HA-1^H and HA-2^M were readily detected at a range of 0.21 to 1.57% among CD8⁺ cells in patients receiving allogeneic HSCT and donor lymphocyte infusion and that the sorted T cells showed specific killing activity against mHAg-positive target cells (3), it is clear that T cells should have at least two modes of action when recognizing antigens via canonical (cognate) TCR moieties vs. CAR moieties.

A small number of pMHC complexes can serially engage and trigger up to approximately 200 TCRs (45). Additionally, efficient T cell activation occurs within an optimal dwell-time range of TCR-pMHC interaction using MHC with mutations in its antigen-binding site (46). This is thought to be possible by a TCR-pMHC engagement of moderate affinity rather than super-high affinity as seen in antibody-antigen binding. Furthermore, it has been shown that CD20 CAR-T cells require approximately 15,000 CD20 molecules per target cell to trigger 10,000 CAR molecules per T cell, suggesting that a decreased number of triggered CAR molecules are necessary because

TCR-T	TCR-like CAR-T	Conventional CAR-T
T-cell receptor heterodimer	Single-chain variable fragment (scFv) from antibody	Single-chain variable fragment (scFv) from antibody
Peptide/MHC complex (intracellular protein)	Peptide/MHC complex (intracellular protein)	Cell surface antigen
Dependent	Dependent	Independent
1	Not fully studied, but 100<	100<
$10^{-4} \sim 10^{-6} \mathrm{M}$	$10^{-6} \sim 10^{-9} \mathrm{M}$	$10^{-6} \sim 10^{-9} \mathrm{M}$
CD28, CD137	Linked directly to scFv (CD28 and/or CD137 in combination with CD3ζ)	Linked directly to scFv (CD28 and/or CD137 in combination with CD3ζ)
CD4 for MHC-II, CD8 for MHC-I	Unknown, some involvement of CD8 for MHC-I	Not fully studied
Yes	Yes	Yes
One infusion	One infusion	Once infusion
Cell manufacturing, competition to endogenouse TCR	Cell manufacturing	Cell manufacturing
Tumor	Tumor	Tumor
Peptide MHC	Peptide MHC	Surface antigen
	sCFv	sCFv
γε εδ	CD28/ CD137 ζ	CD28/ CD137 ζ
	T-cell receptor heterodimer Peptide/MHC complex (intracellular protein) Dependent 1 $10^{-4} \sim 10^{-6}$ M CD28, CD137 CD4 for MHC-II, CD8 for MHC-I Yes One infusion Cell manufacturing, competition to endogenouse TCR Tumor Termor Cell β	T-cell receptor heterodimerSingle-chain variable fragment (scFv) from antibodyPeptide/MHC complex (intracellular protein)Peptide/MHC complex (intracellular protein)DependentDependent1Not fully studied, but 100<

of a lack of serial engagement (47). In contrast, decreased signaling and effector function did not occur when high-density antigens were present on the target cells (48). These observations shed light on the design of CAR-T cells equipped with TCR-like antibodies.

CONSIDERATIONS TOWARD CAR-T CELLS EQUIPPED WITH TCR-LIKE ANTIBODIES

Attempts to generate CAR-T cells possessing a TCR-like antibody moiety (TCR-like CAR-T) have been challenging, insofar as target cells express a very low density of pMHC. Furthermore, it has not been clarified whether a "serial engagement" scenario can occur even in the case of TCR-like CAR-T cells with a TCR-like antibody moiety that has low affinity comparable to canonical TCR. To this end, fine tuning of the TCR-like antibody moiety is crucial. Crystal structural analysis revealed that TCRs bind in a conserved diagonal mode (33); thus, some guidelines for tuning their affinity either to the epitope peptide or to an MHC scaffold have been devised. Alternatively, TCR-like antibodies take various binding modes, and their fine tuning is limited to the complementary determining region 3 (49, 50).

Researchers have attempted to ensure the specificity of modified antibodies in targeting amino acids among an array of peptides presented on a single restriction MHC molecule. This is critical because expression as a CAR-T form on the T cell surface, where other adhesion molecules and coreceptors are aligned, may further modify the functional avidity of CAR-T cells. Akahori et al. (31) comprehensively analyzed their low-affinity TCR-like CAR-T cells specific to the WT1235-243 peptide presented on HLA-A*24:02 molecules by incorporating (1) alanine substitution analysis of the epitope peptide to identify both the amino acid residues that trigger interaction with TCR CAR-T cells and those used for anchors; (2) in silico searches for potentially cross-reactive peptides that contain the predetermined contact amino acid residues in their sequence, followed by in vitro assays to test their potential to stimulate TCR CAR-T cells; and (3) in vitro cross-reactivity assays against other HLA molecules using a panel of cell lines. Their TCR-like antibody (clone #213) has a K_D of 741 nM (31), which is close to the lowest natural TCR affinity range of 1 to 100 μ M (33). This strategy may contribute to the sufficient functional avidity (here, a biological readout reflecting T cell responsiveness *in vitro*) and retained specificity of their TCR-like CAR-T cells, although the WT1₂₃₅₋₂₄₃ peptide density on WT1- and HLA-A24-positive cells has not been determined to date. It has been shown that two kinds of conventional CAR-T cells, with K_D values of 1 nM and 1,616 nM to the same extracellular domain of HER2 molecule, had comparable lytic activity against target cells with high HER2 expression; however, CAR-T cells with low affinity showed more efficient lytic activity against target cells with limited HER2 expression (51).

Of additional concern are on-target/off-tumor and offtarget toxicities. Such toxicities have been observed in adoptive immunotherapy trials using affinity matured TCR-T cells specific to MAGEA3 (52) or CAR-T cells specific to CA9 (53) or CEA (54), all of which are expressed in normal tissues at very low levels. Oren et al. (25) demonstrated that their TCR-like CAR, which had an elevated receptor affinity (30 nM) compared with that of others (Table 1), results in some loss of specificity and decreased cell survival when transduced into HLA-A2-positive but HLA-A2-negative T cells. This may be due to fratricide, wherein a high-affinity antibody cross-reacts with non-target peptides presented on coexisting T cells. A similar phenomenon has been reported in which the addition of an anti-CD38-blocking antibody saved CD38 antibody-equipped CAR-T cells from fratricide, as CD38 is dimly expressed on T cells (55). To prevent these toxicities in future clinical studies, a systematic screening system for cross-reactivity testing must be devised. A humanized mouse model, where HLA-matched tumor cells and immune cells from the patient are engrafted into an HLA-transgenic non-obese diabetic/severe combined immune-deficient/common gamma chain knockout mouse, may serve as a screening platform (56, 57).

APPLICATION OF TCR-LIKE CAR-T CELLS TO MHAGS

Inaguma et al. (22) first included a TCR-like antibody against the HA-1^H mHAg in CAR-T cell preparations (**Table 1**). Using a phage library prepared from splenic B cells isolated from HLA-A2-transgenic mice immunized with HA-1^H/HLA-A*02:01 tetramers, specific single-chain antibodies were isolated by multiple rounds of panning. HLA-A2 transgenic mice were used to omit xenogeneic immune responses against human HLA-A2 molecules. Although a resulting CAR-T cell (clone #131) with high affinity binding (K_D = 19.9 nM) was stained with HLA-A2/HA-1 tetramers with an intensity equivalent to cognate cytotoxic T cell clones, the CAR-T cell required 100-fold higher peptide density to exert cytotoxic function (22). Another clone (#9) with moderate to low affinity (K_D = 446 nM) was also tested, and researchers found that its CAR-T form exhibits ~10-fold increased activity, supporting the observations by Akahori et al. (31).

histocompatibility complex class I-restricted Major autosomal mHAgs are generated by various molecular mechanisms (2, 58). The majority of mHAgs are generated by single-nucleotide substitutions that engender amino acid substitutions, whereas others are generated by frameshift mutations or whole gene deletions (e.g., UGT2B17) (59). Among these, allelic variant peptides of mHAgs such as ACC-1 (60, 61) and HB-1 (62, 63) are expressed with an affinity similar to that of their restriction HLA molecules. Generating TCR-like antibodies to these mHAgs may be difficult, as the difference between two allelic variants is a single amino acid, and TCR-like antibodies may bind to more than one (e.g., three) amino acid in the peptide (31). Given this issue of specificity, it is more reasonable to target mHAgs in which only one allelic variant is exclusively or at least highly expressed. Because the HA-1^R peptide cannot be presented on the cell surface (42), HA-1^H is an ideal target. Other mHAgs resulting from frameshift mutations due to various polymorphisms, such as LRH-1 (64), HMSD (65), or PANE1 (66), may be suitable, as the donor-recipient pair possesses different amino acid sequences at the corresponding positions (or a null peptide in the case of gene deletion or miss-sense polymorphisms). Finally, target mHAgs must be hematopoietic system-specific to avoid graft-vs.-host disease.

In the production of antibodies, both major methods (hybridoma and phage library) have advantages and disadvantages. Although it is thought that naturally occurring antibodies with TCR-like specificity are extremely rare, with the exception of those against mHAgs encoded on the Y chromosome (H-Y antigen) (67), such antibodies can be present in patients receiving mHAg-mismatched HSCT. If this is the case, pooled B cells from such patients may serve as a source for phage display library. Alternatively, immunization with mHAg-pMHC complexes from HLA-transgenic mice (22) may also be a source.

CONCLUSION

Based on the state of the field, the generation of TCR-like CAR-T cells that use an all-in-one chimeric receptor equipped with modifiable intracellular signaling domains that can be applied quickly to patients as adoptive cell therapy is of utmost interest. Chimeric antigen receptor-T cells have a strong advantage over modified TCR gene-introduced T cells because they have a built-in signaling domain, which works even in the absence or downregulation of costimulatory signals from target cells. However, various improvements in TCR gene-introduced T cells make this option safer and more promising than are CAR-T treatments (10). In any case, the establishment of robust and efficient screening systems, including a variety of panel peptides, HLA-typed cell lines, and animal models for the evaluation of TCR-like antibody efficacy and toxicity, as well as the careful planning of preclinical experiments, is necessary for obtaining TCR-like antibodies with potential clinical applications. In

contrast to passive immunotherapies such as gene-modified T cells, active immunotherapies such as peptide (68, 69) or DNA vaccinations with or without adjuvants using dendritic cells are being tested in clinical trials (2). These approaches are thought to be more feasible and less expensive, as gene-modified cells are under strict regulations. However, it is too early to compare the two major approaches as only limited phase I/II clinical data have been publicly reported, including a phase I dose evaluation study for an HA-1 mHAg vaccine (70). Further studies for individual interventions are necessary to define the optimal methods and patient populations for mHAg-targeted immunotherapy.

REFERENCES

- 1. Neubert D, Neubert R, Stahlmann R, Helge H. Immuno-toxicology and -pharmacology. Braz J Med Biol Res. (1989) 22:1457–73.
- Spierings E. Minor histocompatibility antigens: past, present, and future. *Tissue Antigens*. (2014) 84:374–60. doi: 10.1111/tan.12445
- Marijt WA, Heemskerk MH, Kloosterboer FM, Goulmy E, Kester MG, van der Hoorn MA, et al. Hematopoiesis-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens HA-1- or HA-2-specific T cells can induce complete remissions of relapsed leukemia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:2742–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0530192100
- Kloosterboer FM, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, van Soest RA, van Egmond HM, Barbui AM, Strijbosch MP, et al. Minor histocompatibility antigenspecific T cells with multiple distinct specificities can be isolated by direct cloning of IFNgamma-secreting T cells from patients with relapsed leukemia responding to donor lymphocyte infusion. *Leukemia*. (2005) 19:83–90. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2403572
- Klein CA, Wilke M, Pool J, Vermeulen C, Blokland E, Burghart E, et al. The hematopoietic system-specific minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1 shows aberrant expression in epithelial cancer cells. *J Exp Med.* (2002) 196:359–68. doi: 10.1084/jem.20011838
- Torikai H, Akatsuka Y, Yatabe Y, Morishima Y, Kodera Y, Kuzushima K, et al. Aberrant expression of BCL2A1-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens in melanoma cells: application for allogeneic transplantation. *Int J Hematol.* (2008) 87:467–73. doi: 10.1007/s12185-008-0076-5
- Warren EH, Fujii N, Akatsuka Y, Chaney CN, Mito JK, Loeb KR, et al. Therapy of relapsed leukemia after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation with T cells specific for minor histocompatibility antigens. *Blood*. (2010) 115:3869– 78. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-10-248997
- Meij P, Jedema I, van der Hoorn MA, Bongaerts R, Cox L, Wafelman AR, et al. Generation and administration of HA-1-specific T-cell lines for the treatment of patients with relapsed leukemia after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: a pilot study. *Haematologica*. (2012) 97:1205–8. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2011.053371
- Heemskerk MH, Hoogeboom M, Hagedoorn R, Kester MG, Willemze R, Falkenburg JH. Reprogramming of virus-specific T cells into leukemiareactive T cells using T cell receptor gene transfer. *J Exp Med.* (2004) 199:885– 94. doi: 10.1084/jem.20031110
- Dossa RG, Cunningham T, Sommermeyer D, Medina-Rodriguez I, Biernacki MA, Foster K, et al. Development of T-cell immunotherapy for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation recipients at risk of leukemia relapse. *Blood*. (2018) 131:108–20. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-07-791608
- van Loenen MM, de Boer R, Amir AL, Hagedoorn RS, Volbeda GL, Willemze R, et al. Mixed T cell receptor dimers harbor potentially harmful neoreactivity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:10972–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.10058 02107
- Cohen CJ, Zhao Y, Zheng Z, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. Enhanced antitumor activity of murine-human hybrid T-cell receptor (TCR) in human lymphocytes is associated with improved pairing and TCR/CD3 stability. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:8878–86. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-0 6-1450

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was partly supported by AMED under grant number 19ek0510027, JSPS KAKENHI under Grant Number under grant number 18K08341, and the Bristol-Myers Squibb endowed Chair in Cancer Biomarker Research.

- Kuball J, Dossett ML, Wolfl M, Ho WY, Voss RH, Fowler C, et al. Facilitating matched pairing and expression of TCR chains introduced into human T cells. *Blood.* (2007) 109:2331–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-05-023069
- Okamoto S, Mineno J, Ikeda H, Fujiwara H, Yasukawa M, Shiku H, et al. Improved expression and reactivity of transduced tumor-specific TCRs in human lymphocytes by specific silencing of endogenous TCR. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:9003–11. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1450
- Provasi E, Genovese P, Lombardo A, Magnani Z, Liu PQ, Reik A, et al. Editing T cell specificity towards leukemia by zinc finger nucleases and lentiviral gene transfer. *Nat Med.* (2012) 18:807–15. doi: 10.1038/nm.2700
- Klein L, Kyewski B, Allen PM, Hogquist KA. Positive and negative selection of the T cell repertoire: what thymocytes see (and don't see). *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2014) 14:377–91. doi: 10.1038/nri3667
- Wylie DE, Sherman LA, Klinman NR. Participation of the major histocompatibility complex in antibody recognition of viral antigens expressed on infected cells. J Exp Med. (1982) 155:403–14. doi: 10.1084/jem.155.2.403
- Willemsen RA, Debets R, Hart E, Hoogenboom HR, Bolhuis RL, Chames P. A phage display selected fab fragment with MHC class I-restricted specificity for MAGE-A1 allows for retargeting of primary human T lymphocytes. *Gene Ther.* (2001) 8:1601–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.3301570
- Altman JD, Moss PA, Goulder PJ, Barouch DH, McHeyzer-Williams MG, Bell JI, et al. Phenotypic analysis of antigen-specific T lymphocytes. *Science*. (1996) 274:94–6. doi: 10.1126/science.274.5284.94
- McCafferty J, Griffiths AD, Winter G, Chiswell DJ. Phage antibodies: filamentous phage displaying antibody variable domains. *Nature*. (1990) 348:552-4. doi: 10.1038/348552a0
- Hoydahl LS, Frick R, Sandlie I, Loset GA. Targeting the MHC ligandome by use of TCR-like Antibodies. *Antibodies*. (2019) 8:32. doi: 10.3390/antib8020032
- Inaguma Y, Akahori Y, Murayama Y, Shiraishi K, Tsuzuki-Iba S, Endoh A, et al. Construction and molecular characterization of a T-cell receptor-like antibody and CAR-T cells specific for minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1H. *Gene Ther.* (2014) 21:575–84. doi: 10.1038/gt.2014.30
- Willemsen RA, Ronteltap C, Chames P, Debets R, Bolhuis RL. T cell retargeting with MHC class I-restricted antibodies: the CD28 costimulatory domain enhances antigen-specific cytotoxicity and cytokine production. J Immunol. (2005) 174:7853–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.12.7853
- Schuberth PC, Jakka G, Jensen SM, Wadle A, Gautschi F, Haley D, et al. Effector memory and central memory NY-ESO-1-specific re-directed T cells for treatment of multiple myeloma. *Gene Ther.* (2013) 20:386–95. doi: 10.1038/gt.2012.48
- 25. Oren R, Hod-Marco M, Haus-Cohen M, Thomas S, Blat D, Duvshani N, et al. Functional comparison of engineered T cells carrying a native TCR versus TCR-like antibody-based chimeric antigen receptors indicates affinity/avidity thresholds. *J Immunol.* (2014) 193:5733–43. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301769
- Zhang G, Wang L, Cui H, Wang X, Zhang G, Ma J, et al. Anti-melanoma activity of T cells redirected with a TCR-like chimeric antigen receptor. *Sci Rep.* (2014) 4:3571. doi: 10.1038/srep03571
- 27. Zhao Q, Ahmed M, Tassev DV, Hasan A, Kuo TY, Guo HF, et al. Affinity maturation of T-cell receptor-like antibodies for wilms tumor 1

peptide greatly enhances the rapeutic potential. *Leukemia*. (2015) 29:2238–47. doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.125

- Maus MV, Plotkin J, Jakka G, Stewart-Jones G, Riviere I, Merghoub T, et al. An MHC-restricted antibody-based chimeric antigen receptor requires TCRlike affinity to maintain antigen specificity. *Mol Ther Oncolyt.* (2016) 3:1–9. doi: 10.1038/mto.2016.23
- Liu H, Xu Y, Xiang J, Long L, Green S, Yang Z, et al. Targeting alphafetoprotein (AFP)-MHC complex with CAR T-cell therapy for liver cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:478–88. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1203
- Rafiq S, Purdon TJ, Daniyan AF, Koneru M, Dao T, Liu C, et al. Optimized T-cell receptor-mimic chimeric antigen receptor T cells directed toward the intracellular wilms Tumor 1 antigen. *Leukemia*. (2017) 31:1788–97. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.373
- Akahori Y, Wang L, Yoneyama M, Seo N, Okumura S, Miyahara Y, et al. Antitumor activity of CAR-T cells targeting the intracellular oncoprotein WT1 can be enhanced by vaccination. *Blood.* (2018) 132:1134–45. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-08-802926
- 32. Zhang L, Sosinowski T, Cox AR, Cepeda JR, Sekhar NS, Hartig SM, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells targeting a pathogenic MHC class II:peptide complex modulate the progression of autoimmune diabetes. J Autoimmun. (2019) 96:50–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2018.08.004
- Rudolph MG, Stanfield RL, Wilson IA. How TCRs bind MHCs, peptides, and coreceptors. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2006) 24:419–66. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115658
- 34. Watanabe K, Terakura S, Martens AC, van Meerten T, Uchiyama S, Imai M, et al. Target antigen density governs the efficacy of anti-CD20-CD28-CD3 zeta chimeric antigen receptor-modified effector CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol.* (2015) 194:911–20. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402346
- Stone JD, Aggen DH, Schietinger A, Schreiber H, Kranz DM. A sensitivity scale for targeting T cells with chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) and bispecific T-cell engagers (BiTEs). *Oncoimmunology*. (2012) 1:863–73. doi: 10.4161/onci.20592
- Olejniczak SH, Stewart CC, Donohue K, Czuczman MS. A quantitative exploration of surface antigen expression in common B-cell malignancies using flow cytometry. *Immunol Invest.* (2006) 35:93–114. doi: 10.1080/08820130500496878
- Schiller CB, Braciak TA, Fenn NC, Seidel UJ, Roskopf CC, Wildenhain S, et al. CD19-specific triplebody SPM-1 engages NK and gammadelta T cells for rapid and efficient lysis of malignant B-lymphoid cells. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:83392–408. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.13110
- Rammensee HG, Falk K, Rotzschke O. Peptides naturally presented by MHC class I molecules. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (1993) 11:213–44. doi: 10.1146/annurev.iy.11.040193.001241
- Brower RC, England R, Takeshita T, Kozlowski S, Margulies DH, Berzofsky JA, et al. Minimal requirements for peptide mediated activation of CD8+ CTL. *Mol Immunol.* (1994) 31:1285–93. doi: 10.1016/0161-5890(94)90079-5
- Sykulev Y, Joo M, Vturina I, Tsomides TJ, Eisen HN. Evidence that a single peptide-MHC complex on a target cell can elicit a cytolytic T cell response. *Immunity*. (1996) 4:565–71. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80483-5
- 41. den Haan JM, Meadows LM, Wang W, Pool J, Blokland E, Bishop TL, et al. The minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1: a diallelic gene with a single amino acid polymorphism. *Science*. (1998) 279:1054–7. doi: 10.1126/science.279.5353.1054
- Spierings E, Gras S, Reiser JB, Mommaas B, Almekinders M, Kester MG, et al. Steric hindrance and fast dissociation explain the lack of immunogenicity of the minor histocompatibility HA-1Arg null allele. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:4809–16. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803911
- Pierce RA, Field ED, Mutis T, Golovina TN, Von Kap-Herr C, Wilke M, et al. The HA-2 minor histocompatibility antigen is derived from a diallelic gene encoding a novel human class I myosin protein. *J Immunol.* (2001) 167:3223–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.6.3223
- 44. Aleksic M, Liddy N, Molloy PE, Pumphrey N, Vuidepot A, Chang KM, et al. Different affinity windows for virus and cancer-specific T-cell receptors: implications for therapeutic strategies. *Eur J Immunol.* (2012) 42:3174–9. doi: 10.1002/eji.201242606
- Valitutti S, Muller S, Cella M, Padovan E, Lanzavecchia A. Serial triggering of many T-cell receptors by a few peptide-MHC complexes. *Nature*. (1995) 375:148–51. doi: 10.1038/375148a0

- Kalergis AM, Boucheron N, Doucey MA, Palmieri E, Goyarts EC, Vegh Z, et al. Efficient T cell activation requires an optimal dwell-time of interaction between the TCR and the pMHC complex. *Nat Immunol.* (2001) 2:229–34. doi: 10.1038/85286
- James SE, Greenberg PD, Jensen MC, Lin Y, Wang J, Budde LE, et al. Mathematical modeling of chimeric TCR triggering predicts the magnitude of target lysis and its impairment by TCR downmodulation. *J Immunol.* (2010) 184:4284–94. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903701
- Gonzalez PA, Carreno LJ, Coombs D, Mora JE, Palmieri E, Goldstein B, et al. T cell receptor binding kinetics required for T cell activation depend on the density of cognate ligand on the antigen-presenting cell. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2005) 102:4824–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0500922102
- Chames P, Hufton SE, Coulie PG, Uchanska-Ziegler B, Hoogenboom HR. Direct selection of a human antibody fragment directed against the tumor T-cell epitope HLA-A1-MAGE-A1 from a nonimmunized phage-Fab library. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2000) 97:7969–74. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.14.7969
- Chames P, Willemsen RA, Rojas G, Dieckmann D, Rem L, Schuler G, et al. TCR-like human antibodies expressed on human CTLs mediate antibody affinity-dependent cytolytic activity. *J Immunol.* (2002) 169:1110–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.2.1110
- Turatti F, Figini M, Balladore E, Alberti P, Casalini P, Marks JD, et al. Redirected activity of human antitumor chimeric immune receptors is governed by antigen and receptor expression levels and affinity of interaction. *J Immunother*. (2007) 30:684–93. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e3180de5d90
- Cameron BJ, Gerry AB, Dukes J, Harper JV, Kannan V, Bianchi FC, et al. Identification of a titin-derived HLA-A1-presented peptide as a cross-reactive target for engineered MAGE A3-directed T cells. *Sci Transl Med.* (2013) 5:197ra103. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3006034
- Lamers CH, Sleijfer S, Vulto AG, Kruit WH, Kliffen M, Debets R, et al. Treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma with autologous T-lymphocytes genetically retargeted against carbonic anhydrase IX: first clinical experience. *J Clin Oncol.* (2006) 24:e20–2. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.05.9964
- Parkhurst MR, Yang JC, Langan RC, Dudley ME, Nathan DA, Feldman SA, et al. T cells targeting carcinoembryonic antigen can mediate regression of metastatic colorectal cancer but induce severe transient colitis. *Mol Ther*. (2011) 19:620–6. doi: 10.1038/mt.2010.272
- Gao Z, Tong C, Wang Y, Chen D, Wu Z, Han W. Blocking CD38-driven fratricide among T cells enables effective antitumor activity by CD38-specific chimeric antigen receptor T cells. *J Genet Genomics*. (2019) 46:367–77. doi: 10.1016/j.jgg.2019.06.007
- 56. Patton J, Vuyyuru R, Siglin A, Root M, Manser T. Evaluation of the efficiency of human immune system reconstitution in NSG mice and NSG mice containing a human HLA.A2 transgene using hematopoietic stem cells purified from different sources. *J Immunol Methods*. (2015) 422:13–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2015.02.007
- Siegler EL, Wang P. Preclinical models in chimeric antigen receptorengineered T-cell therapy. *Hum Gene Ther.* (2018) 29:534–46. doi: 10.1089/hum.2017.243
- Griffioen M, van Bergen CA, Falkenburg JH. Autosomal minor histocompatibility antigens: how genetic variants create diversity in immune targets. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:100. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00100
- Murata M, Warren EH, Riddell SR. A human minor histocompatibility antigen resulting from differential expression due to a gene deletion. J Exp Med. (2003) 197:1279–89. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030044
- Akatsuka Y, Nishida T, Kondo E, Miyazaki M, Taji H, Iida H, et al. Identification of a polymorphic gene, BCL2A1, encoding two novel hematopoietic lineage-specific minor histocompatibility antigens. *J Exp Med.* (2003) 197:1489–500. doi: 10.1084/jem.20021925
- Kawase T, Nannya Y, Torikai H, Yamamoto G, Onizuka M, Morishima S, et al. Identification of human minor histocompatibility antigens based on genetic association with highly parallel genotyping of pooled DNA. *Blood.* (2008) 111:3286–94. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-10-118950
- Dolstra H, Fredrix H, Maas F, Coulie PG, Brasseur F, Mensink E, et al. A human minor histocompatibility antigen specific for B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Exp Med. (1999) 189:301–8. doi: 10.1084/jem.189.2.301
- 63. Dolstra H, de Rijke B, Fredrix H, Balas A, Maas F, Scherpen F, et al. Bi-directional allelic recognition of the human minor histocompatibility

antigen HB-1 by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Eur J Immunol.* (2002) 32:2748– 58. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(2002010)32:10<2748::AID-IMMU2748>3. 0.CO;2-T

- 64. de Rijke B, van Horssen-Zoetbrood A, Beekman JM, Otterud B, Maas F, Woestenenk R, et al. A frameshift polymorphism in P2X5 elicits an allogeneic cytotoxic T lymphocyte response associated with remission of chronic myeloid leukemia. J Clin Invest. (2005) 115:3506–16. doi: 10.1172/JCI24832
- Kawase T, Akatsuka Y, Torikai H, Morishima S, Oka A, Tsujimura A, et al. Alternative splicing due to an intronic SNP in HMSD generates a novel minor histocompatibility antigen. *Blood.* (2007) 110:1055–63. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-02-075911
- 66. Brickner AG, Evans AM, Mito JK, Xuereb SM, Feng X, Nishida T, et al. The PANE1 gene encodes a novel human minor histocompatibility antigen that is selectively expressed in B-lymphoid cells and B-CLL. *Blood.* (2006) 107:3779–86. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-08-3501
- Zorn E, Miklos DB, Floyd BH, Mattes-Ritz A, Guo L, Soiffer RJ, et al. Minor histocompatibility antigen DBY elicits a coordinated B and T cell response after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. J Exp Med. (2004) 199:1133–42. doi: 10.1084/jem.20031560
- 68. Franssen LE, Roeven MWH, Hobo W, Doorn R, Oostvogels R, Falkenburg JHF, et al. A phase I/II minor histocompatibility antigen-loaded dendritic cell vaccination trial to safely improve the efficacy of donor lymphocyte

infusions in myeloma. Bone Marrow Transplant. (2017) 52:1378-83. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2017.118

- 69. Oostvogels R, Kneppers E, Minnema MC, Doorn RC, Franssen LE, Aarts T, et al. Efficacy of host-dendritic cell vaccinations with or without minor histocompatibility antigen loading, combined with donor lymphocyte infusion in multiple myeloma patients. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. (2017) 52:228–37. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2016.250
- 70. Inman CF, Eldershaw SA, Pearce H, Abbotts BE, Sirovica M, Ferguson P, et al. Vaccination with a DNA and MVA prime-boost regimen induces strong CD8+ T-cell responses against the immunodominant minor histocompatibility antigen, HA-1: results of a first-in-man phase I clinical trial. *Blood.* (2017) 130:1908. doi: 10.1182/blood.V130.Suppl_1.1908.1908

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Akatsuka. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Discovery and Differential Processing of HLA Class II-Restricted Minor Histocompatibility Antigen LB-PIP4K2A-1S and Its Allelic Variant by Asparagine Endopeptidase

Anita N. Kremer^{1*}, Judith Bausenwein¹, Ellie Lurvink², Andreas E. Kremer³, Caroline E. Rutten², Cornelis A. M. van Bergen², Sascha Kretschmann¹, Edith van der Meijden¹, Maria W. Honders², Daniela Mazzeo⁴, Colin Watts⁴, Andreas Mackensen¹, J. H. Frederik Falkenburg² and Marieke Griffioen²

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peter Brossart, University of Bonn, Germany

Reviewed by:

Bruce Loveland, Burnet Institute, Australia Manel Juan, Hospital Clínic de Barcelona, Spain

*Correspondence:

Anita N. Kremer anita.kremer@uk-erlangen.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 22 November 2019 Accepted: 17 February 2020 Published: 11 March 2020

Citation:

Kremer AN, Bausenwein J, Lurvink E, Kremer AE, Rutten CE, van Bergen CAM, Kretschmann S, van der Meijden E, Honders MW, Mazzeo D, Watts C, Mackensen A, Falkenburg JHF and Griffioen M (2020) Discovery and Differential Processing of HLA Class II-Restricted Minor Histocompatibility Antigen LB-PIP4K2A-1S and Its Allelic Variant by Asparagine Endopeptidase. Front. Immunol. 11:381. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00381 ¹ Department of Internal Medicine 5, Hematology/Oncology, Friedrich Alexander University Erlangen-Nuremberg, Erlangen, Germany, ² Department of Hematology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ³ Department of Internal Medicine 1, Gastroenterology, Pneumology and Endocrinology, Friedrich Alexander University Erlangen-Nuremberg, Erlangen, Germany, ⁴ Division of Cell Signaling & Immunology, School of Life Sciences, University of Dundee, Dundee, United Kingdom

Minor histocompatibility antigens are the main targets of donor-derived T-cells after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Identification of these antigens and understanding their biology are a key requisite for more insight into how graft vs. leukemia effect and graft vs. host disease could be separated. We here identified four new HLA class II-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens using whole genome association scanning. For one of the new antigens, i.e., LB-PIP4K2A-1S, we measured strong T-cell recognition of the donor variant PIP4K2A-1N when pulsed as exogenous peptide, while the endogenously expressed variant in donor EBV-B cells was not recognized. We showed that lack of Tcell recognition was caused by intracellular cleavage by a protease named asparagine endopeptidase (AEP). Furthermore, microarray gene expression analysis showed that PIP4K2A and AEP are both ubiquitously expressed in a wide variety of healthy tissues, but that expression levels of AEP were lower in primary acute myeloid leukemia (AML). In line with that, we confirmed low activity of AEP in AML cells and demonstrated that HLA-DRB1*03:01 positive primary AML expressing LB-PIP4K2A-1S or its donor variant PIP4K2A-1N were both recognized by specific T-cells. In conclusion, LB-PIP4K2A-1S not only represents a novel minor histocompatibility antigen but also provides evidence that donor T-cells after allogeneic stem cell transplantation can target the autologous allelic variant as leukemia-associated antigen. Furthermore, it demonstrates that endopeptidases can play a role in cell type-specific intracellular processing and presentation of HLA class II-restricted antigens, which may be explored in future immunotherapy of AML.

Keywords: minor histocompatibility antigens, CD4 T-cells, HLA class II, allogeneic stem cell transplantation, graft vs. leukemia effect

INTRODUCTION

HLA-matched allogeneic stem cell transplantation (alloSCT) is a routinely applied treatment option for many hematological malignancies (1). Donor-derived T-lymphocytes can thereby recognize residual malignant cells of the patient, leading to the beneficial graft vs. leukemia (GvL) effect (2). These T-cells are directed against minor histocompatibility antigens, which are polymorphic peptides differentially presented on patient and donor cells that are able to elicit CD8⁺ or CD4⁺ donor T-cells in the context of self-HLA (3). A variety of HLA-class I- and IIrestricted minor histocompatibility antigens have been identified by different techniques (4–11), and for several of these antigens, the appearance of specific CD8⁺ T-cells was closely followed by complete remissions of the malignancies (12–15), indicating the clinical relevance of these T-cells.

Different mechanisms have been shown to create HLA class I-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens. Most antigens are encoded by "missense" single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in coding gene regions that directly lead to an amino acid change in the protein. Antigens can also be created by SNPs in coding gene regions that are synonymous in the normal reading frame, but missense in an alternative reading frame. In addition, antigens can be derived from proteins that are translated in an alternative reading frame as a result of small indels, such as for LRH-1 (13) or due to the presence of a non-polymorphic alternative start codon as shown for LB-ECGF-1H (14) and LB-ADIR-1F (15). Even SNPs in non-coding gene regions can create polymorphic antigens as a result of alternative mRNA splicing, as reported for PANE1 (16), ACC-6 (17), ITGB2 (18), and TTK (19). Finally, antigens can be encoded by polymorphic genes that are present in the patient, but homozygously deleted in the donor as shown for UGT2B17 (20).

Besides a direct difference in interaction of the presented peptide with the T-cell receptor (TCR), also differential processing of patient and donor variants can determine the immunogenicity of a polymorphism. Intracellular processing has been described to preclude surface presentation of the donor variant of HA-3 (21), HA-8 (22), LB-NUP133-1R (23), and possibly HA-2 (24). These donor variants induce strong T-cell activation after exogenous peptide loading, but fail to activate specific T-cells when endogenously expressed, demonstrating that insufficient processing of the donor variant into the HLA class I pathway is the underlying reason for lack of T-cell recognition. Finally, it has been shown for HA-1 that impaired binding affinity of the donor variant to HLA-A*02:01 leads to an increased dissociation and therefore insufficient surface presentation (25).

Here, we present the identification of four new HLA class IIrestricted minor histocompatibility antigens by whole genome association scanning (WGAS). For three of these antigens, donor variant peptides were not recognized by specific Tcells when pulsed exogenously on donor EBV-LCL, suggesting that immunogenicity of the patient antigen is attributed to induction of T-cells expressing TCR that are able to discriminate between polymorphic residues. For the remaining antigen, i.e., LB-PIP4K2A-1S, we demonstrate that immunogenicity is at least partially mediated by intracellular cleavage of the donor variant by a protease named asparagine endopeptidase (AEP), thereby precluding its surface presentation. Interestingly, AEP is expressed at low levels in primary acute myeloid leukemia (AML), which hinders differential cleavage of polymorphic peptides and leads to strong T-cell recognition of both patientand donor-type antigens when presented by HLA class II.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Hematopoietic Cell Isolation

Peripheral blood was obtained from healthy individuals and patients with leukemia after approval by the Leiden University Medical Center Institutional Review Board and informed consent according to the Declaration of Helsinki. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were isolated by Ficoll-Isopaque separation and cryopreserved. CD34+ hematopoietic stem cells were isolated from stem cell grafts and CD33+ AML blasts from peripheral blood or bone marrow by flow cytometric cell sorting.

Cell Culture

MJS, SD1 (26), and EBV-transformed B-cell lines (EBV-LCL) were cultured in IMDM (Lonza BioWhittaker) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (FCS) (Cambrex), 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Lonza), and 1.5% L-glutamine (Lonza). T-cell clones were cultured in IMDM supplemented with 5% human AB serum (Anprotec), 5% FCS, and 100 IU/ml interleukin-2 (IL-2) (Chiron), and restimulated every 10–20 days with irradiated (50 gray) allogeneic PBMCs and 0.8 µg/ml phytohemagglutinin (PHA) (Oxoid).

Whole Genome Association Scanning

WGAS was performed as previously described (27). Briefly, a panel of 80 EBV-LCL was genotyped for 1.1 million SNPs using microarrays. T-cell recognition of the panel was measured after retroviral transduction with the HLA-DRB1*03:01 restriction molecule, and recognition patterns were compared with SNP genotype data. The level of matching between the patterns of T-cell recognition and SNP genotypes was calculated by Fisher's exact test using PLINK WGA analysis software (28). For WGAS, test results needed to be categorized in two distinct groups. Therefore, EBV-LCL were divided into positive and negative groups based on the level of IFN- γ production. WGAS was performed by combining T-cell recognition with SNP genotyping data.

Sequencing of PIP4K2A Genotype

Genomic DNA of patient- and donor-derived EBV-LCL, MJS, primary AML, and primary healthy CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem cells was isolated by using QIAamp DNA Blood mini kit (Qiagen) mini columns. DNA concentrations have been measured using a NanoDrop Microvolume spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher). PCR amplification (initial denaturation 2 min 30 s; 94°C; 40 cycles: denaturation 45 s; 95°C, annealing 45 s; 60°C, elongation 1 min 30 s; 72°C; final elongation 10 min, 72°C) was performed using 100 ng of genomic DNA with the following primers: 5′-GCC AAA GAA CTG CCA ACT CT-3′ (forward primer) and 5'-GGC CTC TCC ACT GAC TGT TC-3' (reverse primer). PCR products were purified using the QIAquick PCR purification kit (Qiagen). Sanger sequencing was performed using 25 pmol of the forward and reverse primer, respectively, and 200 ng of purified PCR product. Sequence reaction was performed by Eurofins Genomics (Luxembourg).

Flow Cytometry

For isolation of retrovirally transduced cells carrying the marker gene CD2, APC-labeled anti-murine CD2 (clone RM2-5; Biolegend) was used. Healthy hematopoietic stem cells were isolated based on expression of CD34 using PE-labeled anti-CD34 (8G12; BD) and acute myeloid leukemic cells were isolated based on expression of CD33 using BV421-labeled anti-CD33 (WM53; BD). Cells were washed twice with phosphate-buffered saline containing 2% FCS and incubated with fluorochrome-conjugated monoclonal antibodies for 30 min at room temperature. Data acquisition was performed on a fluorescence-activated cell sorter Canto II and a fluorescence-activated cell sorter BD FACS Aria (BD Biosciences). Forward scatter/side scatter was used for gating on viable cells. FSC-H/-A was used for doublet exclusion. Data were analyzed with Kaluza 2.1. (Beckman Coulter).

Retroviral Constructs and Transduction

All experiments involving retroviral vectors were approved by the government and handled according to biosafety level 2. All constructs were cloned in MP71 retroviral vectors containing different marker genes. PIP4K2A was linked to the GFP marker gene, AEP to murine \triangle CD2, and HLA-DRB1*03:01 to Δ NGFR. All constructs were verified by sequencing. Retroviral supernatant was obtained by transfecting wild-type Φ nx-A packaging cells as previously described (29), with the exception that the X-tremeGENE HP DNA Transfection Reagent transfection kit (Roche Diagnostics) was used. Non-tissue culture-treated culture plates were coated (overnight at 4°C) with RetroNectin (30 µg/ml) Recombinant Human Fibronectin Fragment (Takara) before harvested retroviral supernatants were applied and centrifuged at 32°C for 2 h at 2,000 g. After centrifugation, cells $(1-5 \times 10^5)$ were directly transferred into the infectious supernatant and marker gene expression measured after 3 days by flow cytometry.

Antigen Presentation Assays

Stimulator cells (3 × 10⁴ cells/well or as indicated) were coincubated with the CD4⁺ T-cell clone (5 × 10³ cells/well or as indicated) overnight at 37°C in 96-well plates in duplicates. For peptide loading, stimulator cells were incubated with indicated peptide concentrations for 2 h at 37°C before T-cell clones were added. For shutdown of the tet-off system, cells were cultured in the presence of 50 µg/ml doxycycline and washed twice before co-incubation with the T-cell clone. Cytokine release was measured after overnight incubation in 100-µl supernatants by IFN- γ ELISA following the instructions of the manufacturer (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

Enzymatic Activity of AEP

To determine the activity of AEP, cells were lysed by three cycles of freezing and thawing. Subnuclear fractions were collected by harvesting supernatants after centrifugation at 10,000 *g* for 20 min. Protein concentrations were measured using the BCA protein assay (Thermo Scientific). Cellular lysates (2 and 5 μ g) were resuspended in sodium citrate buffer (50 mM, pH 5.5; 5 mM DTT, 0.1% CHAPS). Z-Ala-Ala-Asn-AMC (10 μ M; Bachem) was added to the lysates for 30 min at room temperature. Developing fluorescence (excitation 370 nm; emission 460 nm) was measured for 10 min on a NOVOstar analyzer (BMG labtech).

Microarray Gene Analysis

Total RNA was isolated using small- and micro-scale RNAqueous isolation kits (Ambion) and amplified using the TotalPrep RNA amplification kit (Ambion). After preparation using the wholegenome gene expression direct hybridization assay (Illumina), cRNA samples were dispensed onto Human HT-12 v3 Expression BeadChips (Illumina). Hybridization was performed in the Illumina hybridization oven for 17 h at 58°C. Microarray gene expression data were analyzed using R 2.15. Normalization was done in the lumi package, using the variance stabilizing transformation and quantile normalization (30).

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed with Prism 8.3.0 (GraphPad Software Inc.). If not otherwise stated, for statistical analysis, at least three individual experiments were performed and the unpaired *t*-test was applied. Statistical significance was indicated as *P < 0.05 or **P < 0.01. For WGAS, the level of matching between T-cell recognition pattern and SNP data was calculated according to Fisher's exact test.

RESULTS

Identification of Four New HLA Class II-Restricted Minor Histocompatibility Antigens by WGAS

The target antigens of four CD4⁺ T-cell clones were identified by WGAS. All T-cell clones have been shown to be specific for minor histocompatibility antigens by recognizing patient but not donor EBV-LCL. Clone 100 has been isolated from bone marrow of patient 3,087, 5 weeks after donor lymphocyte infusion (DLI) for relapsed chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) after alloSCT (9) and was restricted to HLA-DRB1*03:01. Clone 8-10A and clone 8-15 were isolated from peripheral blood of patient 2,877, 4 weeks after DLI for relapsed CML after alloSCT and were both restricted to HLA-DQB1*06:02. Finally, clone 15-18, which was also HLA-DQB1*06:02-restricted, was isolated from patient 5,852 who was treated with DLI for mixed chimerism 6 months after alloSCT for myelodysplastic syndrome refractory anemia with excess of blasts type 2. To identify the target antigens of these T-cell clones, we tested reactivity against a panel SNP-genotyped EBV-LCL either transduced with HLA-DRB1*03:01 (clone 100; Figure 1A) or endogenously expressing HLA-DQB1*06:02 (clones 8-10A, 8-15, and 15-18) and correlated T-cell recognition data with SNP



genotypes of the respective EBV-LCL (27). The level of matching was calculated according to Fisher's exact test.

For clone 100, one SNP genotype significantly associated with T-cell recognition with a *P*-value $< 1 \times 10^{-9}$ (**Figure 1B**). This was a coding missense SNP (rs10828317) in PIP4K2A (HGNC ID: 8997). Sequencing cDNA of patient and donor EBV-LCL for the region encompassing the SNP confirmed heterozygosity in patient cells at this position (G/A), whereas donor cells were homozygous A/A. This A-to-G transition creates an Asn-to-Ser substitution at amino acid position 251 (N->S251) of the PIP4K2A protein.

For clone 8-10A, two SNPs (rs4242391 and rs1133782) significantly associated with T-cell recognition with *P*-values $<1 \times 10^{-9}$. One of these SNPs (rs1133782) is a missense variant in TNFRSF10D (HGNC ID: 11907). The T-to-C transition creates a Leu-to-Ser substitution at amino acid position 310 (L->S310) of the TNFRSF10D protein.

Two SNP genotypes (rs4740 and rs4905) with *P*-values $<1 \times 10^{-8}$ associated with T-cell recognition by clone 8-15. Rs4740 is a missense variant in EBI3 (HGNC ID: 3129) and the G-to-A transition translates into a Val-to-Ile substitution at amino acid position 201 (V->I201) of the EBI3 protein.

Also for clone 15-18, two SNP (rs17700475 and rs6441226) associated with T-cell recognition with *P*-values $< 1 \times 10^{-9}$. SNP rs6441226 is an intron variant in MFSD1 (HGNC ID: 25874), which has a minor allele frequency (MAF) of 0.1478 in 1,000 Genomes. Searching the SNP database for a missense SNP with a similar MAF revealed SNP rs28364680 that encodes a C-to-T transition leading to a Pro-to-Ser substitution.

T-cell recognition of donor EBV-LCL loaded with synthetic peptides surrounding the patient and donor variants confirmed T-cell specificity for the patient variants and validated these peptides as minor histocompatibility (Supplemental Table 1). T-cell antigens clones 8-10A, 8-15, and 15-18 failed to recognize donor peptide (Supplemental Figure 1). T-cell clone variants 100, however, showed strong recognition of the donor variant (INEGQKIYIDDNNKKVFLE) at peptide concentrations >50 nM, while there was no recognition at lower peptide concentrations (Figure 1C). The patient peptide variant (INEGQKIYIDDNSKKVFLE) was recognized at peptide concentrations >5 nM. These data indicate that the TCR of clone 100 is less able to discriminate between polymorphic peptides than the TCR of clones 8-10A, 8-15, and 15-18, suggesting that also other mechanisms are involved in differential recognition of patient and donor EBV-LCL.

Surface Presentation of Donor Variant PIP4K2A-1N Is Hampered by AEP-Mediated Cleavage

To investigate whether donor EBV-LCL fail to present the donor variant peptide as a consequence of low gene expression, we established overexpression of PIP4K2A by retroviral transduction. Interestingly, overexpression of full-length PIP4K2A encoding donor variant PIP4K2A-1N induced only low recognition of donor EBV-LCL, while significant recognition was observed for transduced melanoma Mel-Juso (MJS) cells (**Figure 2**). This suggests that another intracellular mechanism

than gene expression is involved in differential recognition of LB-PIP4K2A-1S and its allelic variant. As the donor PIP4K2A-1N variant is defined by an asparagine in substitution of a serine in the patient variant, we hypothesized that the donor peptide may be intracellularly cleaved by AEP (alias LGMN) as described for other antigens (26). We therefore expressed the full-length patient and donor genes for PIP4K2A in melanoma cell line SD1, which expressed a tet-off system with AEP under control of doxycycline (26). Testing T-cell recognition of these transduced SD1 cell lines revealed increased recognition of PIP4K2A-1N after treatment with doxycycline, which shuts down AEP enzyme activity (Figure 3A). To confirm these data, we cloned the AEP gene and retrovirally overexpressed the protein in MJS cells co-transduced with the PIP4K2A variants. T-cell recognition of PIP4K2A-1N was significantly decreased upon overexpression of AEP, while recognition of LB-PIP4K2A-1S was not affected (Figure 3B). These data indicated that donor variant PIP4K2A-1N is enzymatically cleaved by AEP, thereby hampering presentation and T-cell recognition of the epitope at the cell surface.

Low Expression of AEP in Primary AML and Healthy CD34⁺ Hematopoietic Stem Cells

We hypothesized that enzymatic cleavage of donor variant PIP4K2A-1N could potentially be overcome by high expression of the substrate, i.e., PIP4K2A, or low expression or activity of AEP, and therefore analyzed mRNA expression of PIP4K2A and AEP by microarray gene analysis (**Figure 4** and **Supplemental Table 2**). In addition to MJS and various other cancer cell lines, we analyzed gene expression in a wide variety of primary cell types of hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic origin, including bone marrow and PBMC, primary T- and B-cells, monocytes, macrophages, monocyte-derived immature and mature dendritic cells, healthy CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem cells, acute and chronic myeloid leukemia, acute and chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and multiple myeloma as well as







FIGURE 3 | Recognition of endogenously expressed PIP4K2A-1N donor variant correlates with activity of asparagine endopeptidase AEP. (A) SD1 cells expressing a tet-off vector system with AEP were retrovirally transduced with full-length genes encoding the LB-PIP4K2A-1S patient variant or PIP4K2A-1N donor variant and tested for T-cell recognition with and without prior doxycyclin (dox) treatment (left). Enzyme activity with and without doxycyclin treatment has been measured in cellular lysates (right). NC, negative control. (B) T-cell recognition of MJS retrovirally transduced with full-length genes encoding LB-PIP4K2A-1S patient variant or PIP4K2A-1N donor variant and tested for T-cell recognition has been measured in cellular lysates (right). NC, negative control. (B) T-cell recognition of MJS retrovirally transduced with full-length genes encoding LB-PIP4K2A-1S patient variant or PIP4K2A-1N donor variant with or without additional transduction of AEP (LGMN). T-cell recognition has been tested in IFN- γ ELISA (left). Enzyme activity of AEP has been measured in transduced cell lines and fetal calf serum (FCS) as negative control (right). 'P < 0.05; ''P < 0.01 (unpaired *t*-test). One representative of three independent experiments is shown.

primary fibroblasts, keratinocytes, proximal tubular epithelial cells, human umbilical vein endothelial cells, melanocytes, hepatocytes, and gut, lung, bile duct, and cornea epithelial cells. Various non-hematopoietic cell types were also cultured in the absence or presence of IFN- γ to mimic an inflammatory environment. Interestingly, we observed low expression of AEP especially in primary AML and CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem cells, while PIP4K2A expression was less variable.

Primary AML Elicit T-Cell Reactivity Independent of Their SNP Status

Since AEP expression is low in primary AML and CD34⁺ hematopoietic progenitor cells, we tested whether T-cell clone 100 could recognize PIP4K2A peptides on these cell types independent of the patient SNP. Primary AML cells were sorted on CD33 by flow cytometry and tested for recognition by T-cell clone 100 in IFN- γ ELISA. Data showed that all AML

that were positive for the relevant restriction molecule HLA-DRB1*0301 were recognized by the T-cell clone independent of their SNP status (Figure 5A). In contrast, AML cells that lacked HLA-DRB1*0301 were not recognized. We also tested activity of AEP in these cells and confirmed low or absent enzyme activity, which is in line with low mRNA expression in these cells. In addition to AML cells, T-cell recognition of primary CD34⁺ hematopoietic progenitors was tested. In contrast to AML, donor variant PIP4K2A-1N was not recognized on CD34⁺ cells, which is probably due to low HLA class II expression or other accessory molecules in these cells since exogenous peptide loading also induced only marginal T-cell recognition of LB-PIP4K2A-1S. In contrast, a CMV derived antigen peptide presented in HLA-A*02:01 mediated strong Tcell recognition (Figure 5B). In conclusion, the data showed that T-cell clone 100 recognizes primary AML independent of their SNP status, thereby confirming surface presentation of donor variant PIP4K2A-1N in the absence of AEP.

DISCUSSION

T-cells directed against minor histocompatibility antigens are well established to mediate strong immune responses both against residual malignant cells and potentially against healthy non-malignant cells of the patient. A further understanding of these T-cell responses is crucial for eventually separating the effects of GvL and Graft vs. host disease. We here present four new HLA class II-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens identified by WGAS. Furthermore, we demonstrate that one of the new antigens is differentially presented on patient and donor cells due to intracellular cleavage of the donor peptide by AEP. This enzyme is not or less active in AML due to low expression of the endopeptidase. As a result, AML cells can be targeted by donor T-cells independent of the SNP status. These data illustrate that endopeptidases can play a role in cell type-specific intracellular processing and presentation of HLA class II antigens and provide evidence that after alloSCT, donor T-cells for minor histocompatibility antigens can also target the respective allelic variants as cell type-specific autoantigens.

Although it has been shown for various HLA class I-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens that their immunogenicity is based on differential intracellular processing of patient and donor variant peptides (21, 22, 24), all so far identified HLA class IIrestricted minor histocompatibility antigens are recognized by Tcell receptors that fail to react with donor variants. Also, for three new HLA class II antigens identified here, donor variants are not recognized when loaded as exogenous peptides, indicating that patient and donor peptides are differentially recognized by the T-cell receptor as expressed by the specific T-cell clone. Alternatively, it is also possible that the donor peptide does not sufficiently bind to the HLA molecule and is therefore not presented, as described for HA-1 (25). However, for one new HLA class II antigen, i.e., LB-PIP4K2B-1S, we observed that its donor variant PIP4K2A-1N is strongly recognized when pulsed as exogenous peptide, suggesting involvement of an intracellular processing mechanism in differential recognition



FIGURE 4 | RNA expression of PIP4K2A and AEP in various human cell types by microarray gene analysis. (A) PIP4K2A gene expression in primary cells. (B) AEP gene expression in primary cells. (C) PIP4K2A gene expression in cell lines. (D) AEP gene expression in cell lines. Healthy and malignant hematopoietic cells are represented by gray and black dots, respectively, while open symbols represent non-hematopoietic cell types. Gene expression was measured on Illumina HT-12 BeadChips as described previously (30). BMMC, bone marrow mononuclear cells; PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; Mono, monocytes, Mø1, type 1 macrophages; Mø2, type 2 macrophages; imDC, immature dendritic cells; matDC, mature dendritic cells; HSC, hematopoietic CD34⁺ stem cells; EBV-B, EBV-transformed B cells; PHA-T, PHA-stimulated T-cells; ALL, acute lymphocytic leukemia; AML, acute myeloid leukemia; CML, chronic myeloid leukemia; MM, multiple myeloma; FB, fibroblasts; KC, keratinocytes; PTEC, proximal tubular epithelial cells; HUVEC, human umbilical vein endothelial cells.



of patient and donor variant. Of note, peptide titration still showed a marked difference in T-cell activation between LB-PIP4K2A-1S and its donor variant, indicating that intracellular processing is not the only mechanism and that the affinity of the T-cell receptor as expressed by the specific T-cell clone also contributes to differential recognition of patient and donor peptides. However, the observation that AEP strongly affects endogenous presentation of donor variant PIP4K2A-1N, but not of LB-PIP4K2A-1S, confirmed involvement of this endopeptidase in intracellular processing of the HLA class II antigen.

A role for AEP in antigen processing has already been described for other antigens. For tetanus toxin C fragment (TTCF), it has been demonstrated that deamidation of an asparagine residue hinders enzymatic cleavage by AEP, thereby perturbing antigen presentation (31). Whereas cleavage by AEP

enhances antigen presentation for TTCF, presentation of LB-PIP4K2A-1S is disrupted. Similarly, it has been shown for myelin basic protein (MBP), which is an autoantigen in the inflammatory demyelinating disease multiple sclerosis, that autoreactive Tcells can evade central tolerance due to enzymatic cleavage of the autoantigen in the thymus (26). It has been suggested that under certain circumstances, these MBP-specific T-cells may become activated and induce autoimmunity. One of these circumstances may be the posttranslational modification of the asparagine residue by deamidation, thereby hindering cleavage and enhancing MBP antigen presentation. Non-enzymatic deamidation of asparagine to aspartic acid is the most commonly observed posttranslational modification in proteins. Although the C-terminally flanking lysine in PIP4K2A-1N is not ideal, deamidation of the asparagine can occur at intermediate turnover rates (32) and may therefore contribute to surface presentation of the donor variant.

Apparently, in the stem cell donor for patient 3,087, a T-cell expressing a TCR for donor variant PIP4K2A-1N has evaded central tolerance, suggesting that the donor variant is not expressed during thymic selection. This is in line with our observation that even non-physiological levels of overexpression of the donor variant does not lead to strong T-cell activation. This, together with the observation that the stem cell donor and the transplanted patient lack any signs of autoimmunity, indicates that donor variant PIP4K2A-1N is not or not sufficiently presented on all or the majority of healthy tissues *in vivo*.

Thinking about therapeutic approaches, it is tempting to speculate that the TCR as expressed by the T-cell clone for LB-PIP4K2A-1S could be used for gene therapy to treat AML in patients who are homozygous for the donor variant (N/N) without need of prior transplantation. In this setting, the TCR is expected to selectively recognize PIP4K2A-1N as tumor antigen on low AEP-expressing leukemic cells, whereas all or the majority of healthy tissues are not expected to present the epitope due to intracellular AEP-mediated cleavage. While low expression of AEP in healthy CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem cells is of concern, our in vitro experiments failed to show any Tcell recognition of these cells, probably due to a low overall HLA class II expression or lack of other accessory molecules stimulatory capacity in these cells. Moreover, we isolated the T-cell clone for LB-PIP4K2A-1S during GvL reactivity from a patient who was transplanted with CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem cells from a PIP4K2A-1N homozygous donor, but had no signs of myeloablation. However, it cannot entirely be excluded that side effects may occur due to presentation of PIP4K2A-1N on certain cell types or healthy tissues as a result of low AEP expression or posttranslational modification of the asparagine residue. Although it is tempting to speculate, we would like to emphasize that we do not present PIP4K2A-1N as ideal target for immunotherapy of AML, since that conclusion requires additional in vitro and in vivo experiments, but rather as proof of concept that endopeptidases play a similar role in cell typespecific intracellular processing of HLA class II-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens as intracellular processing is known to be involved in presentation of HLA class I-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens (21–23).

Another question is why AML cells express low amounts of AEP and whether this can be influenced. Intriguingly, it was recently described that AEP is downregulated by PD-1 signaling in regulatory T-cells (33). It is tempting to speculate that this may also occur in tumor cells during immune evasion (34). This would make PIP4K2A-1N more attractive as a leukemia-associated antigen to be targeted by immunotherapy perhaps

REFERENCES

1. Copelan EA. Hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation. N Engl J Med. (2006) 354:1813–26. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra052638

after or during treatment with cisplatin, a chemotherapeutic agent that is known to induce deamidation (35). Altogether, convincing evidence that PIP4K2A-1N can be used as a leukemiaspecific target is lacking and demands further exploration using *in vivo* models. Nevertheless, discovery of LB-PIP4K2A-1S as a new minor histocompatibility antigen revealed an interesting role of an endopeptidase in cell type-specific intracellular processing of this HLA class II-restricted antigen and its donor variant, which may be explored in future immunotherapy of AML.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The analyzed datasets for this study are deposited in the NCBI's Gene Expression Omnibus and are accessible through GEO Series accession number GSE76340 (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/geo/query/acc.cgi?acc=GSE76340).

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Leiden University Medical Center Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ANK performed and designed research and wrote the manuscript. JB, EL, CR, CB, SK, DM, EM, and MH performed research. AEK, CW, AM, JF, and MG designed research and wrote/reviewed the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Wellcome Trust (to CW) and the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation)—Project number 324392634—TRR 221 (A01) and KR 4313/3-1 (both to ANK).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the Core Unit Cell Sorting and Immunomonitoring Erlangen for cell sorting.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2020.00381/full#supplementary-material

Kolb HJ, Schattenberg A, Goldman JM, Hertenstein B, Jacobsen N, Arcese W, et al. Graft-versus-leukemia effect of donor lymphocyte transfusions in marrow grafted patients. *Blood.* (1995) 86:2041–50. doi: 10.1182/blood.V86.5.2041.bloodjournal8652041

- Falkenburg JH, van de C, Marijt EW, Willemze R. Minor histocompatibility antigens in human stem cell transplantation. *Exp.Hematol.* (2003) 31:743– 51. doi: 10.1016/S0301-472X(03)00190-5
- Griffioen M, van Bergen CA, Falkenburg JH. Autosomal minor histocompatibility antigens: how genetic variants create diversity in immune targets. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:100. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016. 00100
- Griffioen M, van der Meijden ED, Slager EH, Honders MW, Rutten CE, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, et al. Identification of phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase type II beta as HLA class II-restricted target in graft versus leukemia reactivity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:3837–42. doi: 10.1073/pnas.07122 50105
- Oostvogels R, Lokhorst HM, Minnema MC, van Elk M, van den Oudenalder K, Spierings E, et al. Identification of minor histocompatibility antigens based on the 1000 Genomes Project. *Haematologica*. (2014) 99:1854– 9. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2014.109801
- Spaapen RM, de Kort RA, van den OK, van EM, Bloem AC, Lokhorst HM, et al. Rapid identification of clinical relevant minor histocompatibility antigens via genome-wide zygosity-genotype correlation analysis. *Clin.Cancer Res.* (2009) 15:7137–43. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1914
- Spaapen RM, Lokhorst HM, van den OK, Otterud BE, Dolstra H, Leppert MF, et al. Toward targeting B cell cancers with CD4+ CTLs: identification of a CD19-encoded minor histocompatibility antigen using a novel genome-wide analysis. J Exp Med. (2008) 205:2863–72. doi: 10.1084/jem.20 080713
- Stumpf AN, van der Meijden ED, van Bergen CA, Willemze R, Falkenburg JH, Griffioen M. Identification of 4 new HLA-DR-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens as hematopoietic targets in antitumor immunity. *Blood.* (2009) 114:3684–92. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-03-208017
- van Balen P, van Bergen CAM, van Luxemburg-Heijs SAP, de Klerk W, van Egmond EHM, Veld SAJ, et al. CD4 donor lymphocyte infusion can cause conversion of chimerism without GVHD by inducing immune responses targeting minor histocompatibility antigens in HLA class II. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:3016. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.03016
- van Bergen CA, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, de Wreede LC, Eefting M, von dem Borne PA, van Balen P, et al. Selective graft-versus-leukemia depends on magnitude and diversity of the alloreactive T cell response. *J Clin Invest.* (2017) 127:517–29. doi: 10.1172/JCI86175
- Marijt WA, Heemskerk MH, Kloosterboer FM, Goulmy E, Kester MG, van der Hoorn MA, et al. Hematopoiesis-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens HA-1- or HA-2-specific T cells can induce complete remissions of relapsed leukemia. *ProcNatlAcadSciUSA*. (2003) 100:2742–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0530192100
- de Rijke B, van Horssen-Zoetbrood A, Beekman JM, Otterud B, Maas F, Woestenenk R, et al. A frameshift polymorphism in P2X5 elicits an allogeneic cytotoxic T lymphocyte response associated with remission of chronic myeloid leukemia. *JClinInvest.* (2005) 115:3506–16. doi: 10.1172/JCI 24832
- 14. Slager EH, Honders MW, van der Meijden ED, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, Kloosterboer FM, Kester MG, et al. Identification of the angiogenic endothelial-cell growth factor-1/thymidine phosphorylase as a potential target for immunotherapy of cancer. *Blood.* (2006) 107:4954–60. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-0 9-3883
- van Bergen CA, Kester MG, Jedema I, Heemskerk MH, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, Kloosterboer FM, et al. Multiple myeloma-reactive T cells recognize an activation-induced minor histocompatibility antigen encoded by the ATP-dependent interferon-responsive (ADIR) gene. *Blood.* (2007) 109:4089–96. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-08-0 43935
- Brickner AG, Evans AM, Mito JK, Xuereb SM, Feng X, Nishida T, et al. The PANE1 gene encodes a novel human minor histocompatibility antigen that is selectively expressed in B-lymphoid cells and B-CLL. *Blood.* (2006) 107:3779–86. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-0 8-3501
- 17. Kawase T, Akatsuka Y, Torikai H, Morishima S, Oka A, Tsujimura A, et al. Alternative splicing due to an intronic SNP in HMSD

generates a novel minor histocompatibility antigen. *Blood.* (2007) 110:1055–63. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-02-075911

- Pont MJ, van der Lee DI, van der Meijden ED, van Bergen CA, Kester MG, Honders MW, et al. Integrated whole genome and transcriptome analysis identified a therapeutic minor histocompatibility antigen in a splice variant of ITGB2. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:4185–96. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2307
- Pont MJ, Oostvogels R, van Bergen CAM, van der Meijden ED, Honders MW, Bliss S, et al. T cells specific for an unconventional natural antigen fail to recognize leukemic cells. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:797–804. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0137
- Murata M, Warren EH, Riddell SR. A human minor histocompatibility antigen resulting from differential expression due to a gene deletion. J Exp Med. (2003) 197:1279–89. doi: 10.1084/jem.200 30044
- Spierings E, Brickner AG, Caldwell JA, Zegveld S, Tatsis N, Blokland E, et al. The minor histocompatibility antigen HA-3 arises from differential proteasome-mediated cleavage of the lymphoid blast crisis (Lbc) oncoprotein. *Blood.* (2003) 102:621–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-01-0260
- Brickner AG, Warren EH, Caldwell JA, Akatsuka Y, Golovina TN, Zarling AL, et al. The immunogenicity of a new human minor histocompatibility antigen results from differential antigen processing. J Exp Med. (2001) 193:195– 206. doi: 10.1084/jem.193.2.195
- 23. Griffioen M, Honders MW, van der Meijden ED, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, Lurvink EG, Kester MG, et al. Identification of 4 novel HLA-B*40:01 restricted minor histocompatibility antigens and their potential as targets for graft-versus-leukemia reactivity. *Haematologica*. (2012) 97:1196– 204. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2011.049478
- 24. Pierce RA, Field ED, Mutis T, Golovina TN, Von Kap-Herr C, Wilke M, et al. The HA-2 minor histocompatibility antigen is derived from a diallelic gene encoding a novel human class I myosin protein. *J Immunol.* (2001) 167:3223–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.6.3223
- 25. den Haan JM, Meadows LM, Wang W, Pool J, Blokland E, Bishop TL, et al. The minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1: a diallelic gene with a single amino acid polymorphism. *Science*. (1998) 279:1054–7. doi: 10.1126/science.279.5353.1054
- Manoury B, Mazzeo D, Fugger L, Viner N, Ponsford M, Streeter H, et al. Destructive processing by asparagine endopeptidase limits presentation of a dominant T cell epitope in MBP. *Nat Immunol.* (2002) 3:169– 74. doi: 10.1038/ni754
- Van Bergen CA, Rutten CE, Van Der Meijden ED, Van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, Lurvink EG, Houwing-Duistermaat JJ, et al. High-throughput characterization of 10 new minor histocompatibility antigens by whole genome association scanning. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:9073–83. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-1 0-1832
- Purcell S, Neale B, Todd-Brown K, Thomas L, Ferreira MA, Bender D, et al. PLINK: a tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2007) 81:559–75. doi: 10.1086/519795
- Griffioen M, van Egmond HM, Barnby-Porritt H, van der Hoorn MA, Hagedoorn RS, Kester MG, et al. Genetic engineering of virus-specific T cells with T-cell receptors recognizing minor histocompatibility antigens for clinical application. *Haematologica*. (2008) 93:1535–43. doi: 10.3324/haematol.13067
- Pont MJ, Honders MW, Kremer AN, van Kooten C, Out C, Hiemstra PS, et al. Microarray gene expression analysis to evaluate cell type specific expression of targets relevant for immunotherapy of hematological malignancies. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0155165. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155165
- Moss CX, Matthews SP, Lamont DJ, Watts C. Asparagine deamidation perturbs antigen presentation on class II major histocompatibility complex molecules. J Biol Chem. (2005) 280:18498–503. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M5012 41200
- Robinson NE, Robinson ZW, Robinson BR, Robinson AL, Robinson JA, Robinson ML, et al. Structure-dependent nonenzymatic deamidation of glutaminyl and asparaginyl pentapeptides. J Pept Res. (2004) 63:426–36. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3011.2004.00151.x

- 33. Stathopoulou C, Gangaplara A, Mallett G, Flomerfelt FA, Liniany LP, Knight D, et al. PD-1 inhibitory receptor downregulates asparaginyl endopeptidase and maintains Foxp3 transcription factor stability in induced regulatory T cells. *Immunity*. (2018) 49:247–63.e247. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018. 05.006
- Yao H, Wang H, Li C, Fang JY, Xu J. Cancer cell-intrinsic PD-1 and implications in combinatorial immunotherapy. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1774. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01774
- Deverman BE, Cook BL, Manson SR, Niederhoff RA, Langer EM, Rosova I, et al. Bcl-xL deamidation is a critical switch in the regulation of the response to DNA damage. *Cell.* (2002) 111:51–62. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)0 0972-8

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Kremer, Bausenwein, Lurvink, Kremer, Rutten, van Bergen, Kretschmann, van der Meijden, Honders, Mazzeo, Watts, Mackensen, Falkenburg and Griffioen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Optimized Whole Genome Association Scanning for Discovery of HLA Class I-Restricted Minor Histocompatibility Antigens

Kyra J. Fuchs^{1*}, M. Willy Honders¹, Edith D. van der Meijden^{1,2}, Alwin E. Adriaans¹, Dyantha I. van der Lee¹, Margot J. Pont^{1,3}, Ramin Monajemi⁴, Szymon M. Kielbasa⁴, Peter A. C. 't Hoen^{5,6}, Cornelis A. M. van Bergen¹, J. H. Frederik Falkenburg¹ and Marieke Griffioen¹

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Khashayarsha Khazaie, Mayo Clinic College of Medicine and Science, United States

Reviewed by:

Masoud H. Manjili, Virginia Commonwealth University, United States Yang Xu, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, United States Jukka Partanen, Finnish Red Cross Blood Service, Finland

> *Correspondence: Kyra J. Fuchs k.j.fuchs@lumc.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 22 November 2019 Accepted: 23 March 2020 Published: 17 April 2020

Citation:

Fuchs KJ, Honders MW, van der Meijden ED, Adriaans AE, van der Lee DI, Pont MJ, Monajemi R, Kielbasa SM, 't Hoen PAC, van Bergen CAM, Falkenburg JHF and Griffioen M (2020) Optimized Whole Genome Association Scanning for Discovery of HLA Class I-Restricted Minor Histocompatibility Antigens. Front. Immunol. 11:659. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00659 ¹ Department of Hematology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ² Department of Internal Medicine, Hematology and Internal Oncology, University Hospital Erlangen, Erlangen, Germany, ³ Immunotherapy Integrated Research Center, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, Seattle, WA, United States, ⁴ Department of Biomedical Data Sciences, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ⁵ Department of Human Genetics, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ⁶ Centre for Molecular and Biomolecular Informatics, Radboud Institute for Molecular Life Sciences, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands

Patients undergoing allogeneic stem cell transplantation as treatment for hematological diseases face the risk of Graft-versus-Host Disease as well as relapse. Graft-versus-Host Disease and the favorable Graft-versus-Leukemia effect are mediated by donor T cells recognizing polymorphic peptides, which are presented on the cell surface by HLA molecules and result from single nucleotide polymorphism alleles that are disparate between patient and donor. Identification of polymorphic HLA-binding peptides, designated minor histocompatibility antigens, has been a laborious procedure, and the number and scope for broad clinical use of these antigens therefore remain limited. Here, we present an optimized whole genome association approach for discovery of HLA class I minor histocompatibility antigens. T cell clones isolated from patients who responded to donor lymphocyte infusions after HLA-matched allogeneic stem cell transplantation were tested against a panel of 191 EBV-transformed B cells, which have been sequenced by the 1000 Genomes Project and selected for expression of seven common HLA class I alleles (HLA-A*01:01, A*02:01, A*03:01, B*07:02, B*08:01, C*07:01, and C*07:02). By including all polymorphisms with minor allele frequencies above 0.01, we demonstrated that the new approach allows direct discovery of minor histocompatibility antigens as exemplified by seven new antigens in eight different HLA class I alleles including one antigen in HLA-A*24:02 and HLA-A*23:01, for which the method has not been originally designed. Our new whole genome association strategy is expected to rapidly augment the repertoire of HLA class I-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens that will become available for donor selection and clinical use to predict, follow or manipulate Graft-versus-Leukemia effect and Graft-versus-Host Disease after allogeneic stem cell transplantation.

Keywords: minor histocompatibility antigens, whole genome association scanning, allogeneic stem cell transplantation, HLA class I, graft versus host disease, Graft-versus-Leukemia effect, hematological diseases

INTRODUCTION

Allogeneic stem cell transplantation (alloSCT) has a curative potential for treatment of hematological malignancies (1, 2). After alloSCT, however, patients still face the risk of disease relapse as well as Graft-versus-Host Disease (GvHD), both contributing to morbidity and mortality. A strategy to reduce GvHD is to deplete donor T cells from the stem cell graft followed by delayed administration of donor lymphocyte infusions (DLI) after alloSCT in order to mitigate relapse (3). Donor T cells that are present in the stem cell graft or DLI induce beneficial Graft-versus-Leukemia (GvL) reactivity as well as undesired GvHD by targeting polymorphic peptides, designated minor histocompatibility antigens (4–6).

Minor histocompatibility antigens are peptides produced by single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), which differ between patient and donor, and are presented by HLA molecules on the cell surface (4-6). They are similar to neoantigens with respect to amino acid changes that are recognized by the immune system, but are encoded by germline polymorphisms instead of somatic mutations (7). This has the advantage that minor histocompatibility antigens are shared between patients independent of the disease. However, in contrast to somatic mutations, which are restricted to tumor cells or only a subclonal population, polymorphisms are present in all tissues. Therefore, the tissue distribution of minor histocompatibility antigens is a relevant factor for the type of clinical response that is induced after alloSCT. Donor T cells recognizing antigens that are broadly expressed on malignant cells and healthy tissues may induce GvL reactivity as well as GvHD, while donor T cells targeting antigens that are only expressed on (malignant) hematopoietic cells selectively mediate a GvL effect without GvHD.

Identification of minor histocompatibility antigens in GvL and GvHD is important to enable strategies to separate the two clinical effects (8). Characterizing antigens that induce GvHD may enable selection of a donor that is matched with the patient for the encoding SNPs. Moreover, in case a patient is transplanted with a donor mismatched for these SNPs, T cells for ubiquitous antigens may be selectively depleted from the stem cell graft or DLI. Hematopoieticrestricted minor histocompatibility antigens are relevant for therapeutic approaches aimed at enhancing immunity against the malignancy, either by vaccination (e.g., in the clinical trials 2012-002435-28, 2018-002752-33, NCT02528682) or adoptive T cell therapy (e.g., NCT03091933 and NCT03326921). Discovery of the dominant repertoire of minor histocompatibility antigens in GvL and GvHD that are often mismatched between patients and donors is therefore highly relevant for optimal development of strategies to separate GvL and GvHD after alloSCT.

Currently, a total of 63 autosomal HLA class I minor histocompatibility antigens have been identified and confirmed as targets for T cell clones after alloSCT (5, 9–13). The first antigens were found by laborious methods, i.e., peptide elution (14), cDNA library screenings (15) and genetic linkage analyses (16). A significant improvement was achieved by introduction of whole genome association scanning (WGAs; **Figure 1**). Kamei et al. (17) tested T cell clones against a panel of Epstein-Barr virus-transformed lymphoblastoid cell lines (EBV-LCLs) and determined antigens by genetic mapping using the International HapMap Project. We refined the WGAs method by screening 1.1 million SNPs for association with recognition patterns of T cell clones against a panel of 80 EBV-LCLs, aimed at characterizing minor histocompatibility antigens presented by HLA-A*02:01 and B*07:02 (18). The SNPs for these EBV-LCLs were measured using a SNP-array and either directly encoded the antigen or served as markers in linkage disequilibrium with the antigenencoding SNP that was not measured by the array. Using this approach, we discovered around 50% of the currently known HLA class I minor histocompatibility antigens (10–19).

In 2014, Oostvogels et al. (20) successfully identified an HLA class II minor histocompatibility antigen by scanning the genomes of 43 EBV-LCLs that were transduced with HLA-DPB1*04:01 and sequenced as part of the 1000 Genomes Project. Here, we used EBV-LCLs that were sequenced as part of the 1000 Genomes Project to optimize the WGAs approach for the discovery of HLA class I minor histocompatibility antigens. A total of 191 EBV-LCLs were selected, allowing the screening of around 11 million SNPs and small indels (MAF > 0.01) in seven common HLA class I alleles (A*01:01, A*02:01, A*03:01, B*07:02, B*08:01, C*07:01, and C*07:02). We explored the potential of the panel to identify antigens with different allele frequencies in each of the seven HLA class I alleles and, as proof of principle, tested the new panel using T cell clones recognizing known minor histocompatibility antigens. Furthermore, the panel was tested using T cell clones for unknown antigens. A total of seven new minor histocompatibility antigens were successfully identified in eight different HLA class I alleles. These peptides include one antigen in HLA-A*23:01 and A*24:02, for which the panel was not specifically designed, and one antigen, for which identification failed by our previous method by scanning 1.1 million SNPs and small indels, thereby confirming the improved efficiency of the WGAs approach to discover HLA class I minor histocompatibility antigens.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

All experiments have been performed according to standard biosecurity and institutional safety procedures.

Patients

Peripheral blood and bone marrow samples were collected from six patients and their donors after approval by the LUMC Institutional Review Board (nos. P03.114, P03.173, and P04.003) and obtaining written informed consent according to the Declaration of Helsinki. The six patients underwent allogeneic stem cell transplantation for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia (AML), chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) or myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) and developed a clinical immune response after DLI characterized by GvHD or disappearance of patient cells in bone marrow or peripheral blood. Mononuclear cells were obtained by Ficoll-Isopaque gradient centrifugation and cryopreserved.





T Cell Isolation and Culture

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), which were obtained from patients at different time points after DLI during a detectable immune response, were thawed and enriched for T cells using an untouched pan-T cell isolation kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach, Germany). Activated CD8⁺ T cells were either sorted based on expression of HLA-DR as in vivo activation marker or CD137 as in vitro activation marker. For in vitro activation, the enriched T cells were first stimulated with irradiated (15 Gy) patient PBMCs (E:T ratio of 1:2), which had been taken prior alloSCT, for 2 days in T cell medium [TCM; IMDM (Lonza, Walksersville, MD, United States), 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Bodinco, Alkmaar, Netherlands), 5% pooled human serum (Sanquin, Amsterdam, Netherlands), 1.5% glutamine (200 mM; Lonza, Walksersville, MD, United States), 1% penicillin/streptomycin (P/S; 200 mM; Lonza, Verviers, Belgium), 0.5 µg/ml amphotericin B (Bristol-Myers Squibb, Munich, Germany), 2 ng/ml IL-7 (Miltenyi Biotec), 2 ng/ml IL-15 (Miltenyi Biotec) supplemented with 20 IU/ml IL-2 (Novartis, Arnhem, Netherlands)]. Activated T cells were then stained with FITC-conjugated CD8 (clone RPA-T8, BD/Pharmingen, Breda, Netherlands) and APC-conjugated CD137 (clone MOPC-21, BD/Pharmingen) or HLA-DR (clone G46-6, BD/Pharmingen) and sorted on a BD FACS Aria device. Subsequently, T cells were dispensed at concentrations of 1, 3 or 10 cells/well in 384-well plates (Greiner Bio-One, Alphen a/d Rijn, Netherlands) and re-stimulated for expansion with irradiated (50 Gy) allogeneic PBMCs as feeders (25,000 cells/well) and 0.8 µg/ml phytohemagglutinin (PHA; Remel Europe, Dartford, United Kingdom) in TCM supplemented with 120 IU/ml IL-2. Re-stimulation was repeated on day 7 with 50,000 feeders/well and PHA. Growing T cell clones were afterward expanded by re-stimulation every 2 weeks with feeders at a ratio of 1:3-5. Experiments were performed on day 10-14 after re-stimulation.

EBV-LCL Culture and Preparation

EBV-LCLs were generated from patient and donor PBMC or bone marrow samples using standard procedures and cultured in IMDM supplemented with 10% FBS, 1.5% glutamine and 1% P/S. A total of 191 EBV-LCLs from subjects sequenced as part of the 1000 Genomes Project were obtained from Coriell Cell Repositories, as part of the GEUVADIS project. In the GEUVADIS project, these EBV-LCLs have been analyzed by whole transcriptome RNA sequencing (21, 22). For the current project, cells were seeded in duplicate in 96-well plates at 60,000 cells/well. Plates were cryopreserved in multiple copies and used for WGAs as described below.

T Cell Reactivity Assays

T cell clones were tested for recognition of EBV-LCLs by coincubating 2,000 T cells with 15,000 EBV-LCLs (E:T ratio 1:7.5) loaded with or without peptide in TCM without IL-7 and IL-15 supplemented with 20 IU/ml IL-2 overnight in 384-well plates. Recognition of target cells was determined by measuring IFN- γ in the supernatant by ELISA according to manufacturer's instructions (Sanquin, Amsterdam, Netherlands).

SNP Data Files for Whole Genome Association Scanning

Data files containing biallelic SNPs and small indels aligned to GRCh37 for the 191 EBV-LCLs were downloaded from https://www.ebi.ac.uk/arrayexpress/experiments/E-GEUV-1/ files/genotypes/. For 184 of the EBV-LCLs, genotyping had been retrieved from 1000 Genomes phase 1, while the remaining 17 samples had been imputed from Omni 2.5M SNP array data (21). As described by Lappalainen et al. (21), Gencode V12 had been used to functionally reannotate all variants and QTL mapping had been done with linear regression, using genetic variants with >5% frequency in 1-megabase window and normalized quantifications transformed to standard normal. Permutations had been used to adjust the false discovery rate to 5%. Using the software Plink 1.90 (23), data files were converted to binary files, merged and filtered for 191 selected EBV-LCLs and SNPs with a minor allele frequency above 0.01, resulting in a total number of 10,955,109 SNPs. Whole genome association scanning analysis.

T-cell clones exclusively recognizing patient-derived, but not donor EBV-LCLs were selected and tested for reactivity against 191 EBV-LCLs of the 1000 Genomes Project. The 191 EBV-LCLs were selected for expression of seven common HLA class I alleles, including HLA-A*01:01, A*02:01, A*03:01, B*07:02, B*08:01, C*07:01, and C*07:02. HLA typing for individuals from the 1000 Genomes Project was obtained from Abi-Rached et al. (24). EBV-LCLs were also selected for co-expression of multiple of the seven HLA alleles to minimize the total number of cell lines required to compose a panel of EBV-LCLs aimed to include 50-100 cell lines per HLA. Since the panel is also used to determine HLA restriction of T cell clones, EBV-LCLs were as well specifically selected for expression of only one of two HLAs, which are often inherited in haplotype (e.g., B*07:02 and C*07:02; B*08:01 and C*07:01), in order to distinguish the molecules as separate HLA restriction alleles. The composition of the panel is shown in Supplementary Table S1. For each T-cell clone, EBV-LCLs were separated in positive and negative groups based on release of IFN- γ as measured by ELISA. HLA restriction of the T cell clones was determined by analyzing positive EBV-LCLs for shared expression of one of the HLA class I molecules as expressed by the patient and its donor. In a next step, positive and negative EBV-LCLs expressing the relevant HLA class I restriction allele were included in WGAs, while EBV-LCLs lacking the HLA allele were excluded. In WGAs, all 11 million SNPs were scanned for association with T cell recognition by means of the Fisher's exact test using Plink 1.90 taking around half a minute per run. The Fisher's exact calculates whether there is a significant difference in distribution of a SNP between EBV-LCLs that are recognized by the T cell versus EBV-LCLs that are not recognized by the T cell. Afterward, the reference SNP ID based on its chromosomal position and consequences of each SNP with a p-value cut-off at 10^{-5} were retrieved from Ensembl using biomaRt (25). SNPs that strongly associated with T cell recognition were further investigated. Coding sequences surrounding SNPs of interest were extracted from ensembl.org, translated into six reading frames and corresponding peptide sequences were searched for predicted HLA-binders using NetMHC 4.0 (26). Visualization of data was done using in-house scripts in R.

Validation of New Minor Histocompatibility Antigens

Candidate peptides for minor histocompatibility antigens as well as their allelic variants were synthesized in house (purity >75%) and dissolved in DMSO. For validation, donor EBV-LCLs were pulsed with the peptides titrated in concentrations ranging from 50 μ M to 1 pM and tested for recognition by the respective T cell clone by IFN- γ ELISA.

RESULTS

Design of Optimized WGAs to Identify Minor Histocompatibility Antigens

In order to develop a more efficient WGAs method to identify minor histocompatibility antigens, 191 EBV-LCLs of the 1000 Genomes Project were selected for expression of seven common HLA class I alleles. These alleles include HLA-A*01:01 (31.9%), A*02:01 (49.9%), A*03:01 (27.2%), B*07:02 (27.9%), B*08:01 (24.0%), C*07:01 (28.9%), and C*07:02 (30.8%) (percentages represent population frequencies calculated based on allele frequencies as reported in the Netherlands Leiden (n = 1305) population on www.allelefrequencies.net). In the finalized panel of 191 EBV-LCLs, each of the seven HLAs is expressed by 59–102 EBV-LCLs. In our selected panel of 191 EBV-LCLs, 176 cell lines are derived from individuals with Caucasian genetic background and 15 cell lines from individuals of Yoruba from Ibadan, Nigeria (**Supplementary Figure S1A**).

In order to evaluate the frequency of the selected HLAs in other human populations, we investigated HLA expression as reported for 2630 individuals in the five continental groups of the 1000 Genomes Project (24). In all human subpopulations, at least 43.5% of individuals express one or more of the seven selected HLAs (**Supplementary Figure S1B**), each expressed by at least 5% in each population with the exception of the East Asian group (**Supplementary Figure S1C**). In the European population, for which the panel has been designed, 87.2% of individuals express at least one of the selected HLAs and 56.9% of individuals express two or more common HLAs.

In silico Evaluation of Optimized WGAs to Identify Minor Histocompatibility Antigens

Using the 191 EBV-LCLs of the 1000 Genomes Project, we first performed an *in silico* analysis to evaluate the range of allele frequencies that can be identified for potential SNPs in seven common HLAs. For each HLA type, we predicted the number of EBV-LCLs that would be recognized (homo- or heterozygous for a specific SNP) or not (homozygous for its corresponding

allelic variant). We then calculated the expected *p*-value for SNPs with different allele frequencies using the Fisher's exact test. Allele frequencies between 0.03–0.73 and 0.02–0.82 corresponding to the HLA expressed by the lowest (HLA-B*08:01, n = 59) and highest (HLA-A*02:01, n = 102) number of EBV-LCLs result in *p*-values below our selected arbitrary *p*-value cut-off at 10^{-5} (**Figure 2A**). These allele frequencies correspond to population frequencies of 0.06–0.92 and 0.04–0.96, respectively, indicating that for the seven selected HLAs, the new WGAs approach should allow identification of the vast majority of minor histocompatibility antigens that are frequently mismatched in patient-donor pairs.

In a next step, we evaluated whether the panel is adequate to identify the SNPs for 60 known SNP-encoded HLA class-I minor histocompatibility antigens (Supplementary Table S2). For each antigen-encoding SNP, we calculated the *p*-value based on genotyping of all EBV-LCLs in our panel expressing the relevant HLA class I restriction allele (Figure 2B). In congruence with our prediction, our panel allows identification of 38 out of 39 SNPs encoding known antigens that are presented by one of seven common HLAs with a *p*-value below 10^{-5} . Only one SNP that encodes HA-2 presented by HLA-A*02:01, which has a high population frequency of 0.99, reaches a p-value above 10^{-5} . In total, *p*-values below 10^{-5} were calculated for 40 antigens, indicating that two antigens could be identified that are presented by uncommon HLAs for which only 28-29 EBV-LCLs are included in the panel. These antigens are ACC-2D and ACC-1Y encoded by SNPs with allele frequencies of 0.24 and 0.25, resulting in p-values of 3.4×10^{-7} and 4.6×10^{-6} based on 28 (HLA-B*44:02) and 29 (HLA-A*24:02) EBV-LCLs in the panel, respectively. This implies that antigens presented by HLAs on a similar number of EBV-LCLs, namely, B*35:01 $(n = 29), C^*03:04 (n = 25), C^*04:01 (n = 47), C^*05:01 (n = 30)$ and C*06:02 (n = 27) can be identified, provided that the allele frequency of the SNP is between 0.17-0.44 (n = 25) and 0.05-0.68(n = 47) corresponding to a population frequency of 0.32–0.68 and 0.10-0.89, respectively, in order to reach a p-value below 10^{-5} . The HLA class I alleles and corresponding range of allele frequencies for SNPs encoding minor histocompatibility antigens that can be directly identified by our optimized WGAs method are shown in Supplementary Table S3. ACC-2D is presented not only by HLA-B*44:02, but also by HLA-B*44:03, which increases the number of EBV-LCLs and lowers the *p*-value in the WGAs analysis to 8.2×10^{-10} . Except for HA-2, the remaining 19 antigens, for which *p*-values above 10^{-5} were obtained, are presented by infrequent HLA alleles for which only 2-29 EBV-LCLs were included in the panel. In conclusion, the in silico analysis supported that our optimized WGAs approach allows direct identification of the majority of minor histocompatibility antigens in seven common HLA class I alleles.

Performance of Optimized WGAs to Identify Known Minor Histocompatibility Antigens

We first assessed the performance of our new panel of 191 EBV-LCLs in WGAs by testing reactivity of five T cell clones



FIGURE 2 *In silico* evaluation of the optimized WGAs method to identify minor histocompatibility antigens. (**A**) In the optimized WGAs method, EBV-LCLs are scanned for 11 million SNPs with a minor allele frequency above 0.01. The upper graph shows the numbers of SNPs and their respective minor allele frequencies (black bars) in our panel of 191 EBV-LCLs from the 1000 Genomes Project. The major allele frequencies of the corresponding allelic variants (gray bars) are also shown. Based on the allele frequency and number of EBV-LCLs expressing HLA-A*01:01 (n = 72), A*02:01 (n = 102), A*03:01 (n = 71), B*07:01 (n = 79), B*08:01 (n = 59), C*07:01 (n = 62) and C*07:02 (n = 77), p-values were calculated using Fisher's exact test. For the seven common HLA class I restriction alleles, the sample size of the panel is sufficient to identify SNPs with allele frequencies ranging between 0.02–0.82 (HLA-A*02:01) and 0.03–0.75 (HLA-B*08:01) with a p-value below 10^{-5} . These allele frequencies correspond to population frequencies of 0.04–0.97 and 0.06–0.93, respectively, indicating that the majority of SNPs that are often mismatched in patient-donor pairs can be identified. (**B**) The panel of 191 EBV-LCLs from the 1000 Genomes Project was scanned for SNPs for 60 previously identified minor histocompatibility antigens that are presented by different HLA class I restriction alleles for which 59–102 EBV-LCLs are included in the panel. The only antigen with a p-value above 10^{-5} was HA-2 in HLA-A*02:01, which has a high population frequency of 0.99. In total, p-values below 10^{-5} were included for 38 of the 39 antigens were presented by infrequent HLA alleles for which only 26–28 EBV-LCLs are included in the panel. The only antigens with p-values above 10^{-5} , 19 antigens were presented by infrequent HLA alleles for which only 2–28 EBV-LCLs were included in the panel.

TABLE 1 Detection of known minor histocompatibility antigens by the optimized WGAs approach.

Patient	Clone	Antigen	SNP	Gene AKAP13	HLA	AF ¹	Peptide ²	Illumina 1M array ³	Predicted <i>p</i> -value 4.15E-12	Observed p-value 4.15E-12
9528	H.9B8	HA-3T	rs2061821		A*01:01	0.58	V[T /M]EPGTAQY	у		
7103	93-23	HA-1	rs1801284	HMHA1	A*02:01	0.32	VL[H /R]DDLLEA	У	5.41E-25	5.41E-25
8031	p29-001	LB-NADK-1K	rs4751	NADK	A*03:01	0.37	AVHNGLGE[K /N]GSQA	n	2.40E-16	3.41E-15
5852	10-144-10	LB-ARHGDIB-1R	rs4703	ARHGDIB	B*07:02	0.46	LPRACW[R /P]EA	n	2.59E-15	1.36E-10
5596	76-116	LB-GEMIN4-1V	rs4968104	GEMIN4	B*08:01	0.21	FPALRFVE[V /E]	n	5.40E-14	1.42E-13

¹Allele frequency in panel. ²Amino acid change that leads to antigen recognition is presented in brackets in bold. ³Part of Illumina Human 1M-duo SNP array.

for known minor histocompatibility antigens in different HLA class I alleles (Table 1). Of the five antigen-encoding SNPs, two had been directly identified as associating SNPs by our previous WGAs method in which 80 EBV-LCLs were scanned for 1.1 million SNPs. The remaining three antigen-encoding SNPs were indirectly identified via associating SNPs that are inherited in haplotype. Since the 80 EBV-LCLs were selected for co-expression of HLA-A*02:01 and B*07:02, the other three HLA class I alleles (A*01:01, A*03:01, and B*08:01) had to be retrovirally introduced. Here, we tested the five T cell clones for reactivity against the panel of 191 EBV-LCLs of the 1000 Genomes Project and measured release of IFN-y by ELISA. EBV-LCLs expressing the relevant HLA restriction allele were divided into positive and negative groups based on T cell recognition. EBV-LCLs, which could not be assigned to either group due to intermediate IFN-y signals as well as EBV-LCLs lacking expression of the relevant HLA restriction allele, were excluded from analysis. Using these T cell recognition patterns, all 11 million SNPs with a minor allele frequency above 0.01 were scanned for association using Plink 1.90. The SNPs that were identified with the new WGAs approach with *p*-values below 10^{-5} included all five antigen-encoding SNPs (Supplementary Table S4). Of the five SNPs, four were the strongest associating SNPs and one achieved second best p-value. Notably, comparing the genotypes of the antigen-encoding SNPs in EBV-LCLs with IFN- γ values measured by ELISA confirmed recognition patterns as expected for the T cell clones (Figure 3), and observed that statistical significance was only slightly less than predicted due to small numbers of excluded or incorrectly assigned EBV-LCLs (Table 1).

Identification of New Minor Histocompatibility Antigens by the Optimized WGAs Approach

Finally, the performance of the optimized WGAs method was evaluated for seven T cell clones recognizing unknown minor histocompatibility antigens. All T cell clones were isolated from patients with hematological malignancies who developed immune responses in the form of GvHD or disappearance of patient hematopoietic cells after treatment with T-cell depleted alloSCT and DLI. PBMCs after DLI were enriched for CD3⁺ T cells and activated CD8⁺ T cells were isolated either by CD137 2 days after in vitro stimulation with patient hematopoietic cells obtained prior to alloSCT or directly using HLA-DR as in vivo activation marker. Growing T cell clones were selected based on reactivity against patient-derived EBV-LCLs, but not donor EBV-LCLs either unpulsed or pulsed with a peptide mix for the 63 known HLA class I minor histocompatibility antigens as analyzed above. Seven patient-specific T cell clones were selected and tested for reactivity against the panel of 191 EBV-LCLs to identify the minor histocompatibility antigens. For each T cell clone, EBV-LCLs were divided into positive and negative groups based on IFN-y secretion (Supplementary Table S5). To determine HLA restriction of the T cell clones, positive EBV-LCLs were analyzed for shared expression of one of the HLA molecules as expressed by patient and donor (Figure 4). Subsequently, WGAs was performed as described above to identify SNPs that strongly associated with T cell recognition (Supplementary Table S6). Strongly associating SNPs identified by our optimized WGAs method were further investigated for encoding peptides with predicted HLA-binding using NetMHC 4.0. Peptide candidates



FIGURE 3 | Performance of the optimized WGAs method to identify known minor histocompatibility antigens. T cell clones for HA-3T in HLA-A*01:01 (**A**), HA-1 in A*02:01 (**B**), LB-NADK-1K in A*03:01 (**C**), LB-ARHGDIB-1R in B*07:02 (**D**) and LB-GEMIN4-1V in B*08:01 (**E**) were tested for reactivity against 191 EBV-LCLs from the 1000 Genomes Project by IFN-γ ELISA. EBV-LCLs are divided into groups based on presence or absence of the relevant HLA class I restriction allele. Dashed lines represent thresholds that were selected to divide the EBV-LCLs into negative or positive groups based on IFN-γ values for WGAs. EBV-LCLs with intermediate values, i.e., between two threshold lines, were excluded. EBV-LCLs that are homozygous or heterozygous for the antigen-encoding SNP are represented by red and orange dots, respectively. EBV-LCLs that are homozygous for the allelic variant are represented by blue dots. In WGAs, EBV-LCLs that are negative for the HLA restriction allele as well as EBV-LCLs with intermediate IFN-γ signals (gray border) were excluded from the analysis. The optimized WGAs approach correctly identified all antigen-encoding SNPs. The *p*-values as calculated by Fisher's exact test are shown in **Table 1** and **Supplementary Table S4**.



FIGURE 4 | Identification of new minor histocompatibility antigens in common HLAs by optimized WGAs. T cell clones isolated from patients with hematological malignancies who responded to DLI after HLA-matched T-cell depleted alloSCT (Table 2), were tested for reactivity against 191 EBV-LCLs from the 1000 Genomes Project by IFN-y ELISA. T-cell clones 14 (A), 3B4 (B), 2.1A12 (C), 2-90 (D), 4D8 (E) and H.9A6 (F) are shown. Data points show the IFN-y release upon co-incubation with each of the 191 panel EBV-LCLs. First, HLA restriction was determined by analyzing EBV-LCLs that are recognized by the T cell clone for shared expression of one of the HLA class I alleles as expressed by the patient and donor (left graphs). For this purpose, the same dataset of IFN-y values for 191 EBV-LCLs were separately displayed for each of the HLA class I alleles as expressed by the patient and donor. EBV-LCLs positive for the indicated HLA allele are shown by blue dots, while EBV-LCLs negative for this HLA are represented by gray dots. In a next step, EBV-LCLs are divided into positive and negative groups based on IFN-v levels (indicated by dashed lines) while excluding those with intermediate IFN-v levels (middle graphs) and WGAs is performed. SNPs that strongly associate with T cell recognition are analyzed for their distribution in EBV-LCLs that are positive and negative for the relevant SNP allele. EBV-LCLs that are homozygous or heterozygous for the associating SNP are represented by red and orange dots, respectively. EBV-LCLs that are homozygous for the allelic variant are indicated by blue dots. Gray borders represent EBV-LCLs that are excluded from the WGAs analysis based on intermediate IFN-y levels or not expressing the relevant HLA allele. The middle graphs show results for rs4673 (A), rs8069315 (B), rs1050301 (C), rs10749693 (D), rs7080014 (rs7086691 not shown) (E) and rs1054487 (F), which have been identified as associating SNPs by WGAs (Supplementary Table S5). The p-values of detection are shown in Table 2 and Supplementary Table S6. Finally, coding regions surrounding associating SNPs were searched for peptides with predicted binding to the respective HLA restriction allele by NetMHC 4.0. Peptide candidates for potential minor histocompatibility antigens and their allelic variants were synthesized, titrated and pulsed on donor EBV-LCLs and tested for T-cell recognition by IFN-Y ELISA (right graphs). Indicated are peptide sequences for LB-CYBA-1Y (A), LB-DHX33-1C (B), LB-IMMT-1S (C), LB-YIPF1-1T (D), LB-STK32C-1R (E) and LB-MAN2B1-1T (F), which have been validated as minor histocompatibility antigens.

TABLE 2 | Novel minor histocompatibility antigens identified by the optimized WGAs approach.

Patient	Disease	Immune Response	Clone	Antigen	SNP	HLA	AF ¹	Peptide ²	Type of variant	Illumina 1M array ³	Observed <i>p</i> -value
2877	CML	Conversion	14	LB-CYBA-1Y	rs4673	A*01:01	0.34	STMERWGQK[Y /H]	missense variant	У	8.21E-11
7010	MDS	GvHD	3B4	LB-DHX33-1C	rs8069315	A*02:01	0.11	GIS[C /R]QGIIAV	missense variant	У	9.61E-17
9528	MDS	GvHD	2.1A12	LB-IMMT-1S	rs1050301	A*03:01	0.33	KQ[S /P]ASQLQK	missense variant	n	7.22E-18
5177	AML	GvHD	2-90	LB-YIPF1-1T	rs10749693	B*07:02	0.67	RPRGAR[T /I]QQ	5 prime UTR variant	n	6.83E-16
3087	CML	Conversion	4D8	LB-STK32C-1R	rs7080014, rs7086691	B*08:01	0.33	HLWS[R /G]PRCL	missense variant	n	2.67E-06
9528	MDS	GvHD	H.9A6	LB-MAN2B1-1T	rs1054487	C*07:02	0.33	YYRTNH[T /I]VM	missense variant	У	8.11E-11
6711	AML	GvHD	B1	LB-CYBA-2Y/ LB-CYBA-3Y	rs4673	A*24:02/A*23:01	0.36	K[Y /H]MTAVVKLF	missense variant	У	7.95E-07

¹Allele frequency in panel. ²Amino acid change that leads to antigen recognition is presented in brackets in bold. ³Part of Illumina Human 1M-duo SNP array.

as well as their allelic variants were subsequently pulsed on donor EBV-LCLs and tested for T cell recognition to validate minor histocompatibility antigens.

Following this strategy, we successfully identified minor histocompatibility antigens for seven T cell clones isolated from six patients (**Table 2**). Six of the seven new minor histocompatibility antigens are presented by HLA class I molecules for which the panel was designed. Of note, identification of LB-STK32C-1R as antigen recognized by HLA-B*08:01-restricted T cell clone 4D8 failed with our previous WGAs method, but succeeded with the new approach. This antigen is encoded by two SNPs causing a single amino acid change. Both SNPs were not measured on the 1.1M Illumina SNP array, but are included in the 1000 Genomes Project data files.

Peptide STMERWGQKY has been identified as LB-CYBA-1Y in HLA-A*01:01, whereas the same SNP also encodes peptide KYMTAVVKLF, identified as LB-CYBA-2Y. The latter peptide is presented by HLA-A*24:02 (**Figure 5A**), for which our panel

has not been specifically designed. Although HLA-A*24:02 is expressed by only 29 EBV-LCLs of our panel, the SNP has an optimal allele frequency of 0.36, resulting in 17 EBV-LCLs that were recognized by the T cell clone and a *p*-value of 7.95 \times 10⁻⁷ (**Figure 5B**). Another advantage of using a large panel of 191 EBV-LCLs is the possibility to identify antigens that are presented by more than one HLA restriction allele. For LB-CYBA-2Y, we noticed that six EBV-LCLs that lacked expression of HLA-A*24:02 were recognized by the T cell clone. Four of these EBV-LCLs were positive for the SNP for LB-CYBA-2Y and shared expression of HLA-A*23:01, an HLA molecule with a similar binding motif to HLA-A*24:02. By pulsing the peptide on K562 cells transduced with either HLA-A*24:02 or HLA-A*23:01, LB-CYBA-2Y was validated as minor histocompatibility antigen presented by two HLA-A molecules (**Figure 5C**).

In conclusion, we have improved the WGAs method for identification of minor histocompatibility antigens by selecting a new concise 1000 Genomes Project EBV-LCL panel for seven common HLAs and demonstrated the value of this approach by successful discovery of seven novel minor histocompatibility antigens.

DISCUSSION

Identification of minor histocompatibility antigens is essential for improving the outcome of allogeneic stem cell transplantation. However, previous methods have been laborious and the number of identified antigens available for clinical use therefore remains limited. Here, we advanced current WGAs methods for discovery of minor histocompatibility antigens by designing a concise panel of 191 EBV-LCLs, which are sequenced as part of the 1000 Genomes Project, covering seven common HLA class I molecules.

For WGAs, CD8 T cell clones for unknown minor histocompatibility antigens were isolated from patients who had undergone alloSCT for treatment of hematological malignancies. These T cell clones were tested for reactivity against the new panel of 191 EBV-LCLs and subsequently screened for association with 10,955,109 biallelic SNPs and small indels with a minor allele frequency above 0.01. The genomic data do not contain gene deletions, but SNPs that are in strong linkage disequilibrium with common gene deletions (27) are included and can serve as markers for minor histocompatibility antigens encoded by these polymorphic genes, such as UGT2B17 (15, 17).

In our previous WGAs method, T cell reactivity was measured against a panel of 80 EBV-LCLs for which only 1.1 million SNPs were included on the Illumina SNP array (18). If the respective antigen-encoding SNP was not measured by the array, the antigen could only be indirectly identified via associating marker SNPs in linkage disequilibrium with the respective SNP. To evaluate the performance of our new panel of 191 EBV-LCLs, we selected T cell clones for five known minor histocompatibility antigens that are presented by different HLA class I alleles. Each of the five antigen-encoding SNPs was included in the list of strongly associating SNPs while only two SNPs were directly identifiable with the previous method. Likewise, for the seven novel minor histocompatibility antigens that were identified by the optimized WGAs approach, only 4 out of 8 SNPs were included on the 1.1 million Illumina SNP array.

The added value of the optimized WGAs strategy has also been confirmed by the discovery of LB-STK32C-1R, which is the target for an HLA-B*08:01-restricted T cell clone, for which previous WGAs had failed. T cell clone 4D8, which recognized LB-STK32C-1R at peptide concentrations as low as 10^{-11} M, showed also reactivity against its allelic variant at concentrations $> 10^{-8}$ M (**Figure 4E**). Although clone 4D8 recognizes the allelic variant as exogenous peptide, it lacks reactivity against donor EBV-LCL, indicating that peptide presentation on the cell surface is not sufficient for T cell recognition when endogenously expressed. These data demonstrate that the TCR as expressed by clone 4D8 has a higher affinity for LB-STK32C-1R than for its allelic variant or, alternatively, that LB-STK32C-1R has a higher binding affinity for HLA-B*08:01. The latter possibility is supported by NetMHC 4.0 showing that LB-STK32C-1R is predicted to bind strongly, while its allelic variant is predicted to bind weakly to HLA-B*08:01. Furthermore, poor transportation by TAP, as reported for HA-8 (28) or proteasomal cleavage as demonstrated for HA-3 (29), may contribute to lack of recognition of the endogenous peptide.

Our optimized WGAs approach has been specifically designed to directly identify minor histocompatibility antigens in seven common HLAs without the need to retrovirally introduce these alleles for the European population. These common HLA molecules include HLA-A*01:01, A*02:01, A*03:01, B*07:02, B*08:01, C*07:01, and C*07:02. In the European population, 87.2% of individuals express at least one and 56.9% express two or more of the seven HLA alleles. The identification of new minor histocompatibility antigens in six of these HLA molecules confirms the adequacy of the panel size and design of the approach. For the seven HLAs for which the method has been specifically designed, minor histocompatibility antigens can be directly identified for SNPs with a wide range of allele frequencies. In addition, minor histocompatibility antigens can be directly identified for a number of HLA alleles that are less common, but only for SNPs within a more restricted range of allele frequencies. Our in silico analysis showed that ACC-1Y in HLA-A*24:02 (n = 29; number of EBV-LCLs expressing the HLA molecule) and ACC-1D in $B^*44:02$ (n = 28) could be identified and also one of the new minor histocompatibility antigen, i.e., LB-CYBA-2Y, was shown to be presented by HLA-A*24:02. However, if the SNP has an allele frequency outside this restricted range, introduction of the HLA restriction allele into the panel of EBV-LCLs is necessary. Similarly, HLA alleles need to be introduced for all minor histocompatibility antigens that are presented by HLAs for which less than 25 EBV-LCLs are included in the panel. The HLA alleles and corresponding range of allele frequencies for SNPs encoding minor histocompatibility antigens that can be directly identified by our optimized WGAs method are shown in Supplementary Table S3. This table highlights the advantage of the new WGAs approach as compared to our previous method with 80 EBV-LCLs only expressing HLA-A*02:01 and B*07:02 and the method developed by Oostvogels et al. (20) using a panel of 43 EBV-LCLs from the 1000 Genomes Project in which the HLA restriction allele had to be introduced (Figure 1). Furthermore, the new WGAs method also allows for identification of antigens that are presented in more than one HLA as exemplified by LB-CYBA-2Y, which was found to be presented and recognized in HLA-A*24:02 as well as A*23:01. Presentation and recognition of the minor histocompatibility antigen in more than one HLA increases sample size, thereby enhancing the possibility to detect antigens in less frequent HLAs and expanding the range of SNPs with detectable allele frequencies.

As reported by Bykova et al. (30), SNPs with a high probability of mismatch between patient and donor have allele frequencies between 0.15 and 0.47. Our data showed that for seven common HLAs, all minor histocompatibility antigens encoded by SNPs with these allele frequencies can be detected with the new panel of EBV-LCLs from the 1000 Genomes Project. Only allele frequencies below 0.03 and above 0.73 corresponding to population frequencies below 0.06 and above 0.92, respectively,



are outside of the predicted detection limits. The finding that all SNPs with a high probability of mismatch can be identified in seven common HLAs makes our optimized WGAs approach an ideal and more rapid strategy to identify the dominant repertoire of clinically relevant HLA class I-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens. Evidence that the repertoire of minor histocompatibility antigens is limited has been shown by Granados et al. (31) who predicted a maximum number of 50–100 antigens per HLA allele based on polymorphic peptides encoded by SNPs with a MAF of \geq 0.05 that were identified for two HLAs on EBV-LCLs by mass spectrometry.

Due to high throughput sequencing techniques which enable genome wide detection of genetic variants, bioinformatic pipelines have been developed to predict neoantigens (32–35) and minor histocompatibility antigens (31, 36–40). Based on whole exome sequence data, Koparde et al. (39) found an average of 2463 non-synonymous SNP disparities in the Graft-versus-Host direction in patients transplanted with related donors, and an average of 4287 SNP disparities in patients transplanted with unrelated donors (39). SNP disparities in the same range have been reported by others (37). Martin et al. (40) showed that a higher number of SNP disparities in patients transplanted with sibling donors was associated with an increase in grade III-IV GVHD and stage 2–4 acute gut GVHD, whereas Ritari et al. (41) found an association between a higher number of mismatching peptide ligands and chronic GvHD. All SNP disparities as measured by Koparde et al. (39) were also investigated to encode 9-mer peptides with predicted binding to patients' HLA class I alleles using NetMHCpan 2.8. The results revealed 3670 peptides with intermediate and 852 peptides with strong binding in patients transplanted with related donors, and 5386 intermediate and 1160 strong binding peptides in patients with unrelated donors. Although minor histocompatibility antigens are probably present among these peptides, prediction tools are hampered by high false discovery rates due to failure to accurately predict intracellular HLA class I peptide processing. Whole transcriptome RNA sequencing and HLA ligandome analysis by mass spectrometry can be implemented as additional steps to select for peptides that are expressed and presented on the cell surface. These techniques significantly decrease false discovery (31, 38, 41, 42), but also reduce the sensitivity and lead to a higher chance that antigens are missed (38), illustrating that prediction tools for minor histocompatibility antigens still require optimization.

Whole genome association scanning is a technique that allows discovery of minor histocompatibility antigens with high sensitivity and specificity. The method is rapid and cost effective, since one panel of 191 EBV-LCLs can be used to identify antigens for T cells from different patients. Another advantage is that discovery of minor histocompatibility antigens is not restricted to non-synonymous SNPs, but can also be performed for other polymorphisms, such as synonymous SNPs in alternative reading frames and intron SNPs in alternative splice variants. In order to perform WGAs, T cell clones are needed that are able to recognize EBV-LCLs. Since T cell responses after alloSCT may have been induced by professional antigen-presenting cells, there is a possibility that minor histocompatibility antigens exist that are myeloid specific which cannot be identified by our EBV-LCL panel. Furthermore, for antigens that are not encoded by SNPs such as neoantigens or Y chromosome encoded antigens, other techniques such as peptide (34) or mini-gene libraries (33) have to be employed.

Here, we optimized WGAs to enable discovery of the dominant repertoire of minor histocompatibility antigens in common HLA class I alleles. Discovery of this repertoire is relevant to predict and manipulate GvL and GvHD after alloSCT. Discovery of immunogenic antigens is also important to gain insight into the various cut-offs that need to be applied in prediction tools for minor histocompatibility antigens, which are particularly necessary to characterize antigens for HLA alleles and SNP mismatches that are rarer. As such, WGAs together with prediction tools may ultimately enable development of personalized strategies to separate GvL from GvHD, thereby improving clinical outcome after alloSCT.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: https://www.ebi.ac.uk/arrayexpress/ experiments/E-GEUV-1/files/genotypes/.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the LUMC Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KF, MH, EM, JF, and MG designed the research. KF, MH, EM, AA, DL, and MP performed the experiments. KF, MH,

REFERENCES

- Singh AK, McGuirk JP. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation: a historical and scientific overview. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:6445. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1311
- Copelan EA. Hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation. New Engl J Med. (2006) 354:1813–26. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra052638
- Kolb H-J. Graft-versus-leukemia effects of transplantation and donor lymphocytes. *Blood.* (2008) 112:4371–83. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-03-077974

EM, AA, DL, MP, CB, JF, and MG analyzed the results. KF, RM, SK, and P'tH contributed to the bioinformatic analysis. JF and MG supervised the research. KF, SK, P'tH, CB, JF, and MG wrote the manuscript. All authors read and reviewed the manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was conducted using funding from the Dutch Cancer Society (project number 10713).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

EBV-LCL distribution was performed in the context of the European Commission 7th Framework Program (FP7) (261123; GEUVADIS).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2020.00659/full#supplementary-material

FIGURE S1 | Regional origin of selected EBV-LCLs and common HLA distribution in continental groups of the 1000 Genomes Project. (**A**) The 191 selected EBV-LCLs from the 1000 Genomes Project are of different regional origin, including 176 (92.1%) of European origin (CEU: Utah Residents with Northern and Western European Ancestry, FIN: Finnish in Finland, GBR: British in England and Scotland, TSI: Toscani in Itay) and 15 (7.9%) belonging to individuals from Yoruba in Ibadan, Nigeria (YRI). (**B**) HLA typing was obtained from 2693 individuals from Yoruba class I alleles in different human subpopulations. After exclusion of 63 individuals with unclear subtypes, the occurrence in individuals (**B**) and population frequency (**C**) of HLA-A*01:01, A*02:01, A*03:01, B*07:02, B*08:01, C*07:01, and C*07:02 was counted for individuals of European (EUR, *n* = 521), admixed American (AMR, *n* = 363), South Asian (SAS, *n* = 522), African (AFR, *n* = 697) and East Asian (EAS, *n* = 527) background.

TABLE S1 | HLA co-expression in the EBV-LCL panel.

TABLE S2 | In silico analysis of published antigens.

TABLE S3 | Detectable ranges of minor allele frequencies.

TABLE S4 | SNP associations for clones recognizing known minor

 histocompatibility antigens.

TABLE S5 | Genotyping for EBV-LCL panel of antigen-encoding SNPs.

TABLE S6 | SNP association of new minor histocompatibility antigens.

- Spierings E. Minor histocompatibility antigens: past, present, and future. *Tissue Antigens*. (2014) 84:374–360. doi: 10.1111/tan.12445
- Griffioen M, van Bergen CAM, Falkenburg JHF. Autosomal minor histocompatibility antigens: how genetic variants create diversity in immune targets. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:100. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016. 00100
- Bleakley M, Riddell SR. Exploiting T cells specific for human minor histocompatibility antigens for therapy of leukemia. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2011) 89:396–407. doi: 10.1038/icb.2010.124

- Yarchoan M, Johnson BA III, Lutz ER, Laheru DA, Jaffee EM. Targeting neoantigens to augment antitumour immunity. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2017) 17:209–22. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2016.154
- Warren EH, Deeg HJ. Dissecting graft-versus-leukemia from graft-versushost-disease using novel strategies. *Tissue Antigens*. (2013) 81:183–93. doi: 10.1111/tan.12090
- Hombrink P, Hassan C, Kester MGD, Jahn L, Pont MJ, de Ru AH, et al. Identification of biological relevant minor histocompatibility antigens within the b-lymphocyte-derived hla-ligandome using a reverse immunology approach. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:2177. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2188
- Pont MJ, van der Lee DI, van der Meijden ED, van Bergen CAM, Kester MGD, Honders MW, et al. Integrated whole genome and transcriptome analysis identified a therapeutic minor histocompatibility antigen in a splice variant of ITGB2. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:4185. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2307
- van Bergen CAM, van Luxemburg-Heijs SAP, de Wreede LC, Eefting M, von dem Borne PA, van Balen P, et al. Selective graft-versus-leukemia depends on magnitude and diversity of the alloreactive T cell response. *J Clin Investigat*. (2017) 127:517–29. doi: 10.1172/JCI86175
- van Balen P, van Bergen CAM, van Luxemburg-Heijs SAP, de Klerk W, van Egmond EHM, Veld SAJ, et al. CD4 donor lymphocyte infusion can cause conversion of chimerism without GVHD by inducing immune responses targeting minor histocompatibility antigens in HLA class II. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:3016. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.03016
- Pont MJ, Oostvogels R, van Bergen CAM, van der Meijden ED, Honders MW, Bliss S, et al. Cells specific for an unconventional natural antigen fail to recognize leukemic cells. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:797. doi: 10.1158/ 2326-6066.CIR-18-0137
- den Haan JM, Sherman NE, Blokland E, Huczko E, Koning F, Drijfhout JW, et al. Identification of a graft versus host disease-associated human minor histocompatibility antigen. *Science*. (1995) 268:1476. doi: 10.1126/science. 7539551
- Murata M, Warren EH, Riddell SR. A human minor histocompatibility antigen resulting from differential expression due to a gene deletion. *J Exp Med.* (2003) 197:1279–89. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030044
- Akatsuka Y, Nishida T, Kondo E, Miyazaki M, Taji H, Iida H, et al. Identification of a polymorphic gene, BCL2A1, encoding two novel hematopoietic lineage-specific minor histocompatibility antigens. J Exp Med. (2003) 197:1489–500. doi: 10.1084/jem.2002 1925
- Kamei M, Nannya Y, Torikai H, Kawase T, Taura K, Inamoto Y, et al. HapMap scanning of novel human minor histocompatibility antigens. *Blood.* (2009) 113:5041–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-07-171678
- Van Bergen CAM, Rutten CE, Van Der Meijden ED, Van Luxemburg-Heijs SAP, Lurvink EGA, Houwing-Duistermaat JJ, et al. High-throughput characterization of 10 new minor histocompatibility antigens by whole genome association scanning. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:9073. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1832
- Griffioen M, Honders MW, van der Meijden ED, van Luxemburg-Heijs SAP, Lurvink EGA, Kester MGD, et al. Identification of 4 novel HLA-B*40:01 restricted minor histocompatibility antigens and their potential as targets for graft-versus-leukemia reactivity. *Haematologica*. (2012) 97:1196. doi: 10.3324/ haematol.2011.049478
- Oostvogels R, Lokhorst HM, Minnema MC, van Elk M, van den Oudenalder K, Spierings E, et al. Identification of minor histocompatibility antigens based on the 1000 genomes project. *Haematologica*. (2014) 99:1854–9. doi: 10.3324/ haematol.2014.109801
- Lappalainen T, Sammeth M, Friedländer MR, Hoen PAC, Monlong J, Rivas MA, et al. Transcriptome and genome sequencing uncovers functional variation in humans. *Nature*. (2013) 501:506–11. doi: 10.1038/nature 12531
- 't Hoen PAC, Friedländer MR, Almlöf J, Sammeth M, Pulyakhina I, Anvar SY, et al. Reproducibility of high-throughput mRNA and small RNA sequencing across laboratories. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2013) 31:1015. doi: 10.1038/nbt. 2702

- Purcell S, Neale B, Todd-Brown K, Thomas L, Ferreira MAR, Bender D, et al. PLINK: A tool set for whole-genome association and populationbased linkage analyses. *Am J Hum Genet*. (2007) 81:559–75. doi: 10.1086/51 9795
- Abi-Rached L, Gouret P, Yeh JH, Di Cristofaro J, Pontarotti P, Picard C, et al. Immune diversity sheds light on missing variation in worldwide genetic diversity panels. *PLoS One.* (2018) 13:e0206512. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0206512
- Durinck S, Spellman PT, Birney E, Huber W. Mapping identifiers for the integration of genomic datasets with the R/Bioconductor package biomaRt. *Nat Protoc.* (2009) 4:1184–91. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2009.97
- Andreatta M, Nielsen M. Gapped sequence alignment using artificial neural networks: application to the MHC class I system. *Bioinformatics*. (2016) 32:511–7. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btv639
- McCarroll SA, Hadnott TN, Perry GH, Sabeti PC, Zody MC, Barrett JC, et al. Common deletion polymorphisms in the human genome. *Nat Genet*. (2006) 38:86–92. doi: 10.1038/ng1696
- Brickner AG, Warren EH, Caldwell JA, Akatsuka Y, Golovina TN, Zarling AL, et al. The immunogenicity of a new human minor histocompatibility antigen results from differential antigen processing. *J Exp Med.* (2001) 193: 195–206. doi: 10.1084/jem.193.2.195
- Spierings E, Brickner AG, Caldwell JA, Zegveld S, Tatsis N, Blokland E, et al. The minor histocompatibility antigen HA-3 arises from differential proteasome-mediated cleavage of the lymphoid blast crisis (Lbc) oncoprotein. *Blood.* (2003) 102:621–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-01-0260
- Bykova NA, Malko DB, Efimov GA. In silico analysis of the minor histocompatibility antigen landscape based on the 1000 genomes project. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1819. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018. 01819
- Granados DP, Rodenbrock A, Laverdure JP, Côté C, Caron-Lizotte O, Carli C, et al. Proteogenomic-based discovery of minor histocompatibility antigens with suitable features for immunotherapy of hematologic cancers. *Leukemia*. (2016) 30:1344–54. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.22
- Lu Y-C, Yao X, Crystal JS, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Gross C, et al. Efficient identification of mutated cancer antigens recognized by T cells associated with durable tumor regressions. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:3401. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-14-0433
- Sharma G, Rive CM, Holt RA. Rapid selection and identification of functional CD8+ T cell epitopes from large peptide-coding libraries. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:4553. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-12444-7
- 34. Chen F, Zou Z, Du J, Su S, Shao J, Meng F, et al. Neoantigen identification strategies enable personalized immunotherapy in refractory solid tumors. J Clin Investigat. (2019) 129:2056–70. doi: 10.1172/JCI 99538
- Richters MM, Xia H, Campbell KM, Gillanders WE, Griffith OL, Griffith M. Best practices for bioinformatic characterization of neoantigens for clinical utility. *Genome Med.* (2019) 11:56. doi: 10.1186/s13073-019-0666-2
- 36. Jameson-Lee M, Koparde V, Griffith P, Scalora AF, Sampson JK, Khalid H, et al. In silico derivation of HLA-specific alloreactivity potential from whole exome sequencing of stem-cell transplant donors and recipients: understanding the quantitative immunobiology of allogeneic transplantation. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:529. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00529
- Sampson JK, Sheth NU, Koparde VN, Scalora AF, Serrano MG, Lee V, et al. Whole exome sequencing to estimate alloreactivity potential between donors and recipients in stem cell transplantation. *Br J Haematol.* (2014) 166:566–70. doi: 10.1111/bjh.12898
- Granados DP, Sriranganadane D, Daouda T, Zieger A, Laumont CM, Caron-Lizotte O, et al. Impact of genomic polymorphisms on the repertoire of human MHC class I-associated peptides. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:3600. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms4600
- 39. Koparde V, Abdul Razzaq B, Suntum T, Sabo R, Scalora A, Serrano M, et al. Dynamical system modeling to simulate donor T cell response to whole exome sequencing-derived recipient peptides: understanding randomness in alloreactivity incidence following stem cell transplantation. *PLoS One.* (2017) 12:e0187771. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0187771

- Martin PJ, Levine DM, Storer BE, Warren EH, Zheng X, Nelson SC, et al. Genome-wide minor histocompatibility matching as related to the risk of graft-versus-host disease. *Blood.* (2017) 129:791–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-09-737700
- Ritari J, Hyvärinen K, Koskela S, Niittyvuopio R, Nihtinen A, Salmenniemi U, et al. Computational analysis of HLA-presentation of Non-synonymous recipient mismatches indicates effect on the risk of chronic graft-vs.-host disease after allogeneic HSCT. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1625. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01625
- Graham DB, Luo C, O'Connell DJ, Lefkovith A, Brown EM, Yassour M, et al. Antigen discovery and specification of immunodominance hierarchies for MHCII-restricted epitopes. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:1762–72. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0203-7

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Fuchs, Honders, van der Meijden, Adriaans, van der Lee, Pont, Monajemi, Kielbasa, 't Hoen, van Bergen, Falkenburg and Griffioen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Can Graft vs. Leukemia Effect Be Uncoupled From Graft vs. Host Disease? An Examination of Proportions

Elizabeth Krieger¹ and Amir Ahmed Toor^{2*}

¹ Department of Pediatrics, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, VA, United States, ² Department of Internal Medicine, Massey Cancer Center, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, VA, United States

Keywords: hematopoietic cell transplantation, graft vs. host disease, graft vs. leukemia effect, whole exome sequencing, tumor vaccination

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marieke Griffioen, Leiden University Medical Center, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Paul Armistead, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, United States Benjamin Garrett Vincent, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, United States

> *Correspondence: Amir Ahmed Toor amir.toor@vcuhealth.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 15 December 2019 Accepted: 06 April 2020 Published: 28 April 2020

Citation:

Krieger E and Toor AA (2020) Can Graft vs. Leukemia Effect Be Uncoupled From Graft vs. Host Disease? An Examination of Proportions. Front. Immunol. 11:777. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00777 Hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT) provides potentially curative therapy for high-risk hematological malignancies, predominantly through alloreactivity mediated by donor immune effectors directed at a recipient's malignant cells; this is termed graft vs. leukemia (GVL) effect (1). This beneficial effect has historically been associated with a similar donor immune attack on normal recipient tissues, graft vs. host disease (GVHD) (2). At this time both of these entities, GVL and GVHD are considered to be stochastically determined, i.e., prior to transplant one cannot reliably determine which patient will develop one or both outcomes. The high complexity of the system at hand which includes patients with different malignancies, varying human leukocyte antigen (HLA) types, and different immune effectors involved in these processes has meant that logic-based therapeutic choices which impact variables associated with GVL are studied by determining the probability of the desired clinical outcomes in large populations of patients. Such studies have allowed an incremental improvement in the clinical outcomes of recipients of similarly HLA matched donor HCT. The introduction of high-resolution HLA matching and HLA DPB1 matching were both such incremental changes which helped improve survival in recipients from HLA matched HSC donors (3-5). Despite these advances, the apparent randomness in the potential for developing alloreactivity remains. This apparent randomness derives, in part from these phenomena having their origin at a molecular level, with the recognition of minor histocompatibility antigens (mHA) and tumor specific antigens (TSA) bound to HLA molecules on the antigen presenting cells (APC), by unique T cell receptors (TCR) on T cell clones. This recognition triggers T cell responses which effect the observed clinical outcomes.

To develop a deeper understanding of the alloreactive processes governing the relative balance of GVHD and GVL one has to understand the antigenic landscape at hand in a HCT recipient at the molecular level. Herein is presented a model which examines the relative difference in the genetic *potential* for developing either GVL, using tumor specific antigen (TSA) burden, or likelihood of developing GVHD, using minor histocompatibility antigens (mHA). Historically haematopoietically restricted mHA (6–8), cancer testis antigens (9), protein splice variants (10) and in some instances even retroviral elements (11) have been implicated in producing GVL effects, with some of these elements also contributing to GVHD and protection from relapse (12), HLA presentation is a prerequisite for this to occur (13). Thus, far ~60 haematopoietically restricted minor histocompatibility antigens have been described with antigen presentation restricted to a limited spectrum of HLA allotypes, precluding broad utility in patients (7). Thus, to optimize clinical outcomes, it is imperative to develop

methodology which will allow personalized computation of the probability of GVHD or GVL developing in unique HCT donor-recipient pairs.

Hematological malignancies are driven by DNA mutations which develop in normal cells over time as a result of exposure to external mutagens and intrinsic processes, such as errors in DNA replication (14). The mutational burden of adult cancers ranges widely; for example, solid tumors may average from 33 to 66 somatic mutations which alter their protein structure and function. Cancers such as, melanoma and lung cancer are on an extreme end of this spectrum, possessing ~200 mutations per tumor, and thus are susceptible to immune therapy (15). On the opposite end of this spectrum, hematologic malignancies have some of the lowest mutational burdens, with leukemias harboring ~9.6 mutations per tumor (14, 16–20). Mutated genes expressed in these tumors may be recognized as nonself-proteins by the immune system, and targeted by the GVL mechanism (21).

Point mutations were first shown to induce a naturally occurring T cell response in a patient with melanoma (22). However, initial studies of cancer immunotherapy were hampered by technological challenges encountered in deriving patient specific TSA libraries. In the past decade, next generation sequencing (NGS) or "deep" sequencing has allowed the sequencing of thousands of small fragments of DNA in parallel, such that an entire genome may be rapidly sequenced (23). NGS has allowed cataloging of the entire library of potential TSA in a variety of human malignancies. The full impact of this knowledge of individualized genetic profiling of cancers was first observed when utilizing programed death receptor PD-1 and programed death-ligand (PDL) receptor inhibitors. Check point blockade allows unimpeded autologous TSA specific T cell mediated killing, which is most significant in tumors with a higher mutational burden, as there are theoretically more TSA presented on MCH class I and class II molecules with a greater mutational burden (14, 24, 25).

In contrast, the relatively low mutational burden of hematologic malignancies does not meet the thereshold necessary to effectively utilize immunotherapy and PD1/PDL1 blockade (26, 27). Common hematologic driver mutations including NPM1 which are expressed in 30-35% of cases of AML have been shown to be expressed by AML blasts and may be targeted by TCR gene transfer (28). Several other specific mutations including BCR-ABL, WT1, and PR1 have also been shown to effect outcomes after HCT (29-31). Nevertheless, such unique mutations are usually not adequate to generate an intrinsic GVL response in the vast majority of patients. Despite this relative dearth of tumor associated neo-antigens, hematological malignancies have proven to be susceptible to the GVL effect of an allograft, some times without GVHD developing (32-34). One may therefore ask, is it possible to apply NGS to the transplant setting in order to understand how one may uncouple GVL from GVHD in the majority of patients? This goal has been sought by many a group who have tried to better predict GVHD and GVL by examining biomarkers (35), cytokines (36, 37), mass spectrometry data (38), natural killer cell markers (39). Modification of the conditioning and GVHD prophylaxis regimens have also been attempted to accomplish the dissociation of GVHD from GVL (40–43). However, while all of these factors play important roles in the GVHD and GVL phenomenon, if both at their core are centered on peptide presentation and immune attack, it is not likely that we can always dissociate GVL from GVHD.

A computational approach may be taken to develop a partial understanding of the GVHD-GVL balance in HLA matched HCT. As stated above, on average hematologic malignancies contain ~ 10 protein coding, exomic mutations which may be immunogenic. For patients with these and other TSA resulting from mutations, logically in each individual, the number of tumor specific peptide antigens presented will then depend on their HLA type, the specific mutations and the spectrum of mutated peptides presented by those HLA molecules. As an example, a study of over 600 patients with multiple myeloma showed an average of 64 nonsynonymous mutations. Neoantigen load was then predicted in silico by identifying mutant peptides predicted to bind class I HLA molecules. Predicted neoantigen were defined as any unique peptide: HLA combination with mutant binding affinity IC50 less then 500 nM. This revealed the average predicted neoantigens to be 23 in number, with 9 expressed neoantigens. This outlines the fact that not all neoantigens are either expressed or presented on HLA (17). This number then gives an approximate estimate of the isolated GVL inducing potential for multiple myeloma. However, the average number of nonsynonymous mutations in leukemia is typically much lower, as noted above. If we were to extrapolate using the ratio of 64 nonsynonymous mutations to its 9 expressed neoantigens, one could predict that hypothetically hematologic malignancy on average would be unlikely to express >10 neoantigens. In actual fact the true number of TSA will vary with each individual based on the number of nonsynonymous mutations present, type of mutation (i.e., point vs. frame shift mutations) their antigenicity, cleavage potential of the proteins harboring the mutations, the HLA binding affinities of the mutant peptides and the HLA type in an individual, among other factors. While, this may underestimate of the expressed neoantigens burden of hematologic malignancy, a study of antigen presentation of multiple malignancy types including hematologic malignancies and solid tumors indicated that there are ~ 1.5 expressed neoantigens per point mutation and 4 per frameshift mutation (44), suggesting that the estimate presented here is not too far from reality.

This may hold true even if one considers other TSA sources that may contribute to GVL, including those derived from normally repressed proteins such as cancer testis antigens. These are antigens normal expressed in "immunologically privileged sites" such as, testicular or trophoblastic tissues, and are thus immunogenic. When expressed, these will offer a potential GVL target, which will not be dependent on TSA, and will add to the TSA burden. However, there is variability introduced at the response end of this cascade, since some of these mutations may lead to too strong a TCR affinity and down regulation by central tolerance, while others with a more optimal affinity being allowed to escape central tolerance while still allowing allowreactivity



(45). All in all, it is unlikely that most hematological malignancies have a very large abundance of TSA to drive an isolated GVL phenomenon.

With an estimate of the TSA in hematological malignancies established, one may next attempt to determine how likely it is to unravel GVL from GVHD. NGS also offers a perspective into the genetic background of GVHD alloreactivity. Exome sequencing in both hematopoietic stem cell as well as solid organ transplant recipients has demonstrated a vast library of potential mHA which provide an alternative set of targets for donor T cells. Whole exome sequencing (WES) of transplant donors and recipients was performed in a group of HLA matched donors and recipients, and demonstrated an average of >6,000 non-synonymous single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) per HLA matched donor-recipient pair (DRP) (46). These polymorphisms when translated into peptide sequences in silico, yielded an average of 2,254 peptides/DRP with the potential to bind HLA-A, -B and -C molecules with intermediate to high affinity (IC50 of <50 nM, NetMHCpan ver2.0) (47) and represented an alloreactivity potential for a given HSCT DRP. The SNPs when compared to the mutations used to estimate TSA, are much larger in number, indicating that mHA may provide the dominant antigen background in terms of generating alloreactivity following HCT. Similar data regarding the extent of genomic variation between transplant donors and recipients have been reported by other groups investigating genomic variation in transplant recipients, in both solid organ transplants (48) and in HCT (49-53), as well as in models predicting GVL specific libraries (54). This abundance of SNPs across the exome in unique HCT donor-recipient pairs is an eye-opening finding compared to the average 10 mutations per hematologic neoplasm. This relative antigen abundance of potential mHA compared to the potential TSA estimate is graphically depicted to scale in Figure 1.

While the sheer number of mHA alone vastly outnumbers the potential TSA in hematologic malignancy, these numbers do not tell the whole story. Whether the potential mHA result in a T cell proliferation depends on several factors, such as peptide cleavage potential, antigen binding affinity, and critically, T cell clones bearing receptors that might recognize the mHA-HLA complexes. Crucially, the T cell receptor affinity for HLA-mHA or HLA-TSA complexes also needs to be adequate to ensure T cell engagement and activation. Mathematical modeling of T cell expansion in response to these HLA-antigen complexes has given important insights into the quantitative principles at hand in these processes. First, the expansion of donor T cells recognizing specific antigens will be proportional to the amount of antigen available, i.e., the expression level of the antigen bearing protein will determine the extent of T cell expansion. Secondly, this T cell expansion is likely governed by the affinity of the antigen to the HLA molecule, and the affinity of the T cell receptors for antigen-HLA complex. This is an exponential relationship, with T cell growth increasing non-linearly in response to changing affinity. An important clue to this is provided by the T cell clonal frequency distribution which follows Power Law when these are plotted out for T cell clones present in normal individuals (55).

T cell frequency \propto Antigen expression \times $e^{mHA-HLA}$ affinity \times TCR affinity

Based on the above model, an alloreactive donor cytotoxic T cell response was simulated. To do this the array of mHA in each patient was considered as an operator matrix modifying a hypothetical cytotoxic T cell clonal vector matrix. Utilizing the basic assumption that T cell expansion will be governed by the binding affinity of the variant peptide to HLA, and for model estimation of antigen driven T cell proliferation, assuming unit affinity of the TCR for each mHA-HLA complex (since this was not known for this particular set of antigens), each responding T



cell clone's proliferation was determined by the logistic equation of growth (Figure 2). Assuming uniform growth conditions, rvalues in the logistic equation, these simulations, showed that the simulated organ-specific alloreactive T cell clonal growth had marked variability, with orders of magnitude of difference between different HLA matched DRPs (N = 78). This was because of the differences in the unique polymorphic peptide sequences and their binding to the many different HLA types. In this study higher total and organ-specific T cell counts were associated with the incidence of moderate to severe GVHD (56). T cell growth in these simulations exhibited a sigmoid, logistic dynamic over time similar to immune reconstitution kinetics exhibited by allograft recipients (57). This model predicted the emergence of a limited number of dominant T cell clones responding to highly expressed and high affinity mHA-HLA class I complexes unique to each individual depending on their HLA type. On the other hand, there was a large number of low frequency clones responding to poorly expressed protein-derived mHA, weakly bound to the corresponding HLA. When the model was adjusted to incorporate competition with dominant higher affinity clones, it demonstrated chaotic dynamics with suppression of the lower affinity clones in early time points, identifying this as a possible contributor to the stochasticity observed in the clinical setting. Further, once variability in TCR affinity for the mHA-HLA complexes is accounted for in this model, then the even greater variability and randomness in T cell responses may be observed between different donorrecipient pairs. Change in the term for growth rate, r in the model will have profound impact on the variability seen and GVHD risk. When evaluated for HLA class II molecule presentation, these alloreactive mHA libraries further expanded

several-fold given the longer peptide sequences which may bind HLA class II molecules, increasing the mathematical complexity at hand. Nevertheless, this work demonstrates that these antigen arrays are susceptible to mathematical modeling and thus of potential use in estimating the likelihood of GVHD occurring in HLA matched (or mismatched) SCT DRP (58). Such estimates will potentially serve to personalize GVHD prophylaxis regimens to allow optimal GVL effect in future trials, while suppressing GVHD.

With these data in mind, when the relative number of tumor specific antigens and minor histocompatibility antigens are examined it becomes obvious that the relatively small number of TSA compared with mHA, may in most individuals result in outcompeting of tumor specific targets, by normal tissue targets setting up the field for GVL occurring in the company of GVHD (Figure 1). Thus, polymorphic normal recipient antigens (mHA) expressed in the malignant clones will be more likely to be presented to the donor T cells and contribute to a relapse-free-state, than TSA. The mathematics are further complicated by the possibility that the TSA compete not only with the mHA for presentation, but also with the nonpolymorphic/non-antigenic peptides in the recipient's tissues, which will far outnumber both these sets of peptides, since these will also be loaded onto the HLA molecules and presented to the donor helper and cytotoxic T cells. The mathematics dealing with this problem were introduced in the paper by Salman et al. It is also imperative that the immunogenic antigens have peptides with an affinity to both HLA class I and HLA class II molecules and be expressed in a particular malignancy in an individual for those to be effective at provoking an immune response.



of tissue injury and pharmacotherapy for GVHD prophylaxis.

All is not lost in the mathematical medley of chaos and combinatorics. It is clear that the quantitatively driven T cell responses depend on relative antigen abundance and HLA affinity. Traditionally HSCT is done with patients in remission, and as immunosuppression is withdrawn, they may develop chronic GVHD, which confers protection from relapse, and in a few patients GRFS might be observed. This likely depends on both the extent of T cell clonal diversity emerging after transplantation, as well as the balance of antigen expression. It is therefore critical to understand the notion of relative antigen abundance (Figure 3), such that to elicit an effective immune response an antigen has to be present in an adequate quantity. Such relative antigen abundance of TSA and mHA may be modulated by vaccination using TSA, as has been reported in melanoma patients (59). This may increase the likelihood of GVL developing in a GVHD-free state in patients with hematological malignancies. It is important to recognize the logistic growth kinetics of T cell clones with an early exponential growth phase, and the importance of timing in vaccine administration before the onset of this growth. Another approach already in practice is to use hypomethylating agents to alter the expression of immunogenic cancer testis antigens (9). This therapy provides an extensive library of alternative immune targets for the donor T cells to focus on and has been successfully combined with donor lymphocyte infusions to treat post allograft relapse (60). It is to be recognized that this model only partially encompasses the complexity of normal and post-transplant immune responses and does not give a complete explanation for the GVHD-GVL dissociation observed in patients who experience GRFS, That state represents a complex interplay of the factors described here with conditioning regimens and GVHD prophylaxis, and of course tumor growth kinetics. Antigen presentation triggered by tissue injury and cytokine release are critical factors in these calculations, as are

REFERENCES

- Bleakley M, Riddell SR, Cancer FH. Molecules and mechanisums of the graft-versus-lleukemia. Nat Rev. (2004) 4:1–10. doi: 10.1038/nrc1365
- Horowitz MM, Gale RP, Sondel PM, Goldman JM, Kersey J, Kolb HJ, et al. Graft-versus-leukemia reactions after bone marrow transplantation. *Blood.* 75:555–62.
- Lee SJ, Klein J, Haagenson M, Baxter-Lowe LA, Confer DL, Eapen M., et al. High-resolution donor-recipient HLA matching contributes to the success of unrelated donor marrow transplantation. *Blood.* (2007) 110:4576– 83. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-06-097386
- Harvey J, Green A, Cornish J, Steward C, Cummins M, Keen L., et al. Improved survival in matched unrelated donor transplant for childhood ALL since the introduction of high-resolution matching at HLA class i and II. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. (2012) 47:1294–300. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2012.8
- Fleischhauer K, Shaw BE, Gooley T, Malkki M, Bardy P, Bignon JD., et al. Effect of T-cell-epitope matching at HLA-DPB1 in recipients of unrelateddonor haemopoietic-cell transplantation: a retrospective study. *Lancet Oncol.* (2012) 13:366–74. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70004-9
- Goulmy E, De Bueger M, Bakker AJJ, Rood V, Van Der Woude F. *Tissue Distribution of Human Minor*. (1992). Available online at: http://www.jimmunol.org/content/149/5/1788 (accessed February 14, 2020).
- Spierings E. Minor histocompatibility antigens: past, present, and future. *Tissue Antigens*. (2014) 84:374–60. doi: 10.1111/tan.12445

pharmacological suppression of T cell growth, and elimination of T cell clones.

In conclusion, mathematical modeling of immune reconstitution, guided by NGS, along with an in-depth analysis of the relative expansion of donor T cell clones in response to the differentially expressed TSA and normal recipient antigens in individual patients, may allow a deeper understanding of the apparently stochastic nature of clinical outcomes observed at a population level. Mathematical modeling of T cell responses has revealed the chaotic dynamics of posttransplant immune responses, when multiple antigens with different HLA binding affinities and tissue expression levels are studied (58, 61, 62). Thus, stochasticity is built into the system, however, the probability windows for GVHD-GVL determination, may be narrowed by a using tools such as NGS of normal and malignant recipient, as well as donor exomes, and mathematical simulation of alloreactive T cell responses to mHA and TSA. These strategies can be used to identify the optimal TSA which would yield a T cell response, and these may then be used to derive tumor specific vaccines, altering the relative antigen abundance at crucial early times following SCT. Thus, in-depth genomic analysis may eventually allow us to truly develop precision medicine tools for optimizing patient outcomes following SCT.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EK and AT developed the idea and wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

AT was supported by research funding from the NIH-NCI Cancer Center Support Grant (P30-CA016059; PI: Gordon Ginder, MD).

- Mutis T. Targeting alloreactive donor T-cells to hematopoietic systemrestricted minor histocompatibility antigens to dissect graft-versusleukemia effects from graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Int J Hematol.* (2003) 78:208–12. doi: 10.1007/BF02983796
- Toor AA, Payne KK, Chung HM, Sabo RT, Hazlett AF, Kmieciak M., et al. Epigenetic induction of adaptive immune response in multiple myeloma: sequential azacitidine and lenalidomide generate cancer testis antigen-specific cellular immunity. Br J Haematol. (2012) 158:700–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2012.09225.x
- Ren X, Deng R, Zhang K, Sun Y, Teng X, Li J. SpliceRCA:*in situ* singlecell analysis of mRNA splicing variants. ACS Cent Sci. (2018) 4:680– 7. doi: 10.1021/acscentsci.8b00081
- Chiappinelli KB, Strissel PL, Desrichard A, Li H, Henke C, Akman B., et al. Inhibiting DNA methylation causes an interferon response in cancer via dsRNA including endogenous retroviruses. *Cell.* (2015) 162:974– 86. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.07.011
- Spierings E, Kim YH, Hendriks M, Borst E, Sergeant R, Canossi A., et al. Multicenter analyses demonstrate significant clinical effects of minor histocompatibility antigens on GvHD and GvL after HLA-matched related and unrelated hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. (2013) 19:1244–53. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2013.06.001
- Larsen ME, Kornblit B, Larsen MV, Masmas TN, Nielsen M, Thiim M., et al. Degree of predicted minor histocompatibility antigen mismatch correlates with poorer clinical outcomes in nonmyeloablative allogeneic

hematopoietic cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. (2010) 16:1370-81. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2010.03.022

- Grove CS, Vassiliou GS. Acute myeloid leukaemia: a paradigm for the clonal evolution of cancer? *DMM Dis Model Mech.* (2014) 7:941– 51. doi: 10.1242/dmm.015974
- Goodman AM, Kato S, Bazhenova L, Patel SP, Frampton GM, Miller V., et al. Tumor mutational burden as an independent predictor of response to immunotherapy in diverse cancers. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2017) 16:2598– 608. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0386
- Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, Zhou S, Diaz LA, Kinzler KW. Cancer genome landscapes. *Science*. (2013) 340:1546–58. doi: 10.1126/science.1235122
- Miller A, Asmann Y, Cattaneo L, Braggio E, Keats J, Auclair D., et al. High somatic mutation and neoantigen burden are correlated with decreased progression-free survival in multiple myeloma. *Blood Cancer J.* (2017) 7:e612. doi: 10.1038/bcj.2017.94
- Lawrence MS, Stojanov P, Polak P, Kryukov GV, Cibulskis K, Sivachenko A., et al. Mutational heterogeneity in cancer and the search for new cancerassociated genes. *Nature*. (2013) 499:214–8. doi: 10.1038/nature12213
- Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SA, Behjati S, Biankin AV., et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. *Nature*. (2013) 500:415–21. doi: 10.1038/nature12477
- Zehir A, Benayed R, Shah RH, Middha S, Kim HR, Srinivasan P, et al. Mutational landscape of metastatic cancer revealed from prospective clinical sequencing of 10,000 patients. *Nat Med.* (2017) 23:703–13. doi: 10.1038/nm.4333
- Gubin MM, Artyomov MN, Mardis ER, Schreiber RD. Tumor_neoantigens_building_a_PDF. J Clin Invest. (2015) 125:3413-21. doi: 10.1172/JCI80008
- 22. Lennerz V, Fatho M, Gentilini C, Frye RA, Lifke A, Ferel D., et al. The response of autologous T cells to a human melanoma is dominated by mutated neoantigens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:16013– 8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0500090102
- 23. Behjati S, Tarpey PS. What is next generation sequencing? *Arch Dis Child Educ Pract Ed.* (2013) 98:236–8. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2013-304340
- Johnson DB, Frampton GM, Rioth MJ, Yusko E, Xu Y, Guo X., et al. Targeted next generation sequencing identifies markers of response to PD-1 blockade. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2016) 4, 959–67. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0143
- Campesato LF, Barroso-Sousa R, Jimenez L, Correa BR, Sabbaga J, Hoff PM., et al. Comprehensive cancer-gene panels can be used to estimate mutational load and predict clinical benefit to PD-1 blockade in clinical practice. *Oncotarget*. (2015) 6:34221–7. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5950
- Jelinek T, Mihalyova J, Kascak M, Duras J, Hajek R. PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors in haematological malignancies: update 2017. *Immunology*. (2017) 152:357– 71. doi: 10.1111/imm.12788
- Pianko MJ, Goldberg AD, Lesokhin AM. Clinical development of PD-1 blockade in hematologic malignancies. *Cancer.* 24:31– 5. doi: 10.1097/ppo.00000000000297
- van der Lee DI, Reijmers RM, Honders MW, Hagedoorn RS, de Jong RC, Kester MG., et al. Mutated nucleophosmin 1 as immunotherapy target in acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Invest. (2019) 129:774–85. doi: 10.1172/JCI97482
- Molldrem JJ, Lee PP, Wang C, Felio K, Kantarjian HM, Champlin RE., et al. Evidence that specific T lymphocytes may participate in the elimination of chronic myelogenous leukemia. *Nat Med.* (2000) 6:1018– 23. doi: 10.1038/79526
- 30. Karas M, Steinerova K, Lysak D, Hrabetova M, Jungova A, Sramek J., et al. Pre-transplant quantitative determination of NPM1 mutation significantly predicts outcome of ailogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in patients with normal karyotype AML in complete remission. *Anticancer Res.* (2016) 36:5487–98. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.11130
- Stringaris K, Marin D, Barrett AJ, Hills R, Sobieski C, Cao K., et al. KIR gene haplotype: An independent predictor of clinical outcome in MDS patients. *Blood.* (2016) 128:2819–23. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-05-713099
- Park SS, Jeon YW, Min GJ, Park S, Yahng SA, Yoon JH., et al. Graft-versus-host disease-free, relapse-free survival after allogeneic stem cell transplantation for myelodysplastic syndrome. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. (2019) 25:63– 72. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2018.08.004

- Nazha A, Rybicki L, Abounader D, Bolwell B, Dean R, Gerds AT., et al. GvHDfree, relapse-free survival after reduced-intensity allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation in older patients with myeloid malignancies. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2016) 51:1642–43. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2016.254
- Solomon SR, Sizemore C, Zhang X, Ridgeway M, Solh M, Morris LE., et al. Current graft-versus-host disease–free, relapse-free survival: a dynamic endpoint to better define efficacy after allogenic transplant. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2017) 23:1208–14. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2017.02.022
- Chen YB, Cutler CS. Biomarkers for acute GVHD: Can we predict the unpredictable. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2013) 48:755–60. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2012.143
- Grimm J, Zeller W, Zander AR. Soluble interleukin-2 receptor serum levels after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation as a marker for GVHD. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. (1998) 21:29–32. doi: 10.1038/sj.bmt.1701041
- Levine JE. Implications of TNF-α in the pathogenesis and management of GVHD. Int J Hematol. (2011) 93:571–7. doi: 10.1007/s12185-011-0803-1
- Kaiser T, Kamal H, Rank A, Kolb HJ, Holler E, Ganser A., et al. Proteomics applied to the clinical follow-up of patients after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Blood.* (2004) 104:340–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-02-0518
- Sahin U, Dalva K, Gungor F, Ustun C, Beksac M. Donor-recipient killer immunoglobulin like receptor (KIR) genotype matching has a protective effect on chronic graft versus host disease and relapse incidence following HLAidentical sibling hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Ann Hematol.* (2018) 97:1027–39. doi: 10.1007/s00277-018-3274-0
- Ratanatharathorn V, Deol A, Ayash L, Cronin S, Bhutani D, Lum LG., et al. Low-dose antithymocyte globulin enhanced the efficacy of tacrolimus and mycophenolate for GVHD prophylaxis in recipients of unrelated SCT. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. (2015) 50:106–12. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2014.203
- Binkert L, Medinger M, Halter JP, Heim D, Gerull S, Holbro A., et al. Lower dose anti-thymocyte globulin for GvHD prophylaxis results in improved survival after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. (2015) 50:1331–6. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2015.148
- Ho VT, Soiffer RJ. The history and future of T-cell depletion as graftversus-host disease prophylaxis for allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Blood*. (2001) 98:3192–204. doi: 10.1182/blood.V98.12.3192
- Al-Homsi AS, Roy TS, Cole K, Feng Y, Duffner U. Post-transplant high-dose cyclophosphamide for the prevention of graft-versus-host disease. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. (2015) 21:604–11. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2014.08.014
- 44. Rajasagi M, Shukla SA, Fritsch EF, Keskin DB, DeLuca D, Carmona E., et al. Systematic identification of personal tumorspecific neoantigens in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood.* (2014) 124:453–62. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-04-567933
- Alpdogan O, Van Den Brink MR. Immune tolerance and transplantation \$watermark-text \$watermark-text \$watermark-text. Semin Oncol. (2012) 39:629–42. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2012.10.001
- 46. Sampson JK, Sheth NU, Koparde VN, Scalora AF, Serrano MG, Lee V., et al. Whole exome sequencing to estimate alloreactivity potential between donors and recipients in stem cell transplantation. *Br J Haematol.* (2014) 166:566–70. doi: 10.1111/bjh.12898
- 47. Jameson-Lee M, Koparde V, Griffith P, Scalora AF, Sampson JK, Khalid H., et al. *In silico* derivation of HLA-specific alloreactivity potential from whole exome sequencing of stem-cell transplant donors and recipients: understanding the quantitative immunobiology of allogeneic transplantation. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:529. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00529
- Lai L, Wang L, Chen H, Zhang J, Yan Q, Ou M., et al. T cell repertoire following kidney transplantation revealed by high-throughput sequencing. *Transpl Immunol.* (2016) 39:34–45. doi: 10.1016/j.trim.2016.08.006
- 49. Pröll J, Danzer M, Stabentheiner S, Niklas N, Hackl C, Hofer K., et al. Sequence capture and next generation resequencing of the MHC region highlights potential transplantation determinants in HLA identical haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. DNA Res. (2011) 18:201–210. doi: 10.1093/dnares/dsr008
- Bykova NA, Malko DB, Efimov GA. In silico analysis of the minor histocompatibility antigen landscape based on the 1000 genomes project. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1819. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01819
- 51. Wang W, Huang H, Halagan M, Vierra-Green C, Heuer M, Brelsford JE., et al. Chromosome Y-encoded antigens associate with acute graft-versus-host

disease in sex-mismatched stem cell transplant. *Blood Adv.* (2018) 2:2419-29. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2018019513

- Ritari J, Hyvärinen K, Koskela S, Niittyvuopio R, Nihtinen A, Salmenniemi U., et al. Computational Analysis of HLA-presentation of Nonsynonymous recipient mismatches indicates effect on the risk of chronic graft-vs.-host disease after allogeneic HSCT. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1625. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01625
- Martin PJ, Levine DM, Storer BE, Warren EH, Zheng X, Nelson SC., et al. Genome-wide minor histocompatibility matching as related to the risk of graft-versus-host disease. *Blood.* (2017) 129:791-8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-09-737700
- Lansford JL, Dharmasiri U, Chai S, Hunsucker SA, Bortone DS, Keating JE., et al. Computational modeling and confirmation of leukemia-associated minor histocompatibility antigens. *Blood Adv.* (2018) 2:2052–62. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2018022475
- Meier J, Roberts C, Avent K, Hazlett A, Berrie J, Payne K., et al. Fractal organization of the human T cell repertoire in health and after stem cell transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2013) 19:366– 77. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2012.12.004
- 56. Koparde V, Abdul Razzaq B, Suntum T, Sabo R, Scalora A, Serrano M., et al. Dynamical system modeling to simulate donor T cell response to whole exome sequencing-derived recipient peptides: Understanding randomness in alloreactivity incidence following stem cell transplantation. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:187771. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0187771
- 57. Toor AA, Sabo RT, Roberts CH, Moore BL, Salman SR, Scalora AF., et al. Dynamical system modeling of immune reconstitution after allogeneic stem cell transplantation identifies patients at risk for adverse outcomes. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. (2015) 21:1237–45. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2015.03.011
- 58. Abdul Razzaq B, Scalora A, Koparde VN, Meier J, Mahmood M, Salman S., et al. Dynamical system modeling to simulate donor t

cell response to whole exome sequencing-derived recipient peptides demonstrates different alloreactivity potential in HLA-matched and - mismatched donor-recipient pairs. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2016) 22:850–61. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2015.11.1103

- Ott PA, Hu Z, Keskin DB, Shukla SA, Sun J, Bozym DJ., et al. An immunogenic personal neoantigen vaccine for melanoma patients. *Nature*. (2018) 547:217–21. doi: 10.1038/nature22991
- Claiborne J, Bandyopathyay D, Roberts C, Hawks K, Aziz M, Simmons G., et al. Managing post allograft relapse of myeloid neoplasms: azacitidine and donor lymphocyte infusions as salvage therapy. *Leuk Lymphoma.* (2019) 60:2733–43. doi: 10.1080/10428194.2019. 1605066
- Salman A, Koparde V, Hall CE, Jameson-Lee M, Roberts C, Serrano M., et al. Determining the quantitative principles of T cell response to antigenic disparity in stem cell transplantation. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2284. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02284
- Łuksza M, Riaz N, Makarov V, Reenbaum BD. A neoantigen fitness model predicts tumor response to checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. *Nature*. (2017) 176:139–48. doi: 10.1038/nature24462

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Krieger and Toor. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





H60: A Unique Murine Hematopoietic Cell-Restricted Minor Histocompatibility Antigen for Graft-versus-Leukemia Effect

Eun Young Choi^{1,2*}, Kyungho Choi^{1,3,4}, Giri Nam¹, Woojin Kim¹ and Minho Chung¹

¹ Department of Biomedical Sciences, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea, ² Institute of Human Environment Interface Biology, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea, ³ Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea, ⁴ Cancer Research Institute, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea

Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (allo-HSCT) is an important treatment for many types of hematological malignancies. Matching of donor and recipient for the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) improves the HSCT reconstitution, but donor-derived T cells reactive to non-MHC encoded minor histocompatibility antigens (MiHAs) can induce graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) while also being needed for graft-versus-leukemia (GVL) effects. MiHAs are allelically variant self-peptides presented conventionally on MHC molecules, but are alloantigenic in transplantation settings. Immunodominant MiHAs are most strongly associated with GVHD and GVL. There is need for mouse paradigms to understand these contradictory effects. H60 is a highly immunodominant mouse MiHA with hematopoietic cell-restricted expression. Immunodominance of H60 is tightly associated with its allelic nature (presence vs. absence of the transcripts), and the qualitative (TCR diversity) and quantitative (frequency) traits of the reactive T cells. The identity as a hematopoietic cell-restricted antigen (HRA) of H60 assists the appearance of the immunodominace in allo-HSCT circumstances, and generation of GVL effects without induction of serious GVHD after adoptive T cell transfer. Also it allows the low avidity T cells to escape thymic negative selection and exert GVL effect in the periphery, which is a previously unevaluated finding related to HRAs. In this review, we describe the molecular features and immunobiology in detail through which H60 selectively exerts its potent GVL effect. We further describe how lessons learned can be extrapolated to human allo-HCST.

Keywords: H60, minor histocompatibility antigen, graft-versus-leukemia, graft-versus-host-disease, hematopoieic cell-restricted antigen

INTRODUCTION

Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (allo-HSCT) was originally developed as a means to reconstitute the immune system of patients with hematological malignancies after anti-tumor radio/chemotherapy (1). T cell repopulation shortly after transplantation is attributed to the expansion of mature T cells from the donor bone marrow (BM) inoculum, rather than *de novo* T cell regeneration (2). Ideally, these mature donor-derived

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Robbert Spaapen, AMC-Sanquin Landsteiner Laboratory, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Subramaniam Malarkannan, Medical College of Wisconsin, United States Yi Zhang, Temple University, United States

> *Correspondence: Eun Young Choi eycii@snu.ac.kr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 20 January 2020 Accepted: 12 May 2020 Published: 10 June 2020

Citation:

Choi EY, Choi K, Nam G, Kim W and Chung M (2020) H60: A Unique Murine Hematopoietic Cell-Restricted Minor Histocompatibility Antigen for Graft-versus-Leukemia Effect. Front. Immunol. 11:1163. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01163

106

H60, Hematopoietic Cell-Restricted MiHA

T cells confer rapid protection from infection following allo-HSCT, while also being cytotoxic to residual tumor cells. This latter phenomenon is referred to as the graft-versus-leukemia (GVL) effect (3). Thus, allo-HSCT is considered as an antitumor treatment modality beyond its immune reconstitution capability. Mechanistically, donor-derived mature T cells elicit the GVL effect via recognition of host allo-antigens expressed by hematopoietic tumor cells (4). The downside is that they can also attack normal host tissues expressing allo-antigens and induce severe systemic inflammation, multi-organ failure, and mortality, a syndrome referred to as graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) (5). Although major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-matched transplantation significantly reduces the risk of GVHD, disparity at minor histocompatibility antigens (MiHA) continues to incur risk for GVHD whose target organs include intestine, skin, and liver (5-7). Thus, a matter of great interest is to minimize GVHD, while retaining the anti-tumor response. Particularly strong MiHAs whose expression is limited to hematopoietic cells are attractive targets for accomplishing this goal.

MiHAs arise from the fraction of self-peptides presented conventionally on MHC molecules that happen to be allelically variant (8). Their antigenicity is revealed in transplantation settings because such variant peptides are perceived as foreign to a host's T cells. With the advances in genome wide sequencing and T cell-epitope identification technologies, the number of molecularly identified MiHAs has increased exponentially (9–11). Immunodominant MiHAs have attracted attention as immunotherapeutic targets for hematologic malignancies (12–14). In this review, we describe the molecular features and immunobiology of an unusually immunodominant mouse MiHA, H60, that engender its potent GVL effect.

H60 AND ITS IMMUNODOMINANCE

Many of mouse MiHAs were identified at the molecular level in the late 1990s and early 2000s (8). Of these, MiHAs for which the specific T cell responses have been functionally evaluated are listed in Table 1 (15–25). Although MiHAs are short peptides processed from various proteins, the molecular functions of the native proteins are in general irrelevant to their ability to generate allo-responses. Prototypic MiHA-specific allo-responses emanate from sequence variation within their MHC-presented peptides. The MiHA H60 differs in two respects. First, the native H60 protein serves as a ligand for the NK cell receptor NKG2D (26, 27). However, this function is unrelated to the role of H60 as a MiHA (H60 family proteins are introduced in Box 1). More importantly, H60 differs in that its allogenicity is based on its presence or absence of the transcripts (H60^C or H60^{null} allele; ^C represents allelic variant C, and ^{null} represents alleles with no transcripts) (15). Thus, T cells developed in C57BL/6 (B6; H-2^b) mice, which have the H60^{null} allele and, thereby, do not express H60, become activated when they encounter the completely foreign H-2K^b-LTFNYRNL peptide (H60p) processed from the protein produced by mouse strains carrying the *H60^C* allele, such as BALB and 129.

In a B6 vs. BALB.B pair, a representative example of MHC (H2^b)-matched allogeneic donor and recipient mouse strains, MiHA number has been estimated up to 88 (29). However, the immunodominance phenomenon focuses the immune responses to fewer antigens, thus simplifying the complexity of the alloresponse. Four MiHAs (H60, H4, H28, and H7) account for great majority of the B6 CD8 T cell responses to allogeneic BALB.B cells (30). But H60 stands out in that it accounts for more than 30% of the B6 anti-BALB.B allo-response (Table 1). H60-specific CD8 T cells expand up to 12% of the CD8 T cells in the blood of B6 mice once immunized with BALB.B splenocytes [this is termed B6 anti-BALB.B host-versus-graft (HVG) response] and compete effectively with CD8 T cells for the allo-MHC (H-2^d) proteins during the B6 anti-haploidentical CB6F1 HVG response (30, 31). H60 immunogenicity is even more intensified in GVHD. The frequency of the H60-specific CD8 T cells surges up to 25% of CD8 T cells in peripheral blood and target organs of BALB.B GVHD hosts (7). H60-specific CD8 T cells also prevail in other H2^b-matched GVHD pairs, such as B6 BMT to A.BY, LP/J, and 129 strains. This unusual level of immunodominance endows the value of H60 as a model MiHA to manipulate GVH and GVL responses, with growing evidence favoring the uniqueness of H60 as a GVL target, and is discussed subsequently.

HOW AND WHEN IS H60 IMMUNODOMINANT?

Hematopoietic Cell-Restricted Expression

Most known MiHAs exhibit ubiquitous expression patterns. However, H60 is only expressed by hematopoietic lineage cells in mouse strains carrying the $H60a^{C}$ allele (15, 27). H60a transcripts are detected in lymphoid organs including the thymus and spleen, but not in the kidney, brain, and intestine of BALB/c mice (28, 32). Although one report claimed that H60a transcripts were found at appreciable levels in some non-hematopoietic tissues such as cardiac and skeletal muscles and skin (28), its expression in non-hematopoieic parenchymal cells has not been validated in allogeneic solid tissue (skin or heart) transplantation models (as will be described below), and could not be confirmed in our laboratory.

In general, H60-specific CD8T cells undergo robust expansion, attaining peaks of 10-15% of blood CD8 T cells, when B6 mice are immunized with splenocytes from H60 congenic mice (B6.CBy-H60a^C; Con-H60 hereafter) (33-35). However, when tail skin from the Con-H60 strain is transplanted onto B6 mice (Con-H60 \rightarrow B6), minimal specific T cell expansion is observed (to an average peak of 3%) (36). Similarly, Con-H60 \rightarrow B6 skin or heart transplantation is associated with minimal skin graft rejection or coronary artery vascular disease (37). This contrasts greatly with the serious complications (almost 100%) found after skin or heart transplantation when the H60mismatched donor is the H60 transgenic mouse line, C57BL/6 Tg (ACTB-H60a*) in which H60 is ubiquitously expressed under the control of the actin-promoter (termed Act-H60 Tg, hereafter) (37, 38). Similarly high rates of complications are observed when the solid tissue transplantations feature
Name	Distribution	MHC (H2 ^b) [*]	C57BL/6 (allele/or X) sequence	BALB.B (allele/or Y) sequence	Proportions in B6 anti-BALB.B MLC (30)	References
H60 (<i>H60a</i>)	Hematopoietic	Kp	(b) Null	(c) LTFNYRNL	29.1–36.3%	(15)
H4 (<i>Emp3</i>)	Broad	K ^b	(a) SG <u>T</u> VYIHL	(b) SG <u>I</u> VYIHL	6.5-26%	(16)
H28 (<i>IFi44I</i>)	Interferon-induced	K ^b		(b) ILENFPRL	6-24.3%	(17)
H7 (<i>H7</i>)	Broad	Db	(a) KAPDNR <u>E</u> TL	(b) KAPDNR <u>D</u> TL	5–8%	(18)
H3a (<i>Zfp106</i>)	Broad	D ^b	(a) ASP <u>C</u> NSTVL	(a) ASP <u>C</u> NSTVL		(19)
H13 (<i>H13</i>)	Broad	D ^b	(a) SSV <u>V</u> GVWYL	(b) SSV <u>I</u> GVWYL	1-4%	(20)
HY-Uty	Broad	D ^b	(X: <i>Utx</i>) WMHH <u>TV</u> DL <u>L</u>	(Y) WMHH <u>NM</u> DL <u>I</u>	2-2.5%	(21)
HY- <i>Dby</i>	Broad	Ab	(X:Dbx) <u>SSS</u> F <u>SSS</u> RA <u>S</u> SSRSG	(Y) <u>NAGFNSNRAN</u> SSRSS		(22)

TABLE 1 | Mouse minor histocompatibility antigens.

Underline, amino acid variation between strains. *Superscript b indicates b haplotype of H2.

BOX 1 | The native function of H60.

In terms of molecular function, the native H60 protein serves as a ligand for the NK cell receptor NKG2D (26, 27). After paralog genes (*H60b* and *H60c*) encoding additional NKG2D ligands were identified (28), the original *H60* was renamed *H60a*. However, *H60b* and *H60c* encode proteins exhibiting amino acid variations at multiple sites including the H60p sequence, LTFN<u>H</u>R<u>T</u>L and LT<u>VK</u>YR<u>T</u>L, respectively, and were found to be transcribed in both the B6 and BALB strains (28). Thus, the MiHA H60 (simplified to H60, hereafter) refers to only the *H60a*-encoded protein that induces the potent T cell allo-response in mouse strains with the *H60a^{null}* allele (eg., B6).

mismatch of MiHA H4, a widely expressed MiHA, using the H4 congenic strain (B10.129-H4^b; Con-H4) as the donor (37). Collectively, these findings indicate that parenchymal cells do not naturally express H60; expression is restricted to hematopoietic cells and the H60-specific response is weak after solid tissue transplantations. In support of this, BALB.B \rightarrow B6 cardiac engraftment and skin transplantation, neither of which features primary vascularization, H60 is subordinated to H4 (36, 39). However, when the BALB \rightarrow B6 heart transplantation involves a primary vascularization procedure, so that the BALB.B hematopoietic cells become more exposed to the B6 immune cells, H60 regains its dominance over H4 (H60>H4), as after BALB.B spleen cell immunization (30, 39). Similarly, H60 immunodominance is exaggerated during B6 anti-BALB.B GVH responses (7), when homeostatically proliferating B6T cells are exposed to a large number of H60-positive host leukocytes. Thus, immunodominance of H60 is flexible and depends on the type of graft. H60 dominance is intensified by the abundance of H60-expressing allogeneic hematopoieic cells, due to its hematopoietic cell-restricted distribution (Figure 1).

Contribution From High Precursor Frequency in the Naïve T Cell Pool

Various factors affect antigen immunodominance and the immune hierarchy. Affinity for the MHC and the numbers of peptide/MHC complexes are crucial factors influencing immunodominance (40–42). However, the binding affinity of



FIGURE 1 | Immunodominance of H60. Expansion of H60-specific CD8 T cells is promoted as the allogeneic hematopoietic cell abundances increase in the order: Solid Tissue, Spleen Cell, and Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantations. In contrast, the CD8 T cell response to H4 which represents ubiquitously expressed MiHAs decreases as the allogeneic hematopoietic cells increase. The hematopoietic cell-restricted distribution of H60 facilitates H60 dominance over H4. H60 is dominated by H4 in allogeneic skin transplantation.

the cognate H60p LTFNYRNL to H-2K^b is 3–10-fold lower than that of the Ova_{257–264} SIINFEKL peptide, but is similar to that of the SGIVYIHL H4^b CD8 epitope (Kd = 0.8 \pm 0.05 nM), and empirical estimates of natural LTFNYRNL/H-2K^b complexes (5–15 copies per cell) are not exceptionally high (15, 43). Thus, affinity and ligand density do not readily explain the unusually high immunodominance; H60-specific T cells expand at significant levels (to attain 7–8% of the peripheral peak) even in the presence of allo-MHC responses during the B6 anti-BALB/c (H-2^d) HVG response, and H60-targeted T cell cytotoxicity is detected at levels similar to that of H-2^dtargeted cytotoxicity during the haplo-MHC mismatched B6 anti-CB6F1 HVG response (31). H60 immunodominance is reproduced after immunization of B6 mice with the synthetic

H60 peptide; naïve protein expression is not involved (31). Rather, precursor cells are significantly frequent in the naïve CD8 T cell pool. The precursor frequencies (ca. 1/24,000-1/11,000 cells) are significantly higher than those of cells recognizing the H13 and HY subdominant MiHAs (such cells are in fact undetectable), and comparable to the level of cells reactive to a viral epitope VSV peptide (RGYVYQGL; ca. 1/49,000-1/18,000 cells) (31, 44). Additionally, the precursor TCR repertoire is diverse as revealed the high shannon entropy (average 5.8) and simpson index (0.99) of rearranged TCRβs sequences (45). Consequently, CD8 T cells with a wide spectrum of TCRs, thus almost all TCRVßs and the various CDR3s of each TCRV_β, are expanded in B6 mice immunized with spleen cells from Con-H60 mice (46). These features may explain why H60 is so immunogenic. However, because boosting the frequency of subdominant H13-reactive T cells via pre-immunization does not attenuate the dominance of H60 (30), not only the frequency and TCR diversity, but also the TCR avidity for H60p/H-2K^b of the precursors which are generated through selection processes in the B6 (H60^{null}) thymic environment likely play roles in establishing the immunodominance of H60 in the B6 T cell response.

DOES HEMATOPOIETIC CELL-RESTRICTED DISTRIBUTION AFFECT THYMIC SELECTION OF T CELLS SPECIFIC FOR H60?

As described above, the immunodominant H60 serves as useful model antigen when studying anti-MiHA allogeneic T cell response in MHC-matched allo-HSCT settings. Anti-H60 donor T cell responses can occur at two different levels. Mature donor T cells contained in the graft inoculum recognize host H60 and induce the GVL effect and GVHD. Also, donor-derived naïve T cells newly developed in the recipient thymus may recognize host H60 to induce the GVL effect and GVHD. Although many studies have focused on acute effects of the former T cells, *de novo* generated naïve T cells also can contribute to both the GVL effect and GVHD. Thus, it is important to understand thymic development of H60-specific naïve T cells. Below, we will describe natural thymic selection of H60-specific T cells and under allo-HSCT settings.

Incomplete Thymic Negative Selection of T Cells Specific for Self-Hematopoietic Cell-Restricted Antigens

It is well-established that T cells with specificity for ubiquitously expressed self-antigens are deleted in the thymus, preventing T cell-mediated autoimmunity (47). This is true for tissuerestricted antigens (TRAs) that are expressed only in certain peripheral tissues and cells; antigen-specific T cells for TRAs can be negatively selected due to AIRE-mediated promiscuous expression of certain genes (such as endocrine genes including insulin) by medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs) (48, 49). However, in recent years, it has become clear that some T cells escape thymic negative selection. In particular, certain TRA-specific T cells, especially those with low avidity TCRs, survive negative selection in the thymus and enter the periphery (50–53). Thymic negative selection against hematopoietic cell-restricted antigens (HRAs), especially natural HRAs such as H60, has not been studied in depth. Thymic dendritic cells (DCs) are known to be responsible for negative selection in the thymus (47, 54, 55). They have great capacity to delete thymocytes with high affinity/avidity TCRs for self-expressed antigens (direct presentation) and also those expressed by mTECs (cross-presentation) (56, 57). The conventional view has thus been that thymic deletion of T cells specific for HRA would be strict because of its thymic DC expression. However, our recent study using the natural antigen H60 as self- and allo-HRA revealed that some HRA-specific T cells survive thymic negative selection (45).

Our initial findings came from experiments using TCR-Tg mice of the B6 (H60^{null}) background strain, termed J15 mice, in which all T cells express TCRs originated from a high avidity anti-H60 clone (58). The J15 TCR has high specificity for H60, in that J15 T cells are strictly deleted in the thymus of Act-H60 Tg mice, but not in the thymus of Tg mice where a signal amino acid variant of H60 termed H60H (LTFHYRNL) is expressed under the control of the actin promoter (Act-H60H) (59, 60). Despite the high specificity and avidity, J15T cells are incompletely deleted in the Con-H60 thymus even though the thymic DCs express H60. CD8 single positive (SP) thymocytes and splenic T cells were generated after crossing J15 and Con-H60 mice, although the numbers were 3-7-fold less and tetramer staining intensity was about 7-fold lower than those of B6 mice. Thus, J15 T cells expressing low avidity TCRs composed of transgenic TCR^β and endogenous TCR^{αs} escaped negative selection in the Con-H60 thymus. Even under physiological conditions, H60tetramer-binding polyclonal T cells can be detected among CD8 SP thymocytes and splenocytes of Con-H60 mice, albeit with lower tetramer-staining intensities and in numbers 2-2.5-fold lower than those of B6 mice. However, tetramer-binding cells are rarely detected in Act-H60 Tg mice. Thus, the incomplete deletion of T cells in the Con-H60 thymus is attributable to the natural hematopoietic cell-restricted expression pattern of H60. This finding allies with a study showing that limiting TRA expression to DCs results in incomplete deletion of thymic CD4 T cells (52).

Incomplete Thymic Negative Selection of T Cells Specific for Allo-HRA H60

In an H60-single antigen-mismatched allo-HSCT model, J15 \rightarrow Con-H60, donor-derived J15 T cells developing *de novo* are also only partially deleted in the thymus of Con-H60 recipients. Because radiation conditioning induces hematopoietic cell death in the recipient, negative selection may have not occurred. Thus, partial deletion in this setting was somewhat surprising. The mediators of such partial negative selection turned out to be radiation-resistant hematopoietic cells of the Con-H60 recipient: J15 T cells were positively selected in the J15 \rightarrow $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ Con-H60 BMT, whereas partial deletion was preserved in the $\beta 2m^{-/-}$ J15 \rightarrow Con-H60 BMT. Partial deletion of HRA-specific CD8 T cells was also evident when Ova was expressed as an HRA in the recipient of OT-1 BM (OT-1 \rightarrow [Ova Tg \rightarrow B6]) (45).

Therefore, deletion of T cells specific for HRAs may not be as strict as was conventionally thought. When limited numbers of DCs serve as the cognate thymic APC, the specific T cells are only partially deleted. Even when all thymic DCs are cognate APCs (as in Con-H60 mice), weak antigen-presentation by each APC (5–15 copies of the antigen-MHC complexes in the case of H60) may prevent strict deletion of the T cells. Thus, the hematopoietically-limited nature of H60 presentation allows low avidity T cells to escape thymic deletion.

A GVL EFFECT MEDIATED BY POST-THYMIC CD8 T CELL ESCAPEES SPECIFIC FOR HRA H60

In some animal models of allo-HSCT, hosts with chronic GVHD exhibit mTEC injuries (61–63). In recipients expressing Ova

as a TRA, TRA-specific CD4T cells are generated *de novo* because of mTEC damage occurring during the period of acute GVHD. Post-thymic T cells generated without negative selection trigger autoimmune-like disease in the context of a pro-inflammatory milieu (64). Thus, not just the failure of complete negative selection, but also acute GVHD-associated inflammation increases the likelihood that TRA-specific deletion escapees will generate autoimmune-like chronic GVHD.

In the case of H60, CD8 T cell escapees specific for HRA H60 consist of low-avidity T cells, exhibiting low tetramer-staining intensity. However, their TCR repertoire diversity is comparable to that of the B6 counterparts generated in the absence of negative selection. Escapees generated in B6 \rightarrow Con-H60 BMT recipients are functional, producing IFN- γ and proliferating in response to H60 peptide-stimulation. More importantly, they have potent anti-leukemia effects. B6 \rightarrow Con-H60 hosts showed tumor-free survival rates comparable to that of B6 \rightarrow B6 hosts, because tumor cells were eliminated in an antigen-specific



FIGURE 2 | GVL effects by H60 HRA-specific thymic deletion escapees in allo-HSCT. (**A**) In normal B6 recipients (H60^{null}), donor-derived T cells (H60^{null} B6) specific for H60 are not deleted in the thymus because H60 expression is lacking. Surviving high-avidity H60-specific T cells mediate a GVL effect against H60-expressing hematologic tumors in the periphery. (**B**) In Con-H60 recipients (that express hematopoietic cell-restricted H60 on the B6 background): (a) donor-derived T cells specific for H60 are partially deleted by H60-expressing host dendritic cells (DCs) in the thymus; (b) low-avidity H60-specific T cells survive this negative selection; and (c) differentiate into effectors in the periphery. (d) These effectors mediate a GVL effect against H60-expressing hematologic tumors. (**C**) In Act-H60 recipients (that express H60 ubiquitously on the B6 background), donor-derived T cells specific for H60 are completely deleted by the H60-expressing thymic DCs and thymic epithelial cells (TEC). In the absence of surviving T cells specific for H60, H60-expressing hematologic tumors cannot be eliminated in an antigen-dependent manner.

manner (Figures 2A,B). Such GVL effects were not found for B6→Act-H60-Tg hosts because of the strict deletion of the H60-specific T cells (Figure 2C). Another critical point is that HRA H60-specific CD8T cell escapees did not cause GVHDlike symptoms in $B6 \rightarrow$ Con-H60 hosts. However, when the numbers of escapees are non-physiologically high, as in the J15→ Con-H60 BMT, GVHD-like symptoms and mortality were observed in some hosts (<30%). Other findings have included donor leukocyte chimerism and expansion of H60specific CD8 T cell escapees during the GVL response (45). Such data are clinically relevant as similar phenotypes are observed in leukemic patients showing favorable outcomes after allo-HSCT (12, 65, 66). Thus, hematopoietic cell-restricted MiHA-specific naïve T cells can develop in allo-HSCT hosts and contribute to the GVL effect with minimal GVHD, highlighting the potential utility of hematopoietic MiHA-mismatched HSCT in the clinic.

GVL EFFECTS MEDIATED BY DONOR MATURE CD8T CELLS SPECIFIC FOR HRA H60

As we mentioned above, during the early phase of allo-HSCT, donor-derived mature T cells initiate acute GVH, and GVL responses. Donor-derived mature T cells specific for H60 expand greatly soon after transplantation, predominating the B6 anti-BALB.B GVH response (7, 67). However, depletion of T cells specific for H60 (and H4) within the graft prior to transplantation does not alleviate GVHD severity (68), indicating that donor-derived mature T cells specific for HRA H60 are not critical for inducing acute GVHD. It is thus clear that T cells responses raised against multiple MiHA-mismatch, rather than the just two MiHA, contribute to GVHD induction, consistent with the fact that an H4 single mismatch cannot induce acute GVHD (69). However, substantial GVL effects have been observed after transfer of T cells containing memory cells for H60 (70, 71). In MHC (H-2^b)-matched C3H.SW $(H60^{null}) \rightarrow$ Con-H60 allo-BMT, transfer of CD8T cells from H60-vaccinated donors, containing 2,600-5,000 H60-tetramer+ cells, prolonged the survival of the H60⁺ tumor-bearing hosts with chronic phase or blast crisis chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) (70, 71). The remarkable expansion of the H60-specific T cells (up to 56% of splenic CD8T cells) and effective tumor killing, compared to the naïve T cell transfer, reflect inclusion in the transplant of central memory cells which can proliferate and differentiate into effector immediately upon antigen-restimulation. In addition to the direct cytotoxic effect, the ability to generate IFN-y producing effectors immediately and in large numbers allows the memory T cell transfer to exert a powerful GVL effect: IFN-y sensitizes GVL-resistant blast crisis CML and acute myeloid leukemia to T cell-mediated killing (71). Notably, this memory cell transfer strategy does not generate the GVL effects in hosts where H60 is ubiquitously expressed (70). The memory cells induce only mild hepatic GVHD, unlike the typical aggressive GVHD seen in hosts transferred with naïve T cells. Thus, memory T cells specific for an HRA may serve as tumor-targeting tools mediating a GVL effect. CD4 help is required for appropriate generation and expansion of memory CD8 T cells specific for cellular antigens including H60 (34, 35). Therefore, the development of strategies that include or supplement CD4 help factors will render amplification of memory T cells feasible. Collectively, GVL studies using H60 as a model HRA have validated the use of HRA-mismatched allo-HSCT and HRA-specific memory T cells to maximize GVL effects, while minimizing GVHD, in treatment of hematological malignancies.

CONCLUSION

We have reviewed the molecular characteristics of H60, a hematopoieic cell-restricted immunodominant MiHA, and the GVL effects of specific T cells. H60 allelism ($H60a^{null}$ vs. $H60a^{C}$) and the hematopoietic cell-restricted distribution explain the mechanisms, such as the frequency, diversity, and avidity of reactive T cells, which underlie H60 immunodominance and the GVL effect of H60-specific T cells. Particularly, thymic deletion escapes of T cells with low avidity for HRA H60, and a GVL effect generated by the escapees against H60-positive tumor cells in the periphery have not been evaluated previously. These findings, together with the GVL effect generated by the transfer of memory T cells, emphasize the utility of HRA identification and the use of HRA-mismatched allo-HSCT to treat leukemia and lymphoma.

HRA-mismatched allo-HSCT, and the potential use of human HRAs such as HA-1 (HMHA1; VLH/RDDLLEA restricted by HLA-A*0201) and HA-2 (MYO1G; YIGEVLVSV/M restricted by HLA-A*0201) as targets for lysis of leukemic cells have been evaluated in clinic for years (72-75). The HA-1-mismatched allo-HSCT followed by HA-1-negative donor lymphocyte infusions successfully treated a relapse of HA-1⁺ leukemia (12, 76, 77). T cell clones from patients with GVL in the absence of GVHD consistently did not react with non-hematopoietic cells, whereas those from GVHD patients were skewed to broadly expressed MiHAs (78). TCRs from high avidity HA-1specific clones were used to develop memory T cells targeting leukemia (79). In this respect, identification of HRAs and their specific T cell clones is valuable. HRA expression may not be static, being possibly down-regulated by physiological, or pathological signals including IFNs (80, 81). However, MiHAs afford advantages compared to highly personalized tumorassociated neo-antigens, in that MiHAs shared by a group of people may allow germ-line based treatments. Moreover, the expression of certain HRAs, such as H60 and HA-1 (82-84), can be ectopically induced during carcinogenesis, extending the potential of HRA-based therapies to solid tumor target. Recently, a library of 39 novel MiHAs (restricted by HLA-A*02:01 or HLA-B*44:03) expressed on hematological cells has been reported (10). Molecular characterizations of these MiHAs and the reactive T cells will aid the utilization of HRAs as GVL targets. Our present review will assist in selection of HRAs for clinical applications.

In summary, mouse studies using H60 as a model HRA have yielded basic knowledge supporting the importance of strong immunogenic HRAs, and donor-derived post-thymic T cells and memory T cells specific for such HRAs for generation of GVL effects. The H60⁺ tumor targeting by post-thymic T cell was revealed using a single antigen-mismatched model. This will be extended to multi-antigen-mismatched allo-HSCT models. Also, future mechanistic studies on GVL mediation by H60-specific T cells will increase our ability to develop strategies that sustain anti-tumor effects while minimizing GVHD or autoimmunelike symptoms.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EC wrote the manuscript. KC provided critical insight and edited the manuscript. GN provided supportive

REFERENCES

- Mackall CL, Fleisher TA, Brown MR, Andrich MP, Chen CC, Feuerstein IM, et al. Age, thymopoiesis, and CD4+ T-lymphocyte regeneration after intensive chemotherapy. N Engl J Med. (1995) 332:143–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199501193320303
- Mackall CL, Gress RE. Pathways of T-cell regeneration in mice and humans: implications for bone marrow transplantation and immunotherapy. *Immunol Rev.* (1997) 157:61–72. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.1997.tb00974.x
- Horowitz MM, Gale RP, Sondel PM, Goldman JM, Kersey J, Kolb HJ, et al. Graft-versus-leukemia reactions after bone marrow transplantation. *Blood*. (1990) 75:555–62. doi: 10.1182/blood.V75.3.555.bloodjournal753555
- Bleakley M, Riddell SR. Molecules and mechanisms of the graft-versusleukaemia effect. Nat Rev. (2004) 4:371–80. doi: 10.1038/nrc1365
- Ferrara JL, Deeg HJ. Graft-versus-host disease. N Engl J Med. (1991) 324:667– 74. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199103073241005
- Goulmy E, Schipper R, Pool J, Blokland E, Falkenburg F, Vossen J, et al. Mismatches of minor histocompatibility antigens between HLA-identical donors and recipients and the development of graft-versus-host disease after bone marrow transplantation. *New Engl J Med.* (1996) 334:281– 5. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199602013340501
- Choi EY, Christianson GJ, Yoshimura Y, Jung N, Sproule TJ, Malarkannan S, et al. Real-time T-cell profiling identifies H60 as a major minor histocompatibility antigen in murine graft-versus-host disease. *Blood.* (2002) 100:4259–64. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-05-1299
- Roopenian D, Choi EY, Brown A. The immunogenomics of minor histocompatibility antigens. *Immunol Rev.* (2002) 190:86– 94. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-065X.2002.19007.x
- Kowalewski DJ, Schuster H, Backert L, Berlin C, Kahn S, Kanz L, et al. HLA ligandome analysis identifies the underlying specificities of spontaneous antileukemia immune responses in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:E166–75. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1416389112
- Granados DP, Rodenbrock A, Laverdure JP, Cote C, Caron-Lizotte O, Carli C, et al. Proteogenomic-based discovery of minor histocompatibility antigens with suitable features for immunotherapy of hematologic cancers. *Leukemia*. (2016) 30:1344–54. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.22
- Hombrink P, Hassan C, Kester MG, Jahn L, Pont MJ, de Ru AH, et al. Identification of biological relevant minor histocompatibility antigens within the B-lymphocyte-Derived HLA-ligandome using a reverse immunology approach. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:2177–86. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2188
- Marijt WA, Heemskerk MH, Kloosterboer FM, Goulmy E, Kester MG, van der Hoorn MA, et al. Hematopoiesis-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens HA-1- or HA-2-specific T cells can induce complete remissions of relapsed leukemia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:2742–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0530192100

experimental data. GN, WK, and MC designed the figures.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the National Research Foundation funded by the Ministry of Science and ICT (Basic Research Laboratory 2017R1A4A1015745; Basic Research Program 2019R1A2C3004336) and Seoul National University Hospital, Republic of Korea.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Young Keul Jeon for his technical help and Dr. Derry Roopenian for his editorial suggestion.

- Spierings E, Wieles B, Goulmy E. Minor histocompatibility antigens-big in tumour therapy. *Trends Immunol.* (2004) 25:56–60. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2003.12.002
- Goulmy E. Minor histocompatibility antigens: allo target molecules for tumor-specific immunotherapy. *Cancer J.* (2004) 10:1–7. doi: 10.1097/00130404-200401000-00001
- Malarkannan S, Shih PP, Eden PA, Horng T, Zuberi AR, Christianson G, et al. The molecular and functional characterization of a dominant minor H antigen, H60. *J Immunol.* (1998) 161:3501–9.
- Luedtke B, Pooler LM, Choi EY, Tranchita AM, Reinbold CJ, Brown AC, et al. A single nucleotide polymorphism in the Emp3 gene defines the H4 minor histocompatibility antigen. *Immunogenetics*. (2003) 55:284– 95. doi: 10.1007/s00251-003-0581-x
- Malarkannan S, Horng T, Eden P, Gonzalez F, Shih P, Brouwenstijn N, et al. Differences that matter: major cytotoxic T cellstimulating minor histocompatibility antigens. *Immunity*. (2000) 13:333–44. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00033-9
- Reinbold CJ, Malarkannan S. Recognition of allo-peptide is governed by novel anchor imposition and limited variations in TCR contact residues. *Mol Immunol.* (2008) 45:1318–26. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2007.09.017
- Zuberi AR, Christianson GJ, Mendoza LM, Shastri N, Roopenian DC. Positional cloning and molecular characterization of an immunodominant cytotoxic determinant of the mouse H3 minor histocompatibility complex. *Immunity*. (1998) 9:687–98. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80666-4
- Ostrov DA, Roden MM, Shi W, Palmieri E, Christianson GJ, Mendoza L, et al. How H13 histocompatibility peptides differing by a single methyl group and lacking conventional MHC binding anchor motifs determine self-nonself discrimination. J Immunol. (2002) 168:283–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.1.283
- Greenfield A, Scott D, Pennisi D, Ehrmann I, Ellis P, Cooper L, et al. An H-YDb epitope is encoded by a novel mouse Y chromosome gene. *Nat Genet*. (1996) 14:474–8. doi: 10.1038/ng1296-474
- Scott D, Addey C, Ellis P, James E, Mitchell MJ, Saut N, et al. Dendritic cells permit identification of genes encoding MHC class IIrestricted epitopes of transplantation antigens. *Immunity*. (2000) 12:711– 20. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80221-6
- McBride K, Baron C, Picard S, Martin S, Boismenu D, Bell A, et al. The model B6(dom1) minor histocompatibility antigen is encoded by a mouse homolog of the yeast STT3 gene. *Immunogenetics*. (2002) 54:562– 9. doi: 10.1007/s00251-002-0502-4
- Mendoza LM, Paz P, Zuberi A, Christianson G, Roopenian D, Shastri N. Minors held by majors: the H13 minor histocompatibility locus defined as a peptide/MHC class I complex. *Immunity.* (1997) 7:461–72. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80368-4
- 25. Eden PA, Christianson GJ, Fontaine P, Wettstein PJ, Perreault C, Roopenian DC. Biochemical and immunogenetic analysis of an immunodominant

peptide (B6dom1) encoded by the classical H7 minor histocompatibility locus. *J Immunol.* (1999) 162:4502–10.

- Cerwenka A, O'Callaghan CA, Hamerman JA, Yadav R, Ajayi W, Roopenian DC, et al. Cutting edge: the minor histocompatibility antigen H60 peptide interacts with both H-2Kb and NKG2D. *J Immunol.* (2002) 168:3131–4. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.7.3131
- Diefenbach A, Jamieson AM, Liu SD, Shastri N, Raulet DH. Ligands for the murine NKG2D receptor: expression by tumor cells and activation of NK cells and macrophages. *Nat Immunol.* (2000) 1:119–26. doi: 10.1038/77793
- Takada A, Yoshida S, Kajikawa M, Miyatake Y, Tomaru U, Sakai M, et al. Two novel NKG2D ligands of the mouse H60 family with differential expression patterns and binding affinities to NKG2D. *J Immunol.* (2008) 180:1678– 85. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.3.1678
- Graff RJ, Brown DH. Estimates of histocompatibility differences between inbred mouse strains. *Immunogenetics*. (1978) 7:367– 73. doi: 10.1007/BF01844026
- 30. Choi EY, Yoshimura Y, Christianson GJ, Sproule TJ, Malarkannan S, Shastri N, et al. Quantitative analysis of the immune response to mouse non-MHC transplantation antigens *in vivo*: the H60 histocompatibility antigen dominates over all others. *J Immunol.* (2001) 166:4370–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.7.4370
- Choi EY, Christianson GJ, Yoshimura Y, Sproule TJ, Jung N, Joyce S, et al. Immunodominance of H60 is caused by an abnormally high precursor T cell pool directed against its unique minor histocompatibility antigen peptide. *Immunity*. (2002) 17:593–603. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00428-4
- Cerwenka A, Bakker AB, McClanahan T, Wagner J, Wu J, Phillips JH, et al. Retinoic acid early inducible genes define a ligand family for the activating NKG2D receptor in mice. *Immunity*. (2000) 12:721– 7. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80222-8
- Jung KM, Choi EY. Role for CD40 and CD40L expression in generating CD8 T cell response to minor histocompatibility antigen, H60. *Immunenetwork*. (2007) 7:6. doi: 10.4110/in.2007.7.4.173
- 34. Ryu SJ, Jung KM, Yoo HS, Kim TW, Kim S, Chang J, et al. Cognate CD4 help is essential for the reactivation and expansion of CD8 memory T cells directed against the hematopoietic cell-specific dominant minor histocompatibility antigen, H60. *Blood.* (2009) 113:4273–80. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-09-1 81263
- Kim J, Ryu SJ, Oh K, Ju JM, Jeon JY, Nam G, et al. Memory programming in CD8(+) T-cell differentiation is intrinsic and is not determined by CD4 help. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:7994. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8994
- Yoo KI, Jeon JY, Ryu SJ, Nam G, Youn H, Choi EY. Subdominant H60 antigenspecific CD8 T-cell response precedes dominant H4 antigen-specific response during the initial phase of allogenic skin graft rejection. *Exp Mol Med.* (2015) 47:e140. doi: 10.1038/emm.2014.107
- Russell PS, Chase CM, Madsen JC, Hirohashi T, Cornell LD, Sproule TJ, et al. Coronary artery disease from isolated non-H2-determined incompatibilities in transplanted mouse hearts. *Transplantation*. (2011) 91:847–52. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3182122f82
- Wang X, Li H, Matte-Martone C, Cui W, Li N, Tan HS, et al. Mechanisms of antigen presentation to T cells in murine graft-versus-host disease: cross-presentation and the appearance of cross-presentation. *Blood.* (2011) 118:6426–37. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-06-358747
- Kwun J, Malarkannan S, Burlingham WJ, Knechtle SJ. Primary vascularization of the graft determines the immunodominance of murine minor H antigens during organ transplantation. J Immunol. (2011) 187:3997– 4006. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1003918
- Perreault C, Roy DC, Fortin C. Immunodominant minor histocompatibility antigens: the major ones. *Immunol Today*. (1998) 19:69–74. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5699(97)01185-7
- Grufman P, Wolpert EZ, Sandberg JK, Karre K. T cell competition for the antigen-presenting cell as a model for immunodominance in the cytotoxic T lymphocyte response against minor histocompatibility antigens. *Eur J Immunol.* (1999) 29:2197–204.
- Kedl RM, Rees WA, Hildeman DA, Schaefer B, Mitchell T, Kappler J, et al. T cells compete for access to antigen-bearing antigen-presenting cells. J Exp Med. (2000) 192:1105–13. doi: 10.1084/jem.192.8.1105
- 43. Yoshimura Y, Yadav R, Christianson GJ, Ajayi WU, Roopenian DC, Joyce S. Duration of alloantigen presentation and avidity of T

cell antigen recognition correlate with immunodominance of CTL response to minor histocompatibility antigens. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:6666–74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.11.6666

- Van Bleek GM, Nathenson SG. Isolation of an endogenously processed immunodominant viral peptide from the class I H-2Kb molecule. *Nature*. (1990) 348:213–6. doi: 10.1038/348213a0
- 45. Ju JM, Jung MH, Nam G, Kim W, Oh S, Kim HD, et al. Escape from thymic deletion and anti-leukemic effects of T cells specific for hematopoietic cell-restricted antigen. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:225. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02665-z
- Choi JH, Ryu SJ, Jung KM, Kim S, Chang J, Kim TW, et al. TCR diversity of H60-specific CD8 T cells during the response evolution and influence of CD4 help. *Transplantation*. (2009) 87:1609–16. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181a52dc4
- Klein L, Hinterberger M, Wirnsberger G, Kyewski B. Antigen presentation in the thymus for positive selection and central tolerance induction. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2009) 9:833–44. doi: 10.1038/nri2669
- Derbinski J, Schulte A, Kyewski B, Klein L. Promiscuous gene expression in medullary thymic epithelial cells mirrors the peripheral self. *Nat Immunol.* (2001) 2:1032–9. doi: 10.1038/ni723
- Koble C, Kyewski B. The thymic medulla: a unique microenvironment for intercellular self-antigen transfer. J Exp Med. (2009) 206:1505– 13. doi: 10.1084/jem.20082449
- Enouz S, Carrié L, Merkler D, Bevan MJ, Zehn D. Autoreactive T cells bypass negative selection and respond to self-antigen stimulation during infection. J Exp Med. (2012) 209:1769–79. doi: 10.1084/jem.20120905
- Zehn D, Bevan MJ. T cells with low avidity for a tissue-restricted antigen routinely evade central and peripheral tolerance and cause autoimmunity. *Immunity*. (2006) 25:261–70. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2006.06.009
- Malhotra D, Linehan JL, Dileepan T, Lee YJ, Purtha WE, Lu JV, et al. Tolerance is established in polyclonal CD4(+) T cells by distinct mechanisms, according to self-peptide expression patterns. *Nat Immunol.* (2016) 17:187– 95. doi: 10.1038/ni.3327
- Yu W, Jiang N, Ebert PJ, Kidd BA, Muller S, Lund PJ, et al. Clonal deletion prunes but does not eliminate self-specific alphabeta CD8(+) T lymphocytes. *Immunity*. (2015) 42:929–41. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.05.001
- McCaughtry TM, Hogquist KA. Central tolerance: what have we learned from mice? *Semin Immunopathol.* (2008) 30:399– 409. doi: 10.1007/s00281-008-0137-0
- Melichar HJ, Ross JO, Herzmark P, Hogquist KA, Robey EA. Distinct temporal patterns of T cell receptor signaling during positive versus negative selection *in situ. Sci Signal.* (2013) 6:ra92. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2004400
- Klein L, Kyewski B, Allen PM, Hogquist KA. Positive and negative selection of the T cell repertoire: what thymocytes see (and don't see). *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2014) 14:377–91. doi: 10.1038/nri3667
- Hubert FX, Kinkel SA, Davey GM, Phipson B, Mueller SN, Liston A, et al. Aire regulates the transfer of antigen from mTECs to dendritic cells for induction of thymic tolerance. *Blood*. (2011) 118:2462–72. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-06-286393
- Jeon JY, Jung KM, Chang J, Choi EY. Characterization of CTL clones specific for single antigen, H60 minor histocompatibility antigen. *Immune Netw.* (2011) 11:100–6. doi: 10.4110/in.2011.11.2.100
- Ryu SJ, Jeon JY, Chang J, Sproule TJ, Roopenian DC, Choi EY. A single-aminoacid variant of the H60 CD8 epitope generates specific immunity with diverse TCR recruitment. *Mol Cells*. (2012) 33:393–9. doi: 10.1007/s10059-012-0008-3
- Ju JM, Kim MB, Ryu SJ, Kim JY, Chang J, Choi EY. Selection of thymocytes expressing transgenic TCR specific for a minor histocompatibility antigen, H60. *Immune Netw.* (2015) 15:222–31. doi: 10.4110/in.2015.15.5.222
- Wu T, Young JS, Johnston H, Ni X, Deng R, Racine J, et al. Thymic damage, impaired negative selection, and development of chronic graft-versus-host disease caused by donor CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol*. (2013) 191:488– 99. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300657
- Muller AMS, Min D, Wernig G, Levy RB, Perez VL, Herretes S, et al. Modeling chronic graft-versus-host disease in MHC-matched mouse strains: genetics, graft composition, and tissue targets. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. (2019) 25:2338–49. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2019. 08.001
- 63. Dertschnig S, Hauri-Hohl MM, Vollmer M, Hollander GA, Krenger W. Impaired thymic expression of tissue-restricted antigens licenses the de novo

generation of autoreactive CD4+ T cells in acute GVHD. *Blood.* (2015) 125:2720-3. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-08-597245

- 64. Teshima T, Reddy P, Liu C, Williams D, Cooke KR, Ferrara JL. Impaired thymic negative selection causes autoimmune graft-versus-host disease. *Blood*. (2003) 102:429–35. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-01-0266
- 65. Kroger N, Bacher U, Bader P, Bottcher S, Borowitz MJ, Dreger P, et al. NCI first international workshop on the biology, prevention, and treatment of relapse after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: report from the committee on disease-specific methods and strategies for monitoring relapse following allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Part I: methods, acute leukemias, and myelodysplastic syndromes. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2010) 16:1187–211. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2010.06.008
- 66. van der Torren CR, van Hensbergen Y, Luther S, Aghai Z, Rychnavska ZS, Slot M, et al. Possible role of minor h antigens in the persistence of donor chimerism after stem cell transplantation; relevance for sustained leukemia remission. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0119595. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0119595
- 67. Song MG, Kang B, Jeon JY, Chang J, Lee S, Min CK, et al. *In vivo* imaging of differences in early donor cell proliferation in graft-versus-host disease hosts with different pre-conditioning doses. *Mol Cells*. (2012) 33:79–86. doi: 10.1007/s10059-012-2228-y
- de Witte MA, Toebes M, Song J-Y, Wolkers MC, Schumacher TN. Effective graft depletion of MiHAg T-cell specificities and consequences for graft-versus-host disease. *Blood.* (2007) 109:3830–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-07-037713
- Blazar BR, Roopenian DC, Taylor PA, Christianson GJ, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, Vallera DA. Lack of GVHD across classical, single minor histocompatibiliTy (miH) locus barriers in mice. *Transplantation*. (1996) 61:619–24. doi: 10.1097/00007890-199602270-00017
- Li N, Matte-Martone C, Zheng H, Cui W, Venkatesan S, Tan HS, et al. Memory T cells from minor histocompatibility antigen-vaccinated and virusimmune donors improve GVL and immune reconstitution. *Blood.* (2011) 118:5965–76. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-07-367011
- Matte-Martone C, Liu J, Zhou M, Chikina M, Green DR, Harty JT, et al. Differential requirements for myeloid leukemia IFN-γ conditioning determine graft-versus-leukemia resistance and sensitivity. J Clin Invest. (2017) 127:2765–76. doi: 10.1172/JCI85736
- 72. de Bueger M, Bakker A, Van Rood JJ, Van der Woude F, Goulmy E. Tissue distribution of human minor histocompatibility antigens. ubiquitous versus restricted tissue distribution indicates heterogeneity among human cytotoxic T lymphocyte-defined non-MHC antigens. J Immunol. (1992) 149:1788–94.
- den Haan JM, Sherman NE, Blokland E, Huczko E, Koning F, Drijfhout JW, et al. Identification of a graft versus host diseaseassociated human minor histocompatibility antigen. *Science*. (1995) 268:1476–80. doi: 10.1126/science.7539551
- 74. den Haan JM, Meadows LM, Wang W, Pool J, Blokland E, Bishop TL, et al. The minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1: a diallelic gene with a single amino acid polymorphism. *Science*. (1998) 279:1054–7. doi: 10.1126/science.279.5353.1054
- 75. Wilke M, Dolstra H, Maas F, Pool J, Brouwer R, Falkenburg JH, et al. Quantification of the HA-1 gene product at the RNA level; relevance for

immunotherapy of hematological malignancies. Hematol J. (2003) 4:315-20. doi: 10.1038/sj.thj.6200318

- 76. Kircher B, Stevanovic S, Urbanek M, Mitterschiffthaler A, Rammensee HG, Grunewald K, et al. Induction of HA-1-specific cytotoxic T-cell clones parallels the therapeutic effect of donor lymphocyte infusion. *Br J Haematol.* (2002) 117:935–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2002.03536.x
- 77. Kloosterboer FM, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, van Soest RA, Barbui AM, van Egmond HM, Strijbosch MP, et al. Direct cloning of leukemia-reactive T cells from patients treated with donor lymphocyte infusion shows a relative dominance of hematopoiesis-restricted minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1 and HA-2 specific T cells. *Leukemia.* (2004) 18:798–808. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2403297
- van Bergen CA, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, de Wreede LC, Eefting M, von dem Borne PA, van Balen P, et al. Selective graft-versus-leukemia depends on magnitude and diversity of the alloreactive T cell response. *J Clin Invest*. (2017) 127:517–29. doi: 10.1172/JCI86175
- Dossa RG, Cunningham T, Sommermeyer D, Medina-Rodriguez I, Biernacki MA, Foster K, et al. Development of T-cell immunotherapy for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation recipients at risk of leukemia relapse. *Blood.* (2018) 131:108–20. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-07-791608
- Bui JD, Carayannopoulos LN, Lanier LL, Yokoyama WM, Schreiber RD. IFNdependent down-regulation of the NKG2D ligand H60 on tumors. *J Immunol.* (2006) 176:905–13. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.2.905
- Zhang H, Hardamon C, Sagoe B, Ngolab J, Bui JD. Studies of the H60a locus in C57BL/6 and 129/Sv mouse strains identify the H60a 3'UTR as a regulator of H60a expression. *Mol Immunol.* (2011) 48:539– 45. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2010.10.015
- Girardi M, Oppenheim DE, Steele CR, Lewis JM, Glusac E, Filler R, et al. Regulation of cutaneous malignancy by gammadelta T cells. *Science*. (2001) 294:605–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1063916
- Klein CA, Wilke M, Pool J, Vermeulen C, Blokland E, Burghart E, et al. The hematopoietic system-specific minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1 shows aberrant expression in epithelial cancer cells. J Exp Med. (2002) 196:359–68. doi: 10.1084/jem.20011838
- Xu P, Ma J, Ma J, Zhang W, Guo S, Jian Z, et al. Multiple protumorigenic functions of the human minor Histocompatibility Antigen-1 (HA-1) in melanoma progression. *J Dermatol Sci.* (2017) 88:216– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2017.07.004

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Choi, Choi, Nam, Kim and Chung. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Connection Between Minor H Antigens and Neoantigens and the Missing Link in Their Prediction

Tuna Mutis^{1*}, Anastasia Xagara^{2,3} and Robbert M. Spaapen^{2,3}

¹ Department of Hematology, Amsterdam UMC, VU Medical Center, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ² Department of Immunopathology, Sanquin Research, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ³ Landsteiner Laboratory, Amsterdam UMC, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

For hundreds of thousands of years, the human genome has extensively evolved, resulting in genetic variations in almost every gene. Immunological reflections of these genetic variations become clearly visible after an allogeneic stem cell transplantation (allo-SCT) as minor Histocompatibility (H) antigens. Minor H antigens are peptides cleaved from genetically encoded variable protein regions after which they are presented at the cell surface by HLA molecules. After allo-SCT with minor H antigen mismatches between donor and recipient, donor T cells recognize the minor H antigens of the recipient as foreign, evoking strong alloreactive immune responses. Studies in the late eighties have discovered that a subset of minor H antigens are encoded by hematopoietic system-specific genes. After allo-SCT, this subset is strictly expressed on the hematopoietic malignant cells and was therefore the first well-defined highly immunogenic group of tumor-specific antigens. In the last decade, neoantigens derived from genetic mutations in tumors have been identified as another group of immunogenic tumor-specific antigens. Therefore, hematopoietic minor H antigens and neoantigens are therapeutic equivalents. This review will connect our current knowledge about the immune biology and identification of minor H antigens and neoantigens leading to novel conclusions on their prediction.

Keywords: minor histocompatibility antigen, neoantigen, antigen prediction, antigen identification, reverse antigen identification strategy

INTRODUCTION

Minor H Antigens: From Enigmatic to Well-Defined Transplantation-Antigens

Today, more than six decades after the first application of allogeneic stem cell transplantation (allo-SCT), scientists and clinicians are still impressed by the therapeutic Graft-versus-Tumor (GvT) effect established by donor T cells administered along with stem cells into the recipient (1). This therapeutic effect can be so powerful that patients can remain in long term remissions, even may be cured, after transplantation (2, 3). Therefore, allo-SCT is still being widely applied for several recurrent hematological malignancies, even though the therapeutic effects of allo-SCT are strongly associated with the development of life-threatening Graft-versus-Host-Disease (GvHD). The main mediators of GvHD as well as GvT are the alloreactive donor T cells directed at recipient antigens that are absent in the donor, responding to Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC; HLA in

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

José Mordoh, IIBBA-CONICET Leloir Institute Foundation, Argentina

Reviewed by:

Chiara Bonini, Vita-Salute San Raffaele University, Italy Jan Joseph Melenhorst, University of Pennsylvania, United States

*Correspondence: Tuna Mutis t.mutis@amsterdamumc.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 24 January 2020 Accepted: 12 May 2020 Published: 24 June 2020

Citation:

Mutis T, Xagara A and Spaapen RM (2020) The Connection Between Minor H Antigens and Neoantigens and the Missing Link in Their Prediction. Front. Immunol. 11:1162. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01162 humans) molecules at the cell surface (4). However, GvT and especially GvHD still occur in about 40% of patients whose stem cell donors are completely HLA-identical, indicating the existence of an additional transplantation antigen system (5). These transplantation antigens were originally designated as minor Histocompatibility (H) antigens (6).

The nature of minor H antigens recognized by donor T cells remained an enigma for more than two decades. In the mid nineties, almost a decade after the identification of MHCbound peptides as T cell epitopes (7) and the demonstration of structure and the peptide binding groove of MHC class I molecules (8, 9), pioneering studies conducted in mice and humans demonstrated that minor H antigens are polymorphic peptides presented by MHC molecules (10, 11). A subgroup of minor H antigens, the male-specific HY antigens, were derived from "male-specific" proteins encoded by genes located on the Y-chromosome (12). All other non-gender related minor H antigens identified to date are encoded by autosomal genes that have gained allelic polymorphism through evolution over thousands of years [reviewed in Oostvogels et al. (13)]. Although some analyses suggested that minor H antigens are mainly derived from oncological relevant genes (14), this idea was not embraced by all investigators. Any non-synonymous coding variation can give rise to an immunogenic minor H antigen after allo-SCT. Of these variations, single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) leading to single amino acid substitutions are currently the most common for the generation of minor H antigens (10, 15-19). But also base-pair insertions, deletions (indels) or copy number variations (CNVs) contribute to the generation of polymorphic peptides that are recognized as minor H antigens at the cell surface (20).

The Concept of the Minor H Antigen-Targeted Immunotherapy

As soon as the molecular identity of minor H antigens was unraveled, it became clear why several minor H antigenspecific T cells isolated from transplanted patients lysed only hematopoietic cells, including hematopoietic tumor cells but not the cells derived from other tissues such as fibroblasts or keratinocytes (21). In all those cases the target minor H antigen was encoded by genes, which are solely expressed in the hematopoietic system (22). This discovery underlies the concept of minor H antigen-targeted immunotherapy, which aims at targeting hematopoiesis-specific minor H antigens, which would induce GvT without GvHD after allo-SCT. Also the newly developing minor H antigen negative donorderived hematopoietic system would remain unharmed (23). The development of this concept fueled the efforts to identify new hematopoiesis-specific minor H antigens. To be broadly therapeutically applicable, such minor H antigens are ideally presented by common HLA-alleles and have a balanced population prevalence in order to get frequent minor H antigen disparities between donor and patient (24). Now, almost 25 years later, the research resulted in the identification of about 10 genuinely hematopoiesis-specific minor H antigens (18, 25-33), some of which have been or are being tested in early phase I/II clinical trials. The approaches used in these trials include treatment of allo-transplanted patients with ex vivo generated minor H antigen-specific T cells (34, 35), with T cell receptor (TCR)-gene transferred T cells (NCT03326921, ongoing) or vaccination of allo-transplanted patients with recipient- or donor-derived dendritic cells loaded with minor H antigen peptides (13, 36) or with minor H antigen encoding mRNA (NCT02528682, ongoing) (37). Nevertheless, except the HA-1, UTA2-1, and CD19 minor H antigens (25, 27, 29), all hematopoiesis-specific minor H antigens identified till now are either presented by infrequent HLA-alleles or display an unbalanced population frequency, which makes it highly challenging to enroll sufficient minor H antigen mismatched donor-patient pairs in clinical trials. Due to this issue, all current clinical translation attempts are either progressing very slowly (38) or even terminated due to poor accrual (NCT00943293). Thus, the efficient clinical translation of this highly personalized immunotherapy approach is still largely dependent on the development of solid strategies to identify clinically relevant hematopoiesis-specific minor H antigens. These efforts are relevant not only for the application of minor H antigen-targeted immunotherapy but also for immunotherapy aiming at targeting the so-called neoantigens, because the genetic, immunogenic, and therapeutic properties of hematopoietic minor H antigens and tumor-specific neoantigens display extreme similarities.

Similarities and Differences Between Hematopoietic Minor H Antigens and Tumor-Specific Neoantigens

Minor H antigens are the immunological reflections of evolutionary established genetic polymorphisms, while neoantigens are immunological reflections of tumor-specific genetic mutations (38, 39). Thus, from a genetic point of view, the only difference between these antigens is that minor H antigens are inherited, while neoantigens are not. For subsequent gene expression, antigen processing and HLA-mediated presentation, minor H antigens and neoantigens follow identical rules. These include that HLA class I (HLA-I) antigens are liberated from the polymorphic or mutated regions of intracellular proteins by (immuno)proteasomes in the cytosol, followed by ERtranslocation via transporters associated with antigen processing (TAP) in order to be loaded into HLA-I molecules (40). Next to HLA-I restricted antigens that induce CD8[±] cytotoxic T cells, HLA class II (HLA-II) restricted antigens that induce $CD4^{\pm}$ T cells can also play important roles in anti-tumor responses. The proteolytic processing of HLA-II restricted minor H antigens and neoantigens is generally regulated by lysosomal enzymes, followed by HLA-DM assisted loading into the HLA-II peptide binding groove (41).

From the immunological point of view, the existence of minor H antigen- and neoantigen-specific T cells in the naïve T cell repertoire is likely similar. Both antigens are foreign to the immune system and therefore there is no negative selection for the high-affinity T cells reactive with minor H antigens and neoantigens in the thymus (42). Consequently, both antigens can induce very potent T cell immune responses. The basic difference

is that minor H antigens are solely immunogenic in a minor H antigen mismatched allo-SCT setting, while neoantigens can be readily immunogenic both in the allogeneic and autologous settings (38, 39).

Finally, from a clinical viewpoint, minor H antigens can be encoded by any polymorphic gene and are thus not tumorspecific antigens per se, as opposed to neoantigens. In fact, many minor H antigens are expressed by normal tissues and associate with the occurrence of detrimental GvHD as explained above (43). Nonetheless, this latter distinction does not apply for hematopoietic minor H antigens, which are tumor-specific antigens after an allo-SCT, similar to neoantigens (23, 24). This is because after allo-SCT the originally minor H antigen-positive normal hematopoietic system of the recipient is replaced by the minor H antigen-negative donor hematopoietic system. The only cells expressing the hematopoietic minor H antigens are the residual tumor cells. Therefore, it would not be wrong to state that hematopoietic minor H antigens in an allo-SCT setting are the equivalents of tumor-specific neoantigens. It should be noted that the replacement of residual minor H antigen positive host dendritic cells (DCs) after allo-SCT can take longer periods. These residual host DCs can therefore present endogenous hematopoietic minor H antigens to prime hematopoietic minor H antigen-specific T cells without the need for cross-presentation (44). In the case of neoantigens however, cross-presentation of the target antigen by DCs is an absolute requirement, because tumor cells are generally not able to prime T cells. Furthermore, specific targeting of either of these types of antigen is expected to exclusively generate a powerful anti-tumor effect without inducing direct damage to non-malignant cells.

From the therapeutic point of view, one final common and challenging aspect is the execution of clinical studies. As stated above, many minor H antigen-based clinical studies are facing with poor recruitment issues. Similar poor recruitment for adoptive T cell transfer trials is also expected for neoantigens due to the highly personalized character of most tumor-specific mutations. Since vaccination studies can include several antigens in one study, they are more easily applied (45) as compared to adoptive T cell transfer, but their success is still critically dependent on the development of effective (DC) vaccination strategies that can induce robust and long lasting T cell responses (46).

All these similarities between minor H antigens and neoantigens together show that it is of paramount importance to combine the knowledge of both fields toward the effective identification of both types of antigens and their application in the clinic.

Most Successful Methods for the Identification of Minor H Antigens and Neoantigens

In general, methods for the identification of a peptide antigen recognized by T cells fall into two main categories. The direct (forward) strategy aims to identify the antigen of a T cell clone that has already been isolated from a patient or a healthy individual. The "reverse" strategy follows the opposite direction through the isolation of a T cell clone that recognizes an *in silico* predicted antigen of interest (**Figures 1A,B**).

Forward Antigen Identification Strategies

There are several forward methods to identify minor H antigens and a fewer to identify neoantigens (Figure 1A). Initially, specialized biochemical peptide elution and fractionation techniques were used to identify peptides recognized by minor H antigen- and tumor-specific T cell clones (10, 12, 18, 25). At the same time, laborious cDNA library screening approaches were utilized to identify minor H antigen and tumor antigen encoding mRNA (47, 48). However, after the discovery that minor H antigens were encoded by inheritable genetic variations, genetic analyses were developed specifically for minor H antigens (32). Over the last 15 years, we and others have advanced these analyses from conventional pairwise linkage analysis into rapid and convenient SNP-based genome-wide association studies (15, 29, 49, 50). Moreover, we have implemented major resolution upgrades of those screens that initially used self-made databases toward publically available databases first from the HapMap Project and later from the 1,000 Genomes Project, which highly improved the success rate of genetic HLA-I and HLA-II restricted minor H antigen identification efforts (49). With these methods, a minor H antigen recognized by a T cell can be identified within 3-4 months (15). It is therefore not surprising that the vast majority of the more than 50 known minor H antigens to date has been identified by genetic linkage analyses (15, 27-29, 32, 33, 49, 51-53). Since neoantigens are not encoded in the germline and thus are not polymorphic in the population, the highly convenient forward genetic approaches are not applicable to their identification.

Despite its evident success, the forward T cell-to-antigen strategy has clear drawbacks when it comes to the identification of minor H antigens with a desired HLA-restriction, population frequency and tissue distribution. Although minor H antigenspecific T cell clones can be readily isolated from many, if not all, allo-transplanted patients, the available T cell isolation techniques cannot be adapted to isolate only those T cell clones with the required characteristics (24). All generated T cell clones need to be tested for the desired HLA restriction and minor H antigen frequency using cell line panels. Moreover, there are no convenient and reliable strategies to select T cell clones directed at minor H antigens expressed only in the hematopoietic system. A better and more convenient control of HLA restriction, population frequency and tissue distribution is key toward more efficient identification of clinically relevant minor H antigens.

The Reverse Antigen Identification Strategies

While forward methods hamper at the identification of clinically relevant minor H antigens and neoantigens, opportunities are offered by the "reverse immunology" approach. The reverse method first predicts potential T cell antigens based on *in silico* analyses of polymorphic or mutated genomic sites (**Figure 1B**). The 1,000 Genomes Project has cataloged most of human polymorphism and is therefore the database of choice for selection of putative minor H antigen encoding variations, preferably with a balanced allele frequency to allow





for optimal donor-recipient disparity (54, 55). Because of the personalized character of neoantigens, the current state-of-theart for mapping individual mutations is through tumor exome sequencing (56). Next tumor transcriptome analyses based on RNAseq or online databases are usually utilized to filter for tumor expression. Candidate minor H antigens should go through an additional selection for selective hematopoietic restricted expression. Finally, algorithms are applied to determine HLAbinding and sometimes the antigen processing efficiency for each possible peptide covering the polymorphism or mutation (56). The combined predictions for HLA-I presented peptides generally provide a score that accounts for the C-terminal cleavage of the protein by the proteasome, the TAP-mediated translocation of the peptide into the ER and the binding of the peptide to HLA with high "on-" and low "off-" rates. The multistep predictions are then validated by isolating the antigenspecific T cells from relevant patients or individuals. The last, but very essential steps are the confirmation that the targeted antigens are naturally processed and that these endogenous antigens are effectively recognized by the isolated T cells or their TCRs (Figure 1B).

The reverse strategy contained several highly challenging aspects until the last decade, which underlie the limited success of minor H antigen or neoantigen identification attempts in that period. Thanks to the recent advances in human genomics [e.g., RNAseq, exome sequencing, 1,000 Genomes Project (54, 56)], tissue expression profiling [e.g., Single Cell Expression Atlas, The Human Protein Atlas, BioGPS (57–59)], antigen processing and binding algorithms [e.g., NetCTL/IEDB (60, 61)] and large-scale peptide-specific T cell detection tools [e.g., UV-exchangeable HLA-I multimers, multimer barcoding (56)], the reverse methodology has majorly improved especially for HLA-I antigens.

This has led to the identification of a vast number of neoantigens, the antigen category for which the forward identification strategies offered only limited options. At the same time, the in silico predictions have even led to the generation of multiple libraries of thousands of putative new minor H antigens (55, 62). Nonetheless, these thousands of putative minor H antigens identified by such strategies have only resulted in the actual identification of a handful of minor H antigens (17, 26, 63), because to date none of these reverse strategies account for all minor H antigen-specific features (see below). The success of this gene-to-T cell approach highly depends on the strategy of antigen selection and intensity of T cell isolation efforts. In order to quantify the current efficiency of the reverse strategy, we have analyzed seven recent studies that applied a reverse strategy to identify novel minor H antigens or neoantigens (63-69). We only included studies from which we could extract the number of predicted antigens actually tested, as compared to the number of antigens that were endogenously expressed and against which a true T cell response could be raised. These analyses show that the efficiency of the reverse identification approach is between 0 and 20% (Figures 1C,D). These data argue that the reverse identification pipeline is currently far from optimal, with a dominant pool of false positive predicted candidates against which no T cell reactivity can be detected or raised (Figures 1C,D). One of the causes of suboptimal prediction is the incompleteness of the human reference proteome, despite huge progress in the last two decades. This is illustrated by the fact that many newly identified antigens were derived from supposedly non-coded regions (70–73). Furthermore, different efforts have shown that more stringent selection on expression and HLA binding score improves the success rate (66). Because not all neoantigens or minor H antigens behave according to these stringent criteria, we expect the number of false negative antigens to increase, which could effect the amount of therapeutic opportunities for individual patients in the long term. Thus, there is still much room for improvement of the reverse approach, which in theory is the best directed and straight forward strategy to identify HLA-I restricted hematopoiesis-specific minor H antigens as well as neoantigens.

For HLA-II restricted antigens, the development of a reverse method is even more complicated, because the rules for antigen processing and HLA-binding are more promiscuous and less defined. Nevertheless, some pioneering studies have combined minimalistic in silico analyses, without including antigen processing or HLA-binding predictions, but with large plasmid- or peptide-library screening strategies to identify HLA-II restricted neoantigen-specific T cell responses in cancer patients (67, 74, 75). Similar to HLA-I restricted antigens, these studies resulted in a low discovery rate (0-6%, Figure 1D). Recently, predictions for HLA-II binding have been incorporated in these analyses, but endogenous processing of immunogenic peptides was not confirmed (45, 76). So far, no HLA-II restricted minor H antigens have been identified following a reverse strategy. For a more successful identification of HLA-II restricted minor H antigens or neoantigens through reverse strategies, prediction algorithms for peptide processing and HLA-binding, but also cognate T cell detection tools (such as HLA-II multimers) still require revolutionary improvements.

As an additional layer of confirmation before isolating T cells, recent studies applied selection of candidate minor H antigen peptides from a large pool of HLA-I derived peptides as detected by mass spectrometry (**Figure 1C**) (63, 69, 77). Nonetheless, these studies also generated many false positive candidates, indicating that starting analyses from HLA-derived peptide repertoire may not necessarily compensate the current drawbacks of T cell epitope prediction algorithms.

Differential Peptide Processing and Presentation Is a Major Opportunity in Minor H Antigen and Neoantigen Reverse Identification

When studying the immunogenicity of genetic variations, it is not sufficient to consider only the antigen processing steps such as peptide cleavage, TAP translocation, HLA binding. The proper execution of these processing steps is definitely required, but not sufficient for the majority of minor H antigens and neoantigens to become immunogenic. This is because the immunogenicity of a polymorphic or mutated peptide depends on the existence of peptide-specific T cells in the (donor) T cell repertoire. The extent of the T cell repertoire against a specific antigen can be negatively affected by the presence of similar antigens in the HLA-presented peptidome during thymic development (78). TABLE 1 | The majority of minor H antigens (30/50) identified by an unbiased forward strategy are (predicted to be) differentially processed.

Levels of differential peptide processing	Minor H antigen	HLA restriction ^a	Peptide sequence ^{b,c}	C-terminal cleavage score ^{c,d}	TAP score ^{c,d}	HLA affinity score (nM) ^{c,d}	References
Transcription	UGT2B17/A29	HLA-A*29:02	AELLNIPFLY				(79)
	UGT2B17/B44	HLA-B*44:03	AELLNIPFLY				(79)
	UGT2B17/A2	HLA-A*02:06					(50)
	ACC-6	HLA-B*44:02/03	MEIFIEVFSHF				(31)
	ZAPHIR	HLA-B*07:02	IPRDSWWVEL				(80)
Translation	LRH-1	HLA-B*07:02					(28)
	PANE1	HLA-A*03:01	RVWDLPGVLK				(81)
C-terminal or internal proteasome cleavage	ACC-4	HLA-A*31:01		0.26	0.68	17	(82)
loteasonne cleavage	ACC-5	HLA-A*33:03	ATLPLLCAG WATLPLLCAR	0.03 0.26	-0.57 0.65	11313 210	(82)
	AUC-5	HLA-A 33.03	WATLPLLCAG	0.28	-0.59	29173	(02)
	HA-3 ^e	HLA-A*01:01	VTEPGTAQY	0.97	1.25	13	(16)
	11/10	11217101.01	VMEPGTAQY	0.97	1.31	134	(10)
	SP110 ^e	HI A-A*03·01		0101	1.01	54	(83)
	SP110 ^e HLA-A*03:01 SLPRGTSTPK SLPGGTSTPK		155	()			
	LB-FUCA2-1V	HLA-B*0702	RLRQVGSWL	0.90	0.48	38	(84)
			RLRQMGSWL	0.53	0.48	24	. ,
	LB-GEMIN4-1V	HLA-B*07:02	FPALRFVEV	0.97	0.04	65	(53)
			FPALRFVEE	0.24	-0.78	3208	
	LB-GEMIN4-2V	HLA-B*08:01	FPALRFVEV	0.97	0.04	23	(71)
			FPALRFVEE	0.24	-0.78	405	
AP transport	HA-8	HLA-A*02:01	RTLDKVLEV	0.96	0.23	35	(30)
			PTLDKVLEV	0.96	-0.08	3665	
HLA-binding	HA-1	HLA-A*02:01	VLHDDLLEA	0.95	-0.19	29	(25)
			VLRDDLLEA	0.93	-0.18	321	
	HA-2	HLA-A*02:01	YIGEVLVSV	0.96	0.12	7	(10)
			YIGEVLVSM	0.96	0.11	58	
	TRIM22	HLA-A*02:01	MAVPPCCIGV	0.95	0.17	620	(85)
			MAVPPCRIGV	0.89	0.17	3046	
	LB-APOBEC3B-1K	HLA-B*07:02	KPQYHAEMCF	0.26	0.95	278	(53)
			EPQYHAEMCF	0.26	0.82	9507	
	LB-BCAT2-1R	HLA-B*07:02	QPRRALLFVIL	0.94	0.33	253	(53)
			QPTRALLFVIL	0.92	0.30	2753	
	DPH1	HLA-B*57:01	SVLPEVDVW	0.45	0.50	217	(34)
			SLLPEVDVW	0.59	0.44	1582	

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

evels of differential eptide processing	Minor H antigen	HLA restriction ^a	Peptide sequence ^{b,c}	C-terminal cleavage score ^{c,d}	TAP score ^{c,d}	MHC affinity score (nM) ^{c,d}	Reference
	LB-TRIP10-1EPC	HLA-B*40:01	GEPQDLCTL	0.96	0.26	176	(52)
			GGSQDLGTL	0.87	0.21	15676	
	LB-C16ORF-1R	HLA-B*07:02	RPCPSVGLSFL	0.9	0.38	643	(71)
			WPCPSVGLSFL	0.9	0.26	3010	
	LB-NCAPD3-1Q	HLA-A*02:01	WLQGVVPVV	0.91	0.18	13	(71)
			WLRGVVPVV	0.91	0.22	108	
	UTA2-1	HLA-A*02:01	QLLNSVLTL	0.97	0.46	39	(27)
			QLPNSVLTL	0.97	0.45	222	
	LB-TMEM8A-11	HLA-B*07:02	RPRSVTIQPLL	0.97	0.41	11	(71)
			RPRSVTVQPLL	0.97	0.41	28826	
	LB-ERAP1-1R	HLA-B*07:02	HPRQEQIALLA	0.96	-0.45	692	(53)
			HPPQEQIALLA	0.97	-0.48	12460	
	LB-ADIR-1F	HLA-A*02:01	SVAPALALSPA	0.89	-0.08	490	(86)
			SVAPALALFPA	0.91	-0.08	1555	
CR affinity	HB-1	HLA-B*44:03	EEKRGSLHVW	0.9	0.29	184	(48)
			EEKRGSLYVW	0.89	0.29	188	
	ACC1	HLA-A*24:02	DYLQYVLQI	0.9	0.20	115	(31)
			DYLQCVLQI	0.77	0.20	197	
t unknown	LB-ECGF-1	HLA-B*07:02	RPHAIRRPLAL	0.91	0.42	9	(73)
			RPRAIRRPLAL	0.91	0.43	5	
	SLC5A1	HLA-B*40:02	AEATANGGLAL	0.96	0.49	48	(50)
			AEPTANGGLAL	0.96	0.48	50	
	LB-WNK1-1I	HLA-A*02:01	RTLSPEIITV	0.97	0.30	58	(53)
			RTLSPEMITV	0.95	0.30	78	
	LB-NDC80-1P	HLA-A*02:01	HLEEQIPKV	0.97	0.09	82	(71)
			HLEEQIAKV	0.97	0.09	184	
	LB-ZDHHC6-1Y	HLA-B*07:02	RPRYWILLVKI	0.97	0.23	338	(71)
			RPRHWILLVKI	0.95	0.18	334	
	LB-SON-1R	HLA-B*40:01	SETKQRTVL	0.92	0.37	58	(52)
			SETKQCTVL	0.95	0.37	28	
	LB-SWAP70-1Q	HLA-B*40:01	MEQLEQLEL	0.94	0.43	178	(52)
			MEQLEELEL	0.92	0.43	141	
	LB-NUP133-1R	HLA-B*40:01	SEDLILCRL	0.90	0.28	194	(52)
			SEDLILCQL	0.90	0.28	80	
	P2RX7	HLA-A*29:02	WFHHCHPKY	0.95	1.40	6	(34)
			WFHHCRPKY	0.85	1.40	15	
	LB-TTK-1D	HLA-A*02:01	RLHDGRVFV	0.89	0.26	30	(51)
			RLHEGRVFV	0.84	0.26	33	
	LB-EBI3-11	HLA-B*07:02	RPRARYYIQV	0.96	0.15	26	(53)
			RPRARYYVQV	0.96	0.15	19	、 <i>'</i>
	LB-ARHGDIB-1R	HLA-B*07:02	LPRACWREA	0.42	-0.07	10	(53)
			LPRACWPEA	0.42	-0.07	35	()
	LB-SSR1-1S	HLA-A*02:01	VLFRGGPRGSLAVA	0.89	-0.14	1403	(87)
			VLFRGGPRGLLAVA	0.86	-0.14	649	(~.)
	LB-PRCP-1D	HLA-A*02:01	FMWDVAEDL	0.92	0.49	8	(53)
		101102.01		0.02	0.40	0	(00)

(Continued)

Levels of differential peptide processing	Minor H antigen	HLA restriction ^a	Peptide sequence ^{b,c}	C-terminal cleavage score ^{c,d}	TAP score ^{c,d}	MHC affinity score (nM) ^{c,d}	References
	LB-MOB3A-1C	HLA-B*07:02	CPRPGTWTC	NA ^f	-0.13	442	(71)
			SPRPGTWTC		-0.09	69	
	LB-PNP-1S	HLA-B*13:01	TQAQIFDYSEI	0.57	0.28	NA ^g	(71)
			TQAQIFDYGEI	0.4	0.28		
	LB-GSTP1-1V	HLA-B*08:01	DLRCKYVSL	0.77	0.24	8	(71)
			DLRCKYISL	0.71	0.24	13	
	C190RF48	HLA-A*02:01	TAWPGAPEV	0.97	0.38	163	(72)
			TAWPGAPGV	0.96	0.38	268	
Predicted not to bind	LB-C190RF48-2E	HLA-B*51:01	TAWPGAPEV	0.97	0.38	24822	(71)
HLA ^h			TAWPGAPGV	0.96	0.38	25920	
	LB-PDCD11-1F	HLA-B*07:02	GPDSSKTFLCL	0.97	0.15	7364	(53)
			GPDSSKTLLCL	0.96	0.15	7408	
	LB-ZNFX1-1Q	HLA-B*40:01	NEIEDVWQLDL	0.94	0.47	5834	(71)
			NEIEDVWHLDL	0.96	0.47	4026	
	LB-APOBEC3B-1K	HLA-B*08:01	KPQYHAEMCF	0.26	0.95	9287	(71)
			EPQYHAEMCF	0.26	0.82	4709	
	LB-CCL4-1T	HLA-A*02:01	CADPSETWV	0.15	0.08	8014	(71)
			CADPSESWV	0.29	0.08	9995	

^a For B*44:02/03 binding mHags, only scores for B*44:03 are depicted.

^b The upper peptide sequence corresponds to minor H antigen and the bottom to allelic counterpart.

^cBold values indicate the level of (predicted) differential peptide processing.

^d Predictions made by NetChop3.1, IEDB and NetMHC4.0.

^eHA-3 and SP110 are generated through differential internal proteasome cleavage and proteosome-catalyzed peptide splicing.

^fThe C-terminus of the MOB3A antigen is the C-terminus of the MOB3A protein.

⁹The HLA-B*13:01 binding prediction is not available at NetMHC4.0, but both peptides harbor the HLA-B*13 binding motif.

^hBecause the Net/MHC4.0 affinity scores indicated no binding to HLA (>> 1,000 nM), it is currently complicated to assess potential differential HLA-binding, so we excluded these five minor H antigens from the analyses.

Since in most cases minor H antigens and neoantigens differ only in a single amino acid from their respective allelic or wildtype counterpart peptides, it is crucial to consider potential effects on the shaping of the T cell repertoire.

If both mutated and wild type peptides are equally wellpresented at the cell surface, then T cells may discriminate between these two peptides depending on the position of the amino acid substitution. This is for instance the case for two minor H antigens that both have a single amino acid substitution due to a SNP, HB-1 and ACC1 (**Table 1**) (26, 32). Separate T cell clones have been isolated that specifically recognize either one or the other allelic peptide at the cell surface (26, 32).

However, if the amino acid alteration is not at a position in the peptide that is exposed to the TCR, and if it is not affecting peptide conformation, then T cells can not discriminate between two of such slightly different peptides. In this case, the allelic or wildtype peptide variants already induce the cognate T cells to be deleted from the T cell repertoire by negative selection in the thymus, similar to self-peptide-reactive T cells (42). Consequently, individuals (donors or patients) lack the majority of the minor H antigen or neoantigen-specific T cells before even being exposed to these antigens. Furthermore, the few T cells in the repertoire that are antigen-specific will have a low affinity TCR with cross-reactivity against the allelic or wildtype peptide. Therapeutic use of such T cells may put patients at risk of detrimental self-recognition on healthy cells, similar to what has been observed for tumor antigens MART-1 and MAGE-A3 (88–91).

Such restrictions do not apply for peptide pairs that are differentially expressed on the cell surface. In fact, for several minor H antigens this is the case. For instance HA-1-, HA-2- and HA-3-specific T cells make no distinction between the allelic peptides (16-18, 25). The strong immunogenicity of such minor H antigens occurs due to the fact that the non-immunogenic peptide has impaired HLA-binding (HA-1) (92), proteasome cleavage (HA-3) (16), TAP translocation (HA-8) (30) or even a yet unknown processing event (HA-2) (Table 1). Similar one-sided lack of peptide presentation occurs if the genetic variation causes loss of conventional gene transcription such as through alternative splicing (31) or loss of genomic DNA (Table 1) (79). Finally, alternative translation events may also cause differential surface expression, for example due to a frame shift (28) or the introduction of a stop-codon (81) (Table 1). Moreover, in silico analysis of all currently known HLA-I restricted minor H antigens, which have been identified using unbiased forward strategies, revealed that at least 28/48 of the non-immunogenic counterpart peptides are likely not expressed on the cell surface. This is probably an underestimation because various parameters that affect intracellular peptide processing were (largely) disregarded in this overview, such as proteosome-catalyzed peptide splicing, internal proteosomal cleavage, ERAP1 trimming (16, 83, 93). In addition, the prediction algorithms have been trained on positive datasets and therefore currently have limited power to predict the absence of processing. Taken together, this dataset suggests that more than 58% of genetically variable antigens are immunogenic because the non-immunogenic peptide is simply not present on the cell surface (**Table 1**). Mono-allelic (by some investigators called as "dominant") presentation was also seen in mass spectrometry data of HLA-I derived peptides (77, 94).

Recently, SNP-induced differential processing was also found for an HLA-II restricted minor H antigen (95), indicating that development of HLA-II epitope processing prediction algorithms may be valuable for future identification of immunogenic HLA-II presented antigens.

Strikingly, in the exploding field of neoantigen prediction models, differential surface expression of mutated vs. wild type peptide is largely neglected, which might be a reason of the large number of false positive neoantigen predictions (**Figure 1D**). Thus, the addition of a specific differential surface presentation module, based on the molecular features of minor H antigens and their allelic counterparts, to the current prediction models may improve both minor H antigen and neoantigen reverse identification strategies.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

There is no doubt that the genetic alterations encoding hematopoietic minor H antigens in the allo-SCT setting and

REFERENCES

- Kolb HJ. Graft-versus-leukemia effects of transplantation and donor lymphocytes. *Blood.* (2008) 112:4371–83. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-03-077974
- Gratwohl A, Pfirrmann M, Zander A, Kroger N, Beelen D, Novotny J, et al. Long-term outcome of patients with newly diagnosed chronic myeloid leukemia: a randomized comparison of stem cell transplantation with drug treatment. *Leukemia*. (2016) 30:562–9. doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.281
- Heinzelmann F, Bethge W, Beelen DW, Engelhard M, Kroger N, Dreger P, et al. Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation as curative therapy for non-transformed follicular lymphomas. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2016) 51:654–62. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2015.348
- van Rood JJ, van Leeuwen A, Schippers A, Balner H. Human histocompatibility antigens in normal and neoplastic tissues. *Cancer Res.* (1968) 28:1415–22.
- Gratwohl A, Hermans J, Apperley J, Arcese W, Bacigalupo A, Bandini G, et al. Acute graft-versus-host disease: grade and outcome in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia. Working party chronic leukemia of the European group for blood and marrow transplantation. *Blood.* (1995) 86:813– 8. doi: 10.1182/blood.V86.2.813.bloodjournal862813
- Goulmy E. Minor histocompatibility antigens: allo target molecules for tumor-specific immunotherapy. *Cancer J.* (2004) 10:1–7. doi: 10.1097/00130404-200401000-00001
- Guillet JG, Lai MZ, Briner TJ, Smith JA, Gefter ML. Interaction of peptide antigens and class II major histocompatibility complex antigens. *Nature*. (1986) 324:260–2. doi: 10.1038/324260a0

neoantigens in the autologous setting can induce potent T cell responses in patients. For clinical application of both antigen types, the most important challenge is to include sufficient patients in the clinical trials. It is currently unclear what the best strategy will be to provide the personalized immunotherapy necessary to target either of these antigens. Furthermore, there are also major challenges for their identification. The current T cell epitope prediction algorithms need significant improvement. We here postulate based on the published data of the last 25 years that also predictions for the nonimmunogenic allelic or wild type peptide should be included in the algorithms. Selecting only those candidate peptides that will be differentially expressed at the cell surface may increase the success rate to detect or raise antigen-specific T cells from the naïve repertoire.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TM and RS developed the concept, designed, and wrote the manuscript. AX performed literature analyses and generated the figures.

FUNDING

This work was financially supported by ZonMw (TM), KWF (TM), Janssen Research and Development (TM), Genmab (TM), Takeda (TM), Gadeta (TM), Onkimmune (TM), the Netherlands organization for scientific research (VIDI 91719369; RS), KWF Alpe d'HuZes (Bas Mulder Award 2015-7982; RS), the Landsteiner Foundation for Blood Transfusion Research (1842F; RS).

- Bjorkman PJ, Saper MA, Samraoui B, Bennett WS, Strominger JL, Wiley DC. Structure of the human class I histocompatibility antigen, HLA-A2. *Nature*. (1987) 329:506–12. doi: 10.1038/329506a0
- Bjorkman PJ, Saper MA, Samraoui B, Bennett WS, Strominger JL, Wiley DC. The foreign antigen binding site and T cell recognition regions of class I histocompatibility antigens. *Nature*. (1987) 329:512–8. doi: 10.1038/329512a0
- den Haan JM, Sherman NE, Blokland E, Huczko E, Koning F, Drijfhout JW, et al. Identification of a graft versus host diseaseassociated human minor histocompatibility antigen. *Science*. (1995) 268:1476–80. doi: 10.1126/science.7539551
- Malarkannan S, Shih PP, Eden PA, Horng T, Zuberi AR, Christianson G, et al. The molecular and functional characterization of a dominant minor H antigen, H60. *J Immunol.* (1998) 161:3501–9.
- Wang W, Meadows LR, den Haan JM, Sherman NE, Chen Y, Blokland E, et al. Human H-Y: a male-specific histocompatibility antigen derived from the SMCY protein. *Science*. (1995) 269:1588–90. doi: 10.1126/science.7667640
- Oostvogels R, Kneppers E, Minnema MC, Doorn RC, Franssen LE, Aarts T, et al. Efficacy of host-dendritic cell vaccinations with or without minor histocompatibility antigen loading, combined with donor lymphocyte infusion in multiple myeloma patients. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2017) 52:228–37. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2016.250
- 14. Spierings E, Wieles B, Goulmy E. Minor histocompatibility antigens-big in tumour therapy. *Trends Immunol.* (2004) 25:56–60. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2003.12.002
- 15. Spaapen RM, de Kort RA, van den Oudenalder K, van Elk M, Bloem AC, Lokhorst HM, et al. Rapid identification of clinical relevant minor histocompatibility antigens via genome-wide

zygosity-genotype correlation analysis. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2009) 15:7137–43. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1914

- Spierings E, Brickner AG, Caldwell JA, Zegveld S, Tatsis N, Blokland E, et al. The minor histocompatibility antigen HA-3 arises from differential proteasome-mediated cleavage of the lymphoid blast crisis (Lbc) oncoprotein. *Blood.* (2003) 102:621–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-01-0260
- Mommaas B, Kamp J, Drijfhout JW, Beekman N, Ossendorp F, Van Veelen P, et al. Identification of a novel HLA-B60-restricted T cell epitope of the minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1 locus. *J Immunol.* (2002) 169:3131– 6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.6.3131
- Pierce RA, Field ED, Mutis T, Golovina TN, Von Kap-Herr C, Wilke M, et al. The HA-2 minor histocompatibility antigen is derived from a diallelic gene encoding a novel human class I myosin protein. *J Immunol.* (2001) 167:3223–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.6.3223
- Warren EH, Gavin MA, Simpson E, Chandler P, Page DC, Disteche C, et al. The human UTY gene encodes a novel HLA-B8-restricted H-Y antigen. J Immunol. (2000) 164:2807–14. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.164.5.2807
- Griffioen M, van Bergen CA, Falkenburg JH. Autosomal minor histocompatibility antigens. How genetic variants create diversity in immune targets. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:100. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00100
- de Bueger M, Bakker A, Van Rood JJ, Van der Woude F, Goulmy E. Tissue distribution of human minor histocompatibility antigens. Ubiquitous versus restricted tissue distribution indicates heterogeneity among human cytotoxic T lymphocyte-defined non-MHC antigens. J Immunol. (1992) 149:1788–94.
- Mutis T, Goulmy E. Hematopoietic system-specific antigens as targets for cellular immunotherapy of hematological malignancies. *Semin Hematol.* (2002) 39:23–31. doi: 10.1053/shem.2002.29248
- Goulmy E. Human minor histocompatibility antigens: new concepts for marrow transplantation and adoptive immunotherapy. *Immunol Rev.* (1997) 157:125–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.1997.tb00978.x
- Spaapen R, Mutis T. Targeting haematopoietic-specific minor histocompatibility antigens to distinguish graft-versus-tumour effects from graft-versus-host disease. *Best Pract Res Clin Haematol.* (2008) 21:543–57. doi: 10.1016/j.beha.2008.06.001
- den Haan JM, Meadows LM, Wang W, Pool J, Blokland E, Bishop TL, et al. The minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1: a diallelic gene with a single amino acid polymorphism. *Science*. (1998) 279:1054– 7. doi: 10.1126/science.279.5353.1054
- Dolstra H, de Rijke B, Fredrix H, Balas A, Maas F, Scherpen F, et al. Bidirectional allelic recognition of the human minor histocompatibility antigen HB-1 by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Eur J Immunol.* (2002) 32:2748–58. doi: 10. 1002/1521-4141(2002010)32:10<2748::AID-IMMU2748>3.0.CO;2-T
- Oostvogels R, Minnema MC, van Elk M, Spaapen RM, te Raa GD, Giovannone B, et al. Towards effective and safe immunotherapy after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: identification of hematopoietic-specific minor histocompatibility antigen UTA2-1. *Leukemia*. (2013) 27:642– 9. doi: 10.1038/leu.2012.277
- de Rijke B, van Horssen-Zoetbrood A, Beekman JM, Otterud B, Maas F, Woestenenk R, et al. A frameshift polymorphism in P2X5 elicits an allogeneic cytotoxic T lymphocyte response associated with remission of chronic myeloid leukemia. J Clin Invest. (2005) 115:3506–16. doi: 10.1172/JCI24832
- 29. Spaapen RM, Lokhorst HM, van den Oudenalder K, Otterud BE, Dolstra H, Leppert MF, et al. Toward targeting B cell cancers with CD4+CTLs: identification of a CD19-encoded minor histocompatibility antigen using a novel genome-wide analysis. J Exp Med. (2008) 205:2863–72. doi: 10.1084/jem.20080713
- Brickner AG, Warren EH, Caldwell JA, Akatsuka Y, Golovina TN, Zarling AL, et al. The immunogenicity of a new human minor histocompatibility antigen results from differential antigen processing. J Exp Med. (2001) 193:195– 206. doi: 10.1084/jem.193.2.195
- Kawase T, Akatsuka Y, Torikai H, Morishima S, Oka A, Tsujimura A, et al. Alternative splicing due to an intronic SNP in HMSD generates a novel minor histocompatibility antigen. *Blood.* (2007) 110:1055–63. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-02-075911
- Akatsuka Y, Nishida T, Kondo E, Miyazaki M, Taji H, Iida H, et al. Identification of a polymorphic gene, BCL2A1, encoding two novel hematopoietic lineage-specific minor histocompatibility antigens. J Exp Med. (2003) 197:1489–500. doi: 10.1084/jem.20021925

- Pont MJ, Hobo W, Honders MW, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, Kester MG, van Oeveren-Rietdijk AM, et al. LB-ARHGDIB-1R as a novel minor histocompatibility antigen for therapeutic application. *Haematologica*. (2015) 100:e419–22. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2015.125021
- Warren EH, Fujii N, Akatsuka Y, Chaney CN, Mito JK, Loeb KR, et al. Therapy of relapsed leukemia after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation with T cells specific for minor histocompatibility antigens. *Blood.* (2010) 115:3869– 78. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-10-248997
- 35. Meij P, Jedema I, van der Hoorn MA, Bongaerts R, Cox L, Wafelman AR, et al. Generation and administration of HA-1-specific T-cell lines for the treatment of patients with relapsed leukemia after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: a pilot study. *Haematologica*. (2012) 97:1205–8. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2011.053371
- 36. Franssen LE, Roeven MWH, Hobo W, Doorn R, Oostvogels R, Falkenburg JHF, et al. A phase I/II minor histocompatibility antigen-loaded dendritic cell vaccination trial to safely improve the efficacy of donor lymphocyte infusions in myeloma. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2017) 52:1378–83. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2017.118
- 37. Levenga H, Schaap N, Maas F, Esendam B, Fredrix H, Greupink-Draaisma A, et al. Partial T cell-depleted allogeneic stem cell transplantation following reduced-intensity conditioning creates a platform for immunotherapy with donor lymphocyte infusion and recipient dendritic cell vaccination in multiple myeloma. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2010) 16:320–32. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2009.10.006
- Oostvogels R, Lokhorst HM, Mutis T. Minor histocompatibility Ags: identification strategies, clinical results and translational perspectives. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. (2016) 51:163–71. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2015.256
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science. (2015) 348:69–74. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa4971
- Jongsma MLM, Guarda G, Spaapen RM. The regulatory network behind MHC class I expression. *Mol Immunol.* (2019) 113:16–21. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2017.12.005
- van den Hoorn T, Paul P, Jongsma ML, Neefjes J. Routes to manipulate MHC class II antigen presentation. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2011) 23:88– 95. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2010.11.002
- Starr TK, Jameson SC, Hogquist KA. Positive and negative selection of T cells. Annu Rev Immunol. (2003) 21:139– 76. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141107
- 43. Spierings E, Kim YH, Hendriks M, Borst E, Sergeant R, Canossi A, et al. Multicenter analyses demonstrate significant clinical effects of minor histocompatibility antigens on GvHD and GvL after HLA-matched related and unrelated hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant.* (2013) 19:1244–53. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2013.06.001
- Toubai T, Mathewson N, Reddy P. The role of dendritic cells in graftversus-tumor effect. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:66. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014. 00066
- Chen F, Zou Z, Du J, Su S, Shao J, Meng F, et al. Neoantigen identification strategies enable personalized immunotherapy in refractory solid tumors. J Clin Invest. (2019) 129:2056–70. doi: 10.1172/JCI99538
- Wculek SK, Cueto FJ, Mujal AM, Melero I, Krummel MF, Sancho D. Dendritic cells in cancer immunology and immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2020) 20:7–24. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0210-z
- Cerottini JC, von Fliedner V, Boon T. Recognition of tumor-associated antigens by T lymphocytes: from basic concepts to new approaches. *Ann Oncol.* (1992) 3:11–6. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.annonc.a058055
- Dolstra H, Fredrix H, Maas F, Coulie PG, Brasseur F, Mensink E, et al. A human minor histocompatibility antigen specific for B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Exp Med. (1999) 189:301–8. doi: 10.1084/jem.189.2.301
- Oostvogels R, Lokhorst HM, Minnema MC, van Elk M, van den Oudenalder K, Spierings E, et al. Identification of minor histocompatibility antigens based on the 1000 genomes project. *Haematologica*. (2014) 99:1854– 9. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2014.109801
- Kamei M, Nannya Y, Torikai H, Kawase T, Taura K, Inamoto Y, et al. HapMap scanning of novel human minor histocompatibility antigens. *Blood.* (2009) 113:5041–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-07-171678
- 51. Pont MJ, Oostvogels R, van Bergen CAM, van der Meijden ED, Honders MW, Bliss S, et al. T cells specific for an unconventional natural antigen

fail to recognize leukemic cells. Cancer Immunol Res. (2019) 7:797-804. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0137

- 52. Griffioen M, Honders MW, van der Meijden ED, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, Lurvink EG, Kester MG, et al. Identification of 4 novel HLA-B*40:01 restricted minor histocompatibility antigens and their potential as targets for graft-versus-leukemia reactivity. *Haematologica*. (2012) 97:1196– 204. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2011.049478
- 53. Van Bergen CA, Rutten CE, Van Der Meijden ED, Van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, Lurvink EG, Houwing-Duistermaat JJ, et al. Highthroughput characterization of 10 new minor histocompatibility antigens by whole genome association scanning. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:9073–83. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1832
- The 1000 Genomes Project Consortium, Abecasis GR, Auton A, Brooks LD, DePristo MA, Durbin RM, et al. An integrated map of genetic variation from 1,092 human genomes. *Nature*. (2012) 491:56–65. doi: 10.1038/nature11632
- Bykova NA, Malko DB, Efimov GA. In silico analysis of the minor histocompatibility antigen landscape based on the 1000 genomes project. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1819. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01819
- van Buuren MM, Calis JJ, Schumacher TN. High sensitivity of cancer exome-based CD8 T cell neo-antigen identification. *Oncoimmunology*. (2014) 3:e28836. doi: 10.4161/onci.28836
- 57. Wu C, Orozco C, Boyer J, Leglise M, Goodale J, Batalov S, et al. BioGPS: an extensible and customizable portal for querying and organizing gene annotation resources. *Genome Biol.* (2009) 10:R130. doi: 10.1186/gb-2009-10-11-r130
- Uhlen M, Fagerberg L, Hallstrom BM, Lindskog C, Oksvold P, Mardinoglu A, et al. Proteomics. Tissue-based map of the human proteome. *Science*. (2015) 347:1260419. doi: 10.1126/science.1260419
- Regev A, Teichmann SA, Lander ES, Amit I, Benoist C, Birney E, et al. Human cell atlas meeting: the human cell atlas. *Elife.* (2017) 6:e27041. doi: 10.7554/eLife.27041
- Fleri W, Paul S, Dhanda SK, Mahajan S, Xu X, Peters B, et al. The immune epitope database and analysis resource in epitope discovery and synthetic vaccine design. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:278. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017. 00278
- Larsen MV, Lundegaard C, Lamberth K, Buus S, Lund O, Nielsen M. Largescale validation of methods for cytotoxic T-lymphocyte epitope prediction. *BMC Bioinform*. (2007) 8:424. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-8-424
- DeLuca DS, Eiz-Vesper B, Ladas N, Khattab BA, Blasczyk R. High-throughput minor histocompatibility antigen prediction. *Bioinformatics*. (2009) 25:2411– 7. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btp404
- Hombrink P, Hassan C, Kester MG, Jahn L, Pont MJ, de Ru AH, et al. Identification of biological relevant minor histocompatibility antigens within the B-lymphocyte-derived HLA-ligandome using a reverse immunology approach. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:2177–86. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2188
- 64. Bobisse S, Genolet R, Roberti A, Tanyi JL, Racle J, Stevenson BJ, et al. Sensitive and frequent identification of high avidity neo-epitope specific CD8 (+) T cells in immunotherapy-naive ovarian cancer. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:1092. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03301-0
- Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, et al. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. *Science*. (2015) 348:124– 8. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa1348
- 66. Stronen E, Toebes M, Kelderman S, van Buuren MM, Yang W, van Rooij N, et al. Targeting of cancer neoantigens with donor-derived T cell receptor repertoires. *Science*. (2016) 352:1337–41. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf2288
- Tran E, Ahmadzadeh M, Lu YC, Gros A, Turcotte S, Robbins PF, et al. Immunogenicity of somatic mutations in human gastrointestinal cancers. *Science*. (2015) 350:1387–90. doi: 10.1126/science.aad1253
- van Rooij N, van Buuren MM, Philips D, Velds A, Toebes M, Heemskerk B, et al. Tumor exome analysis reveals neoantigen-specific T-cell reactivity in an ipilimumab-responsive melanoma. J Clin Oncol. (2013) 31:e439– 42. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.47.7521
- Hombrink P, Hassan C, Kester MG, de Ru AH, van Bergen CA, Nijveen H, et al. Discovery of T cell epitopes implementing HLA-peptidomics into a reverse immunology approach. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:3869– 77. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202351

- Laumont CM, Vincent K, Hesnard L, Audemard E, Bonneil E, Laverdure JP, et al. Noncoding regions are the main source of targetable tumor-specific antigens. *Sci Transl Med.* (2018) 10:eaau5516. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aau5516
- van Bergen CA, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, de Wreede LC, Eefting M, von dem Borne PA, van Balen P, et al. Selective graft-versus-leukemia depends on magnitude and diversity of the alloreactive T cell response. *J Clin Invest.* (2017) 127:517–29. doi: 10.1172/JCI86175
- Tykodi SS, Fujii N, Vigneron N, Lu SM, Mito JK, Miranda MX, et al. C19orf48 encodes a minor histocompatibility antigen recognized by CD8+ cytotoxic T cells from renal cell carcinoma patients. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2008) 14:5260–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0028
- 73. Slager EH, Honders MW, van der Meijden ED, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, Kloosterboer FM, Kester MG, et al. Identification of the angiogenic endothelial-cell growth factor-1/thymidine phosphorylase as a potential target for immunotherapy of cancer. *Blood.* (2006) 107:4954– 60. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-09-3883
- Linnemann C, van Buuren MM, Bies L, Verdegaal EM, Schotte R, Calis JJ, et al. High-throughput epitope discovery reveals frequent recognition of neo-antigens by CD4+ T cells in human melanoma. *Nat Med.* (2015) 21:81–5. doi: 10.1038/nm.3773
- Tran E, Turcotte S, Gros A, Robbins PF, Lu YC, Dudley ME, et al. Cancer immunotherapy based on mutation-specific CD4+ T cells in a patient with epithelial cancer. *Science*. (2014) 344:641–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1251102
- Malekzadeh P, Pasetto A, Robbins PF, Parkhurst MR, Paria BC, Jia L, et al. Neoantigen screening identifies broad TP53 mutant immunogenicity in patients with epithelial cancers. J Clin Invest. (2019) 129:1109– 114. doi: 10.1172/JCI123791
- Granados DP, Sriranganadane D, Daouda T, Zieger A, Laumont CM, Caron-Lizotte O, et al. Impact of genomic polymorphisms on the repertoire of human MHC class I-associated peptides. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:3600. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4600
- Kessels HW, de Visser KE, Tirion FH, Coccoris M, Kruisbeek AM, Schumacher TN. The impact of self-tolerance on the polyclonal CD8+ T cell repertoire. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:2324–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.4.2324
- Murata M, Warren EH, Riddell SR. A human minor histocompatibility antigen resulting from differential expression due to a gene deletion. J Exp Med. (2003) 197:1279–89. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030044
- Broen K, Levenga H, Vos J, van Bergen K, Fredrix H, Greupink-Draaisma A, et al. A polymorphism in the splice donor site of ZNF419 results in the novel renal cell carcinoma-associated minor histocompatibility antigen ZAPHIR. *PLoS One.* (2011) 6:e21699. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0021699
- Brickner AG, Evans AM, Mito JK, Xuereb SM, Feng X, Nishida T, et al. The PANE1 gene encodes a novel human minor histocompatibility antigen that is selectively expressed in B-lymphoid cells and B-CLL. *Blood.* (2006) 107:3779–86. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-08-3501
- Torikai H, Akatsuka Y, Miyazaki M, Tsujimura A, Yatabe Y, Kawase T, et al.The human cathepsin H gene encodes two novel minor histocompatibility antigen epitopes restricted by HLA-A*3101 and -A*3303. *Br J Haematol.* (2006) 134:406–16. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2006.06205.x
- Warren EH, Vigneron NJ, Gavin MA, Coulie PG, Stroobant V, Dalet A, et al. An antigen produced by splicing of noncontiguous peptides in the reverse order. *Science*. (2006) 313:1444–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1130660
- 84. van Bergen CAM, Verdegaal EME, Honders MW, Hoogstraten C, Steijn-van Tol AQM, de Quartel L, et al. Durable remission of renal cell carcinoma in conjuncture with graft versus host disease following allogeneic stem cell transplantation and donor lymphocyte infusion: rule or exception? *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e85198. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0085198
- Wölfel C, Lennerz V, Lindemann E, Hess G, Derigs HG, Huber C, et al. Dissection and molecular analysis of alloreactive CD8⁺ T cell responses in allogeneic haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Cancer Immunol Immunother.* (2008) 57:849–57. doi: 10.1007/s00262-007-0421-1
- van Bergen CAM, Kester MGD, Jedema I, Heemskerk MHM, van Luxemburg-Heijs SAP, Kloosterboer FM, et al.Multiple myeloma-reactive T cells recognize an activation-induced minor histocompatibility antigen encoded by the ATPdependent interferon-responsive (ADIR) gene. *Blood.* (2007) 109:4089–96. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-08-043935

- Bijen HM, Hassan C, Kester MGD, Janssen GMC, Hombrink P, de Ru AH, et al. Specific T Cell responses against minor histocompatibility antigens cannot generally be explained by absence of their allelic counterparts on the cell surface. *Proteomics*. (2018)18:e1700250. doi: 10.1002/pmic.20 1700250
- Yee C, Thompson JA, Roche P, Byrd DR, Lee PP, Piepkorn M, et al. Melanocyte destruction after antigen-specific immunotherapy of melanoma: direct evidence of t cell-mediated vitiligo. J Exp Med. (2000) 192:1637– 44. doi: 10.1084/jem.192.11.1637
- Linette GP, Stadtmauer EA, Maus MV, Rapoport AP, Levine BL, Emery L, et al. Cardiovascular toxicity and titin cross-reactivity of affinityenhanced T cells in myeloma and melanoma. *Blood.* (2013) 122:863– 71. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-03-490565
- Morgan RA, Chinnasamy N, Abate-Daga D, Gros A, Robbins PF, Zheng Z, et al. Cancer regression and neurological toxicity following anti-MAGE-A3 TCR gene therapy. J Immunother. (2013) 36:133–51. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e3182829903
- 91. van den Berg JH, Gomez-Eerland R, van de Wiel B, Hulshoff L, van den Broek D, Bins A, et al. Case report of a fatal serious adverse event upon administration of T cells transduced with a MART-1specific T-cell receptor. *Mol Ther.* (2015) 23:1541–50. doi: 10.1038/mt. 2015.60
- Spierings E, Gras S, Reiser JB, Mommaas B, Almekinders M, Kester MG, et al. Steric hindrance and fast dissociation explain the lack of immunogenicity of the minor histocompatibility HA-1Arg null allele. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:4809–16. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803911

- Alvarez-Navarro C, Martin-Esteban A, Barnea E, Admon A, de Castro LJA. Endoplasmic Reticulum Aminopeptidase 1 (ERAP1) polymorphism relevant to inflammatory disease shapes the peptidome of the birdshot chorioretinopathy-associated HLA-A*29:02 antigen. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2015) 14:1770–80. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M115.048959
- 94. Granados DP, Rodenbrock A, Laverdure JP, Cote C, Caron-Lizotte O, Carli C, et al. Proteogenomic-based discovery of minor histocompatibility antigens with suitable features for immunotherapy of hematologic cancers. *Leukemia*. (2016) 30:1344–54. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.22
- 95. Kremer AN, Bausenwein J, Lurvink E, Kremer AE, Rutten CE, van Bergen CAM, et al. Discovery and differential processing of HLA class II-restricted minor histocompatibility antigen LB-PIP4K2A-1S and its allelic variant by asparagine endopeptidase. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:381. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00381

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Mutis, Xagara and Spaapen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





HA-1H T-Cell Receptor Gene Transfer to Redirect Virus-Specific T Cells for Treatment of Hematological Malignancies After Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation: A Phase 1 Clinical Study

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jin S. Im, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Rayne Rouce, Baylor College of Medicine, United States Bipulendu Jena, Independent Researcher, San Diego, United States

*Correspondence:

Peter van Balen p.van_balen@lumc.nl

[†]These authors share first authorship

[‡]These authors share senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 23 December 2019 Accepted: 06 July 2020 Published: 20 August 2020

Citation:

van Balen P, Jedema I, van Loenen MM, de Boer R, van Egmond HM, Hagedoorn RS, Hoogstaten C, Veld SAJ, Hageman L, van Liempt PAG, Zwaginga J-J, Meij P, Veelken H, Falkenburg JHF and Heemskerk MHM (2020) HA-1H T-Cell Receptor Gene Transfer to Redirect Virus-Specific T Cells for Treatment of Hematological Malignancies After Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation: A Phase 1 Clinical Study. Front. Immunol. 11:1804. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01804 Peter van Balen^{1*†}, Inge Jedema^{1†}, Marleen M. van Loenen¹, Renate de Boer¹, H. M. van Egmond¹, Renate S. Hagedoorn¹, Conny Hoogstaten¹, Sabrina A. J. Veld¹, Lois Hageman¹, P. A. G. van Liempt¹, Jaap-Jan Zwaginga^{2,3}, Pauline Meij⁴, H. Veelken¹, J. H. F. Falkenburg^{1‡} and Mirjam H. M. Heemskerk^{1‡}

¹ Department of Hematology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ² Center for Clinical Transfusion Research, Sanquin Research, Leiden, Netherlands, ³ Department of Immunohematology and Blood Transfusion, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ⁴ Department of Clinical Pharmacy and Toxicology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands

Graft-vs.-leukemia (GVL) reactivity after HLA-matched allogeneic stem cell transplantation (alloSCT) is mainly mediated by donor T cells recognizing minor histocompatibility antigens (MiHA). If MiHA are targeted that are exclusively expressed on hematopoietic cells of recipient origin, selective GVL reactivity without severe graft-vs.-host-disease (GVHD) may occur. In this phase I study we explored HA-1H TCR gene transfer into T cells harvested from the HA-1H negative stem-cell donor to treat HA-1H positive HLA-A*02:01 positive patients with high-risk leukemia after alloSCT. HA-1H is a hematopoiesis-restricted MiHA presented in HLA-A*02:01. Since we previously demonstrated that donor-derived virus-specific T-cell infusions did not result in GVHD, we used donor-derived EBV and/or CMV-specific T-cells to be redirected by HA-1H TCR. EBV and/or CMV-specific T-cells were purified, retrovirally transduced with HA-1H TCR, and expanded. Validation experiments illustrated dual recognition of viral antigens and HA-1H by HA-1H TCR-engineered virus-specific T-cells. Release criteria included products containing more than 60% antigen-specific T-cells. Patients with high risk leukemia following T-cell depleted alloSCT in complete or partial remission were eligible. HA-1H TCR T-cells were infused 8 and 14 weeks after alloSCT without additional pre-conditioning chemotherapy. For 4/9 included patients no appropriate products could be made. Their donors were all CMV-negative, thereby restricting the production process to EBV-specific T-cells. For 5 patients a total of 10 products could be made meeting the release criteria containing $3-280 \times 10^6$ virus and/or HA-1H TCR T-cells. No infusion-related toxicity, delayed toxicity or GVHD occurred. One patient with relapsed AML at time of infusions died due to rapidly progressing disease. Four patients were in remission at time of infusion. Two patients died of infections during follow-up, not

likely related to the infusion. Two patients are alive and well without GVHD. In 2 patients persistence of HA-1H TCR T-cells could be illustrated correlating with viral reactivation, but no overt *in-vivo* expansion of infused T-cells was observed. In conclusion, HA-1H TCR-redirected virus-specific T-cells could be made and safely infused in 5 patients with high-risk AML, but overall feasibility and efficacy was too low to warrant further clinical development using this strategy. New strategies will be explored using patient-derived donor T-cells isolated after transplantation transduced with HA-1H-specific TCR to be infused following immune conditioning.

Keywords: HA-1, TCR gene transfer, minor histocompatibility antigen, allogeneic stem cell transplantation, graft-vs.-tumor effect

INTRODUCTION

Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (alloSCT) is used to induce or consolidate long-term remissions in patients with hematological malignancies. Although chemotherapy and/or irradiation is part of the essential conditioning treatment to allow engraftment of donor hematopoietic cells, the advantage of alloSCT over high dose chemotherapy or autologous stem cell transplantation is the potential profound effect of the alloimmune response mediated by donor T cells resulting in eradication or persistent control of the malignant hematopoietic clone in the patient (1). After HLA-matched alloSCT, this graft vs. leukemia (GVL) reactivity is mainly mediated by donor T cells recognizing minor histocompatibility antigens (MiHA) on recipient hematopoietic cells (2-6). If donor T cells recognize MiHA expressed on both recipient hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic cells, GVL reactivity is frequently accompanied by graft-vs.-host disease (GVHD) (7-10). If MiHA are targeted that are exclusively expressed on hematopoietic cells of recipient origin, selective GVL reactivity will occur coinciding with conversion to full donor chimerism of the hematopoietic system (11). Several MiHA have been reported to be selectively expressed on hematopoietic cells, and may therefore be targets for a specific GVL reactivity (12, 13). Although various factors may influence the balance between GVL and GVHD reactivity including dosing and timing of donor T-cell infusion, predictable selective induction of GVL reactivity appears to require infusion or induction of donor T cells that specifically target antigens that are selectively expressed on (malignant) hematopoietic cells of the patient (1, 14-17).

HA-1H is a MiHA with a population frequency of 30% which is selectively presented by the restriction allele HLA-A*02:01 on cells from hematopoietic origin, which can be recognized by T cells from HLA-A*02:01 positive individuals homozygous for the allelic counterpart HA-1R, lacking HA-1H (18, 19). We have illustrated that HA-1H-specific T cells can be found in the majority of homozygous HA-1R HLA-A*02:01 positive donors (20). We have demonstrated that donor T cells recognizing HA-1H can contribute to a specific GVL reactivity in the absence of severe GVHD (21). However, direct purification of HA-1H-specific T cells from donor peripheral blood to be used as therapeutic reagent has been difficult to achieve due to low frequencies. We therefore previously attempted to expand HA-1H specific T-cell lines using an *in-vitro* culture protocol. Although we have demonstrated that HA-1H-specific T-cell lines could be generated and infused into patients without toxicity, *in-vivo* expansion and clinical benefit could not be illustrated (20).

T-cell receptor (TCR) gene transfer appears to be an attractive in-vitro strategy to generate large numbers of antigen specific T cells that can be used for adoptive transfer. Autologous T cells modified to induce a TCR targeting an antigen of choice have been demonstrated to have clinical effectiveness after transfer into patients with solid tumors (22-25). Based on these encouraging results, we hypothesized that donor T cells engineered to express an HA-1H-specific TCR may be used to eliminate patient hematopoiesis including the malignant clone in HA-1H positive patients transplanted with an HA-1H negative (homozygous HA-1R positive) donor. Since unselected donor T cells may induce GVHD when infused into patients after alloSCT, we hypothesized that engineering virus-specific T cells from donor origin to express the HA-1H TCR would create a therapeutic product unlikely to induce GVHD. We and others have illustrated that the infusion of virus-specific T cells from donor origin into patients after alloSCT can have a profound anti-viral reactivity without toxicity (26-32). In addition, virus-specific T cells engineered to coexpress tumorspecific receptors demonstrated improved persistence after treatment of individuals with neuroblastoma (33). Therefore, T cells harboring both the endogenous virus-specific TCR and the transferred HA-1H TCR may have both beneficial specificities. To ensure appropriate expression of the HA-1H TCR in the virusspecific T cells and limit the risk of miss-paired dimerization between the endogenous and exogenous TCR, we used a codon optimized cysteine modified TCR, in which the TCR- α and $-\beta$ chains were linked by a T2A sequence (34). The good manufacturing practice (GMP) grade production of HA-1H TCR transduced virus-specific cells for this HA-1H TCR gene therapy study was established by using MHC-I-Streptamer-based isolation technology and subsequent transduction with the HA-1H TCR using retroviral vectors (35).

In this phase I clinical study we explored the feasibility to generate HA-1H TCR gene transduced CMV or EBV-specific T cells harvested from the stem cell donor to obtain larger numbers of HA-1H-specific T cells and treat HLA-A*02:01 positive HA-1H positive patients with hematological malignancies, and evaluated

status donor pos pos		Streptamer	amer	Star	Starting material	srial	Direct	Directly after isolation	lation			End o	End of culture		
S S S S S S S		-	2	MNC	Strept	Strept	Cells	Strept	Strept	Cells	CD3	Strept	Strept	HA1-	Total
so so so so				(10 ⁶)	(%)	7	(10 ⁶)	(%)	7	(10 ⁶)	(%)	(%)	z (%)	(%)	pos (%)
s s s sod	-	CMV-pp50-A1-VTE	EBV-BZLF1-B8-RAK	1590	1.2	1.2	10.5	49	45	283	66	27	33	30	94
s so sod	0	CMV-pp50-A1-VTE	EBV-BZLF1-B8-RAK	1890	1.2	1.8	8.3	52	45	228	98	27	26	36	97
s sod	÷	EBV-BMLF1-A2-GLC	I	2351	0.2	I	1.7	72	I	3.1	66	59	I	41	100
sod	2	EBV-BMLF1-A2-GLC	I	2341	0.2	I	0.6	n.d.	I	2.9	97	44	I	30	83
sod	-	EBV-BMLF1-A2-GLC	EBV-BZLF1-B8-RAK	2272	0.05	0.53	7.6	2.6	49	101	97	13	30	30	74
sod	2	EBV-BMLF1-A2-GLC	EBV-BZLF1-B8-RAK	2024	0.04	0.55	3.8	2.8	52	15	97	15	32	18	78
sod	*														
	-	CMV-pp65-A2-NLV	EBV-EBNA3A-B7-RPP	1480	0.04	0.07	0.8	17	36	88	66	4.5	56	35	97
	0	CMV-pp65-A2-NLV	EBV-EBNA3A-B7-RPP	985	0.03	0.05	0.22	n.d.	n.d.	54	96	3.6	58	33	98
006 pos neg	*														
007 pos neg	-	EBV-EBNA3A-B7-RPP	EBV-BZLF1-B8-RAK	1826	0.1	1.5	10.4	00	84	44	00	58	9.3	11	97
	2*	EBV-EBNA3A-B7-RPP	EBV-BZLF1-B8-RAK	2000	0.1	1.4	4.6	10	87	21.6	00	64	15	13	66
008 pos neg	*														
009 bos neg	*	EBV-BMLF1-A2-GLC	I	2074	0.1	I	0.7	80	I	0.16	84	72	I	ŝ	27

Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org

potential toxicity and efficacy. After prophylactic infusion of HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV or EBV-specific T cells 8 and 14 weeks after T-cell depleted alloSCT with prescheduled postponed donor lymphocyte infusion (DLI) 6 months after alloSCT (17, 36), no infusion-associated toxicity, delayed toxicity, or GVHD was observed. In addition, persistence or expansion of HA-1H TCR transduced T cells was observed in 3 out of 5 patients. However, overall feasibility and efficacy was too low to allow further development of this specific therapeutic product. New strategies will be explored to evaluate potential efficacy of HA-1H TCR T-cells to control recurrence of hematological malignancies of HLA-A*02:01 positive HA-1H positive patients transplanted with an HA-1H negative donor.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Generation of HA-1H TCR-Transduced CMV or EBV-Specific T Cells

HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV and/or EBV-specific T-cell products were generated as described previously (35). In short, either one or two virus-specific T-cell populations were isolated from a donor leukapheresis product harvested prior to the G-CSF mobilization and cryopreserved until further use. Virus-specific T-cell populations were isolated using the MHC-I-Streptamer isolation technology (Juno Therapeutics GmbH, a Celgene company (formerly Stage Therapeutics), Munich, Germany). Isolation complexes (MHC-I-Streptamers) were generated per T-cell specificity by incubation of peptideloaded MHC-I-Strep-tag fusion proteins with magnetically labeled Strep-Tactin (Strep-Tactin nanobeads). The pool of MHC-I-Streptamers was incubated with $1-2 \times 10^9$ donor PBMC for 45 min at 4°C. MHC-I-Streptamer-bound cells were isolated using a CliniMACS Plus instrument (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. MHC-I-Streptamers were dissociated from the positively isolated cells using 1 mM of D-Biotin. Selected virus-specific T cells were cultured with irradiated (25 Gy) autologous peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMNC) as feeder cells (ratio 1:5) in T-cell culture medium consisting of Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium (IMDM; Lonza, Basel, Switzerland) supplemented with 10% human serum, 100 IU/mL IL-2 (Proleukin[®]/Aldesleukin, Novartis, Arnhem, Netherlands) and 10 ng/mL interleukin-15 (Cellgenix, Freiburg, Germany). The virus-specific T cells were transduced 2–3 days after isolation with GMP-grade retroviral supernatant encoding the HA-1H TCR (EUFETS GmbH, Idar Oberstein, Germany) spun down on retronectin-coated (15 µg/well; Takara Bio, St-Germain-en-Lave, France) 24-wells clear flat-bottomed microplates (Greiner Bioone, Alphen aan den Rijn, Netherlands) for at least 4 h at 37°C. The cells were subsequently cultured for 10-14 days in T-cell culture medium.

Study Design

The study Administration of HA-1H TCR-transduced virusspecific T cells after allogeneic stem cell transplantation in patients with high risk leukemia was registered at www. clinicaltrialsregister.eu as EudraCT number 2010-024625-20.

Study ID	001	002	003	005	007
Age	51	36	65	47	51
Gender	Female	Female	Female	Female	Male
Disease	Therapy related AML	AML	AML	AML	B-LBL
Cytogenetics/molecular diagnostics	t (9,11) and t (1,15)	NCA	NPM1+ FLT3+	Monosomal karyotype	MLL+ t (4,11)
Number of infusions	2	2	2	2	1
Transplant manipulation	CD34 selection	Alemtuzumab	Alemtuzumab	Alemtuzumab	Alemtuzumab
Stem cell donor	MUD	Sibling	MUD	Sibling	MUD
Conditioning regimen	MA	NMA	NMA	MA	MA
Patient chimerism at first infusion (MNC-leucocytes-granulocytes)	0-0-0	1-1-?	0-0-0	0-0-0	0-0-0
Patient chimerism at second infusion (MNC-leucocytes-granulocytes)	0-0-0	1-1-2	0-0-0	83-77-21	
CMV load in serum at first infusion	3.2	0	0	2.5	0
CMV load in serum at second infusion	2.3	0	0	0	
Highest detectable CMV load in serum (weeks after first infusion)	4.5 (11)	0	0	2.4 (3)	0
EBV load in serum at first infusion	0	0	0	0	0
EBV load in serum at second infusion	0	0	0	0	
Highest detectable EBV load in serum (weeks after first infusion)	0	0	0	0	5.7 (7)
Development of GVHD (weeks after first infusion)	No	No	No	No	No
Infusion of standard care DLI 6 months after alloSCT	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Adverse events (between first infusion and 6 months post alloSCT)	 Pulmonal aspergillus Candidaemia Parvovirus Bacteriemia S. Haemolyticus 	None	None	Relapse AML	 ● PTLD ● Pulmonal aspergillus
Duration of follow up in weeks after first infusion	19	234	224	19	7
Alive at last follow up	No	Yes	Yes	No	No
Cause of death	Multiple infections			Relapse AML	PTLD

AML, acute myeloid leukemia; B-LBL, B-cell lymphoblastic leukemia; MUD, matched unrelated donor; MA, myelo-ablative; NMA, non-myelo-ablative; PTLD, post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease. NCA, no cytogenetic abnormalities.

The study was approved by the central committee on research involving human subjects (CCMO), and the LUMC Institutional Review Board. From all patients and donors written informed consent was obtained. The primary objective of the study was to investigate the feasibility and safety of administration of donor derived HA-1H TCR-transduced virus-specific T cells after T-cell depleted alloSCT. Feasibility was defined as more than 50% of patients receiving at least one infusion of HA-1H TCR-transduced virus specific T cells posttransplant after inclusion in this study. Secondary objectives were to evaluate the persistence of HA-1H TCR-transduced virus-specific T cells after infusion, and to evaluate whether administration of HA-1H TCR-transduced virus-specific T cells makes patients eligible for standard donor lymphocyte infusion (DLI) at 6 months after alloSCT. Patients 18-75 years of age with high risk leukemia in complete or stable partial remission prior to transplant were eligible if they were HLA-A*02:01 and HA-1H positive, and transplanted with an HLA-matched HA-1H negative donor. The donor needed to be CMV and/or EBV seropositive allowing isolation of sufficient EBV or CMV-specific T cells. AlloSCT was performed as published previously (6, 17). HA-1H TCR-transduced virus-specific T cells were scheduled 8 and 14 weeks after alloSCT, since at that time points the alemtuzumab used in the conditioning regimen will not be circulating in the patient anymore. Contraindications for actual infusion of HA-1H TCR-transduced virus-specific T cells were acute GVHD overall grade II or higher or treatment with corticosteroids at a dose of 0.5 mg/kg prednisone or higher.

Flow Cytometry

Absolute numbers of circulating CD4 T, CD8 T, B, and NK cells were determined by the clinical Laboratory for Specialized Hematology (LUMC) as part of routine immune monitoring after transplantation on anticoagulated fresh venous blood using



Trucount tubes (BD, Becton Dickinson, Breda, Netherlands) following the manufacturer's instructions. Samples were stained with allophycocyanin (APC)-conjugated CD3, PacificBlue-conjugated CD4, fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated CD8, APC-H7-conjugated CD14, R-phycoerythrin (PE)-conjugated CD16, PE-Cy7-conjugated CD19, V500-conjugated CD45, and PE-conjugated CD56 (all from BD) antibodies and analyzed using a FACSCanto (BD).

Thawed PBMCs and bone marrow MNC cells from immunomonitoring samples and T-cell lines and clones were analyzed for binding to HA1H and virus-specific pMHCtetramers by staining with PE- or APC-labeled pMHCtetramers, and an Alexa700-conjugated antibody against CD8 (Invitrogen/Calteg, Buckingham, United Kingdom) combined with FITC-labeled antibodies against CD4, CD14, and CD19 (BD Pharmingen, San Jose, California). PBMCs and T-cell lines or clones were first incubated with $2 \mu g/ml$ pMHC-tetramers for 15 min at 37 °C before antibodies were added and incubated for an additional 15 min at 4°C. These analyses were performed on an LSRII (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, New Jersey) and analyzed using Diva Software (BD Biosciences) or FlowJo Software (TreeStar, Ashland, Oregon).

Vector-Specific Real-Time Quantitative PCR of HA-1H TCR

Genomic DNA was isolated either using the AllPrep DNA/RNA/Protein mini kit (Qiagen) or QIAamp DNA Micro Kit (Qiagen) following manufacturer's instructions. Samples were run on a 7900HT RT-PCR System of Applied Biosystems. The following vector-specific HA1 TCR primers were used; forward primer resides in the optimized constant domain of the beta chain 5' CTGTACGCCGTGCTGGTG 3', reverse primer resides in the T2A region 5' GGGATTCTCCTCCACGTCACC 3' and the antisense probe also resides in the T2A region 5' TGTTAGAAGACTTCCTCTGCCCTC 3'. The Probe used VIC as dye and TAMRA as quencher. Each sample was run in duplicate with 200 ng genomic DNA per well (qPCR core kit Eurogentec) at 65°C for 50 cycles.

T-Cell Reactivity Assays

T cells were cultured in T-cell medium (TCM) consisting of IMDM supplemented with 5% heat-inactivated FBS (Gibco, Thermo Fisher Scientific), 5% human serum, 3 mM L-glutamine (Lonza), 100 U/ml penicillin/streptomycin (Lonza), and 100 IU/ml IL-2 (Novartis). T-cell recognition was measured by IFN- γ ELISA (Sanquin) according to manufacturer's instructions. T cells (5,000 cells) were co-cultured with 30,000 cells (LCLs) or 60,000 cells (primary cells) in 60 µl TCM per 384 well flat bottom plates (Greiner Bio-One). Supernatants were harvested after overnight incubation to measure IFN- γ release. In peptide-pulsed conditions, stimulator cells were preincubated with 1 µM of the relevant peptide for 30 min at room temperature before addition to T cells.

Generation of T-Cell Clones

Virus-specific T cells were isolated from frozen PBMCs via FACS sorting using PE-labeled pMHC-tetramers. T cells were

initially incubated with PE-labeled pMHC-tetramers for 1 h at 4°C and subsequently incubated with anti-CD8-FITC for 20 min at 4°C. pMHC-tetramer⁺ CD8⁺ T-cells were single-cell sorted into round-bottom 96-well plates containing 5 × 10⁴ irradiated (35 Gy) allogeneic PBMNC as feeders in 100 µl T-cell medium supplemented with 0.8 µg/ml phytohemagglutinin (PHA; Oxoid Limited, Basingstoke, UK).

RESULTS

Feasibility and Characteristics of HA-1H TCR-Transduced CMV or EBV-Specific T-Cell Products

Nine donors were approached and gave consent to undergo leukapheresis to obtain PBMC for the generation of HA-1H TCRtransduced CMV or EBV-specific T-cell products. 2 donors were seropositive for both EBV and CMV, whereas 7 donors were only EBV seropositive. In 3 of these 7 donors frequencies of EBVspecific T cells with the appropriate specificity as measured by pMHC-tetramers were not above background, and therefore no EBV-specific T cells could be harvested, and no cell lines could be generated. From 6 donors, attempts were made to generate HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV or EBV-specific T cells (Table 1). From 5 donors a total of 10 HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV or EBV-specific T-cell products fulfilling the release criteria were generated (Table 1). Total cell numbers ranged from 3 to 283 \times 10⁶ comprised of 96–99% T cells containing 74–100% virusspecific T cells and 11-41% HA-1H TCR-transduced T cells as measured by specific pMHC-tetramer staining. From donor UPG (patient 9) only very low numbers of EBV-specific T cells could be isolated, and at the end of the culture only 0.16×10^6 T cells were retrieved with only 5% of HA-1H TCR T cells, and therefore this product did not fulfill the release criteria. More detailed data about the composition of generated T-cell products is depicted in Supplemental Figure 1. These results illustrate that if virus-specific T cells could be detected in peripheral blood of the donors, in 5/6 cases HA-1H TCR- transduced CMV or EBV-specific T-cell products could be reproducibly generated.

Safety and Clinical Effect of Infusion of HA-1H TCR-Transduced CMV or EBV-Specific T Cells

Nine patients were included in the study. As illustrated in **Table 1** for 4 patients (patients 4, 6, 8, and 9) no HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV or EBV-specific T-cell product could be generated. Characteristics of patients who received a product are depicted in **Table 2**.

Four patients received the 2 scheduled infusions of the HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV or EBV-specific T cells, whereas patient 7 only received one dose. No immediate transfusionrelated side effects were observed. Patient 1 showed persistent lymphopenia from the time of transplant until the end of followup. Significant *in-vivo* persistence of HA-1H TCR-transduced T cells could be observed by vector-specific PCR analysis during follow-up with evidence of expansion after the second infusion (**Figure 1A**). The patient developed antibody-mediated

Weeks after 1st infusion	Weeks after 2nd infusion	HA-1H TC	R positive T cells	within total periphe	eral blood mononu	clear cells (%)
		Patient 001	Patient 002	Patient 003	Patient 005	Patient 007
0	-6	Undetectable	Undetectable	Undetectable	Undetectable	Undetectable
1	-5	0.041	Undetectable	Undetectable	$1 - 10^{-7}$	Undetectable
3	-3	0.001	Undetectable	Undetectable	3 - 10 ⁻⁷	1.70
3	0	0.003	Undetectable	Undetectable	Undetectable	0.40
3	2	0.348	Undetectable	Undetectable	3 – 10 ⁻⁷	0.52
2	6	0.598	Undetectable	Undetectable	Undetectable	
6	10	0.188	Undetectable	Undetectable	Undetectable	

TABLE 3 | Results of PCR measurements of HA-1H TCR transduced virus-specific T cells to evaluate persistence.

neutropenia and thrombocytopenia 7 weeks after the infusion of the second cell line. Despite treatment with immunoglobulins, unmanipulated DLI, antibiotics and antifungal medication, the patient died from multiple viral, bacterial and fungal infections 19 weeks after the first infusion. In patients 2 and 3 no side effects occurred, no GVHD developed, and both patients received scheduled DLI 6 months after transplantation. At the time of last follow-up both patients are alive and well.

In patient 5, despite full donor chimerism as measured in peripheral blood, smoldering relapse was documented in the bone marrow aspirate at the time of the first infusion. The second infusion was performed as scheduled, but the patient developed progressive disease. Despite re-remission induction chemotherapy, no remission could be obtained, and the patient died from relapsed AML. No side effects related to the infusion were documented. Up to 3 weeks after the first and two weeks after the second infusion, low frequencies of HA-1H TCRtransduced CMV or EBV-specific T cells could be detected as measured by vector-specific PCR analysis, but no significant expansion of the cells could be documented (Table 3). This was not due to the inability of the relapsed AML to be targeted by HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV or EBV-specific T cells, since in-vitro analysis illustrated appropriate recognition of the leukemic cells (Figure 2) by these T cells.

In patient 7, from 3 weeks after infusion, expansion and persistence of HA-1H TCR-transduced T cells could be documented by vector-specific PCR in peripheral blood and bone marrow samples (**Figure 3A**), which coincided with an EBV reactivation. Five weeks after the infusion, limited signs of skin GVHD were observed, completely resolving after application of topical steroids. One week later the patient was admitted to the hospital with high fever caused by EBV-associated posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD) with massive B-cell expansion. Despite the presence of EBV-specific T cells in peripheral blood these virus-specific T cells did not further expand, and despite treatment with rituximab and steroids, the condition rapidly deteriorated and the patient died from severe systemic disease.

In summary, for 5 out of 9 included patients HA-1H TCRtransduced CMV or EBV-specific T-cell products could be successfully generated and infused. In 3 patients persistence or expansion of HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV or EBV-specific T cells was detected. No transfusion-related toxicity was observed, and no significant GVHD developed after infusion. Three of the 5 patients died from complications probably not related to the infusion.

Persistence and Functionality of Infused HA-1H TCR-Transduced CMV or EBV-Specific T Cells

Significant in-vivo persistence and/or expansion of HA-1H TCRtransduced CMV or EBV-specific T cells was documented in patients 1 and 7 (Figures 1A, 3A). From patient 1, 6 weeks after the second infusion at the highest peak of HA-1H TCRtransduced CMV or EBV-specific T cells (Figure 1A) peripheral blood and bone marrow samples were isolated. Low numbers of EBV-specific T cells were observed, but probably due to CMV reactivation high frequencies of CMV-specific T cells were found including the infused CMV-pp50-A1-VTE specificity (Figure 1B). However, no significant frequencies of HA-1H TCR-transduced T cells were detected as measured by pMHCtetramer analysis (Figure 1B). To analyze whether HA-1H TCRtransduced T cells were present within these virus-specific T-cell populations, the CMV-pp50-A1-VTE and EBV-BZLF-1-B8-RAK positive T cells were FACS sorted using pMHCtetramers. Vector-specific PCR analysis on the CMV-pp50-A1-VTE tetramer positive sorted cells demonstrated that only a very low frequency of HA-1H TCR-transduced T cells (0.01%) could be identified within the CMV-specific population. Apparently, after triggering by CMV antigen, non-HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV-specific T cells preferentially had expanded. In contrast, 50% of the EBV-BZLF1-B8-RAK-specific T-cell clones expressed the HA-1H TCR as measured by pMHC-tetramer analysis (Figure 1C) and vector-specific PCR analysis (data not shown).

In patient 7, significant persistence and expansion of HA-1H TCR-transduced EBV-specific T cells was observed (**Figure 3A**), probably provoked by exposure to EBV antigen as documented by the presence of circulating EBV antigen by PCR analysis. Despite the presence of EBV-specific T cells rapidly progressive donor-derived monoclonal EBV-associated PTLD developed. To determine why this PTLD could escape control by the circulating EBV-specific T cells, we analyzed *in-vitro* whether the PTLD could be recognized by EBV-EBNA3A-B7-RPP



or EBV-BZLF1-B8-RAK T-cell populations. As illustrated in **Figure 3B**, the PTLD was not recognized by these EBV-specific T-cell populations unless they were exogenously loaded with EBV-specific peptides. These results illustrate that the PTLD could escape control by the EBV-specific T cells due to absence of relevant endogenously processed viral antigens.

DISCUSSION

In this study we investigated whether HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV or EBV-specific T-cell products could be reproducibly generated from PBMCs of the stem cell donors seropositive for CMV or EBV. Our data illustrate that if sufficient virusspecific T cells could be isolated from the donor, HA-1H TCRtransduced CMV or EBV-specific T-cell products meeting the predefined release criteria could be generated. The drawback of the present study was that with the limited numbers of EBV or CMV- specific Streptamer products available, in several cases insufficient numbers of donor-derived virus-specific T cells could be harvested, especially in donors that were CMV seronegative implying that only EBV-specific T cells were available. This resulted in the successful production of the HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV or EBV-specific T-cell products ranging from 3 to 280 x 10⁶ antigen-specific T cells for only 5 of 9 patients included in the study. The 5 HLA-A*02:01 and HA-1H positive patients with AML who were treated with the HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV or EBV-specific T-cells 8 and 14 weeks after T-cell depleted alloSCT did not experience infusion related toxicity, and no significant development or worsening of GVHD was observed. The complications observed in the patients after the infusions were considered not likely to be caused by the investigational product since at the time of these complications no significant expansion of the infused HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV or EBV-specific T cells was observed. From these data we concluded that although the infusions appear to be safe, the overall feasibility and efficacy of the procedure was too low to warrant further developments of this specific investigational product.

Several reasons may underlie the lack of expansion directly after infusion of HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV or EBV-specific T cells. As demonstrated in clinical trials using CAR T cells for the treatment of relapsed or refractory hematological malignancies, pre-conditioning with in-vivo lymphodepleting chemotherapy appears to be essential for significant expansion of infused cells probably related to the in-vivo induction of lymphocyte activating interleukins and depletion of regulatory T cells (37-39). Since in our study we scheduled to treat patients in remission in a prophylactic setting, no lymphodepleting conditioning could be applied. Secondly, we hypothesized that co-expression of the virus specific TCR and the HA-1H specific TCR-transduced T cells would lead to expansion when exposed to either viral antigens or the HA-1H antigen (34, 35). The invivo data suggest that in the absence of significant exposure to recipient-derived HA-1H antigen expressing hematopoietic cells, expansion of T cells co-expressing both TCRs did not or hardly occur. We hypothesize that by codon optimization and cysteine modification of the HA-1H TCR, and selection of virus specific T cells with a weak competitor phenotype we created an HA-1H TCR that successfully competed for membrane expression with the endogenous virus-specific TCR, resulting in lack of expansion in the presence of only viral antigens (34, 35, 40). This has likely resulted in the expansion of mostly the non-transduced virusspecific T cells from the infused product during viral reactivation after transplantation. As a consequence, in only 2 patients significant persistence and expansion of HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV or EBV-specific T cells could be illustrated, correlating with a viral reactivation. Only in the patient who showed smoldering relapse at the time of infusion, low frequencies of HA-1H TCRexpressing cells were present, but also under these circumstances, the malignant cells outgrew the HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV or EBV-specific T cells. There appeared to be no HA-1H antigen escape variant in this patient, since also the relapsed AML cells were shown to be recognized by HA-1H TCR-transduced CMV or EBV-specific T cells ex-vivo.

In one patient, lethal PTLD developed in the presence of EBVspecific T cells with specificities that were also present in the infused investigational product. Further analysis illustrated these



PBMNC

EBV-positive clonal B cells of donor origin were transformed not to express the antigen specificities targeted by the circulating EBV-specific T cells. No significant numbers of B cells were present in the investigational product, and therefore we concluded that this complication was not due to the experimental treatment and that lack of control by the T cells present in the

product was caused by an antigen negative variant which has been found more frequently in patients with monoclonal PTLD.

In conclusion, we have demonstrated that HA-1H TCRtransduced CMV or EBV-specific T-cell products can be reproducibly made if sufficient virus-specific T cells can be isolated from virus seropositive donors. Infusion of these

products into patients with high-risk AML appears to be safe, but overall feasibility and efficacy of this approach appears to be too low to allow further development of this investigational product. A new strategy will be explored using products consisting of donor-originated CD8T cells isolated from the patient after transplantation and transduced with the HA-1H TCR gene to be infused following immune conditioning in patients with persistent or relapsed hematological malignancies after HA-1Hmismatched transplantation. A new clinical trial has recently been approved (EudraCT 2019-002346-20) that implemented several improvement to the limitations of the strategy followed in this manuscript. The improvements aim to overcome the identified weaknesses of lack of lymphodepleting condition and lack of HA-1H antigen expression in the recipient. Transduction of not only virus-specific T cells but all donor derived CD8 T cells circulating in allogeneic transplanted patients and infusion of a targeted dose of HA-1H TCR transduced T cells will result in higher numbers of infused T cells. Again, HA-1H TCR transduction is preferred over using peptide stimulated HA-1H specific T cells since that method is much more time consuming and laborious without expected better efficacy. This will allow further evaluation of the potential efficacy of MiHA-TCRtransduced T-cell products in the treatment of hematological malignancies in the context of alloSCT.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

REFERENCES

- Falkenburg JH, Jedema I. Allo-reactive T cells for the treatment of hematological malignancies. *Mol Oncol.* (2015) 9:1894– 903. doi: 10.1016/j.molonc.2015.10.014
- Griffioen M, van Bergen CA, Falkenburg JH. Autosomal minor histocompatibility antigens: how genetic variants create diversity in immune targets. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:100. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00100
- Pont MJ, Hobo W, Honders MW, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, Kester MG, van Oeveren-Rietdijk AM, et al. LB-ARHGDIB-1R as a novel minor histocompatibility antigen for therapeutic application. *Haematologica*. (2015) 100:e419–22. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2015.125021
- Norde WJ, Overes IM, Maas F, Fredrix H, Vos JC, Kester MG, et al. Myeloid leukemic progenitor cells can be specifically targeted by minor histocompatibility antigen LRH-1-reactive cytotoxic T cells. *Blood.* (2009) 113:2312–23. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-04-153825
- Hobo W, Broen K, van der Velden WJ, Greupink-Draaisma A, Adisty N, Wouters Y, et al. Association of disparities in known minor histocompatibility antigens with relapse-free survival and graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. (2013) 19:274–82. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2012.09.008
- 6. van Balen P, van Bergen CAM, van Luxemburg-Heijs SAP, de Klerk W, van Egmond EHM, Veld SAJ, et al. CD4 donor lymphocyte infusion can cause conversion of chimerism without GVHD by inducing immune responses targeting minor histocompatibility antigens in HLA class II. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:3016. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.03016
- 7. Griffioen M, van der Meijden ED, Slager EH, Honders MW, Rutten CE, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, et al. Identification of phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Centrale Commissie Mensgebonden Onderzoek (CCMO). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PB, IJ, ML, HV, JF, and MH designed the research, analyzed results, and wrote the paper. ML, RB, HE, RH, CH, SV, LH, PL, J-JZ, PM, and IJ performed experiments and were responsible for manufacturing the T-cell products. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by research funding from Zon-MW (43300001) and KWF (UL-2007-3927).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2020.01804/full#supplementary-material

type II beta as HLA class II-restricted target in graft versus leukemia reactivity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:3837–42. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0712250105

- Stumpf AN, van der Meijden ED, van Bergen CA, Willemze R, Falkenburg JH, Griffioen M. Identification of 4 new HLA-DR-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens as hematopoietic targets in antitumor immunity. *Blood.* (2009) 114:3684–92. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-03-208017
- 9. Spaapen RM, de Kort RA, van den Oudenalder K, van Elk M, Bloem AC, Lokhorst HM, et al. Rapid identification of clinical relevant minor histocompatibility antigens via genome-wide zygosity-genotype correlation analysis. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2009) 15:7137–43. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1914
- Van Bergen CA, Rutten CE, Van Der Meijden ED, Van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, Lurvink EG, Houwing-Duistermaat JJ, et al. Highthroughput characterization of 10 new minor histocompatibility antigens by whole genome association scanning. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:9073–83. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1832
- Falkenburg JHF, Jedema I. Graft versus tumor effects and why people relapse. *Hematol Am Soc Hematol Educ Program.* (2017) 2017:693– 8. doi: 10.1182/asheducation-2017.1.693
- Pont MJ, Honders MW, Kremer AN, van Kooten C, Out C, Hiemstra PS, et al. Microarray gene expression analysis to evaluate cell type specific expression of targets relevant for immunotherapy of hematological malignancies. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0155165. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155165
- van der Torren CR, van Hensbergen Y, Luther S, Aghai Z, Rychnavska ZS, Slot M, et al. Possible role of minor h antigens in the persistence of donor chimerism after stem cell transplantation; relevance for sustained leukemia remission. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0119595. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0119595

- van Bergen CA, van Luxemburg-Heijs SA, de Wreede LC, Eefting M, von dem Borne PA, van Balen P, et al. Selective graft-versus-leukemia depends on magnitude and diversity of the alloreactive T cell response. *J Clin Invest.* (2017) 127:517–29. doi: 10.1172/JCI86175
- Falkenburg F, Ruggiero E, Bonini C, Porter D, Miller J, Malard F, et al. Prevention and treatment of relapse after stem cell transplantation by cellular therapies. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2019) 54:26–34. doi: 10.1038/s41409-018-0227-0
- Miller JS, Warren EH, van den Brink MR, Ritz J, Shlomchik WD, Murphy WJ, et al. NCI first international workshop on the biology, prevention, and treatment of relapse after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: report from the committee on the biology underlying recurrence of malignant disease following allogeneic HSCT: graft-versustumor/leukemia reaction. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplantat*. (2010) 16:565– 86. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2010.02.005
- Eefting M, de Wreede LC, Halkes CJ, von dem Borne PA, Kersting S, Marijt EW, et al. Multi-state analysis illustrates treatment success after stem cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia followed by donor lymphocyte infusion. *Haematologica*. (2016) 101:506–14. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2015.136846
- Di Terlizzi S, Zino E, Mazzi B, Magnani C, Tresoldi C, Perna SK, et al. Therapeutic and diagnostic applications of minor histocompatibility antigen HA-1 and HA-2 disparities in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: a survey of different populations. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant*. (2006) 12:95–101. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2005.09.017
- den Haan JM, Sherman NE, Blokland E, Huczko E, Koning F, Drijfhout JW, et al. Identification of a graft versus host diseaseassociated human minor histocompatibility antigen. *Science*. (1995) 268:1476–80. doi: 10.1126/science.7539551
- Meij P, Jedema I, van der Hoorn MA, Bongaerts R, Cox L, Wafelman AR, et al. Generation and administration of HA-1-specific T-cell lines for the treatment of patients with relapsed leukemia after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: a pilot study. *Haematologica*. (2012) 97:1205– 8. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2011.053371
- Marijt WA, Heemskerk MH, Kloosterboer FM, Goulmy E, Kester MG, van der Hoorn MA, et al. Hematopoiesis-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens HA-1- or HA-2-specific T cells can induce complete remissions of relapsed leukemia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:2742–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0530192100
- Robbins PF, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Dudley ME, et al. Tumor regression in patients with metastatic synovial cell sarcoma and melanoma using genetically engineered lymphocytes reactive with NY-ESO-1. *J Clin Oncol.* (2011) 29:917–24. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.32.2537
- Morgan RA, Chinnasamy N, Abate-Daga D, Gros A, Robbins PF, Zheng Z, et al. Cancer regression and neurological toxicity following anti-MAGE-A3 TCR gene therapy. J Immunother. (2013) 36:133–51. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e3182829903
- Johnson LA, Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Cassard L, Yang JC, Hughes MS, et al. Gene therapy with human and mouse T-cell receptors mediates cancer regression and targets normal tissues expressing cognate antigen. *Blood*. (2009) 114:535–46. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-03-211714
- Moore T, Wagner CR, Scurti GM, Hutchens KA, Godellas C, Clark AL, et al. Clinical and immunologic evaluation of three metastatic melanoma patients treated with autologous melanoma-reactive TCR-transduced T cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2018) 67:311–25. doi: 10.1007/s00262-017-2073-0
- 26. Meij P, Jedema I, Zandvliet ML, van der Heiden PL, van de Meent M, van Egmond HM, et al. Effective treatment of refractory CMV reactivation after allogeneic stem cell transplantation with in vitro-generated CMV pp65-specific CD8+ T-cell lines. J Immunother. (2012) 35:621– 8. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e31826e35f6
- Roex MCJ, van Balen P, Germeroth L, Hageman L, van Egmond E, Veld SAJ, et al. Generation and infusion of multi-antigen-specific T cells to prevent complications early after T-cell depleted allogeneic stem cell transplantationa phase I/II study. *Leukemia*. (2019) 34:831–44. doi: 10.1038/s41375-019-0600-z

- van Rhee F, Barrett J. Adoptive transfer of Ag-specific T cells to prevent CMV disease after allogeneic stem-cell transplantation. *Cytotherapy*. (2002) 4:3–10. doi: 10.1080/146532402317251473
- 29. Feuchtinger T, Opherk K, Bethge WA, Topp MS, Schuster FR, Weissinger EM, et al. Adoptive transfer of pp65-specific T cells for the treatment of chemorefractory cytomegalovirus disease or reactivation after haploidentical and matched unrelated stem cell transplantation. *Blood.* (2010) 116:4360–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-262089
- Peggs KS, Mackinnon S. Augmentation of virus-specific immunity after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation by adoptive T-cell therapy. *Hum Immunol.* (2004) 65:550–7. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2004.02.016
- Tzannou I, Leen AM. Preventing stem cell transplantation-associated viral infections using T-cell therapy. *Immunotherapy*. (2015) 7:793– 810. doi: 10.2217/imt.15.43
- 32. Tzannou I, Papadopoulou A, Naik S, Leung K, Martinez CA, Ramos CA, et al. Off-the-shelf virus-specific t cells to treat BK virus, human herpesvirus 6, cytomegalovirus, epstein-barr virus, and adenovirus infections after allogeneic hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation. J Clin Oncol. (2017) 35:3547–57. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.73.0655
- Pule MA, Savoldo B, Myers GD, Rossig C, Russell HV, Dotti G, et al. Virusspecific T cells engineered to coexpress tumor-specific receptors: persistence and antitumor activity in individuals with neuroblastoma. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:1264–70. doi: 10.1038/nm.1882
- van Loenen MM, de Boer R, Hagedoorn RS, van Egmond EH, Falkenburg JH, Heemskerk MH. Optimization of the HA-1-specific T-cell receptor for gene therapy of hematologic malignancies. *Haematologica*. (2011) 96:477– 81. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2010.025916
- van Loenen MM, de Boer R, van Liempt E, Meij P, Jedema I, Falkenburg JH, et al. A Good manufacturing practice procedure to engineer donor virusspecific T cells into potent anti-leukemic effector cells. *Haematologica*. (2014) 99:759–68. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2013.093690
- Eefting M, Halkes CJ, de Wreede LC, van Pelt CM, Kersting S, Marijt EW, et al. Myeloablative T cell-depleted alloSCT with early sequential prophylactic donor lymphocyte infusion is an efficient and safe postremission treatment for adult ALL. *Bone Marrow Transplantat*. (2014) 49:287– 91. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2013.111
- 37. Heczey A, Louis CU, Savoldo B, Dakhova O, Durett A, Grilley B, et al. CAR T cells administered in combination with lymphodepletion and PD-1 inhibition to patients with neuroblastoma. *Mol Ther.* (2017) 25:2214– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2017.05.012
- Hirayama AV, Gauthier J, Hay KA, Voutsinas JM, Wu Q, Gooley T, et al. The response to lymphodepletion impacts PFS in patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin lymphoma treated with CD19 CAR T cells. *Blood.* (2019) 133:1876–87. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-11-887067
- 39. Hay KA, Gauthier J, Hirayama AV, Voutsinas JM, Wu Q, Li D, et al. Factors associated with durable EFS in adult B-cell ALL patients achieving MRD-negative CR after CD19 CAR T-cell therapy. *Blood.* (2019) 133:1652– 63. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-11-883710
- 40. Heemskerk MH, Hagedoorn RS, van der Hoorn MA, van der Veken LT, Hoogeboom M, Kester MG, et al. Efficiency of T-cell receptor expression in dual-specific T cells is controlled by the intrinsic qualities of the TCR chains within the TCR-CD3 complex. *Blood.* (2007) 109:235–43. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-03-013318

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 van Balen, Jedema, van Loenen, de Boer, van Egmond, Hagedoorn, Hoogstaten, Veld, Hageman, van Liempt, Zwaginga, Meij, Veelken, Falkenburg and Heemskerk. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

